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Kemper at a Glance
Kemper Corporation (NYSE: KMPR) is a leading multi-line insurance holding company providing home,

auto, life and health products to serve the individual and business markets in the United States. Kemper
markets to its customers through a network of independent agents, brokers and career agents.

Financial Highlights

Earned Premiums Adjusted Net Income
$120.9
$2,350
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To Our Shareholders,

Kemper’s 2017 performance demonstrates we’ve made
meaningful progress strengthening our franchise.
We continue to leverage our competitive advantages
while advancing and adding core capabilities to better
serve our customers, shareholders, agents and employees.

Our efforts over the past two years to dig in, unlock
embedded value, and transform Kemper are driving
both short-term results and long-term profitable growth.
We've made significant progress on initiatives to enhance
our core operations and financial foundation, and we're
seeing improved underlying operating performance.
Our one-year total shareholder return of nearly 60 percent
is an excellent measure of this progress.

Joseph P. Lacher, Jr.

Delivering Value

Kemperisastrong brand, with a strong balance sheet and a strong capital position. We have a strategy
that produces increasingly attractive returns for our shareholders, serves the needs of our customers,
and enables our agents to succeed. We have a fully engaged team of talented professionals who are
working tirelessly to deliver on our promises.

We’ve added key leaders in all critical areas of
the business, who are committed to enhancing Our dynamic, innovative team

our distribution networks, elevating our analytical . : X
capabilities, improving the customer experience, from claims adjusters tosenio

and growing the business. The team has been leaders—was focused on
instrumental in shaping our strategy and improving executionin 2017 t
delivering results. But a strategy is nothing enable near-term fixes and set
without an emphasis on effective execution. :

the groundwork for lasting

Our dynamic, innovative team—from claims profitable growth.
adjusters to senior leaders—was focused on
improving execution in 2017 to enable near-term
fixes and set the groundwork for lasting profitable
growth. Every employee across the enterprise is encouraged to act like an owner, and we’re replacing
a culture of complacency with pervasive intellectual curiosity, analytic superiority, and the drive to be
world class operators. We’re executing better to add value, and it’s evident in this year’s results.
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As promised, our actions to significantly improve the Nonstandard Auto
business resulted in tangible progress towards profitable growth in 2017,
outperforming market expectations.

The Year in Review
We had consistently strong underlying results in 2017 and increased adjusted earnings by nearly $54 million.

As promised, our actions to significantly improve the Nonstandard Auto (NSA) business resulted in tangible
progress towards profitable growth in 2017, outperforming market expectations. The business has
grown into a mainstay for Kemper with solid quarter-after-quarter results. Earned premiums increased
16 percent to more than $950 million in 2017, with annualized net written premiums of nearly $1 billion.

We've successfully restored profitability at our Alliance United business, and the long-term strategic
value of this business remains compelling as we return the unit to its historical growth trend.

The NSA business is well-positioned for future expansion, and we’ll continue to implement the
initiatives we laid out in our strategy to focus on increasing market share and becoming a premier
NSA franchise. Our performance indicates we’re well on our way.

In our Preferred lines of business, elevated catastrophe losses of S174 million pretax drove results,
particularly in Homeowners. We saw a high volume of storm activity in 2017, as well as the California
wildfires in the last quarter. To mitigate the impact on Kemper’s financial profile during periods of
elevated catastrophe losses, we putin place a new aggregate catastrophe reinsurance treaty for 2018,
for higher frequency, lower severity storms. While we have experienced significant catastrophe losses
over the last two years, we believe our long-term pricing expectations for the Preferred homeowners
business are appropriate.



Our new Kemper Prime product and enhanced sales and service technology platform was released in
eight states in 2017, with the remaining to follow in 2018. Acombined preferred auto and home product,
Kemper Prime is designed to offer competitive pricing, enhanced marketability, and an improved
customer experience by making it easier for our customers to do business with Kemper.

In Preferred Auto—where we faced challenges from higher loss cost trends—initiatives designed to
improve profitability favorably impacted the business. We made progress on implementing rate
increase, claims and underwriting actions. Though the pressure will continue, we're confident our
initiatives will fully take hold and reposition the business for growth in 2018.

Our Life and Health business remains a stable source of earnings and capital, with strong results in
2017. Fundamentals were solid and we saw consistent upturnsin netincome and earned premiums.
Adjusted earnings rose $10 million in 2017 to $91 million.

Investment management is a core expertise and area of strength for Kemper, and we outpaced our
expectationsin2017. We manage a conservative, diversified and highly-rated portfolio that consistently
performs well over time. We delivered $327 million in netinvestmentincome in 2017, a $29 million
increase over 2016, with the higher returns driven by our diversified alternative investment portfolio.

J

Our Life and Health business remains a stable source of earnings and ca
strong results in 2017.
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We’re optimistic about our ability to achieve the strategy we’ve set forth to
become a market leader.

Looking Forward

Kemper is dedicated to delivering outstanding results for all our stakeholders. For our customers,

by earning and maintaining loyalty with competitive prices, products that match their unique and
evolving needs, and service that meets their expectations. For our shareholders, by achieving fair

returns and profitable growth. For our agents, to help elevate sales by offering a solid, ease-of use value
proposition to our customers. And for our employees, by providing valuable opportunities for personal and
professional developmentin a high-performing, rewards-driven culture.

We’re optimistic about our ability to achieve the strategy we’ve set forth to become a market leader in
empowering our customers to realize security by providing appropriate and affordable insurance and
financial solutions. There’s more work to do to achieve target profitability and optimize growth across
each of our businesses, and our accomplishments to date demonstrate we’re up to the task.

As we transition from rebuilding to growing, our focus is on being thoughtful stewards of capital.
Primarily, we're dedicated to broad-based organic growth and investments in acquisitions that
strategically enhance our business. We remain committed to returning capital to our shareholders
through dividends and opportunistic share repurchases where appropriate, a critical element to
ensure long-term value.

Leveraging our competitive advantages while building core capabilities to ensure we maximize value
is a priority. We’ll continue to make investments in our technology platforms to enable enhanced
competitive differentiation that will meaningfully strengthen our franchise.

We’re pleased with our progress in 2017 and motivated to make 2018 even better. I'd like to express my
sincere gratitude to our leadership team, employees, agents and board of directors for their support as
we collectively commit to succeed in building enduring value for Kemper. ’'m honored to be part of
the journey.

VALY

Joseph P. Lacher, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer
Kemper Corporation
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Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “2017 Annual Report”), including, but not limited to, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements of Kemper Corporation (“Kemper” or the “Registrant”) and its subsidiaries (individually and
collectively referred to herein as the “Company”) and the notes thereto appearing in Item 8 herein (the “Consolidated Financial
Statements”), the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations appearing in Item 7
herein (the “MD&A”) and the other Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules filed as a part hereof or incorporated by
reference herein, may contain or incorporate by reference information that includes or is based on forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the safe-harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Forward-looking statements give expectations or forecasts of future events. The reader can identify these statements by the fact
that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. They use words such as “believe(s),” “goal(s),” “target(s),”
“estimate(s),” “anticipate(s),” “forecast(s),” “project(s),” “plan(s),” “intend(s),” “expect(s),” “might,” “may,” “could” and other
terms of similar meaning. Forward-looking statements, in particular, include statements relating to future actions, prospective
services or products, future performance or results of current and anticipated services or products, sales efforts, expenses, the

outcome of contingencies such as legal proceedings, trends in operations and financial results.
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Any or all forward-looking statements may turn out to be wrong, and, accordingly, Kemper cautions readers not to place undue
reliance on such statements. Kemper bases these statements on current expectations and the current economic environment as
of the date of this 2017 Annual Report. They involve a number of risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict. These
statements are not guarantees of future performance; actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in
the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be affected by inaccurate assumptions or by known or
unknown risks and uncertainties that may be important in determining the Company’s actual future results and financial
condition.

In addition to the factors discussed below under Item 1A., “Risk Factors,” in this 2017 Annual Report, the reader should
consider the following list of general factors that, among others, could cause the Company’s actual results and financial
condition to differ materially from estimated results and financial condition.

Factors related to the legal and regulatory environment in which Kemper and its subsidiaries operate

*  Evolving practices and interpretations by regulators and courts that increase operating costs and potential liabilities,
particularly any that involve retroactive application of new requirements, including, but not limited to, state initiatives
related to unclaimed property laws or claims handling practices with respect to life insurance policies and the proactive
use of death verification databases;

*  Adverse outcomes in litigation or other legal or regulatory proceedings involving Kemper or its subsidiaries or
affiliates;

*  Governmental actions, including, but not limited to, implementation of new federal and state laws and regulations, and
court decisions interpreting existing laws and regulations or policy provisions;

«  Uncertainties related to regulatory approval of insurance rates, policy forms, insurance products, license applications,
dividends from insurance subsidiaries, acquisitions of businesses and other matters within the purview of state
insurance regulators;

Factors relating to insurance claims and related reserves in the Company’s insurance businesses

«  The incidence, frequency and severity of catastrophes occurring in any particular reporting period or geographic area,
including natural disasters, pandemics and terrorist attacks or other man-made events;

*  The number and severity of insurance claims (including those associated with catastrophe losses);

«  Changes in facts and circumstances affecting assumptions used in determining loss and loss adjustment expenses
(“LAE”) reserves, including, but not limited to, the number and severity of insurance claims, changes in claims
handling procedures and closure patterns and development patterns;

e The impact of inflation on insurance claims, including, but not limited to, the effects on personal injury claims of
increasing medical costs and the effects on property claims attributed to scarcity of resources available to rebuild
damaged structures, including labor and materials and the amount of salvage value recovered for damaged property;

«  Developments related to insurance policy claims and coverage issues, including, but not limited to, interpretations or
decisions by courts or regulators that may govern or influence losses incurred in connection with hurricanes and other
catastrophes;

«  Orders, interpretations or other actions by regulators that impact the reporting, adjustment and payment of claims;



+  Changes in the pricing or availability of reinsurance, or in the financial condition of reinsurers and amounts
recoverable therefrom;

Factors related to the Company’s ability to compete

«  Changes in the ratings by rating agencies of Kemper and/or its insurance company subsidiaries with regard to credit,
financial strength, claims paying ability and other areas on which the Company is rated,;

*  The level of success and costs incurred in realizing or maintaining economies of scale, integrating acquired businesses
and implementing significant business initiatives, including, but not limited to, those related to expense and claims
savings, consolidations, reorganizations and technology;

*  Absolute and relative performance of the Company’s products and services, including, but not limited to, the level of
success achieved in designing and introducing new insurance products;

«  The ability of the Company to maintain the availability of critical systems and manage technology initiatives cost-
effectively to address insurance industry developments and regulatory requirements;

*  Heightened competition, including, with respect to pricing, consolidations of existing competitors or entry of new
competitors and alternate distribution channels, introduction of new technologies, emergence of telematics,
refinements of existing products and development of new products by current or future competitors;

+  Expected benefits and synergies from mergers, acquisitions and/or divestitures that may not be realized to the extent
anticipated, within expected time frames or at all, due to a number of factors including, but not limited to, the loss of
key agents/brokers, customers or employees, increased costs, fees, expenses and related charges and delays caused by
factors outside of the Company’s control;

Factors relating to the business environment in which Kemper and its subsidiaries operate

*  Changes in general economic conditions, including, but not limited to, performance of financial markets, interest rates,
inflation, unemployment rates and fluctuating values of particular investments held by the Company;

*  Absolute and relative performance of investments held by the Company;

*  Changes in insurance industry trends and significant industry developments;

«  Changes in consumer trends and significant consumer or product developments;

«  Changes in capital requirements, including the calculations thereof, used by regulators and rating agencies;

«  Regulatory, accounting or tax changes that may affect the cost of, or demand for, the Company’s products or services
or after-tax returns from the Company’s investments;

«  The impact of required participation in windpools and joint underwriting associations, residual market assessments and
assessments for insurance industry insolvencies;

*  Changes in distribution channels, methods or costs resulting from changes in laws or regulations, lawsuits or market
forces;

* Increased costs and risks related to cybersecurity and information technology, including, but not limited to, identity
theft, data breaches and system disruptions affecting services and actions taken to minimize the risks thereof; and

Factors Relating to the Proposed Acquisition of Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation (“Infinity”

*  The satisfaction of the conditions precedent to the consummation of the Merger, including, without limitation, the
receipt of shareholder and regulatory approvals (including approvals, authorizations and clearance by antitrust
authorities and insurance regulators necessary to complete such proposed merger transaction) on the terms desired or
anticipated (and the risk that such approvals may result in the imposition of conditions that could adversely affect the
combined company or the expected benefits of such proposed merger transaction);

«  Unanticipated difficulties or expenditures relating to such proposed merger transaction;
«  Risks relating to the value of Kemper common stock to be issued in the proposed transaction;

«  Disruptions of Kemper’s and Infinity’s current plans, operations and relationships with third persons caused by the
announcement and pendency of such proposed merger transaction, including, without limitation, the ability of the
combined company to hire and retain any personnel; and

«  Legal proceedings that may be instituted against Kemper and Infinity following announcement of such proposed
merger transaction.



Other risks and uncertainties described from time to time in Kemper’s filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange

Commission (“SEC”).

Kemper cannot provide any assurances that the results contemplated in any forward-looking statements will be achieved or will
be achieved in any particular timetable or that future events or developments will not cause such statements to be inaccurate.
Kemper assumes no obligation to correct or update any forward-looking statements publicly for any changes in events or
developments or in the Company’s expectations or results subsequent to the date of this 2017 Annual Report. Kemper advises
the reader, however, to consult any further disclosures Kemper makes on related subjects in its filings with the SEC.




PART 1
Item 1. Business.

Kemper is a diversified insurance holding company, with subsidiaries that provide automobile, homeowners, life, health, and
other insurance products to individuals and businesses. Kemper’s annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on

Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments thereto are accessible free of charge through Kemper’s website,
kemper.com, and as soon as reasonably practicable after such materials are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

(a) GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF BUSINESS

Registrant is a holding company incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in 1990, with equity securities traded on
the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”). On August 25, 2011, Registrant adopted its current name, Kemper Corporation,
and changed its NYSE ticker symbol to KMPR. Prior to the name change, the Registrant was known as Unitrin, Inc. and traded
under the NYSE ticker symbol UTR.

Pending Acquisition of Infinity

On February 13, 2018, Kemper and Infinity announced that they had entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the
“Infinity Merger Agreement”), by and among Kemper, Vulcan Sub, Inc., an Ohio corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of
Kemper (“Kemper Merger Sub”), and Infinity, under which Kemper will acquire Infinity in a cash and stock transaction.
Pursuant to the Infinity Merger Agreement, Kemper Merger Sub will merge with and into Infinity, with Infinity surviving as a
wholly owned subsidiary of Kemper (the “Infinity Merger”). The Infinity Merger is expected to close in the third quarter of
2018, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of applicable closing conditions, including the approval of shareholders of both
companies and receipt of required regulatory clearances and approvals. Additional information pertaining to the Infinity Merger
and the Infinity Merger Agreement is contained in Item 1A., “Risk Factors” and Note 26, “Subsequent Events,” to the
Consolidated Financial Statements appearing in Item 8 of Part II of this 2017 Annual Report and our current report on Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on the date hereof and subsequent filings with the SEC.

(b) BUSINESS SEGMENT FINANCIAL DATA

Financial information about Kemper’s business segments for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 is contained
in the following sections of this 2017 Annual Report and is incorporated herein by reference: (i) Note 18, “Business Segments,
to the Consolidated Financial Statements and (ii) MD&A.

LX)

(c) DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

The Company is engaged, through its subsidiaries, in the property and casualty insurance and life and health insurance
businesses. The Company conducts its operations through two operating segments: Property & Casualty Insurance and Life &
Health Insurance. The Company conducts its operations solely in the United States.

Kemper’s subsidiaries employ approximately 5,550 full-time associates supporting their operations, of which approximately
1,850 are employed in the Property & Casualty Insurance segment, approximately 3,200 are employed in the Life & Health
Insurance segment and the remainder are employed in various corporate and other staff and shared functions.



Property and Casualty Insurance Business
General

The Property & Casualty Insurance segment provides automobile, homeowners, renters, fire, umbrella and other types of
property and casualty insurance to individuals and commercial automobile insurance to businesses. Property insurance
indemnifies an insured with an interest in physical property for loss of, or damage to, such property. Casualty insurance
primarily covers liability for damage to property of, or injury to, a person or entity other than the insured. In most cases,
casualty insurance also obligates the insurance company to provide a defense for the insured in litigation arising out of events
covered by the policy.

The Property & Casualty Insurance segment distributes its products primarily through independent agents and brokers who are
paid commissions for their services. In addition, the Life & Health Insurance segment’s career agents also sell contents
coverage for personal property to its customers.

Earned premiums from automobile insurance accounted for 61%, 58% and 54% of the Company’s consolidated insurance
premiums earned in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Revenues from automobile insurance accounted for 55%, 53% and 48%
of Kemper’s consolidated revenues from continuing operations in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Automobile insurance
products include personal automobile insurance, ranging from preferred to nonstandard risks, and commercial automobile
insurance. Nonstandard personal automobile insurance policyholders tend to have difficulty obtaining standard or preferred risk
insurance, usually because of their driving records, claims experience or premium payment history. Homeowners insurance
accounted for 11%, 12% and 14% of the Company’s consolidated insurance premiums earned in 2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. Homeowners insurance accounted for 11%, 12% and 13% of the Company’s consolidated revenues from
continuing operations in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

The Property & Casualty Insurance segment is headquartered in Chicago, Illinois, and conducts business in more than 40 states
and the District of Columbia. The segment’s insurance products are offered by approximately 16,500 independent insurance
agents and brokers. As shown in the following table, five states provided 80% of the segment’s premium revenues in 2017.

Percentage
of Total
State Premiums

(@815 7o) 5 1 T ORI 55%
TEXAS ettt ettt ettt e e e—tee e e e ateeeeeeateeeeeeatteeeeeateeeeaiateeeeaiatteeeaiateeeeaiateeeeanaateeeeaaateeeeataeeaaans 11

Property and Casualty Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Reserves

The Company’s reserves for losses and LAE for property and casualty insurance (“Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves”)
are reported using the Company’s estimate of its ultimate liability for losses and LAE for claims that occurred prior to the end
of any given accounting period but have not yet been paid.

Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves by business segment at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016
Business Segments:
Property & Casualty INSUTANCE .........ccueeiiiiiiiieeie ettt e e e e et e et e eseeseenseennes $ 9763 § 884.1
Life & Health INSUTANCE .......ooiiiiieiieeeie ettt ettt et et e e et e e eseeseeeseennin 4.1 4.5
Total BUSINESS SEEIMETIES.......eiuiiiiiiiiieiieiti ettt sttt ettt b ettt s b et e bbbt e st e e b sbeeseebe b ebeenee 980.4 888.6
DiSCONTNUEA OPETALIONS ....vvivieeieieeteeteeteeteete et et erteeteettestesteeteestesseeseessessensesseensensesseeseensensesseessensensesseenes 33.1 38.6
UNAIIOCATEA RESEIVES ...ttt ettt ettt b et b et e e b e e st et enbeebeeaeentebesbeeneens 3.3 4.2

Total Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves $1,0168 $ 9314

In estimating the Company’s Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves, the Company’s actuaries exercise professional
judgment and must consider, and are influenced by, many variables that are difficult to quantify. Accordingly, the process of
estimating and establishing the Company’s Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves is inherently uncertain and the actual



ultimate net cost of claims may vary materially from the estimated amounts reserved. The reserving process is particularly
imprecise for claims involving asbestos, environmental matters, construction defect and other emerging and/or long-tailed
exposures that may not be discovered or reported until years after the insurance policy period has ended. Property and Casualty
Insurance Reserves related to the Company’s Discontinued Operations are predominantly long-tailed exposures, of which $16.3
million was related to asbestos, environmental matters and construction defect exposures at December 31, 2017. See MD&A,
“Critical Accounting Estimates,” under the caption “Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment
Expenses” beginning on page 64 for a discussion of the Company’s reserving process and the factors considered by the
Company’s actuaries in estimating the Company’s Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves.

The Company’s goal is to ensure that its total reserves for property and casualty insurance losses and LAE are adequate to cover
all costs, while minimizing variation from the time reserves for losses and LAE are initially estimated until losses and LAE are
fully developed. Changes in the Company’s estimates of these losses and LAE, also referred to as “development,” will occur
over time and may be material. Favorable development is recognized and reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements
when the Company decreases its previous estimate of ultimate losses and LAE and results in an increase in net income in the
period recognized, whereas adverse development is recognized and reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements when the
Company increases its previous estimate of ultimate losses and LAE and results in a decrease in net income.

Development of property and casualty insurance losses and LAE from prior accident years for each of the Company’s
continuing business segments and discontinued operations in 2017, 2016 and 2015 was:

Favorable (Adverse) Development

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Continuing Operations:
Property & Casualty INSUTANCE ...........cveviievieiiieiiieieiiieteee ettt $ (195 $ 143 §$§ 129
Life & Health INSUTANCE ....cc.eeveiiiiieeieeic ettt eae e ese s 0.9) 0.1 (1.4)
Total Favorable (Adverse) Development from Continuing Operations, Net.........cccccoovnee. (20.4) 14.4 11.5

Discontinued Operations ...........cccceceeevereeriereenns 1.5 6.3 8.6
$ (189 $ 207 § 20.1

Total Favorable (Adverse) Development, Net

See MD&A, “Loss and LAE Reserve Development,” “Property & Casualty Insurance,” and “Life & Health Insurance,” for the
impact of development on the results reported by the Company’s business segments. Also see MD&A, “Critical Accounting
Estimates,” under the caption “Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses” beginning
on page 64 for additional information about the Company’s reserving practices.

See Note 6, “Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information about
incurred and paid claims development for the 2013-2016 accident years as of December 31, 2017, net of reinsurance and
indemnification, as well as cumulative claim frequency and the total of incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) liabilities, including
expected development on reported claims included within the net incurred losses and allocated LAE amounts as of

December 31, 2017. See Note 6, “Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a
tabular reconciliation of the three most recent annual periods setting forth the Company’s Property and Casualty Insurance
Reserves as of the beginning of each year, incurred losses and LAE for insured events of the current year, changes in incurred
losses and LAE for insured events of prior years, payments of losses and LAE for insured events of the current year, payments
of losses and LAE for insured events of prior years and the Company’s Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves at the end of
the year and additional information regarding the nature of adjustments to incurred losses and LAE for insured events of prior
years.

Catastrophe Losses

Catastrophes and natural disasters are inherent risks of the property and casualty insurance business. These catastrophic events
and natural disasters include, without limitation, hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, hailstorms, wildfires, high winds and
winter storms. Such events result in insured losses that are, and are expected to be, a material factor in the results of operations
and financial position of Kemper’s property and casualty insurance companies. Further, because the level of insured losses that
could occur in any one year cannot be accurately predicted, these losses contribute to material year-to-year fluctuations in the
results of operations and financial position of these companies. Specific types of catastrophic events are more likely to occur at
certain times within the year than others. This factor adds an element of seasonality to property and casualty insurance claims.
The occurrence and severity of catastrophic events cannot be accurately predicted in any year. However, some geographic
locations are more susceptible to these events than others. The Company has endeavored to manage its direct insurance
exposures in certain regions that are prone to naturally occurring catastrophic events through a combination of geographic



diversification, restrictions on the amount and location of new business production in such regions, modifications of, and/or
limitations to coverages and deductibles for certain perils in such regions and reinsurance. The Company has adopted the
industry-wide catastrophe classifications of storms and other events promulgated by Insurance Services Office, Inc. (“ISO”) to
track and report losses related to catastrophes. ISO classifies a disaster as a catastrophe when the event causes $25 million or
more in direct insured losses to property and affects a significant number of policyholders and insurers. ISO-classified
catastrophes are assigned a unique serial number recognized throughout the insurance industry. The discussions throughout this
2017 Annual Report utilize ISO’s definition of catastrophes.

The process of estimating and establishing reserves for catastrophe losses is inherently uncertain and the actual ultimate cost of
a claim, net of reinsurance recoveries, may vary materially from the estimated amount reserved. See Item 1A., “Risk Factors,”
under the caption “Catastrophe losses could materially and adversely affect the Company’s results of operations, liquidity and/
or financial condition” for a discussion of catastrophe risk. See Note 20, “Catastrophe Reinsurance,” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for a discussion of the factors that influence the process of estimating and establishing reserves for
catastrophes.

Reinsurance

The Company manages its exposure to catastrophes and other natural disasters through a combination of geographical
diversification, restrictions on the amount and location of new business production in such regions, modifications of, and/or
limitations to coverages and deductibles for certain perils in such regions and reinsurance. To limit its exposures to catastrophic
events, the Company maintains a catastrophe reinsurance program for the Property & Casualty Insurance segment. Coverage
for the catastrophe reinsurance program is provided in various layers and reinsurance contracts. Additionally, for 2018, the
Company has entered into an aggregate excess property catastrophe reinsurance contract (the “2018 Aggregate Catastrophe
Reinsurance Contract”) for the Property & Casualty Insurance segment. The Property & Casualty Insurance segment and the
Life & Health Insurance segment also purchase reinsurance from the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund (the “FHCF”) for
hurricane losses in Florida at retentions lower than those described below for the Company’s catastrophe reinsurance program.

Coverage for the Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s catastrophe reinsurance program for 2018 is provided by three
multi-year excess of loss reinsurance contracts and an annual aggregate excess of loss reinsurance contract. The first
reinsurance contract provides coverage over the three-year period of January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2018 (the “2016
Reinsurance Contract”). The 2016 Reinsurance Contract provides coverage in two layers, which together provide coverage for
losses on individual catastrophes of $300 million in excess of $50 million. Under the 2016 Reinsurance Contract, the
percentage of coverage is 31.66% for each year in the three-year period, and participation of each reinsurer remains the same
over the entire three-year period. Accordingly, the 2016 Reinsurance Contract provides coverage for 31.66% of losses on
individual catastrophes of $300 million in excess of $50 million in 2018. The second reinsurance contract provides coverage
over the three-year period of January 1, 2017 through December 31, 2019 (the “2017 Reinsurance Contract™). The 2017
Reinsurance Contract provides coverage in two layers, which together provide coverage for losses on individual catastrophes of
$200 million in excess of $50 million, a $100 million reduction in the coverage for losses on individual catastrophes in excess
of $50 million provided under the 2016 Reinsurance Contract. Under the 2017 Reinsurance Contract, the percentage of
coverage is 31.66% for each year in the three-year period, and participation of each reinsurer remains the same over the entire
three-year period. Accordingly, the 2017 Reinsurance Contract provides coverage for 31.66% of losses on individual
catastrophes of $200 million in excess of $50 million in 2018. The third reinsurance contract provides coverage over the three-
year period of January 1, 2018 through December 31, 2020 (the “2018 Reinsurance Contract”). The 2018 Reinsurance Contract
provides coverage in two layers, which together provide coverage for losses on individual catastrophes of $200 million in
excess of $50 million, which is consistent with the coverage provided under the 2017 Reinsurance Contract. Under the 2018
Reinsurance Contract, the percentage of coverage is 31.66% for each year in the three-year period, and participation of each
reinsurer remains the same over the entire three-year period. Accordingly, the 2018 Reinsurance Contract provides coverage for
31.66% of losses on individual catastrophes of $200 million in excess of $50 million in 2018.



Coverage on individual catastrophes provided under the three multi-year excess of loss reinsurance contracts for 2018 (January
1, 2018 to December 31, 2018) is provided in various layers as summarized below.

Catastrophe Losses .

and LAE Percentage
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS In Excess of Up to of Coverage
RELAINEA. ...ttt ettt et $ — 3 50.0 —%
st Layer of Coverage (Combination of 2018, 2017 and 2016 Reinsurance
COMITACES) 1.vteueentteteett et et et e et e st e e tte et e e eaeesteesbeesseenseeseenseenseenssesseesseeessessseansennseansean 50.0 150.0 95.0
2nd Layer of Coverage (Combination of 2018 and 2017 Reinsurance Contracts) ...... 150.0 250.0 63.3
2nd Layer of Coverage (2016 Reinsurance Contract)..........cccoceevevveeruerienieenennenennne 150.0 350.0 31.7

The estimated annual premium in 2018 for the three multi-year excess of loss reinsurance contracts presented in the preceding
table is $10.7 million. In the event that the Company’s incurred catastrophe losses and LAE covered by its catastrophe
reinsurance program exceed the retention for a particular layer, the program allows for one reinstatement of such coverage. In
such an instance, the Company is required to pay a reinstatement premium to the reinsurers to reinstate the full amount of the
limit available under such layer. The reinstatement premium for the first layer of coverage is a percentage of the full original
premium based on the ratio of the losses in excess of the Company’s retention to the reinsurers’ coverage limit. The
reinstatement premium for the second layer of coverage is a percentage of half the original premium based on the ratio of the
losses in excess of the Company’s retention to the reinsurers’ coverage limit.

The 2018 Aggregate Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract is effective for the period of January 1, 2018 through December 31,
2018 and provides coverage for accumulated catastrophe losses of $50 million in excess of $60 million on losses arising out of
one or more of the following perils from storms or storm systems that are not named storms: (1) windstorm; (2) hail; (3)
tornado and (4) fire; including ensuing collapse and water damage.

Coverage provided under the 2018 Aggregate Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract (January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018) is
summarized below.

Aggregate Catastrophe
Losses and LAE
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS In Excess of Up to
REEAINEA. ...ttt ettt et s ekt b bt b e st et bttt et b st e bt n s $ — 60.0
COVETAZE. ...ttt ettt ettt et ettt h e eb e bt e bt e a et e et e e st et et e e bt e bt e bt e eh e e st sateeab e e bt enteenbeenbeenanenaeens 60.0 110.0

The estimated annual premium for the 2018 Aggregate Catastrophe Reinsurance Contract is $9.0 million.

The coverage presented in the preceding tables differs from the coverage provided in 2017. See Note 20, “Catastrophe
Reinsurance,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information pertaining to the catastrophe reinsurance program for
the Property & Casualty Insurance segment for 2017. To maintain the same level and percentage of coverage in subsequent
years as provided by the catastrophe reinsurance program in 2018, the Property & Casualty Insurance segment will need to
purchase additional reinsurance in the future for the portion of coverage expiring at the end of 2018, 2019 and 2020.

In addition to the catastrophe loss exposures caused by natural events described above, Kemper’s property and casualty
insurance companies are exposed to losses from catastrophic events that are not the result of acts of nature, such as acts of
terrorism, the nature, occurrence and severity of which in any period cannot be accurately predicted. The companies have
reinsurance coverage to address certain exposures to potential future terrorist attacks. The reinsurance coverage for certified
events, as designated by the federal government, is from the Terrorist Risk Insurance Act and the coverage for non-certified
events is available in the catastrophe reinsurance program for Kemper’s Property & Casualty Insurance segment. However,
certain perils, such as biological, chemical, nuclear pollution or contamination, are excluded from the reinsurance coverage for
non-certified events.

In addition to the catastrophe reinsurance programs described above, Kemper’s property and casualty insurance companies
utilize other reinsurance arrangements to limit their maximum loss, provide greater diversification of risk and minimize
exposures on larger risks.

Under the various reinsurance arrangements, Kemper’s property and casualty insurance companies are indemnified by
reinsurers for certain losses incurred under insurance policies issued by the reinsurers. As indemnity reinsurance does not
discharge an insurer from its direct obligations to policyholders on risks insured, Kemper’s property and casualty insurance



companies remain directly liable. However, provided that the reinsurers meet their obligations, the net liability for Kemper’s
property and casualty insurance companies is limited to the amount of risk that they retain. Kemper’s property and casualty
insurance companies purchase their reinsurance only from reinsurers rated “A-" or better by A. M. Best Co., Inc. (“A.M. Best”),
at the time of purchase. A.M. Best is an organization that specializes in rating insurance and reinsurance companies.

For further discussion of the reinsurance programs, see Note 20, “Catastrophe Reinsurance,” and Note 21, “Other Reinsurance,”
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Pricing

Pricing levels for property and casualty insurance products are influenced by many factors, including the frequency and severity
of claims, state regulation and legislation, competition, general business and economic conditions, including market rates of
interest, inflation, expense levels, and judicial decisions. In addition, many state regulators require consideration of investment
income when approving or setting rates, which could reduce underwriting margins. See MD&A under the caption “Property &
Casualty Insurance.”

Competition

Based on the most recent annual data published by A.M. Best, as of the end of 2016, there were 1,186 property and casualty
insurance groups in the United States. Kemper’s property and casualty group was among the top 9% of property and casualty
insurance groups in the United States as measured by net written premiums, policyholders’ surplus and admitted assets in 2016.
Among all personal lines automobile insurance writers, Kemper’s property and casualty group was the 21st largest writer as
measured by net written premiums in 2016.

Rankings by admitted assets, net premiums written and capital and surplus were:

Ordinal Percentile
Measurement Rank Rank
INEE AQMILEEA ASSELS ...euviiieieeieetieitet ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt s bttt et e s e e seestentesseeseeneenseebeeseensensesneensensenees 85 92%
INEt WITHEEN PIOMIUITIS .....viiiiiiiitieiicieeee ettt ettt ettt et e et et et e eaeeseessesbeeseessesbesbeeseenseseneas 51 95
Capital AN SUIPIUS....ccviivieieii ettt ettt et et e e teese et e seeseesaessesseeseensesesseessensensens 97 91

In 2016, the U.S. property and casualty insurance industry’s estimated net premiums written were $538 billion, of which nearly
80% were accounted for by the top 50 groups of property and casualty insurance companies. Kemper’s property and casualty
insurance companies wrote less than 1% of the industry’s 2016 premium volume.

The property and casualty insurance industry is highly competitive, particularly with respect to personal automobile insurance.
Kemper’s property and casualty insurance companies compete on the basis of, among other measures, (i) using suitable pricing
segmentation, (ii) maintaining underwriting discipline, (iii) settling claims timely and efficiently, (iv) offering products in
selected markets or geographies, (v) utilizing technological innovations for the marketing and sale of insurance, (vi) controlling
expenses, (vii) maintaining adequate ratings from A.M. Best and other ratings agencies and (viii) providing quality services to
independent agents and policyholders. See Item 1A., “Risk Factors,” under the caption “The insurance industry is highly
competitive, making it difficult to grow profitability and within expectations of investors.”

Life and Health Insurance Business

The Company’s Life & Health Insurance segment consists of Kemper’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, United Insurance Company
of America (“United Insurance”), The Reliable Life Insurance Company (“Reliable”), Union National Life Insurance Company
(“Union National Life”), Mutual Savings Life Insurance Company (“Mutual Savings Life”), United Casualty Insurance
Company of America (“United Casualty’”), Union National Fire Insurance Company (“Union National Fire’’), Mutual Savings
Fire Insurance Company (“Mutual Savings Fire”) and Reserve National Insurance Company (“Reserve National”). As
discussed below, United Insurance, Reliable, Union National Life, Mutual Savings Life, United Casualty, Union National Fire
and Mutual Savings Fire (the “Kemper Home Service Companies”) distribute their products through a network of employee, or
“career” agents. Reserve National distributes its products through a network of independent agents and brokers. These career
agents, independent agents and brokers are paid commissions for their services. Earned premiums from life insurance
accounted for 16%, 17% and 19% of the Company’s consolidated insurance premiums earned in 2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. Revenues from life insurance accounted for 22%, 23% and 25% of the Company’s consolidated revenues from
continuing operations in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.



As shown in the following table, five states provided 51% of the premium revenues in this segment in 2017.

Percentage
of Total
State Premiums
XS e ————eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeea—a—eteeeeeeeeeeeeaee——aeeeaeeaaeeeeaeaanaranaes 22%
| e LT3 T2 o - H OO RPRR PR 11
Alabama .... 7
Mississippi ... 6
Florida........ 5

Kemper Home Service Companies

The Kemper Home Service Companies, based in St. Louis, Missouri, focus on providing individual life and supplemental
accident and health insurance products to customers of modest incomes who desire basic protection for themselves and their
families. Their leading product is ordinary life insurance, including permanent and term insurance. Face amounts of these
policies are lower than those of policies typically sold to higher income customers by other companies in the life insurance
industry. Approximately 75% of the Life & Health Insurance segment’s premium revenues are generated by the Kemper Home
Service Companies.

The Kemper Home Service Companies employ nearly 2,200 career agents to distribute insurance products in 25 states and the
District of Columbia. These career agents are full-time employees who call on customers in their homes to sell insurance
products, provide services related to policies in force and collect premiums, typically monthly. Premiums average
approximately $22 per policy per month with an average face value of $5,700. Permanent and term policies are offered
primarily on a non-participating, guaranteed-cost basis. These career agents also distribute and/or service certain property
insurance products for the Kemper Home Service Companies.

Reserve National

Reserve National, based in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, is licensed in 49 states and the District of Columbia. The Company has
traditionally specialized in the sale of individual Medicare Supplement insurance and limited health insurance coverages, such
as fixed indemnity, specified disease, and accident-only plans, primarily to individuals in rural areas who often do not have
access to a broad array of accident and health insurance products. The Company’s insurance products can be tailored to meet
individual and family needs. Reserve National’s traditional distribution channel consists of approximately 500 independent
agents.

Reserve National began expanding its distribution channels during 2013 by launching two marketing channel initiatives —
Kemper Senior Solutions and Kemper Benefits. Kemper Senior Solutions markets life insurance and home health care products
focusing on the individual, senior-age demographic of the market place. Kemper Benefits sells voluntary products in the
employer market place. Brokers and non-exclusive independent agents are utilized to market and distribute products in these
new distribution channels. Reserve National currently has approximately 4,300 independent agents appointed in connection
with these initiatives.

Reinsurance

Consistent with insurance industry practice, the Company’s life and health insurance subsidiaries utilize reinsurance
arrangements to limit their maximum loss, provide greater diversification of risk and minimize exposures on larger risks. As the
face amounts of the Company’s issued policies are relatively small, the ceded risks and corresponding premiums are also
relatively small, particularly when compared to other companies in the industry. The segment is also exposed to losses from
catastrophes arising from insurance policies distributed by career agents of the Kemper Home Service Companies. Over the last
several years, the Kemper Home Service Companies have been intentionally reducing their exposure to catastrophic events
through the run-off of their dwelling insurance business. Accordingly, except for reinsurance provided by the FHCF for
catastrophe losses in Florida, the Kemper Home Service Companies do not carry any other catastrophe reinsurance coverage.
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Lapse Ratio

The lapse ratio is a measure of a life insurer’s loss of in-force policies. For a given year, this ratio is commonly computed as the
total face amount of individual life insurance policies lapsed, surrendered, expired and decreased during such year, less policies
increased and revived during such year, divided by the total face amount of policies at the beginning of the year plus the face
amount of policies issued and reinsurance assumed in the prior year. The Life & Health Insurance segment’s lapse ratio for
individual life insurance was 6% in 2017, 2016 and 2015.

The customer base served by the Kemper Home Service Companies and competing life insurance companies tends to have a
higher incidence of lapse than other demographic segments of the population. Thus, to maintain or increase the level of its
business, the Kemper Home Service Companies must write a high volume of new policies.

Pricing

Premiums for life and health insurance products are based on assumptions with respect to mortality, morbidity, investment
yields, expenses, and lapses and are also affected by state laws and regulations, as well as competition. Pricing assumptions are
based on the experience of Kemper’s life and health insurance subsidiaries, as well as the industry in general, depending on the
factor being considered. The actual profit or loss produced by a product will vary from the anticipated profit if the actual
experience differs from the assumptions used in pricing the product.

Premiums for policies sold by the Kemper Home Service Companies are set at levels designed to cover the relatively high cost
of “in-home” servicing of such policies. As a result, Kemper Home Service Companies’ premiums have a higher expense load
than the life insurance industry average.

Premiums for Medicare supplement and other accident and health policies must take into account the rising costs of medical
care. The annual rate of medical cost inflation has historically been higher than the general rate of inflation, necessitating
frequent rate increases, most of which are subject to approval by state regulators.

Competition

Based on the most recent data published by A.M. Best, as of the end of 2016, there were 428 life and health insurance company
groups in the United States. The Company’s Life & Health Insurance segment ranked in the top 23% of life and health
insurance company groups, as measured by admitted assets, net premiums written and capital and surplus. Rankings by
admitted assets, net premiums written and capital and surplus were:

Ordinal Percentile
Measurement Rank Rank
INEt AQMILEEA ASSELS ...ouvivieiieieeti et ettt ettt ettt ettt et e beeseesbessaeseessessesseeseesseseeseessessesseessensensensas 89 79%
Net WITHEEN PIOMIUINS ....vieiiiiiiiieiieiecieeeeteteete ettt ettt eeseeseesaesesbeeseensessesseensensennas 87 79
Capital ANd SUIPIUS.......eieeiie ettt ettt et e et e e eae e ae e seeeseeeseeenseenseenseenseenns 96 77

Kemper’s life and health insurance subsidiaries generally compete by using appropriate pricing, offering products to selected
markets or geographies, controlling expenses, maintaining adequate ratings from A.M. Best and providing competitive services
to agents and policyholders.

Investments

The quality, nature and amount of the various types of investments that can be made by insurance companies are regulated by
state laws. Depending on the state, these laws permit investments in qualified assets, including, but not limited to, municipal,
state and federal government obligations, corporate bonds, real estate, preferred and common stocks, investment partnerships,
limited liability investment companies and limited partnerships. In addition, the quality, nature and amount of the various types
of investments held by Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries affect the amount of asset risk calculated by regulators and rating
agencies in determining required capital. See “Regulation” immediately following this subsection and Item 1A., “Risk Factors,’
under the caption “The Company’s investment portfolio is exposed to a variety of risks that may negatively impact net
investment income and cause realized and unrealized losses.”

)

The Company employs a total return investment strategy, with an emphasis on yield, while maintaining liquidity to meet both
its short- and medium-term insurance obligations. See the discussions of the Company’s investments under the headings
“Investment Results,” “Investment Quality and Concentrations,” “Investments in Limited Liability Companies and Limited
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Partnerships,” “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Critical Accounting Estimates,” in the MD&A, “Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk,” in Item 7A and Note 4, “Investments,” Note 13, “Income from Investments,” and
Note 22, “Fair Value Measurements,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Regulation
Overview of State Regulation

Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to extensive regulation, but not exclusively, at the state level. Such regulation
pertains to a variety of matters, including, but not limited to, policy forms, rate setting, licensing to transact business, market
conduct, trade practices, underwriting standards, claims practices, transactions with affiliates, payment of dividends, nature and
amount of investments, solvency, reserve adequacy, statutory accounting methods, risk management and corporate governance.
In addition, insurance regulatory authorities perform periodic examinations of an insurer’s financial condition, market conduct
activities and other affairs. Some of these matters are discussed in more detail below.

Approval of Policy Rates and Forms

The majority of Kemper’s insurance operations are in states requiring prior approval by regulators before proposed policy or
coverage forms and rates for property, casualty, or health insurance policies may be implemented and used. The Company’s
ability to respond to market developments or increased costs can be adversely impacted by lengthy delays in the approval
process or by the failure to receive the required approval of state regulators.

Restrictions on Withdrawal, Cancellation and Nonrenewal

Many states have laws restricting an insurer’s ability to withdraw from a particular market. Laws that limit an insurer’s ability
to cancel or non-renew a block of policies by line of business, or that subject their withdrawal to prior approval requirements,
may restrict the ability of our insurance subsidiaries to exit unprofitable markets.

Financial Reports and Standards

Insurance companies are required to report their financial condition and results of operation in accordance with statutory
accounting principles prescribed or permitted by state insurance regulators in conjunction with the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”). State insurance regulators also prescribe the form and content of statutory financial
statements, set minimum reserve and loss ratio requirements and establish standards for the types and amounts of investments.
In addition, state laws or regulations require minimum capital and surplus levels and incorporate risk-based capital (“RBC”)
standards promulgated by the NAIC. These RBC standards are intended to assess the level of risk inherent in an insurance
company’s business and consider items such as asset risk, credit risk, underwriting risk and other business risks relevant to its
operations. In accordance with RBC formulas, a company’s RBC requirements are calculated and compared to its total adjusted
capital to determine whether regulatory intervention is warranted. At December 31, 2017, the total adjusted capital of each of
Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries exceeded the minimum levels required under applicable RBC requirements.

Guaranty Funds and Risk Pools

Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries are required to pay assessments up to prescribed limits to fund policyholder losses or liabilities
of insolvent insurance companies under the guaranty fund laws of most states in which they transact business. Kemper’s
insurance subsidiaries are also required to participate in various involuntary pools or assigned risk pools, principally involving
windstorms and high risk drivers. In most states, the involuntary pool participation of Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries is
determined in proportion to their voluntary writings of related lines of business in such states.

Cybersecurity Regulation

Insurance regulators have been focusing increased attention on data security during financial exams, and new laws and
regulations have been enacted or are pending that would impose new requirements and standards for protecting personally
identifiable information of insurance company policyholders. For example, the New York Department of Financial Services
cybersecurity regulation became effective in August 2017 requiring a cybersecurity program which promotes the protection of
customer information as well as the information technology systems of regulated entities. In addition, the NAIC has adopted a
new model data security law that imposes additional requirements on insurance companies to the extent the model law is
ultimately adopted by the respective state legislatures. The NAIC has also strengthened and enhanced the cybersecurity
guidance included in its handbook for state insurance examiners. The Company anticipates a continuing focus on new
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regulatory and legislative proposals at the state and federal levels that further regulate practices regarding privacy and security
of personal information.

Holding Company Regulation, Including Enterprise Risk Management and Governance

We are regulated as an insurance holding company system and are subject to the insurance holding company acts of the states in
which our insurance subsidiaries are domiciled and, in some case, additional states in which the insurance subsidiary is deemed
commercially domiciled. These acts contain certain reporting requirements as well as restrictions on transactions between an
insurer and its affiliates. These holding company laws and regulations generally require insurance companies within an
insurance holding company system to register with the insurance department of each state where they are domiciled and to file
with those states’ insurance departments certain reports describing capital structure, ownership, financial condition, certain
intercompany transactions, an enterprise risk report and general business operations. In addition, various notice and reporting
requirements generally apply to transactions between insurance companies and their affiliates within the insurance holding
company system, depending on the size and nature of the transactions. Some insurance holding company laws and regulations
require prior regulatory approval or, in certain circumstances, prior notice of certain material intercompany transfers of assets as
well as certain transactions between insurance companies, their parent holding companies and affiliates.

Dividends

As a holding company with no significant business operations of its own, Kemper relies on dividends from its insurance
subsidiaries to meet its obligations. Certain dividends and distributions by an insurance subsidiary are subject to prior approval
by the insurance regulators of the state in which it is domiciled or commercially domiciled. See Item 1A., “Risk Factors,” under
the caption, “The ability of Kemper to service its debt, to pay dividends to its shareholders and/or make repurchases of its stock
may be materially impacted by lack of timely and/or sufficient dividends received from its subsidiaries.”

Change in Control Requirements

State insurance laws also impose requirements that must be met prior to a change of control of an insurance company or
insurance holding company based on the insurer’s state of domicile and, in some cases, additional states in which the insurance
subsidiary is deemed commercially domiciled. These requirements may include the advance filing of specific information with
the state insurance regulators, a public hearing on the matter, and the review and approval of the change of control by such
regulators. The Company has insurance subsidiaries domiciled or deemed commercially domiciled in Alabama, California,
Illinois, Louisiana, Missouri, New York, Oklahoma, Oregon, Texas and Wisconsin. In these states, except Alabama, “control”
generally is presumed to exist through the direct or indirect ownership of 10% or more of the voting securities of an insurance
company. Control is presumed to exist in Alabama with a 5% or more ownership interest in such securities. Any purchase of
Kemper’s shares that would result in the purchaser owning Kemper’s voting securities in the foregoing percentages for the
states indicated would be presumed to result in the acquisition of control of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries in those
states. Therefore, acquisitions subject to the 10% threshold generally would require the prior approval of insurance regulators in
each state in which the Company’s insurance subsidiaries are domiciled or deemed commercially domiciled, including those in
Alabama, while acquisitions subject to the 5% threshold generally would require the prior approval of only Alabama regulators.
Similarly, consistent with the Model Holding Company Act, several of the states in which the Company’s insurance subsidiaries
are domiciled have enacted legislation that requires either the divesting and/or acquiring company to notify regulators of, and in
some cases to receive regulatory approval for, a change in control.

Many state statutes also require pre-acquisition notification to state insurance regulators of a change of control of an insurance
company licensed in the state if specific market concentration thresholds would be triggered by the acquisition. Such statutes
authorize the issuance of a cease and desist order with respect to the insurance company if certain conditions, such as undue
market concentration, would result from the acquisition. These regulatory requirements may deter, delay or prevent transactions
effecting control of Kemper or its insurance subsidiaries, or the ownership of Kemper’s voting securities, including transactions
that could be advantageous to Kemper’s shareholders.

Many states have made, or are in the process of making, modifications to their holding company laws. These modifications
impose new reporting requirements and substantially expand the oversight and examination powers of state insurance regulators
to assess enterprise risks within the entire holding company system that may arise from both insurance and non-insurance
subsidiaries. They also impose new reporting requirements on affiliated transactions and divestiture of a controlling interest in
an insurance subsidiary.
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Federal Government Regulation
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Other Financial Reform Efforts

As part of an effort to strengthen the regulation of the financial services market, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act (“Dodd-Frank Act”) was enacted in 2010. The Dodd-Frank Act also created the Federal Insurance
Office (“FIO”) within the U.S. Department of the Treasury (“Treasury”). The FIO monitors the insurance industry, provides
advice to the Financial Stability Oversight Council (“FSOC”), represents the U.S. on international insurance matters, and
studies the current regulatory system. The FIO submitted reports to Congress in 2013 and 2014 addressing how to improve and
modernize the system of insurance regulation. The Dodd-Frank Act includes a number of financial reforms and regulations that
may affect our business and financial reporting. However, the 2016 presidential and congressional election results have created
uncertainty regarding the future of the Dodd-Frank Act and how it may impact our business.

Additional regulations or new requirements may emerge from activities of various regulatory entities, including the Federal
Reserve Board, FIO, FSOC, NAIC and the International Association of Insurance Supervisors (“lAIS”), that are evaluating
solvency and capital standards for insurance company groups. The outcome of these actions is uncertain; however, these actions
may result in an increase in the level of capital and liquidity required by insurance holding companies.

Affordable Care Act

In 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or ACA, as well as the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act
of 2010 (collectively, the “Health Care Acts”) became law, causing significant changes to the U.S. health care system. Since
then, significant regulations have been enacted by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or HHS, the Department
of Labor and the Department of Treasury. The legislation and regulations are far-reaching and are intended to expand access to
health insurance coverage over time by mandating that most individuals obtain and certain employers offer to their employees
health insurance coverage that meets prescribed minimum benefit requirements, as well as establishing minimum loss ratios,
rating restrictions, mandates for coverage of defined essential health benefits, restrictions or prohibitions on pre-existing
condition exclusions and annual and lifetime policy limits. As a result of the complexity of the law, its impact on health care in
the United States, the continuing modification and interpretation of the Health Care Acts made by statute, rule and/or executive
order, and the on-going efforts to repeal or replace the ACA, we continue to analyze and refine our estimates of the ultimate
impact of the Health Care Acts on our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, certain
Kemper health insurance subsidiaries are potentially subject to the Health Insurance Providers Fee (the “Fee”) imposed on
health insurers by the ACA. Recently enacted legislation placed a moratorium on the Fee otherwise payable in 2019.
Additionally, there is currently legislation pending in the U.S. Congress that would repeal the Fee.

HIPAA and Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act

The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, imposes obligations for issuers of health
insurance coverage and health benefit plan sponsors. This law requires guaranteed renewability of health care coverage for most
group health plans and certain individuals. Also, the law limited exclusions based on preexisting medical conditions.

The administrative simplification provisions of HIPAA imposed a number of requirements on covered entities, including
insurers. The requirements include uniform standards of common electronic health care transactions; privacy and security
regulations; and unique identifier rules for employers, health plans and providers. Additional federal privacy and security
requirements, including breach notification, improved enforcement and additional limitations on use and disclosure of protected
health information were passed through the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health, or HITECH, Act
provisions of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 and corresponding implementing regulations.

The federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act generally places restrictions on the disclosure of non-public information to non-affiliated
third parties, and requires financial institutions, including insurers, to provide customers with notice regarding how their non-
public personal information is used, including an opportunity to “opt out” of certain disclosures. State departments of insurance
and certain federal agencies adopted implementing regulations as required by federal law. In addition, a number of states have
adopted data security laws and/or regulations, regulating data security and/or requiring security breach notification, which may
apply to us in certain circumstances.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Kemper is exposed to numerous risk factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from recent results or anticipated
future results. The following discussion details the significant risk factors that are specific to the Company. In addition to those
described below, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially affected by other
factors not presently known by, or considered material to, the Company. Readers are advised to consider all of these factors
along with the other information included in this 2017 Annual Report, including the factors set forth under the caption “Caution
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” beginning on page 1, and to consult any further disclosures Kemper makes on related
subjects in its filings with the SEC.

Risks Relating to Legal and Regulatory Environment

Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to significant regulation, and the evolving legal and regulatory landscape in
which they operate could result in increased operating costs, reduced profitability and limited growth.

Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries operate under an extensive insurance regulatory system. Current laws and regulations
encompass a wide variety of matters, including policy forms, premium rates, licensing, market conduct, trade practices, claims
practices, reserve and loss ratio requirements, investment standards, statutory capital and surplus requirements, restrictions on
the payment of dividends, approvals of transactions involving a change in control of one or more insurance companies,
restrictions on transactions among affiliates and consumer privacy and data security. They also require the filing of annual and
quarterly financial reports and holding company reports. Pre-approval requirements often restrict the companies from
implementing premium rate changes for property, casualty and health insurance policies, introducing new, or making changes to
existing, policy forms and many other actions. Insurance regulators conduct periodic examinations of Kemper’s insurance
subsidiaries and can suspend or delay their operations or licenses, require corrective actions, and impose penalties or other
remedies available for compliance failures. For a more detailed discussion of the regulations applicable to Kemper’s
subsidiaries and related emerging developments, see “Regulation” in Item 1, beginning on page 12.

These laws and regulations, and their interpretation by the various regulators and courts, are undergoing continual revision and
expansion. The legal and regulatory landscape within which Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries conduct their businesses is often
unpredictable. As industry practices and regulatory, judicial, political, social and other conditions change, issues may emerge,
whether intended or not. These changes and emerging issues could adversely affect Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries in a variety
of ways, including, for example, by expanding coverages beyond the underwriting intent, increasing the number or size of
claims, accelerating the payment of claims or adding to operational costs. Industry practices that were once considered
approved, compliant and reasonable may suddenly be deemed unacceptable by virtue of a court or regulatory ruling or changes
in regulatory enforcement policies and practices. It is not possible for the Company to predict such shifts in legal or regulatory
enforcement or to accurately estimate the impact they may have on the Company and its operations.

One area where the legal and regulatory landscape is experiencing significant change is in connection with the mandated use of
death verification databases by life insurance companies in their policy administration and claims handling practices. In recent
years, many states have adopted new laws requiring insurers to proactively use such databases, including the Social Security
Administration’s Death Master File (the “DMF”), to varying degrees in order to ascertain if an insured may be deceased. More
than half of the states have adopted such laws, and Kemper cannot predict whether additional states will enact similar
legislation or, if enacted, what form such legislation may take. These laws require the insurer to initiate the claims process even
though the insureds’ beneficiaries have not submitted a claim, including proof of death, as required by regulator-approved
policy forms and the insurer was otherwise unaware of the insured’s death. In a related development, many states have
expanded the application of their unclaimed property laws, particularly as they relate to life insurance proceeds, and the
treasurers or controllers of a large number of states have engaged audit firms to examine the practices of life insurance
companies with respect to the reporting and remittance of such proceeds under unclaimed property laws. The push to alter
historic practices that were previously considered lawful and appropriate relative to both claims handling and remittance of life
insurance policy proceeds under unclaimed property laws has caused the Company to be involved in compliance audits, market
conduct examinations and litigation. The Company is in the process of implementing a voluntary, comprehensive process that
began in 2016 to compare life insurance records against the DMF and other databases to determine if any of its insured may be
deceased. See Note 2, “Summary of Accounting Policies and Accounting Changes,” and Note 23, “Contingencies,” to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further details.

The financial services industry, including insurance companies and their holding company systems, remains under regulatory
scrutiny. While it is not possible to predict how new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws and regulations
may impact the operations of Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries, several developments have the potential to significantly impact
such operations. This includes increased regulatory focus on cybersecurity and state adoption of extensive modifications to state
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holding company laws that substantially expand the oversight and examination powers of state insurance regulators beyond
licensed insurance companies to their non-insurance affiliates and their organizations as a whole, particularly with respect to
enterprise risk. In addition, the Health Care Acts have resulted in regulations affecting health insurers such as Reserve National,
and potential changes to the state insurance regulatory system may result from the Dodd-Frank Act. See the discussion of these
matters under “Regulation” in Item 1, beginning on page 12.

These new developments and significant changes in, or new interpretations of, existing laws and regulations could make it more
expensive for Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries to conduct and grow their businesses which could materially impact the
Company’s operating results.

Legal and regulatory proceedings are unpredictable and could produce one or more unexpected verdicts against the
Company that could materially and adversely affect the Company’s financial results for any given period.

Kemper and its subsidiaries are from time to time involved in lawsuits, regulatory inquiries and other legal proceedings arising
out of the ordinary course of their businesses. Some of these proceedings may involve matters particular to Kemper or one or
more of its subsidiaries, while others may pertain to business practices in the industry in which Kemper and its subsidiaries
operate. Some lawsuits may seek class action status that, if granted, could expose the Company to potentially significant
liability by virtue of the size of the putative classes. These matters often raise difficult factual and legal issues and are subject to
uncertainties and complexities. The outcomes of these matters are difficult to predict, and the amounts or ranges of potential
loss at particular stages in the proceedings are in most cases difficult or impossible to ascertain. A further complication is that
even where the possibility of an adverse outcome is remote under traditional legal analysis, juries sometimes substitute their
subjective views in place of facts and established legal principles. Given the unpredictability of the legal and regulatory
landscape in which the Company operates, there can be no assurance that one or more of these matters will not produce a result
that could materially and adversely affect the Company’s financial results for any given period.

For information about the Company’s pending legal proceedings, see Note 23, “Contingencies,” to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Risks Relating to Catastrophes and Estimating Property and Casualty Insurance Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

Catastrophe losses could materially and adversely affect the Company’s results of operations, liquidity and/or financial
condition.

Kemper’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries are subject to claims arising out of catastrophes that may have a
significant effect on their results of operations, liquidity and financial condition. Catastrophes can be caused by various events,
including, but not limited to, hurricanes, tornadoes, windstorms, earthquakes, hailstorms, explosions, severe winter weather and
wildfires and may include man-made events, such as terrorist attacks and hazardous material spills. The incidence, frequency
and severity of catastrophes are inherently unpredictable and may be impacted by the uncertain effects of climate change. The
extent of the Company’s losses from a catastrophe is a function of both the total amount of insured exposure in the geographic
area affected by the event and the severity of the event. The Company could experience more than one severe catastrophic
event in any given period.

Kemper’s life and health insurance subsidiaries are particularly exposed to risks of catastrophic mortality, such as pandemic or
other events that result in large numbers of deaths. In addition, the occurrence of such an event in a concentrated geographic
area could have a severe disruptive effect on the Company’s workforce and business operations. The likelihood and severity of
such events cannot be predicted and are difficult to estimate.

The property and casualty insurance subsidiaries use catastrophe modeling tools developed by third parties to project their
potential exposure to property damage resulting from catastrophic events under various scenarios. Such models are based on
various assumptions and judgments which may turn out to be wrong. The actual impact of one or more catastrophic events
could adversely and materially differ from these projections.

Changes in the availability and cost of catastrophe reinsurance and in the ability of reinsurers to meet their obligations
could result in Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries retaining more risk and could adversely and materially affect the
Company’s results of operations, financial condition and/or liquidity.

Kemper’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries seek to reduce their exposure to catastrophe losses through the purchase
of catastrophe reinsurance. Catastrophe reinsurance does not relieve such subsidiaries of their direct liability to their
policyholders. As long as the reinsurers meet their obligations, the net liability for such subsidiaries is limited to the amount of
risk that they retain. While such subsidiaries’ principal reinsurers are each rated “A-" or better by A.M. Best at the time
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reinsurance is purchased, the Company cannot be certain that reinsurers will pay the amounts due from them either now, in the
future, or on a timely basis. A reinsurer’s insolvency or inability to make payments under the terms of its reinsurance agreement
could materially and adversely affect the Company’s financial position, results of operations and liquidity.

In addition, market conditions beyond the Company’s control determine the availability of the reinsurance protection that
Kemper’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries may purchase. A decrease in the amount of reinsurance protection that
such subsidiaries purchase generally should increase their risk of a more severe loss. However, if the amount of available
reinsurance is reduced, such subsidiaries may be forced to incur additional expenses for reinsurance or may not be able to
obtain sufficient reinsurance on acceptable terms, which could adversely affect the ability of such subsidiaries to write future
insurance policies or result in their retaining more risk with respect to such policies.

The extent to which Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries can manage their catastrophe exposure through underwriting
strategies may be limited by law or regulatory action and could adversely and materially affect the Company’s results of
operations, financial condition and/or liquidity.

Kemper’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries also manage their exposure to catastrophe losses through underwriting
strategies such as reducing exposures in, or withdrawing from, catastrophe-prone areas, establishing appropriate guidelines for
insurable structures, and setting appropriate rates, deductibles, exclusions and policy limits. The extent to which such
subsidiaries can manage their exposure through such strategies may be limited by law or regulatory action. For example, laws
and regulations may limit the rate or timing at which insurers may non-renew insurance policies in catastrophe-prone areas or
require insurers to participate in wind pools and joint underwriting associations. Generally, an insurer’s participation in such
pools and associations are based on the insurer’s market share determined on a state-wide basis. Accordingly, even though
Kemper’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries may not incur a direct insured loss as a result of managing direct
catastrophe exposures, they may incur indirect losses from required participation in pools and associations. Laws and
regulations requiring prior approval of policy forms and premium rates may limit the ability of Kemper’s property and casualty
insurance subsidiaries to increase rates or deductibles on a timely basis, which may result in additional losses or lower returns
than otherwise would have occurred in an unregulated market. See the risk factor above under the title “Kemper’s insurance
subsidiaries are subject to significant regulation, and the evolving legal and regulatory landscape in which they operate could
result in increased operating costs, reduced profitability and limited growth.”

Estimating losses and LAE for determining property and casualty insurance reserves, or determining premium rates, is
inherently uncertain, and the Company’s results of operations may be materially impacted if the Company’s insurance
reserves or premium rates are insufficient.

The Company establishes loss and LAE reserves to cover estimated liabilities, which remain unpaid as of the end of each
accounting period, and to investigate and settle all claims incurred under the property and casualty insurance policies that it has
issued. Loss and LAE reserves are established for claims that have been reported to the Company as of the end of the
accounting period, as well as for claims that have occurred but have not yet been reported to the Company. The estimates of
loss and LAE reserves are based on the Company’s assessment of the facts and circumstances known to it at the time, as well as
estimates of the impact of future trends in the severity of claims, the frequency of claims and other factors.

The process of estimating property and casualty insurance reserves is complex and imprecise. The reserves established by the
Company are inherently uncertain estimates and could prove to be inadequate to cover its ultimate losses and expenses for
insured events that have occurred. The estimate of the ultimate cost of claims for insured events that have occurred must take
into consideration many factors that are dependent on the outcome of future events associated with the reporting, investigation
and settlement of claims. The impacts on the Company’s estimates of property and casualty insurance reserves from these
factors are difficult to assess accurately. A change in any one or more of the factors is likely to result in a projected ultimate loss
that is different than the previous projected ultimate loss and may have a material impact on the Company’s estimate of the
projected ultimate loss. Increases in the estimates of ultimate losses and LAE will decrease earnings, while decreases in such
estimates will increase earnings, as reported by the Company in the results of its operations for the periods in which the changes
to the estimates are made by the Company. See MD&A, “Critical Accounting Estimates,” under the caption “Property and
Casualty Insurance Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses” beginning on page 64 for a discussion of the
Company’s reserving process and the factors considered by the Company’s actuaries in estimating the Company’s Property and
Casualty Insurance Reserves.

The Company’s actuaries also consider trends in the severity and frequency of claims and other factors when determining the
premium rates to charge for its property and casualty insurance products. An unanticipated change in any one or more of these
factors or trends, as well as a change in competitive conditions, may also result in inadequate premium rates charged for
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insurance policies issued by Kemper’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries in the future. Such pricing inadequacies
could have a material impact on the Company’s operating results.

Risks Relating to Competition
A downgrade in the ratings of Kemper or its insurance subsidiaries could materially and adversely affect the Company.

Third-party rating agencies assess the financial strength and rate the claims-paying ability of insurance companies based on
criteria established by the rating agencies. Third-party ratings are important competitive factors in the insurance industry.
Financial strength ratings are used to assess the financial strength and quality of insurers. Ratings agencies may downgrade the
ratings of Kemper and/or its insurance subsidiaries or require Kemper to retain more capital in its insurance businesses to
maintain existing ratings following developments that they deem negative. This can include factors directly related to the
Company, such as an increase in the catastrophic risk retained by Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries, or developments in industry
or general economic conditions. A downgrade by A.M. Best in the ratings of Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries, particularly those
operating in the preferred and standard market or offering homeowners insurance, could result in a substantial loss of business
if independent agents and brokers or policyholders of such subsidiaries move to other companies with higher claims-paying and
financial strength ratings. Any substantial loss of business could materially and adversely affect the financial condition and
results of operations of such subsidiaries. A downgrade in Kemper’s credit rating by Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”’), Moody’s
Investors Services (“Moody’s”) or Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) may reduce Kemper’s ability to access the capital markets or may
increase the cost to refinance existing debt.

The insurance industry is highly competitive, making it difficult to grow profitability and within expectations of investors.

The Company’s insurance businesses face significant competition, and their ability to compete is affected by a variety of issues
relative to others in the industry, such as quality of management, product pricing, service quality, financial strength and name
recognition. Competitive success is based on many factors, including, but not limited to, the following:

«  Competitiveness of prices charged for insurance policies;

+  Sophistication of pricing segmentation;

*  Design and introduction of insurance products to meet emerging consumer trends;

«  Selection and retention of agents and other business partners;

«  Compensation paid to agents;

e Underwriting discipline;

¢ Selectiveness of sales markets;

«  Effectiveness of marketing materials and name recognition;

¢ Product and technological innovation;

*  Ability to settle claims timely and efficiently;

«  Ability to detect and prevent fraudulent insurance claims;

«  Effectiveness of deployment and use of information technology across all aspects of operations;
«  Ability to control operating expenses;

*  Financial strength ratings; and

*  Quality of services provided to, and ease of doing business with, independent agents and brokers or policyholders.

The inability to compete effectively in any of the Company’s insurance businesses could materially reduce the Company’s
customer base and revenues and could materially and adversely affect the future results and financial condition of the Company.

See “Competition” in Item 1 of Part I beginning on page 9 and page 11, for more information on the competitive rankings in the
property and casualty insurance markets and the life and health insurance markets, respectively, in the United States.

Risks Relating to Technology Initiatives, Security of Personal Data and Availability of Critical Systems

Technology initiatives could present significant economic and competitive challenges to the Company. Failure to complete
and implement such initiatives in a timely manner could result in the loss of business and incurrence of internal use
software development costs that may not be recoverable.

Data and analytics play an increasingly important role in the insurance industry. The Company may periodically initiate multi-
year technology projects to enhance operations or replace aging systems. While technology developments can facilitate the use
of data and analytics, streamline business processes and ultimately reduce the cost of operations, technology initiatives can
present significant economic and organizational challenges to the Company and potential short-term cost and implementation
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risks. In addition, projections of expenses and implementation schedules could change materially and costs could escalate over
time, while the ultimate utility of a technology initiative could deteriorate over time.

Due to the highly-regulated nature of the financial services industry, the Company also faces rising costs and competing time
constraints in adapting technology to meet compliance requirements of new and proposed regulations. The costs to develop and
implement systems to replace the Company’s aging systems and to comply with new regulatory requirements as needed over
time are expected to be material. Due to the complexities involved, there can be no assurances that new multi-year projects will
be successful and that the costs incurred to develop and implement replacement systems will be recoverable. Furthermore,
failure to implement replacement systems in a timely manner could result in loss of business from the Company’s inability to
design and introduce new insurance products that meet emerging consumer needs competitive trends.

Failure to maintain the security of personal data may result in lost business, reputational harm, legal costs and regulatory
penalties.

Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries obtain and store vast amounts of personal data that can present significant risks to the
Company and its customers and employees. An increasing array of laws and regulations govern the use and storage of such
data, including, for example, social security numbers, credit card data and protected health information. Despite the
implementation of various security measures, the Company’s data systems, or those of its third party administrators and other
business partners working on behalf of the Company, may be vulnerable to security breaches due to the increasing
sophistication of cyber-attacks, viruses, malware, hackers and other external hazards, as well as equipment and system failures
and inadvertent errors, negligence or intentional misconduct of employees and/or contractors. The Company also relies on the
ability of its business partners to maintain secure systems and processes that comply with legal requirements and protect
personal data. These increased risks and expanding regulatory requirements related to personal data privacy and security expose
the Company to potential data loss and resulting damages, regulatory fines and other liabilities, reputational risk and significant
increases in compliance and litigation costs. Although Kemper maintains cyber risk insurance, there is no guarantee that it will
be sufficient to cover all of the costs of one or more data breach incidents that could occur.

The Company relies increasingly on electronic payments from policyholders, including, but not limited to, payment by credit
and debit cards. In the event of non-compliance with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, an information
security framework for organizations that handle cardholder information for the major debit, credit, prepaid, e-purse, ATM and
point-of-sale cards, such organizations could prevent Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries from collecting premium payments from
customers by way of such cards and impose significant fines on Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries.

Failure to maintain the availability of critical systems may result in lost business, reputational harm, legal costs and
regulatory penalties.

The Company’s business operations rely on the continuous availability of its computer systems, including computer systems
used by third party administrators working on behalf of the Company. In addition to disruptions caused by cyber-attacks or
other data breaches, such systems may be adversely affected by natural and man-made catastrophes. The failure of the
Company, or its third party administrators or other business partners, to maintain business continuity in the wake of such events
may prevent the timely completion of critical processes across its operations, including, for example, insurance policy
administration, claims processing, billing, treasury and investment operations and payroll. These failures could result in
significant loss of business, fines and litigation.

Risks Relating to Investments

The Company’s investment portfolio is exposed to a variety of risks that may negatively impact net investment income and
cause realized and unrealized losses.

The Company maintains a diversified investment portfolio that is exposed to significant financial and capital market risks,
including interest rate (risk-free and spread), equity price, and liquidity, as well as risks from changes in tax laws and
regulations and other risks from changes in general economic conditions.

The interest rate environment has a significant impact on the Company’s financial results and position. In recent years, rates
have been at or near historic lows. A protracted low interest rate environment would continue to place pressure on net
investment income, particularly related to fixed income securities, short-term investments and limited liability investment
companies and limited partnerships accounted for under the equity method of accounting (“Equity Method Limited Liability
Investments”) that invest in distressed and mezzanine debt of other companies. A decline in interest rates would generally
increase the carrying value of the Company’s fixed income securities and its Equity Method Limited Liability Investments that
exhibit debt-like characteristics, but it may adversely affect the Company’s investment income as it invests cash in new
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investments that may yield less than the portfolio’s average rate. In a declining interest rate environment, borrowers may seek
to refinance their borrowings at lower rates and, accordingly, prepay or redeem securities the Company holds as investments
more quickly than the Company initially expected. Such prepayment or redemption action may cause the Company to reinvest
the redeemed proceeds in lower yielding investments. An increase in interest rates would generally reduce the carrying value
of a substantial portion of the Company’s investment portfolio, particularly fixed income securities and Equity Method
Limited Liability Investments.

The Company invests a portion of its investment portfolio in equity securities, which generally have more volatile returns than
fixed income securities and may experience sustained periods of depressed values. There are multiple factors that could
negatively impact the performance of the Company’s equity portfolio, including general economic conditions, industry or
sector deterioration and issuer-specific concerns. A decline in equity values may result in a decrease in dividend income,
realized losses upon sales of the securities, or other-than-temporary impairment charges on securities still held.

Interest rates and equity returns also have a significant impact on the Company’s pension and other postretirement employee
benefit plans. In addition to the impact on carrying values and yields of the underlying assets of the funded plans, interest rates
also impact the discounting of the projected and accumulated benefit obligations of the plans. A decrease in interest rates may
have a negative impact on the funded status of the plans.

The nature and cash flow needs of the Company and the insurance industry in general present certain liquidity risks that may
impact the return of the investment portfolio. If the Company were to experience several significant catastrophic events over a
relatively short period of time, investments may have to be sold in advance of their maturity dates to fund payments to
claimants, which could result in realized losses. Additionally, increases in illiquidity in the financial markets may increase
uncertainty in the valuations of the Company’s investments. This increases the risk that the fair values reported in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements may differ from the actual price that may be obtained in an orderly sales
transaction.

The Company has also benefited from certain tax laws related to its investment portfolio, including dividends received
deductions and tax-exempt investment income. Changes in tax laws may have a detrimental effect on the after-tax return of the
Company’s investment portfolio. A reduction in income tax rates could also reduce the demand for tax-preferenced securities
and result in a decline in the value of the Company’s investment portfolio of such securities.

The Company’s entire investment portfolio is subject to broad risks inherent in the financial markets, including, but not limited
to, inflation, regulatory changes, inactive capital markets, governmental and social stability, economic outlooks,
unemployment and recession. Changes to these risks and how the market perceives them may impact the financial
performance of the Company’s investments.

Kemper and its insurance subsidiaries are subject to various capital adequacy measurements that are significantly impacted by
various characteristics of their invested assets, including, but not limited to, asset type, class, duration and credit rating. The
Company’s insurance subsidiaries are also subject to various limitations on the amounts at which they can invest in individual
assets or certain asset classes in the aggregate. Asset risk is one factor used by insurance regulators and rating agencies to
determine required capital for Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries. Accordingly, a deterioration in the quality of the investments
held by Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries or an increase in the investment risk inherent in their investment portfolios could
increase capital requirements. See the risk factor below under the title “The ability of Kemper to service its debt, pay dividends
to its shareholders and/or make repurchases of its stock may be materially impacted by lack of timely and/or sufficient
dividends received from its subsidiaries.” These factors may inhibit the Company from shifting its investment mix to produce
higher returns. The Company is also subject to concentration of investment risk to the extent that the portfolio is heavily
invested, at any particular time, in specific asset types, classes, industries, sectors or collateral types, among other defining
features. Developments and the market’s perception thereof in any of these concentrations may exacerbate the negative effects
on the Company’s investment portfolio compared to other companies.

The determination of the fair values of the Company’s investments and whether a decline in the fair value of an investment
is other-than-temporary are based on management’s judgment and may prove to be materially different than the actual
economic outcome.

The Company holds a significant amount of assets without readily available, active, quoted market prices or for which fair
value cannot be measured from actively quoted prices. These assets are generally deemed to require a higher degree of
judgment in measuring fair value. The assumptions used by management to measure fair values could turn out to be different
than the actual amounts that may be realized in an orderly transaction with a willing market participant could be either lower or
higher than the Company’s estimates of fair value.
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The Company reviews its investment portfolio for factors that may indicate that a decline in the fair value of an investment is
other-than-temporary. This evaluation is based on subjective factors, assumptions and estimates and may be materially different
than the actual economic outcome, which may result in the Company recognizing additional losses in the future as new
information emerges or recognizing losses currently that may never materialize in the future in an orderly transaction with a
willing market participant.

Risks Relating to Servicing Debt, Paying Dividends and/or Repurchasing Stock

The ability of Kemper to service its debt, pay dividends to its shareholders and/or make repurchases of its stock may be
materially impacted by lack of timely and/or sufficient dividends received from its subsidiaries.

As a holding company, Kemper depends on the dividend income that it receives from its subsidiaries as the primary source of
funds to meet its payment obligations. Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to significant regulatory restrictions under
state insurance laws and regulations that limit their ability to declare and pay dividends. These laws and regulations impose
minimum solvency and liquidity requirements on dividends between affiliated companies and require prior notice to, and may
require approval from, state insurance regulators before dividends can be paid. In addition, third-party rating agencies monitor
statutory capital and surplus levels for capital adequacy. Even though a dividend may be payable without regulatory approval,
an insurance subsidiary may forgo paying a dividend to Kemper and retain the capital to maintain or improve the ratings of
Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries, or to offset increases in required capital from increases in premium volume or investment risk.
The inability of one or more of Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries to pay sufficient dividends to Kemper may materially affect
Kemper’s ability to pay its debt obligations on time, to pay dividends to its shareholders or make repurchases of its stock.

General Risks Relating to Mergers, Acquisitions and/or Divestitures

The expected benefits and synergies from mergers, acquisitions and/or divestitures may not be realized to the extent
anticipated or within the anticipated time frames.

The Company routinely evaluates opportunities for transactions such as mergers, acquisitions and/or divestitures that would
enhance its business and align with the Company’s strategic plans. Kemper’s ability to achieve the anticipated financial benefits
from transactions may not be realized, due to any number of factors including, but not limited to, integration difficulties or
failures, the loss of key agents/brokers, customers or employees, unexpected or underestimated liabilities, increased costs, fees,
expenses and charges related to transactions, or may be delayed by factors outside of the Company’s control. Furthermore, such
adverse events could result in a decrease in the estimated fair value of goodwill or other intangible assets established as a result
of such transactions, triggering an impairment. These and other factors could have a negative impact on Kemper’s financial
condition, profitability and results from operations.

Risks Relating to the Infinity Merger

Failure to complete the proposed Merger within the expected timeframe or at all could have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Approvals, Clearance and Closing Conditions

There can be no assurance that the Infinity Merger will occur. The closing of the Infinity Merger is subject to certain
conditions, including, among others, (i) the adoption of the Infinity Merger Agreement by the holders of at least a majority of
the outstanding shares of Infinity common stock entitled to vote thereon, (ii) approval of the issuance of shares of Kemper’s
common stock in the Infinity Merger by the holders of at least a majority of the shares of Kemper common stock entitled to
vote thereon and present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting of Kemper’s stockholders called for such purpose,
(iii) the receipt of certain regulatory approvals including the expiration or earlier termination of the waiting period under the
Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, approvals of applicable state insurance regulators
identified in the Infinity Merger Agreement and the receipt of any other regulatory approval the failure of which to be obtained
would reasonably be likely to have a material adverse effect on Kemper or its subsidiaries, (iv) no court order or other legal
restraint or prohibition preventing the consummation of the Infinity Merger being in effect, (v) the continued employment of a
certain number of specified Infinity leadership management employees and certain percentages of sub-groups of a broader set
of key Infinity employees, (vii) no exercise of appraisal rights in connection with the Infinity Merger by Infinity shareholders
holding more than 10% of the outstanding shares of Infinity’s common stock, (viii) the absence of any action commenced by a
governmental entity wherein a judgment would reasonably be expected to prevent the consummation of the Infinity Merger or
impose a “materially burdensome condition” (as defined in the Infinity Merger Agreement), (ix) in the case of each party’s
obligation to effect the Infinity Merger, the absence of a material adverse effect with respect to the other party since the date of
the Infinity Merger Agreement and (x) subject to materiality exceptions, the accuracy of the representations and warranties
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made by Kemper and Kemper Merger Sub, on the one hand, and Infinity, on the other hand, and compliance by Kemper and
Kemper Merger Sub, on the one hand, and Infinity, on the other hand, in all material respects with each party’s respective
obligations under the Infinity Merger Agreement. Such closing conditions are not solely under the control of Kemper and/or
Infinity and, accordingly, there can be no assurance that such closing conditions will be satisfied in a timely matter or at all.

In particular, before the proposed transactions contemplated by the Infinity Merger Agreement, including the Infinity Merger,
may be completed, various clearances and approvals must be obtained from certain regulatory and governmental authorities.
These regulatory and governmental entities may impose conditions on the granting of such approvals. Such conditions and the
process of obtaining regulatory approvals could have the effect of delaying completion of the Infinity Merger or of imposing
additional costs or limitations on the combined company following the Infinity Merger. The regulatory approvals may not be
received at all, may not be received in a timely fashion and may contain conditions on the completion of the Infinity Merger. If
any such conditions constitute a “materially burdensome condition” (as defined in the Infinity Merger Agreement), the parties
may not be obligated to complete the Infinity Merger, and either Kemper or Infinity may have the right to terminate the Infinity
Merger Agreement.

Impact on Our Ongoing Business

If the Infinity Merger is not completed, our ongoing business may be adversely affected, and we will be subject to several risks
and consequences, including the following:

« we will be required to pay certain costs related to the Infinity Merger, whether or not the Infinity Merger is completed,
such as legal, accounting and other costs incurred in connection with the transaction;

« under the Infinity Merger Agreement, we are subject to certain restrictions on the conduct of our business prior to
completing the Infinity Merger that may adversely affect our ability to execute certain of our business strategies; and

*  our management may spend substantial time and resources, including time and resources devoted to planning
integration activities, related to the transaction, which could otherwise have been devoted to other opportunities that
may have been beneficial to us.

In addition, if the Infinity Merger is not completed, we may experience negative reactions from the financial markets and from
our agents, policyholders and employees. We also could be subject to litigation related to the Infinity Merger.

We will incur significant transaction and integration costs in connection with the Infinity Merger.

If the transaction is completed, we expect to incur various costs associated with completing the transaction, including financial
advisory costs, and integrating the operations of the two companies. A substantial majority of these costs will be non-recurring
expenses resulting from the transaction including (i) transaction costs, including costs to compensate financial advisors for their
services, (ii) facilities and systems consolidation and integration costs and (iii) employment related costs. We may incur
additional unanticipated costs to integrate our business with Infinity’s business. As a result of such integration and consolidation
activities, we may abandon, or shorten the useful lives, of assets that we currently use, which may result in us impairing an
asset or accelerating depreciation and/or amortization of such assets. Although we expect that the elimination of redundant
costs, as well as the realization of other efficiencies related to the integration of the businesses, will offset such incremental,
non-recurring costs over time, this net benefit may not be achieved in the near term, or at all.

The announcement and pendency of the Infinity Merger may adversely affect Kemper’s business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The announcement and pendency of the Infinity Merger with Infinity may cause disruptions and create uncertainty surrounding
Kemper’s business, which could affect its relationships with agents, employees and business partners, regardless of whether the
Infinity Merger is consummated. In addition, Kemper has diverted, and will continue to divert, management resources towards
the completion of the proposed transaction that may divert management’s attention and Kemper’s resources from ongoing
business and operations.

The price of Kemper common stock might increase or decline prior to the completion of the Infinity Merger, which would
change the value of the Infinity Merger consideration to be received by Infinity shareholders pursuant to the Infinity
Merger Agreement.

The price of our common stock might increase or decline prior to the completion of the transaction, which would change the
value of the consideration to be received by Infinity’s shareholders at the closing, which could result in the shareholders of
either, or both, companies not approving the transaction. Upon completion of the Infinity Merger, each share of Infinity
common stock issued and outstanding as of immediately prior to the consummation of the Infinity Merger (other than as set
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forth in the Infinity Merger Agreement) will be canceled and converted into, at the election of the holder of such share, the right
to receive $51.60 in cash and 1.2019 shares of Kemper common stock for each share of Infinity common stock, without interest
thereon. The Infinity Merger Agreement also provides for an election procedure allowing each Infinity shareholder to seek all
cash or all Ostock consideration, subject to automatic proration and adjustment (See Note 26, “Subsequent Events,” to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information). The exchange ratio for determining the number of shares of Kemper
common stock that Infinity shareholders will receive in the Infinity Merger is fixed and will not be adjusted for changes in the
market price of Kemper’s common stock. A significant increase in the price of Kemper common stock could result in Kemper
recognizing substantially more goodwill resulting from the transaction than currently contemplated. We are required to evaluate
goodwill for recoverability at least annually based on facts and circumstances existing as of the dates of such evaluations. We
cannot make any assurances that goodwill will be recoverable at any of such evaluation dates.

The Infinity Merger Agreement contains provisions that may discourage other companies from trying to acquire Kemper.

The Infinity Merger Agreement contains provisions that apply both during the pendency of the Infinity Merger transaction with
Infinity as well as afterward should the Infinity Merger with Infinity not be consummated that may discourage a third party
from submitting a business combination proposal to Kemper that might result in greater value to Kemper’s stockholders than
the Infinity Merger. These Infinity Merger Agreement provisions include a general prohibition on Kemper soliciting, or, subject
to certain exceptions, entering into discussions with any third party regarding any acquisition proposal or offers for competing
transactions.

The issuance of shares of Kemper common stock to Infinity shareholders pursuant to the Infinity Merger Agreement will
reduce the percentage ownership interests of Kemper’s pre-existing stockholders.

If the transaction is completed, we expect to issue approximately 13.2 million shares of Kemper common stock to Infinity’s
shareholders and Infinity’s shareholders will own approximately 20% of the combined company. The issuance of such shares of
our common stock will result in a significant reduction in the relative percentage interests of our current stockholders in
earnings, voting, liquidation value and book and market value. While, excluding the impact of non-recurring transaction and
integration costs, we currently anticipate that the Infinity Merger will be accretive to Kemper’s earnings per share in the first
year following the completion of the transaction,our expectation is based on estimates, which may materially change. We could
also encounter additional transaction and integration related costs or other factors such as the failure to realize all of the benefits
anticipated in the transaction. All of these factors could cause dilution to our earnings per share or decrease or delay the
expected accretive effect of the transaction, which may result in a decrease in the price of our common stock.

To be successful, the combined company following the Infinity Merger must retain and motivate key employees, including
those experienced with post-acquisition integration, and failure to do so could seriously harm the combined company.

The success of the combined company following the Infinity Merger largely depends on the skills, experience and continued
efforts of management and other key personnel for each of Kemper and Infinity. As a result, to be successful, the combined
company must retain and motivate executives and other key employees. Certain specified management employees of Infinity
have executed retention letters and related employment agreements with Kemper to continue their employment for a period of
two years following the Infinity Merger. However, certain key managers and functional area employees will continue to be
at-will employees following the Infinity Merger and there is no assurance that these individuals will remain with the combined
company. If these personnel were to leave, the combined company may experience increased difficulty in managing the
ongoing business operations and integrating the businesses and may not be able to adequately replace such personnel, which
could have a material adverse effect on the combined company’s overall business, results of operations and financial condition.

We cannot assure our shareholders that the risks described above in this risk factor will not materialize and will not materially
adversely affect our business, financial results and stock prices.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.
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Item 2. Properties.
Owned Properties

Kemper’s subsidiaries together own and occupy six buildings located in six states consisting of approximately 21,000 square
feet in the aggregate. One of Kemper’s subsidiaries owns two buildings totaling approximately 6,000 square feet which were
vacant at December 31, 2017. Kemper’s subsidiaries hold, solely for investment purposes, additional properties that are not
occupied by Kemper or its subsidiaries.

Leased Facilities

The Company leases five floors, or approximately 67,000 square feet, in a 41-story office building in Chicago for its corporate
headquarters and Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s headquarters. The lease expires in September 2023. Kemper’s
Property & Casualty Insurance segment leases facilities with an aggregate square footage of approximately 452,000 at 14
locations in nine states. The latest expiration date of the existing leases is in June 2025. Kemper’s Life & Health Insurance
segment leases facilities with aggregate square footage of approximately 470,000 at 127 locations in 28 states. The latest
expiration date of the existing leases is in January 2025. Kemper’s corporate data processing operation leases facilities with
aggregate square footage of approximately 36,000 square feet at three locations in three states. The latest expiration date of the
existing leases is in June 2021.

The properties described above are in good condition. The properties utilized in the Company’s operations consist of facilities
suitable for general office space, call centers and data processing operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Proceedings

Information concerning pending legal proceedings is incorporated herein by reference to Note 23, “Contingencies,” to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities.

Market Information

Kemper’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbol of “KMPR.” Quarterly
information pertaining to market prices of Kemper common stock in 2017 and 2016 is presented below.

Three Months Ended Year Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31, Dec 31,
DOLLARS PER SHARE 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
Common Stock Market Prices:
Highooooce e $ 4585 $§ 42.10 $ 53.05 $ 7152 § 71.52
LOW ettt 38.35 36.55 36.35 52.85 36.35
ClOSC. ettt 39.90 38.60 53.00 68.90 68.90
Three Months Ended Year Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31, Dec 31,
DOLLARS PER SHARE 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016
Common Stock Market Prices:
High.ooooieieeee e $ 36.73  $ 3320 $ 39.52 § 4595 § 45.95
LOW et 23.51 28.42 30.87 35.30 23.51
CLOSE..eueenieeiteiteiesit ettt 29.57 30.98 39.32 44.30 44.30
Holders

As of January 24, 2018, the number of record holders of Kemper’s common stock was 3,410.
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Dividends

Quarterly information pertaining to payment of dividends on Kemper’s common stock is presented below.

Three Months Ended Year Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31, Dec 31,
DOLLARS PER SHARE 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017

Cash Dividends Paid to Shareholders (per share)...... $ 024 $ 024 $ 024 S 024 $ 0.96

Three Months Ended Year Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31, Dec 31,
DOLLARS PER SHARE 2016 2016 2016 2016 2016

Cash Dividends Paid to Shareholders (per share)...... $ 024 $ 024 $ 024 § 024 $ 0.96

Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries are subject to various state insurance laws that may restrict the ability of these insurance
subsidiaries to pay dividends without prior regulatory approval. See MD&A, “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Note 9,
“Shareholders’ Equity,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on Kemper’s ability and intent to pay
dividends.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Information pertaining to purchases of Kemper common stock for the three months ended December 31, 2017 follows.

Total Maximum

Number of Shares  Dollar Value of Shares

Average Purchased as Part that May Yet Be

Total Price of Publicly Purchased Under
Number of Shares Paid per Announced Plans  the Plans or Programs

Period Purchased (1) Share or Programs (1) (Dollars in Millions)

October 2017 ..o 323§ 54.85 — 243.7
November 2017 .....coviieieieieieiiieieeeeeeeeeas 547 °$ 66.60 — 3 243.7
December 2017 ..o — — — 243.7

(1) On August 6, 2014, Kemper’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 300 million of Kemper’s common
stock. The repurchase program has no expiration date. See MD&A, “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

The preceding table includes 870 shares withheld to satisfy the tax withholding obligations on the vesting of restricted stock
awards under Kemper’s long-term equity-based compensation plans during the quarter ended December 31, 2017.
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Kemper Common Stock Performance Graph

The following graph assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2012 in (i) Kemper common stock, (ii) the S&P MidCap 400
Index and (iii) the S&P Supercomposite Insurance Index, in each case with dividends reinvested. Kemper is a constituent of
each of these two indices.

The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data and are not intended to forecast the possible future
performance of Kemper common stock.

Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return

5300
8250
S200
S150
5100
S50
S0
12731112 12/31/13 12/31/14 12/31/15 1231716 123117
+ Kemper Corporation —k— S&P MidCap 400 Index
—§— sur Supercompaosite Insurance Index
Company / Index 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Kemper COrporation ............coceeveveeerenieeeesereeeenenns $ 100.00 $ 142.51 $ 129.24 §$ 136.80 $ 167.40 $ 265.72
S&P MidCap 400 IndeX.......cevvevverieveienenieeienieniennen 100.00 133.50 146.54 143.35 173.08 201.20
S&P Supercomposite Insurance Index ............c.c....... 100.00 145.74 158.44 164.21 195.19 226.39
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Selected financial information as of and for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013 is presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
FOR THE YEAR
Earned Premitms .........cocoooioiiiiiiiiieiet e $ 23500 $ 2,220.0 $ 2,009.6 $ 1,862.2 § 2,025.8
Net Investment INCOME ......cceevieeiiiiiiiieii e 327.2 298.3 302.6 309.1 314.7
Other INCOME........ooviiiiiiiiiiiceee e 4.0 3.2 3.7 1.4 0.8
Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments........................ 56.5 33.1 52.1 39.1 99.1
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings ................. (14.3) (32.7) (27.2) (15.2) (13.9)
Total REVENUES .....ccveieiiiieeiiieie e $ 27234 $ 25219 $ 23408 $ 2,196.6 $ 2.426.5
Income from Continuing Operations...........ccceeeeeereenernennne. $ 1199 § 127 $ 802 $ 1126 S 2145
Income from Discontinued Operations ............cccceevververuennenn 1.0 4.1 5.5 1.9 3.2
Net INCOME ... $ 1209 § 16.8 $ 857 $ 1145 $ 2177
Per Unrestricted Share: -
Income from Continuing Operations..................cocvevevnne. $ 232§ 025 $ 155 § 208 §$ 3.75
Income from Discontinued Operations ...........cc.cccevueenee. 0.02 0.08 0.10 0.04 0.06
Net INCOME ....evviiieiiiieeeee e $ 234 $ 033 $ 1.65 §$ 212 $ 381
Per Unrestricted Share Assuming Dilution:
Income from Continuing Operations...........cccceeverveeveenenn $ 231 § 025 $ 1.55 $ 2.08 3 3.74
Income from Discontinued Operations .............cccceeveenee. 0.02 0.08 0.10 0.04 0.06
NEt INCOME ... $ 233 $ 033 $ 1.65 $ 212 °$ 3.80
Dividends Paid to Shareholders Per Share............cccccuenee.. m m m $—096 m
AT YEAR END
TOtAl ASSELS....ceveieeieeetieee et $ 83762 $ 82105 $ 80361 $ 7,833.4 $ 7,656.4
INSUrance RESEIVES.......ccveieriiriieieieiecieeeeeeie e $ 45378 $ 44067 $ 42038 $ 4,007.6 $ 4,061.0
Unearned Premiums .........ocooveeveivineieinincneiienceeeees 653.9 618.7 613.1 536.9 598.9
Long-term Debt, Current and Non-current .............cccceenee. 592.3 751.6 750.6 752.1 606.9
All Other Liabilities ........ccevvervirieriiniieieieieneceeiee e 476.6 458.3 476.2 446.1 338.1
Total Liabilities. . ..oeeuieeieieiieieiieieeieeee e 6,260.6 6,235.3 6,043.7 5,742.7 5,604.9
Shareholders’” EQUILY .....cc.eevverieriieieieienceieiese e 2,115.6 1,975.2 1,992.4 2,090.7 2,051.5
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ EQuity ........ccccccevvrueenee. $ 83762 $ 82105 $ 8,036.1 $ 7.833.4 $ 7,656.4
Book Value Per Share...........cooceoveiiiicieiiieeeeee m m m m m
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Index to
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

SUMMARY OF RESULTS

Net Income was $120.9 million ($2.34 per unrestricted common share) for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to
$16.8 million ($0.33 per unrestricted common share) for the year ended December 31, 2016. Income from Continuing
Operations was $119.9 million ($2.32 per unrestricted common share) in 2017, compared to $12.7 million ($0.25 per
unrestricted common share) in 2016.

A reconciliation of Segment Net Operating Income to Consolidated Net Operating Income (a non-GAAP financial measure)
and to Net Income for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 is presented below.

Increase Increase
(Decrease) (Decrease)
in Income in Income
from 2016 from 2015
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 to 2017 2015 to 2016
Segment Net Operating Income (Loss):
Property & Casualty Insurance..............cccoovevveeereveneennns $ 78 § 29 $ 10.7  $ 267 $  (29.6)
Life & Health InSurance ...........cccooevevvievvienienieeieeie e 90.8 30.3 60.5 71.7 (41.4)
Total Segment Net Operating IncCOme..........ccccvevveeieeeennnn. 98.6 27.4 71.2 98.4 (71.0)
Corporate and Other Net Operating Income (Loss) From: ..
Effects of Tax Law Changes.........cccceevevveveneneeneneninnnn. 7.4 — 7.4 — —
ORET .. (13.5) (15.0) 1.5 (28.5) 13.5
Corporate and other Net Operating LosS........ccccecveveereruennen. 6.1) (15.0) 8.9 (28.5) 13.5
Consolidated Net Operating INCOME........cccevveevecverierrernennnn 92.5 12.4 80.1 69.9 (57.5)
Net Income (Loss) From:
Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments................... 36.7 21.5 15.2 339 (12.4)
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings............. 9.3) (21.2) 11.9 17.7) 3.9
Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt........................ — — — 5.9 5.9
Income from Continuing Operations...........ccccceevveeeereennnenn 119.9 12.7 107.2 80.2 (67.5)
Income from Discontinued Operations ............ccccevveruernennenn 1.0 4.1 3.1 5.5 (1.4)
NEt TNCOME .. $ 1209 $ 16.8 § 1041 § 857 §  (68.9)
Net Income
2017 Compared with 2016

The Company’s net income increased by $104.1 million in 2017, compared to 2016. In the Property & Casualty Insurance
segment, segment net operating results increased by $10.7 million due primarily to lower underlying losses and LAE as a
percentage of earned premiums and, to a lesser extent, lower insurance expenses as a percentage of earned premiums and higher
net investment income from Alternative Investments, partially offset by higher incurred catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding
reserve development). See MD&A, “Property & Casualty Insurance,” beginning on page 36 for additional discussion of the
segment’s results. In the Life & Health Insurance segment, segment net operating income increased by $60.5 million due
primarily to a $50.5 million after-tax charge in 2016 to recognize the impact of using death verification databases in the
Company’s operations, including to determine its IBNR liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment expenses for life
insurance products. See MD&A, “Life & Health Insurance,” beginning on page 46 for additional discussion of the segment’s
results. The Company’s results were also positively impacted in 2017, compared to 2016, by higher net realized gains on sales
of investments, lower impairment losses recognized in earnings and a lower unallocated net operating loss, due primarily to an
income tax benefit of $7.4 million to recognize the effects of changes in the federal income tax law. See MD&A, “Investment
Results,” beginning on page 51 and MD&A, “Income Taxes,” beginning on page 58 for additional discussion.

2016 Compared with 2015

The Company’s net income decreased by $68.9 million in 2016, compared to 2015. In the Property & Casualty Insurance
segment, segment net operating results deteriorated by $29.6 million due primarily to higher incurred catastrophe losses and
LAE (excluding reserve development) and higher underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums, partially
offset by lower insurance expenses as a percentage of earned premiums and the impact of the write-off of internal use software
in 2015. See MD&A, “Property & Casualty Insurance,” beginning on page 36 for additional discussion of the segment’s
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—(Continued)

SUMMARY OF RESULTS (Continued)

results. See MD&A, “Expenses,” beginning on page 57 for additional information related to the internal use software write-off.
In the Life & Health Insurance segment, segment net operating income decreased by $41.4 million due primarily to a $50.5
million after-tax charge to recognize the impact of using death verification databases in the Company’s operations, including to
determine its IBNR liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment expenses for life insurance products, partially offset by
the impact of an adjustment recorded in 2015 to correct deferred premium reserves on certain limited pay life insurance policies
and lower insurance expenses. See MD&A, “Life & Health Insurance,” beginning on page 46 for additional discussion of the
segment’s results. The Company’s results were also significantly and negatively impacted in 2016, compared to 2015, by lower
net realized gains on sales of investments and positively impacted in 2016, compared to 2015, from a loss from early
extinguishment of debt in 2015. See MD&A, “Investment Results,” beginning on page 51, MD&A, “Expenses” beginning on
page 57, and MD&A, “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” beginning on page 59 for additional discussion.

Revenues
2017 Compared with 2016

Earned Premiums were $2,350.0 million in 2017, compared to $2,220.0 million in 2016, an increase of $130.0 million. Earned
Premiums increased by $121.2 million and $8.8 million in the Property & Casualty Insurance segment and Life & Health
Insurance segment, respectively. See MD&A, “Property & Casualty Insurance,” beginning on page 36 and MD&A, “Life &
Health Insurance,” beginning on page 46 for discussion of the changes in each segment’s earned premiums.

Net Investment Income increased by $28.9 million in 2017 due primarily to higher investment returns from Alternative
Investments and higher level of investments in fixed income securities, partially offset by lower yields on fixed income
securities. Net Investment Income from Alternative Investments, which consist of Equity Method Limited Liability
Investments, Fair Value Option Investments and other limited liability investments included in Equity Securities, increased by
$27.1 million. Alternative investment income from Equity Method Limited Liability Investments, other limited liability
investments included in Equity Securities, and Fair Value Option Investments increased by $17.3 million, $6.6 million and $3.2
million, respectively, in 2017, compared to 2016. See MD&A, “Investment Results,” under the sub-caption “Net Investment
Income” beginning on page 51 for additional discussion.

Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments were $56.5 million in 2017, compared to $33.1 million in 2016. See MD&A,
“Investment Results,” under the sub-caption “Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments” beginning on page 52 for additional
discussion. Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings in 2017 and 2016 were $14.3 million and $32.7 million,
respectively. See MD&A, “Investment Results,” under the sub-caption “Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings”
beginning on page 53 for additional discussion. The Company cannot predict when or if similar investment gains or losses may
occur in the future.

2016 Compared with 2015

Earned Premiums were $2,220.0 million in 2016, compared to $2,009.6 million in 2015, an increase of $210.4 million. Earned
Premiums increased by $199.6 million and $10.8 million in the Property & Casualty Insurance segment and Life & Health
Insurance segment, respectively. See MD&A, “Property & Casualty Insurance,” beginning on page 36 and MD&A, “Life &
Health Insurance,” beginning on page 46 for discussion of the changes in each segment’s earned premiums.

Net Investment Income decreased by $4.3 million in 2016 due primarily to lower investment returns from Alternative
Investments, lower levels and lower returns on investments in equity securities excluding Alternative Investments, and higher
level of investments in fixed income securities, partially offset by lower yields on fixed income securities. Net Investment
Income from Alternative Investments decreased by $9.2 million. Alternative investment income from Equity Method Limited
Liability Investments and Fair Value Option Investments decreased by $11.5 million and $2.1 million, respectively, in 2016,
compared to 2015, while alternative investment income from other limited liability investments included in Equity Securities
increased by $4.4 million. See MD&A, “Investment Results,” under the sub-caption “Net Investment Income” beginning on
page 51 for additional discussion.
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Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments were $33.1 million in 2016, compared to $52.1 million in 2015. See MD&A,
“Investment Results,” under the sub-caption “Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments” beginning on page 52 for additional
discussion. Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings in 2016 and 2015 were $32.7 million and $27.2 million,
respectively. See MD&A, “Investment Results,” under the sub-caption “Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings”
beginning on page 53 for additional discussion. The Company cannot predict when or if similar investment gains or losses may
occur in the future.

CATASTROPHES

Catastrophes and natural disasters are inherent risks of the property and casualty insurance business. These catastrophic events
and natural disasters include, without limitation, hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, hailstorms, wildfires, high winds and
winter storms. Such events result in insured losses that are, and will continue to be, a material factor in the results of operations
and financial position of the Company’s property and casualty insurance companies. Further, because the level of these insured
losses occurring in any one year cannot be accurately predicted, these losses may contribute to material year-to-year
fluctuations in the results of operations and financial position of these companies. Specific types of catastrophic events are more
likely to occur at certain times within the year than others. This factor adds an element of seasonality to property and casualty
insurance claims. The Company has adopted the industry-wide catastrophe classifications of storms and other events
promulgated by ISO to track and report losses related to catastrophes. ISO classifies a disaster as a catastrophe when the event
causes $25.0 million or more in direct insured losses to property and affects a significant number of policyholders and insurers.
ISO-classified catastrophes are assigned a unique serial number recognized throughout the insurance industry. The discussions
that follow utilize ISO’s definition of catastrophes.

The number of ISO-classified catastrophic events and catastrophe losses and LAE, net of reinsurance recoveries, (excluding
loss and LAE reserve development) by range of loss and business segment for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015 are presented below.

Year Ended
Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
Number of Losses and Number of Losses and Number of Losses and

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Events LAE Events LAE Events LAE
Range of Losses and LAE Per Event:

Below $5 ..o 39 § 61.3 39 % 37.6 37 S 43.6

$5 - B10 i 1 53 2 13.5 3 24.7

S10 - 15 e 2 214 — — — —

SI5 =820 it — — — — — —

820 - 825 1 24.4 — — — —

Greater Than $25 ... 2 72.5 2 64.0 — —

TOtAL oot 45 $ 1849 43§ 1151 40 $ 68.3
Property & Casualty Insurance ....................... $ 179.0 $§ 109.6 $ 64.5
Life & Health Insurance...........ccccccoeveieenenene 5.9 5.5 3.8
Total Catastrophe Losses and LAE ................. $ 1849 $§ 1151 $ 68.3
2017 Compared with 2016

As shown in the preceding table, catastrophe losses and LAE increased for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to
2016, due primarily to an increase in the severity of losses on ISO-classified catastrophe events with losses and LAE of less
than $15.0 million and estimated losses and LAE associated with two California wildfires in the fourth quarter of 2017 and a
Texas hailstorm in March of 2017 (aggregate estimated losses and LAE of $96.4 million, net of reinsurance recoveries),
compared to estimated losses and LAE of two significant catastrophe events in 2016 (a Texas hailstorm in March of 2016 and
another Texas hailstorm in April of 2016 with aggregate estimated losses and LAE of $64.0 million). In accordance with the
terms of the Company’s catastrophe reinsurance program, the Company estimates reinsurance recoveries for losses and LAE
incurred related to the two California wildfires, which are classified as separate events by ISO, but a single event under the
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Company’s catastrophe reinsurance agreement, to be $11.9 million in 2017. The Company did not have any reinsurance
recoveries on catastrophe losses and LAE in 2016 or 2015.

2016 Compared with 2015

As shown in the preceding table, catastrophe losses and LAE increased for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to
2015, due primarily to two significant catastrophe events in 2016 exceeding $25 million of losses (a hailstorm in Texas in
March with losses and LAE of $36.0 million and another hailstorm in Texas in April with losses and LAE of $28.0 million),
compared to no such events in 2015, partially offset by lower severity of events below $10 million of losses in 2016, compared
to 2015.

Catastrophe Reinsurance

The Company primarily manages its exposure to catastrophes and other natural disasters through a combination of geographical
diversification, restrictions on the amount and location of new business production in such regions, modifications of, and/or
limitations to coverages and deductibles for certain perils in such regions and a catastrophe reinsurance program for the
Property & Casualty Insurance segment. Coverage for this segment’s catastrophe reinsurance program is provided in various
contracts and layers. The Property & Casualty Insurance segment also purchases reinsurance from the FHCF for hurricane
losses in Florida at retentions lower than its catastrophe reinsurance program. The Life & Health Insurance segment also
purchases reinsurance from the FHCF for hurricane losses in Florida. Except for the coverage provided by the FHCEF, the Life
& Health Insurance segment does not carry any other catastrophe reinsurance coverage.

In 2017, the Property & Casualty Insurance segment had catastrophe reinsurance recoveries of $11.9 million under the
catastrophe reinsurance program. Catastrophe recoveries under the FHCF were not material in 2017. Neither segment had
catastrophe reinsurance recoveries in 2016 or 2015.

In 2017, the Company paid $0.8 million in reinstatement premium to reinstate the first layer of coverage under the Property &
Casualty Insurance segment’s catastrophe reinsurance program. The Company did not pay any reinstatement premium in 2016
or 2015.

See the “Reinsurance” subsections of the “Property and Casualty Insurance Business” and “Life and Health Insurance
Business” sections of Item 1(c), “Description of Business,” and Note 20, “Catastrophe Reinsurance,” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information on the Company’s reinsurance programs.
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LOSS AND LAE RESERVE DEVELOPMENT

Increases (decreases) in the Company’s property and casualty loss and LAE reserves for the years ended December 31, 2017,
2016 and 2015 to recognize adverse (favorable) loss and LAE reserve development from prior accident years in continuing
operations, hereinafter also referred to as “reserve development” in the discussion of segment results, are presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Property & Casualty Insurance:
NON-CALASITOPRE ..ottt ettt s s es e esees $ 245 § 49 § (5.0
CAtASTIOPINIE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et et e e as et et e asesb et e eteeteensebeereeneans (5.0) (19.2) (7.9)
TTOLAL ..ttt ettt et s s a etk s et et ettt n et eeeeneanas 19.5 (14.3) (12.9)
Life & Health Insurance:
INON-CALASTIOPNE ...ttt ettt ettt st et e e s e eaeeseessesesbeeneennas 0.4 — 1.3
CALASIIOPNE ...ttt ettt ettt teete et et e se e st e b e beere st ebenreeneens 0.5 0.1) 0.1
TOTAL ..ttt ettt e et b e s st b e e e s ae et et neea e s et ne s e eaeneene e 0.9 (0.1) 1.4
Increase (Decrease) in Total Loss and LAE Reserves Related to Prior Years:
INON-CALASTTOPRE ...ttt ettt et sseeae e ensesbeeneeneas 24.9 4.9 3.7
CAtASTIOPINIE ...ttt ettt ettt et et e e teeae et e teessesb et e teereenseebeeteeneans 4.5) (19.3) (7.8)
Increase (Decrease) in Total Loss and LAE Reserves Related to Prior Years....................... $ 204 $§ (144) $ (115

See MD&A, “Property & Casualty Insurance,” MD&A, “Life & Health Insurance,” and Note 6, “Property and Casualty
Insurance Reserves,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the Company’s reserve
development. See MD&A, “Critical Accounting Estimates,” of this 2017 Annual Report for additional information pertaining to
the Company’s process of estimating property and casualty insurance reserves for losses and LAE, and the estimated variability
thereof, development of property and casualty insurance losses and LAE, and a discussion of some of the variables that may
impact them.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC, the Company is required to file consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). The Company is permitted to
include non-GAAP financial measures in its filings provided that they are defined along with an explanation of their usefulness
to investors, are no more prominent than the comparable GAAP financial measures and are reconciled to such GAAP financial
measures.

These non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered a substitute for the comparable GAAP financial measures, as
they do not fully recognize the overall profitability of the Company’s businesses.

Underlying Combined Ratio

The following discussions of segment results use the non-GAAP financial measures of (i) Underlying Losses and LAE and

(i1) Underlying Combined Ratio. Underlying Losses and LAE (also referred to in the discussion as “Current Year Non-
catastrophe Losses and LAE”) exclude the impact of catastrophe losses and loss and LAE reserve development from prior years
from the Company’s Incurred Losses and LAE, which is the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure. The
Underlying Combined Ratio is computed by adding the Current Year Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio with the
Insurance Expense (including write-offs of long-lived assets) Ratio. The most directly comparable GAAP financial measure is
the Combined Ratio, which is computed by adding total incurred losses and LAE, including the impact of catastrophe losses
and loss and LAE reserve development from prior years, with the Insurance Expense (including write-offs of long-lived assets)
Ratio. The Company believes Underlying Losses and LAE and the Underlying Combined Ratio are useful to investors and are
used by management to reveal the trends in the Company’s Property & Casualty Insurance business that may be obscured by
catastrophe losses and prior year reserve development. These catastrophe losses may cause the Company’s loss trends to vary
significantly between periods as a result of their incidence of occurrence and magnitude and can have a significant impact on
incurred losses and LAE and the combined ratio. Prior-year reserve developments are caused by unexpected loss development
on historical reserves. Because reserve development relates to the re-estimation of losses from earlier years, it has no bearing on
the performance of the Company’s insurance products that were in force in the current period. The Company believes it is
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useful for investors to evaluate these components separately and in the aggregate when reviewing the Company’s underwriting
performance.

Consolidated Net Operating Income

Consolidated Net Operating Income is an after-tax, non-GAAP financial measure and is computed by excluding from Income
from Continuing Operations the after-tax impact of:

1) Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments;

2) Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings related to investments;

3) Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt; and

4) Significant non-recurring or infrequent items that may not be indicative of ongoing operations.

Significant non-recurring items are excluded when (a) the nature of the charge or gain is such that it is reasonably unlikely to
recur within two years, and (b) there has been no similar charge or gain within the prior two years. The most directly
comparable GAAP financial measure is Income from Continuing Operations. There were no applicable significant non-
recurring items that the Company excluded from the calculation of Consolidated Net Operating Income for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 or 2015.

The Company believes that Consolidated Net Operating Income provides investors with a valuable measure of its ongoing
performance because it reveals underlying operational performance trends that otherwise might be less apparent if the items
were not excluded. Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments and Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings related to
investments included in the Company’s results may vary significantly between periods and are generally driven by business
decisions and external economic developments such as capital market conditions that impact the values of the Company’s
investments, the timing of which is unrelated to the insurance underwriting process. Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt is
driven by the Company’s financing and refinancing decisions and capital needs, as well as external economic developments
such as debt market conditions, the timing of which is unrelated to the insurance underwriting process. Significant non-
recurring items are excluded because, by their nature, they are not indicative of the Company’s business or economic trends.
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PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE

Selected financial information for the Property & Casualty Insurance segment is presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Net Premiums WITHEI........oiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e e e e saaeeeane e $1,769.6 $ 1,620.9 $ 1,406.2
Barned PremIUMIS ........o.ooueeeee oo $1,736.0 $ 16148 $14152
Net INvestment INCOMIE .......c.ociriiiiiiiiieiieec e 94.3 72.4 73.3
OthEr TNCOMIE ...ttt ettt et sb et e et e e aeese e e sbesaeess e s 1.1 0.5 0.6
TOtAl REVEIUES .......viiieiieeeeeeeceeeeeee ettt et e e et e st e e eaaeeeaaeesaeeeeaneeans 1,831.4 1,687.7 1,489.1
Incurred Losses and LAE related to:
Current Year:
Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........cccoooioiiiiiinieeeeccee e 1,251.5 1,223.9 1,034.6
Catastrophe Losses and LAE ..o 179.0 109.6 64.5
Prior Years:

Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ........cccccooiiviiiiniiieeeceee e 24.5 4.9 (5.0)

Catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........ccooooiiiiiiiiiicececeeeeeeet et (5.0) (19.2) (7.9)
Total Incurred Losses and LAE ...........cccooioiiiiiieieiieceeeeeeee e 1,450.0 1,319.2 1,086.2
Insurance Expenses, Excluding Write-offs of Long-lived ASSets.........ccccecveveiiiieiennne. 382.8 385.7 368.1
Write-0ffs 0f LONG-IIVEd ASSELS.....ccviiuieeieieiiiieiieieie ettt — — 11.1
Operating Profit (LOSS) ..o.eevieriiiieieieeieeieeieiesie ettt sttt sseseeessense e 1.4) (17.2) 23.7
Income Tax Benefit.......ccoooiiiiiiiii e 9.2 14.3 3.0
Segment Net Operating INCOmME (LOSS).........croviuereeierieeeeeeeeieeeeeeeee e $ 78 $ (29 $ 267
Ratios Based On Earned Premiums
Current Year Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio..........cccoovvevevieviniecieneneieeieen, 72.1% 75.8% 73.2%
Current Year Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio..........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiee 10.3 6.8 4.6
Prior Years Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........cccocevieieieiiiniiiciieceeiee, 1.4 0.3 (0.4)
Prior Years Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio...........ccoocvevierivieieienicccieec e 0.3) (1.2) (0.6)
Total Incurred Loss and LAE Ratio.......cc.ccooiiiiiiiiiiiii e 83.5 81.7 76.8
Insurance Expense Ratio, Excluding Write-offs of Long-lived Assets...........cccccveveennnn. 22.1 23.9 26.0
Impact on Ratio from Write-offs of Long-lived ASSEts ........ccceveeievierinieieienceeeien, — — 0.8
COMBINEA RALIO ..uviiiiiieiieieie ettt ettt ss et e et et ese e sbeeaeesse s 105.6% 105.6% 103.6%
Underlying Combined Ratio -
Current Year Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio........ccoccoooieoiiieiiiiniiiiiiieeie 72.1% 75.8% 73.2%
Insurance Expense Ratio, Excluding Write-offs of Long-lived Assets...........cccccveveennee. 22.1 23.9 26.0
Impact on Ratio from Write-offs of Long-lived ASSEtS .........coceoveirircieinienieecseenen, — — 0.8
Underlying Combined Ratio........cccoiuiiiiiiiiiiiii et 94.2% 99.7% 100.0%
Non-GAAP Measure Reconciliation -
Underlying Combined RaAtio ........cccevviriiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiesie sttt 94.2% 99.7% 100.0%
Current Year Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........c.ccoocveiieieieieciieiciccee e 10.3 6.8 4.6
Prior Years Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........cccocceeievieierinieiiceneceeie, 14 0.3 0.4)
Prior Years Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........ccoooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeee 0.3) (1.2) (0.6)
Combined Ratio as RePOTted .......c.coueiuieieiiiiiiieiieieiese e 105.6% 105.6% 103.6%

36



Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—(Continued)

PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE (Continued)

CATASTROPHE FREQUENCY AND SEVERITY

Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31, 2016
Number of Losses and Number of Losses and

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Events LAE Events LAE
Range of Losses and LAE Per Event:

BelOW $5 - 39 $ 573 39 % 33.0

85 = BT0 e 2 14.7 2 13.2

S10 = SIS e 1 10.2 — —

15 = 20 ettt — — — —

820 = 825 e 1 24.4 — —

Greater Than $25.......c.ooviiiiiiiieiieeeeeeee e 2 72.4 2 63.4

TOUAL .ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt s 45 $ 179.0 43§ 109.6

INSURANCE RESERVES
Dec 31, Dec 31,

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016
Insurance Reserves:

AULOMODILE ..ottt ettt ettt et s et s et et s sttt et s e $ 7959 §$§ 7541

HOIME@OWINETS ...ttt ettt ettt et e et e e et e e abeeaseesseeaseeaseeeseeseeeaseeseeenseenseenseenseenns 139.7 88.9

ORI L.ttt ettt et et et e bt e bt e e beesa e b e e aeese e st et e eteest et e eaeeteensebeereeneensenteas 40.7 41.1
INSUTANCE RESEIVES ......oviiieieiiceiietieetete ettt ettt ettt a st ettt st b et s et et ettt es et esese s esessesesens $ 9763 § 884.1
Insurance Reserves:

Loss Reserves:

GBSttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e h ettt a ettt h ettt e e st e e bttt as et et e et bttt eas et et esesesens $ 6024 $ 598.0
Incurred But NOt REPOTTEd.......c.ceiiiiiiieiieiieieeieeeteeee ettt ettt sseaeeaeas 239.3 158.2

TOtAl LOSS RESEIVES ....iviiiiiiieiieiieieeteeteet ettt ettt sttt e s seese e e s e e se e st e s e ssesaeessesesseessensensens 841.7 756.2

LLAE RESCIVES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e et e e e e e st e easeesseeaseeaseeeaeaseeeaseeseaenseeasaenseenseenes 134.6 127.9
INSUTANCE RESEIVES ....ueiiiiiiiii ettt ettt ettt et e bt e seesseeeseeesbeenseenseanseenseaseenseensaasenas $ 9763 § 884.1

See MD&A, “Critical Accounting Estimates,” under the caption “Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves for Losses and
Loss Adjustment Expenses” beginning on page 64 for additional information pertaining to the Company’s process of estimating
property and casualty insurance reserves for losses and LAE, development of property and casualty insurance losses and LAE
from prior accident years, also referred to as “reserve development” in the discussion of segment results, estimated variability
of property and casualty insurance reserves for losses and LAE, and a discussion of some of the variables that may impact
development of property and casualty insurance losses and LAE and the estimated variability of property and casualty
insurance reserves for losses and LAE.

Acquisition of Alliance United

As discussed in Note 3, “Acquisition of Business,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company completed its
acquisition of Alliance United on April 30, 2015. Alliance United is a provider of nonstandard personal automobile insurance in
California and has added significant scale to the Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s premium base. The results of
Alliance United’s operations have been included in the Company’s consolidated results since the date of its acquisition, which
can obscure certain comparisons of year-over-year results, particularly when analyzing overall segment results as well as the
nonstandard personal automobile insurance line of business.
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PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE (Continued)
Overall
2017 Compared with 2016

The Property & Casualty Insurance segment reported Segment Net Operating Income of $7.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017, compared to Segment Net Operating Loss of $2.9 million in 2016. Segment net operating results improved
by $10.7 million due primarily to lower underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums, particularly in the
Company’s nonstandard automobile insurance business, lower insurance expenses as a percentage of earned premiums and
higher net investment income from Alternative Investments, partially offset by higher incurred catastrophe losses and LAE
(excluding reserve development) and an unfavorable change in loss and LAE reserve development.

Earned Premiums in the Property & Casualty Insurance segment increased by $121.2 million in 2017, compared to 2016, as
higher average earned premium and higher volume accounted for increases of $103.3 million and $17.9 million, respectively.
All product lines experienced an increase in average earned premium, although the overall impact on Earned Premiums was
driven primarily by nonstandard personal automobile insurance and preferred personal automobile insurance, which had
increases due to higher average earned premium of $77.7 million and $14.8 million, respectively. The higher volume was
driven by nonstandard personal automobile insurance, which had a volume increase of $56.6 million, partially offset primarily
by volume decreases in preferred personal automobile insurance, homeowners insurance and commercial automobile insurance
of $16.6 million, $13.2 million, and $6.1 million, respectively.

Net Investment Income in the Property & Casualty Insurance segment increased by $21.9 million in 2017, compared to 2016,
due primarily to higher investment income from Alternative Investments, and to a lesser extent, higher levels of non-alternative
investments. The Property & Casualty Insurance segment reported Net Investment Income from Alternative Investments of
$37.4 million in 2017, compared to $20.2 million in 2016.

Underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums were 72.1% in 2017, a decrease of 3.7 percentage points,
compared to 2016, driven primarily by improvements in nonstandard personal automobile insurance, particularly in the Alliance
United business. Underlying incurred losses and LAE exclude the impact of catastrophes and loss and LAE reserve
development. Catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) were $179.0 million in 2017, compared to $109.6
million in 2016, which is an increase of $69.4 million due primarily to California wildfires and higher average severity on
catastrophic events with losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) of less than $15 million in 2017, compared to 2016.
This increase was partially offset by two large catastrophes, both Texas hailstorms, occurring in 2016, with aggregate estimated
losses and LAE of $63.4 million, compared to one such Texas hailstorm, occurring in 2017, with estimated losses and LAE of
$42.6 million. Adverse loss and LAE reserve development (including catastrophe reserve development) was $19.5 million in
2017, compared to favorable development of $14.3 million in 2016. Adverse development in 2017 was driven primarily by
preferred personal automobile insurance.

Insurance expenses were $382.8 million, or 22.1% of earned premiums, in 2017, an improvement of 1.8 percentage points
compared to 2016, driven primarily by a mix shift in business written in the segment toward nonstandard personal automobile
insurance, which runs at a lower expense ratio, improvement in the Alliance United expense ratio, an increase in the percentage
of software development costs eligible for capitalization, cost reduction initiatives and premium growth outpacing growth in
fixed costs.

The Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory income tax rate due
primarily to tax-exempt investment income and dividends received deductions. Tax-exempt investment income and dividends
received deductions were $25.6 million in 2017, compared to $23.7 million in 2016.

2016 Compared with 2015

The Property & Casualty Insurance segment reported Segment Net Operating Loss of $2.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016, compared to Segment Net Operating Income of $26.7 million in 2015. Segment net operating results
deteriorated by $29.6 million due primarily to higher incurred catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) and
higher net operating losses from Alliance United, largely due to it being included in 2016 results for the full year. The
deterioration was partially offset by lower underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums in the legacy
business and the write-off of internal-use software in 2015.

38



Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—(Continued)

PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE (Continued)

Earned Premiums in the Property & Casualty Insurance segment increased by $199.6 million in 2016, compared to 2015.
Excluding the $235.9 million impact from Alliance United, earned premiums decreased by $36.3 million, as lower volume
accounted for a decrease of $55.6 million, while higher average earned premium accounted for an increase of $19.3 million.
Excluding Alliance United, the lower volume was driven primarily by preferred personal automobile insurance, homeowners
insurance and nonstandard personal automobile insurance, which had volume decreases of $28.3 million, $11.9 million and
$9.0 million, respectively. Excluding Alliance United, the increase in average earned premium was driven primarily by
nonstandard personal automobile insurance, which had an increase of $15.3 million.

Net Investment Income in the Property & Casualty Insurance segment decreased by $0.9 million in 2016, compared to 2015,
due primarily to lower investment income from Alternative Investments and a lower level of non-alternative investments,
partially offset by investment income from the investments acquired from the acquisition of, and the capital contributed to,
Alliance United and higher yields on non-alternative investments. The Property & Casualty Insurance segment reported Net
Investment Income from Alternative Investments of $20.2 million in 2016, compared to $25.3 million in 2015.

Underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums were 75.8% in 2016, an increase of 2.6 percentage points,
compared to 2015. Alliance United, which runs at a higher underlying losses and LAE ratio but lower insurance expense ratio,
added 8.4 percentage points to the overall underlying losses and LAE ratio in 2016, compared to adding 4.8 percentage points
in 2015. Excluding the impact of Alliance United, underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums were 67.4%
in 2016, compared to 68.4% in 2015, or a decrease of 1.0 percentage points, as all product lines improved with the exception of
preferred personal automobile insurance, which deteriorated. Underlying incurred losses and LAE exclude the impact of
catastrophes and loss and LAE reserve development. Catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) were $109.6
million in 2016, compared to $64.5 million in 2015, which is an increase of $45.1 million due primarily to two separate
hailstorms in Texas—one in March 2016 with estimated losses and LAE of $36.0 million and another in April 2016 with
estimated losses and LAE of $27.4 million. The increase was partially offset by reduced severity of catastrophic events with
losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) of less than $10 million in 2016, compared to 2015. Excluding the impact of
Alliance United, favorable loss and LAE reserve development (including favorable catastrophe reserve development of $19.2
million in 2016 and $7.9 million in 2015) was $19.4 million in 2016, compared to $20.6 million in 2015.

Insurance expenses were $385.7 million, or 23.9% of earned premiums, in 2016. Excluding a write-off of a long-lived asset,
insurance expenses were $368.1 million, or 26.0% of earned premiums, in 2015. The improvement in the ratio of 2.1
percentage points from 2015 to 2016 was due primarily to the inclusion of Alliance United, which runs at a lower insurance
expense ratio, for a full year in 2016. Excluding the impact of the write-off and Alliance United, insurance expenses decreased
by $12.7 million in 2016, compared to 2015, and decreased as a percentage of earned premiums from 28.8% in 2015 to 28.4%
in 2016.

The Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s effective income tax rate differs from the federal statutory income tax rate due
primarily to tax-exempt investment income, dividends received deductions and estimated indemnification recoveries recognized
in earnings pursuant to the Alliance United purchase agreement. Tax-exempt investment income and dividends received
deductions were $23.7 million in 2016, compared to $22.6 million in 2015. Indemnification recoveries result in an adjustment
to the tax purchase price and are excluded from the determination of taxable income and income tax expense. Estimated
indemnification recoveries recognized in earnings were $0.7 million in 2016, all of which has been reported as a reduction of
Insurance Expenses. Estimated indemnification recoveries recognized in earnings were $10.4 million in 2015, of which $5.9
million has been reported as a reduction of Incurred Losses and LAE and $4.5 million has been recorded as a reduction of
Insurance Expenses.
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Preferred Personal Automobile Insurance

Selected financial information for the preferred personal automobile insurance product line follows.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Net Premitms WITHEIL .......eveiieiieieieeieeieec ettt a et eteeseeaessesseeseesesseeseensensens $ 4244 § 4261 § 4345
Earned PremilmsS ............c.oioviuiioieeiieeieceeee ettt $ 4228 § 4246 $§ 4499
Incurred Losses and LAE related to:
Current Year:
Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ...........c.coooooviiioieiieicceceeeeeeeeeeee e $ 309.0 § 3080 $ 3195
Catastrophe Losses and LAE ..o 11.3 11.6 3.0
Prior Years:
Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........cccocoiiiiiieniiieieeeeeeee e 19.5 4.9 (15.0)
Catastrophe Losses and LAE .........ooooiiiiiiieee e 0.2) (0.3) (0.2)
Total Incurred Losses and LAE ...........cccoovouioioiiioeececeeeceeeee et $ 3396 § 3242 § 3073
Ratios Based On Earned Premiums
Current Year Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........ccccooeeiiiiieiiiininiiiiiicie 73.0% 72.6% 70.9%
Current Year Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........cccoeeevieieieiieniicieiccc e 2.7 2.7 0.7
Prior Years Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........cccocceeievievienininiienenceeien, 4.6 1.2 3.3)
Prior Years Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio...........ccocvevieiieieieieciceieeieicee e — 0.1 —
Total Incurred Loss and LAE Ratio......cccccveviiriiiieiiiiiiicieesieceeeeeeee e 80.3% 76.4% 68.3%
2017 Compared with 2016

Earned premiums in preferred personal automobile insurance decreased by $1.8 million in 2017, compared to 2016, as lower
volume accounted for a decrease of $16.6 million, while higher average earned premium accounted for an increase of $14.8
million. The run-off of the direct-to-consumer business accounted for approximately 60% of the decrease in earned premiums
attributed to lower volume. Incurred losses and LAE were $339.6 million, or 80.3% of earned premiums, in 2017, compared to
$324.2 million, or 76.4% of earned premiums, in 2016. Incurred losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums increased
due primarily to a higher level of adverse loss and LAE reserve development and higher underlying losses and LAE as a
percentage of related earned premiums. Underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of related earned premiums were 73.0% in
2017, compared to 72.6% in 2016, which was a deterioration of 0.4 percentage points due primarily to higher severity of losses,
particularly on bodily injury coverages, partially offset by lower frequency of claims on most coverages, particularly bodily
injury. Catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) were $11.3 million in 2017, compared to $11.6 million in
2016, both periods experiencing higher losses than average due primarily to Hurricane Harvey in 2017, and hailstorms in Texas
in both 2017 and 2016. Adverse loss and LAE reserve development was $19.3 million in 2017, compared to $4.6 million in
2016.

2016 Compared with 2015

Earned premiums in preferred personal automobile insurance decreased by $25.3 million in 2016, compared to 2015, as lower
volume accounted for a decrease of $28.3 million, while higher average earned premium accounted for an increase of $3.0
million. The run-off of the direct-to-consumer business accounted for approximately 60% of the decrease in earned premiums
attributed to lower volume. Incurred losses and LAE were $324.2 million, or 76.4% of earned premiums, in 2016, compared to
$307.3 million, or 68.3% of earned premiums, in 2015. Incurred losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums increased
due to an unfavorable change in loss and LAE reserve development, higher incurred catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding
reserve development) and higher underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums. Underlying losses and LAE
as a percentage of related earned premiums were 72.6% in 2016, compared to 70.9% in 2015, which was an deterioration of 1.7
percentage points due primarily to slightly higher severity of losses on most coverages.

40



Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—(Continued)

PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE (Continued)

Catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) were $11.6 million in 2016, compared to $3.0 million in 2015.
This increase was driven primarily by the two aforementioned hailstorms in Texas in 2016. Loss and LAE reserve development
was adverse by $4.6 million in 2016, compared to favorable development of $15.2 million in 2015.

Non-standard Personal Automobile Insurance

Selected financial information for the nonstandard personal automobile insurance product line for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 is presented in the following table. The results for the year ended December 31, 2015 for
Alliance United include only the last eight months of the period, which is the period since the date of acquisition.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Net Premiums WITEEI ......c.oiiee ittt ettt eaee e eeeeeeeeeen s $ 9923 $ 8326 $ 596.0
Earned PremIUmMIS. ..........ovieieiiee oottt $ 954.3 $ 8200 $ 5778

Incurred Losses and LAE related t0: ......cc.veiiiiiiiiie e

Current Year:

Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........cccccooooviiiiiiioieiiceceeceee e $ 7504 $§ 7143 $ 5009
Catastrophe Losses and LAE........c.oocioioiiiiiiciicccceeete et 4.8 5.7 3.7
Prior Years:

Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ..o 3.1 6.8 13.5

Catastrophe Losses and LAE........c.cccooiiiiiiiiiciicccceeee et 0.2) (0.1) (0.1)
Total Incurred Losses and LAE ............cccooiioioiiiiieieceeeeeee e $ 7581 $ 7267 $§ 518.0
Ratios Based On Earned Premiums
Current Year Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio..........ccoccvevevieeiieieieniececiciee e 78.6% 87.1% 86.8%
Current Year Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio ........ccocvevveviirieieniinieieeeeceeee e 0.5 0.7 0.6
Prior Years Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio..........ccccceeieieiieeiieieieiececeeiee e 0.3 0.8 2.3
Prior Years Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio..........cccccveieviiieieiieceeieeeceeeeee e — — —
Total Incurred Loss and LAE Ratio........cccueiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 79.4% 88.6% 89.7%

2017 Compared with 2016

Earned Premiums on nonstandard personal automobile insurance increased by $134.3 million in 2017, compared to 2016, as
higher average earned premium and higher volume accounted for increases of $77.7 million and $56.6 million, respectively.
Incurred losses and LAE were $758.1 million, or 79.4% of earned premiums, in 2017, compared to $726.7 million, or 88.6% of
earned premiums, in 2016. Incurred losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums decreased due primarily to lower
underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums, and to a lesser extent, a lower level of adverse loss and LAE
reserve development. Underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of related earned premiums were 78.6% in 2017, compared to
87.1% in 2016, which was an improvement of 8.5 percentage points due primarily to improvement in both the Alliance United
and legacy books of business. For Alliance United, underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of related earned premiums
improved 11.5 percentage points due primarily to higher average earned premium and, to a lesser extent, lower frequency of
liability claims. For the legacy book, underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of related earned premiums improved 3.9
percentage points due primarily to lower frequency of claims, particularly on liability coverages, and higher average earned
premium, partially offset by higher severity of losses on most coverages. Catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve
development) were $4.8 million in 2017, compared to $5.7 million in 2016. Adverse loss and LAE reserve development was
$2.9 million in 2017, compared to $6.7 million in 2016.

2016 Compared with 2015

Earned Premiums on nonstandard personal automobile insurance increased by $242.2 million in 2016, compared to 2015.
Excluding the impact from Alliance United, Earned Premiums increased by $6.3 million as higher average earned premium
accounted for an increase of $15.3 million, while lower volume accounted for a decrease of $9.0 million. Incurred losses and
LAE were $726.7 million, or 88.6% of earned premiums, in 2016, compared to $518.0 million, or 89.7% of earned premiums,
in 2015. Excluding Alliance United, incurred losses and LAE were $243.3 million, or 78.2% of related earned premiums, in
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2016, compared to $257.0 million, or 84.3% of related earned premiums, in 2015. Excluding the impact of Alliance United,
incurred losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums decreased due to lower underlying losses and LAE as a
percentage of earned premiums and a lower level of adverse loss and LAE reserve development, partially offset by higher
incurred catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve development). Excluding Alliance United, underlying losses and LAE
as a percentage of related earned premiums were 75.9% in 2016, compared to 81.2% in 2015, which was an improvement of
5.3 percentage points due primarily to higher average earned premium, lower frequency of claims across all coverages on non-
California policies and lower severity of property losses on California policies, partially offset by higher frequency of claims on
most coverages on California policies and higher severity of bodily injury losses on non-California policies. For Alliance
United, underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of related earned premiums were 94.0% in 2016, compared to 92.8% in
2015, which was a deterioration of 1.2 percentage points due primarily to higher frequency of claims on all coverages and, to a
lesser extent, higher severity of losses on most coverages. Catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) were
$5.7 million in 2016, compared to $3.7 million in 2015. Adverse loss and LAE reserve development was $6.7 million in 2016,
compared to $13.4 million in 2015.

Homeowners Insurance

Selected financial information for the homeowners insurance product line follows.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Net Premiums WITTEEIL .......oviei ittt et $ 260.5 $ 2674 $ 276.0
Earned PremiUmIS ...........oviouiiiiiieeeeee ettt ettt $ 2648 $§ 2719 $ 2863

Incurred Losses and LAE related to:

Current Year:

Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........cccccocioiiieiiiinieiecceeeeceeee e $ 1295 § 1355 § 1451
Catastrophe Losses and LAE ........ccoocioiiiiiiiiiciciece e 157.3 89.0 55.4
Prior Years:

Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........ccccoiiiiiieniiieeeeeeeee e 4.7 (3.2) 3.3)

Catastrophe Losses and LAE ........ccoooooiiiiiiiiiciceccceeee e 3.7 (16.8) (7.5)
Total Incurred Losses and LAE ...........ccocooioioiiiiieiieceeeceeeeeeee e $ 2878 § 2045 $§ 189.7
Ratios Based On Earned Premiums
Current Year Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio..........cccooveveieiieiieiecieciecieeie, 48.9% 49.9% 50.7%
Current Year Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........c.cceeevivieieiieninieieec e, 59.4 32.7 19.4
Prior Years Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio ..........ccoccovieoiiieiiiiiiiiccccee 1.8 (1.2) (1.2)
Prior Years Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio...........cccccvevveriieieieiiecieicieeee e (1.4) (6.2) (2.6)
Total Incurred Loss and LAE Ratio .......ccccuevuiriiieiiiriiiieieieceeeeeeee e 108.7% 75.2% 66.3%
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2017 Compared with 2016

Earned premiums in homeowners insurance decreased by $7.1 million in 2017, compared to 2016, as lower volume accounted
for a decrease of $13.2 million, while higher average earned premium accounted for an increase of $6.1 million. Incurred losses
and LAE were $287.8 million, or 108.7% of earned premiums, in 2017, compared to $204.5 million, or 75.2% of earned
premiums, in 2016. Incurred losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums increased due to higher incurred catastrophe
losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) and an unfavorable change in loss and LAE reserve development, partially
offset by lower underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums. Underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of
earned premiums were 48.9% in 2017, compared to 49.9% in 2016, which was an improvement of 1.0 percentage points due
primarily to lower frequency of claims, partially offset by higher severity of losses. Catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding
reserve development) were $157.3 million in 2017, compared to $89.0 million in 2016. This increase was driven primarily by
California wildfires, with estimated losses and LAE of $53.3 million, and higher average severity on catastrophic events in
2017 with losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) of less than $15 million, compared to 2016, partially offset by the
impact of the aggregate losses and LAE from the two aforementioned Texas hailstorms that occurred in 2016 exceeding the
losses and LAE from the aforementioned Texas hailstorm that occurred in March of 2017. Loss and LAE reserve development
was adverse by $1.0 million in 2017, compared to favorable development of $20.0 million in 2016.

2016 Compared with 2015

Earned premiums in homeowners insurance decreased by $14.4 million in 2016, compared to 2015, as lower volume accounted
for a decrease of $11.9 million and lower average earned premium accounted for a decrease of $2.5 million. Incurred losses and
LAE were $204.5 million, or 75.2% of earned premiums, in 2016, compared to $189.7 million, or 66.3% of earned premiums,
in 2015. Incurred losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums increased due to higher incurred catastrophe losses and
LAE (excluding reserve development), partially offset by a higher level of favorable loss and LAE reserve development and
lower underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums. Underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned
premiums were 49.9% in 2016, compared to 50.7% in 2015, which was an improvement of 0.8 percentage points due primarily
to lower frequency of claims, partially offset by higher severity of losses. Catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve
development) were $89.0 million in 2016, compared to $55.4 million in 2015. This increase was driven primarily by the two
aforementioned hailstorms in Texas in 2016. Favorable loss and LAE reserve development was $20.0 million in 2016,
compared to $10.8 million in 2015.
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Commercial Automobile Insurance

Selected financial information for the commercial automobile insurance product line follows.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Net Premiums WITHEIN..........ooovieiiieeceieeceeeee ettt $ 512 § 510 $ 541
Earned PremilmsS ............c.oioviuiieieeieeeieceeee ettt $ 514 § 533 $§ 545
Incurred Losses and LAE related to:
Current Year:
Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ...........cccoooovoiioieiicicceceeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 408 § 440 $ 457
Catastrophe Losses and LAE .........ocooiiiiiiiiie e 0.7 0.8 0.2
Prior Years:
Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........cccocooiiiiiiniiiceeceeeee e 1.0 2.5 1.8
Catastrophe Losses and LAE ........ccoocioiiiiiiiiicicicce e 0.1) (0.1) —
Total Incurred Losses and LAE ..........cccoovoioioiiioeececeeeeeeeeeeeeceee e $ 424 § 472 $§ 477
Ratios Based On Earned Premiums
Current Year Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........ccccooeeiiiiieiiiininiiiiiicie 79.4% 82.6% 83.8%
Current Year Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........cccoeeevieieieiieniicieiccc e 1.4 1.5 0.4
Prior Years Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........cccocceeievievienininiienenceeien, 1.9 4.7 3.3
Prior Years Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio...........cccocvevieiieeeieieieciieieeieicee e 0.2) 0.2) —
Total Incurred Loss and LAE Ratio.......ccccuevuiriiiieiiiiiieieeseeeeeeeeee e 82.5% 88.6% 87.5%
2017 Compared with 2016

Earned premiums in commercial automobile insurance decreased by $1.9 million in 2017, compared to 2016, as lower volume
accounted for a decrease of $6.1 million, while higher average earned premium accounted for an increase of $4.2 million.
Incurred losses and LAE were $42.4 million, or 82.5% of earned premiums, in 2017, compared to $47.2 million, or 88.6% of
earned premiums, in 2016. Incurred losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums decreased due primarily to lower
underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums and a lower level of adverse loss and LAE reserve development
Underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums were 79.4% in 2017, compared to 82.6% in 2016, which was
an improvement of 3.2 percentage points due primarily to higher average earned premium and lower frequency of claims,
partially offset by higher severity of losses. Adverse loss and LAE reserve development was $0.9 million in 2017, compared to
$2.4 million in 2016.

2016 Compared with 2015

Earned premiums in commercial automobile insurance decreased by $1.2 million in 2016, compared to 2015, as lower volume
accounted for a decrease of $3.8 million, while higher average earned premium accounted for an increase of $2.6 million.
Incurred losses and LAE were $47.2 million, or 88.6% of earned premiums, in 2016, compared to $47.7 million, or 87.5% of
earned premiums, in 2015. Incurred losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums increased due primarily to a higher
level of adverse loss and LAE reserve development and higher incurred catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve
development), partially offset by lower underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums. Underlying losses and
LAE as a percentage of earned premiums were 82.6% in 2016, compared to 83.8% in 2015, which was an improvement of 1.2
percentage points due primarily to higher average earned premium and lower severity of losses, partially offset by higher
frequency of claims. Adverse loss and LAE reserve development was $2.4 million in 2016, compared to $1.8 million in 2015.
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Other Personal Insurance

Other personal insurance products include umbrella, dwelling fire, inland marine, earthquake, boat owners and other liability
coverages. Selected financial information for other personal insurance product lines follows.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Net Premiums WITTEEI. .....ooueii ittt e e e e e eeaaeeeaea s $ 412 $ 438 § 456
EAINEd PIEIMTUITIS ...t ettt $ 427 $ 450 $ 46.7

Incurred Losses and LAE related to:

Current Year:

Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........ccoooiiiiiiiioeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 218 §$§ 221 § 234
Catastrophe Losses and LAE ........c.ccccooiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeee e 4.9 2.5 2.2
Prior Years:
Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE..........ccocoiiiieiiiiiieieeeeeeeee e 3.8) (6.1) (2.0)
Catastrophe Losses and LAE ........c.coocooiiiiiiiiiieececeeeeeeee e 0.8) (1.9) 0.1)
Total Incurred Losses and LAE ........cccooioiiiiiiiiiieiecie e $ 221 $§ 166 § 235
Ratios Based On Earned Premiums
Current Year Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio........c.cccooevevevieviniecienenciieieen, 51.1% 49.1% 50.1%
Current Year Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........ccccooieiiiiiiiiieiiiieiccc e 11.5 5.6 4.7
Prior Years Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio..........ccccoeveeievieiinieiciiic e, 8.9) (13.6) 4.3)
Prior Years Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio..........cccoocvevieniivieieienicccieesc e (1.9) 4.2) (0.2)
Total Incurred Loss and LAE Ratio .......ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 51.8% 36.9% 50.3%
2017 Compared with 2016

Earned premiums in other personal insurance decreased by $2.3 million in 2017, compared to 2016, as lower volume accounted
for a decrease of $2.8 million, while higher average earned premium accounted for an increase of $0.5 million. Incurred losses
and LAE were $22.1 million, or 51.8% of earned premiums, in 2017, compared to $16.6 million, or 36.9% of earned premiums,
in 2016. Incurred losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums increased due to a lower level of favorable loss and LAE
reserve development, higher catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) and, to a lesser extent, higher
underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums. Underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned
premiums were 51.1% in 2017, compared to 49.1% in 2016, which was a deterioration of 2.0 percentage points due primarily to
higher frequency of umbrella claims, partially offset by lower severity of losses on umbrella claims. Catastrophe losses and
LAE (excluding reserve development) were $4.9 million in 2017, compared to $2.5 million in 2016. Favorable loss and LAE
reserve development was $4.6 million in 2017, compared to $8.0 million in 2016.

2016 Compared with 2015

Earned premiums in other personal insurance decreased by $1.7 million in 2016, compared to 2015, as lower volume accounted
for a decrease of $2.6 million, while higher average earned premium accounted for an increase of $0.9 million. Incurred losses
and LAE were $16.6 million, or 36.9% of earned premiums, in 2016, compared to $23.5 million, or 50.3% of earned premiums,
in 2015. Incurred losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums decreased due to a higher level of favorable loss and
LAE reserve development and, to a lesser extent, lower underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums.
Underlying losses and LAE as a percentage of earned premiums were 49.1% in 2016, compared to 50.1% in 2015, which was
an improvement of 1.0 percentage points due primarily to lower frequency of non-umbrella claims and lower severity of losses
on most coverages, partially offset by higher frequency of umbrella claims and lower average earned premium. Catastrophe
losses and LAE (excluding reserve development) were $2.5 million in 2016, compared to $2.2 million in 2015. Favorable loss
and LAE reserve development was $8.0 million in 2016, compared to $2.1 million in 2015.
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Selected financial information for the Life & Health Insurance segment is presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Earned Premiums:
L e $ 3797 § 38l.6 $ 3741
Accident and Health ...........coooooiiiiiiiii et 161.7 149.4 144.9
P OPETEY ettt ettt ettt ettt e eaeeen et eateennen 72.6 74.2 75.4
Total Earned PIeMIUINS ......cccuoiiiiiiiiii ittt e e et e e e eaaeeeaeeeeaaeeenes 614.0 605.2 594.4
Net INVeStMEnt INCOMC..........coviiiiiiiiiicciee ettt et et e eev e et e e eereeeaaeeas 221.5 213.2 214.2
OthET INCOMIC ...ttt ettt ettt ete e et e eaae e aseeaseenaeesseenseeaseeseeseennas 2.6 2.8 2.4
TOtAl REVEIIUES ....vviieiie ettt ettt e e et e e et e e eta e e e aeeeeaaeeeaaaeeeaaeeanes 838.1 821.2 811.0
Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and LAE...........cccooiiininieieiiniieiec e 387.4 461.6 381.3
INSUTANCE EXPEISES ...euviviemieiiitieiieiieieet ettt ettt ettt sttt ettt et ettt sbe et b eneens 312.2 313.9 320.0
OPETAtING PrOfIt..ovieuiiiiiiiieieie ettt ettt e e se e ssesbeeseeneesbesreenaens 138.5 45.7 109.7
INCOME TaAX EXPOIISE....cuuiiiiiiiiiiiieiit ittt e 47.7) (15.4) (38.0)
Segment Net Operating INCOME ........c.ecuiiviieeieuiiiiieeieteeteeee ettt $ 908 $ 303 $§ 717
INSURANCE RESERVES
Dec 31, Dec 31,
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016
Insurance Reserves:
Future Policyholder BENETIS.........ccvoveuiiiiiiieiiieieiiieieceeteeete ettt $ 3,357.5 $ 3,311.5
Incurred Losses and LAE Reserves:
| 5 LTSRS 140.0 141.9
Accident and Health .............oooiiiiiiiii e 23.5 21.9
PLOPETLY ettt ettt ettt ettt at et ettt et e b et e st et et e st e ne et e neereentenbesreeneen 4.1 4.5
Total Incurred Losses and LAE RESEIVES .......cocuviiiiiiiiiieiie et 167.6 168.3
INSUTANCE RESEIVES ...ttt ettt e et e e e ettt e e e e ettt e e e e etaeeeeeetaeeeeeetaeseseereeaeeans $ 3,525.1 $3.479.8

Use of Death Verification Databases

In the third quarter of 2016, the Company’s Life & Health segment voluntarily began implementing a comprehensive process
under which it cross-references its life insurance policies against the DMF and other death verification databases to identify
potential situations where the beneficiaries may not have filed a claim following the death of an insured and initiate an outreach
process to identify and contact beneficiaries and settle claims. Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and Loss
Adjustment Expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 include a pre-tax charge of $77.8 million to recognize the initial
impact of using death verification databases in the Company’s operations, including to determine its IBNR liability for unpaid
claims and claims adjustment expenses for life insurance products. See Note 2, “Summary of Accounting Policies and
Accounting Changes.” to the Consolidated Financial Statements under the sub-caption “Insurance Reserves” for additional
discussion.

2017 Compared with 2016

Earned Premiums in the Life & Health Insurance segment increased by $8.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017,
compared to 2016 due primarily to higher volume from accident and health insurance products offered by Reserve National,
partially offset by lower earned premiums on property insurance products offered by Kemper Home Service Companies
(“KHSC”).

Net Investment Income increased by $8.3 million in 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to higher levels of non-alternative
investments and higher returns from Alternative Investments, partially offset by lower yields on non-alternative investments.
The weighted-average book yield on the Company’s life and health insurance subsidiaries’ investments in fixed maturities was
approximately 5.4% and 5.5% at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. A protracted low interest rate environment,
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relative to the Life & Health Insurance segment’s fixed income portfolio, could adversely impact the weighted-average book
yield on these subsidiaries’ investments in fixed maturities. For example, the weighted-average book yield on the subsidiaries’
investments in fixed maturities will decline if new money is invested at yields below the portfolio rate. Also, the weighted-
average book yield on the subsidiaries’ investments in fixed maturities will decline, to the extent that investments maturing are
not used for such purposes as paying claims and expenses, if the reinvested portion is at a yield that is lower than the book yield
of the maturing investment. To help illustrate the potential impact, the subsidiaries’ investments in fixed maturities that are
maturing over the next five years totaled $751.7 million at December 31, 2017. The weighted-average book yield on such
investments was 6.7% at December 31, 2017. The reinvestment rate for the subsidiaries’ investments in fixed maturities was
approximately 5.6% in 2017 with an average duration of 7.6 years at December 31, 2017.

Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and LAE decreased by $74.2 million in 2017, compared to 2016. Excluding the
initial impact of using death verification databases described above, Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and LAE
increased by $3.6 million due primarily to growth in the Company’s accident and health insurance business, partially offset by
lower policyholders’ benefits on life insurance. Insurance Expenses in the Life & Health Insurance segment decreased by $1.7
million due primarily to a higher portion of agent compensation for KHSC being deferrable as well as lower legal and agent
incentive conference expenses for KHSC, partially offset by higher commission and amortization expense for Reserve National.
Segment Net Operating Income in the Life & Health Insurance segment was $90.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2017, compared to $30.3 million in 2016.

2016 Compared with 2015

Earned Premiums in the Life & Health Insurance segment increased by $10.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016,
compared to 2015 due primarily to the impact of an adjustment of $7.6 million recorded in 2015 to correct deferred premium
reserves on certain limited pay life insurance policies.

Net Investment Income decreased by $1.0 million in 2016, compared to 2015, due primarily to lower yields on investments in
fixed income securities and lower levels of Alternative Investments, partially offset by higher levels of investments in non-
alternative investments.

Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and LAE increased by $80.3 million in 2016, compared to 2015. Excluding the
impact of using death verification databases described above, Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and LAE increased
by $2.5 million due primarily to higher policyholders’ benefits on life insurance, partially offset by lower incurred losses and
LAE on property insurance and accident and health insurance. Insurance Expenses in the Life & Health Insurance segment
decreased by $6.1 million due primarily to lower legal costs, partially offset by higher agent and field management
compensation costs for KHSC and the impact of an adjustment made in 2015 to deferred policy acquisition costs for Reserve
National. Segment Net Operating Income in the Life & Health Insurance segment was $30.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016, compared to $71.7 million in 2015.
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Life Insurance

Selected financial information for the life insurance product line follows.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Earned PremiUImS ..........c.oouiiiiiiiiitieieeeeeceeeeeee ettt ettt $ 3797 § 381.6 374.1
Net [nvestment INCOME .........ociiiiiiiiiiie e 214.3 206.3 207.2
OthEr INCOMIC ...ttt ettt e e e et e e eeaeeneeeneeeeeas 2.4 2.3 1.9
TOLAl REVENMUES.....c.eiiiiieiieiiete ettt ettt ettt e et e ae s et e eseeaeeseeasesbesseessensenns 596.4 590.2 583.2
Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and LAE ............cccocoiiiiiiiininnice, 274.1 356.3 274.9
INSUTANCE EXPONSES .....ieueiiiieiieeiie ettt ettt ettt ettt et e e et e et eenseenseeseeseenaeeeeas 207.9 211.3 221.7
OPEratiNg PrOfIt c..c.voiiiiiiieiicie ettt ettt et sbesbeess s 114.4 22.6 86.6
INCOME TaAX EXPEIISE ..c.vivieiiiiiiiieiieieeie ettt sttt et sttt s reensenne e (39.3) (7.5) (30.1)
Total Product Line Net Operating INCOME...........cccoouiiuiviieuiiieieiceeeeee e, $ 751 $ 151 % 56.5

2017 Compared with 2016

Earned premiums on life insurance decreased by $1.9 million in 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to the termination of
the relationship between Reserve National and one of its brokers. Policyholders’ benefits on life insurance were $274.1 million
in 2017, compared to $356.3 million in 2016, a decrease of $82.2 million. Excluding the initial impact of using death
verification databases described above, Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and LAE decreased by $4.4 million due
primarily to lower policyholder benefits on Reserve National’s life insurance products. Insurance Expenses decreased by $3.4
million in 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to a higher portion of agent compensation for KHSC being deferrable as well
as lower legal and agent incentive conference expenses for KHSC, partially offset by higher commission and other general
expenses for Reserve National.

2016 Compared with 2015

Earned premiums on life insurance increased by $7.5 million in 2016, compared to 2015, due primarily to an adjustment of $7.6
million recorded in the first quarter of 2015 to correct deferred premium reserves on certain limited pay life insurance policies.
Excluding the adjustment, earned premiums on life insurance decreased by $0.1 million as a decrease of $3.4 million from life
insurance products offered by KHSC was offset by an increase of $3.3 million from life insurance products offered by Reserve
National. Policyholders’ benefits on life insurance were $356.3 million in 2016, compared to $274.9 million in 2015, an
increase of $81.4 million. Excluding the impact of using death verification databases described above, Policyholders’ Benefits
and Incurred Losses and LAE increased by $3.6 million. Insurance Expenses decreased by $10.4 million in 2016, compared to
2015, due primarily to lower legal costs, partially offset by higher agent and field management compensation costs for KHSC.
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Accident and Health Insurance

Selected financial information for the accident and health insurance product line follows.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Earned PremiUImS ..........c.oouiiiiiiiiitieieeeeeceeeeeee ettt ettt $ 1617 $§ 1494 § 1449
Net [nvestment INCOME .........ocuiiiiiiiiieei e 5.2 54 5.5
OthEr INCOMIC ...ttt ettt e e e et e e eeaeeneeeneeeeeas 0.2 0.5 0.5
TOLAl REVENMUES.....cueiiiitieiieiicte ettt ettt ettt e e st e aeess et e sseeaeeseeasesbesaeessensens 167.1 155.3 150.9
Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and LAE ............cccocoiiiiiiiininnice, 88.7 80.3 80.8
INSUTANCE EXPONSES ....viiutiiiietieeiie ettt ettt ettt et e et e e et e eateenseenseeseeseeneeeeeas 71.7 67.6 63.8
OPETAtiNg PrOfIt c.oovviiiiiieiieiicic ettt ettt e sbesaeesse s 6.7 7.4 6.3
INCOME TAX EXPEIISE ...viviiniiiiiiieiieiecie ettt ettt et sae s s 2.5) 2.5) 2.2)
Total Product Line Net Operating INCOME...........c.ccoouiiuieiiieriiiieieeeieeee e, $ 42 3 49 % 4.1

2017 Compared with 2016

Earned premiums on accident and health insurance increased by $12.3 million in 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to
higher volume on accident and health insurance products offered by Reserve National and, to a lesser extent, lower accrued
medical loss ratio (“MLR”) premium rebates. Incurred accident and health insurance losses were $88.7 million, or 54.9% of
accident and health insurance earned premiums, in 2017, compared to $80.3 million, or 53.7% of accident and health insurance
earned premiums, in 2016. Incurred accident and health insurance losses increased as a percentage of earned premiums due
primarily to deterioration in the ratios on critical illness and hospital indemnity products. Insurance Expenses increased by $4.1
million in 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to higher commission expense for Reserve National due in part to a higher
volume of earned premium.

2016 Compared with 2015

Earned premiums on accident and health insurance increased by $4.5 million in 2016, compared to 2015, due primarily to
higher volume. Incurred accident and health insurance losses were $80.3 million, or 53.7% of accident and health insurance
earned premiums, in 2016, compared to $80.8 million, or 55.8% of accident and health insurance earned premiums, in 2015.
Incurred accident and health insurance losses decreased as a percentage of earned premiums due primarily to lower average
claim costs in other supplemental products and a lower level of hospitalization exposure, partially offset by higher frequency
and higher average claim costs in Medicare Supplement. Insurance Expenses increased by $3.8 million in 2016, compared to
2015, due primarily to the impact of an adjustment made in 2015 to Reserve National’s deferred policy acquisition costs and the
higher level of earned premiums
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Property Insurance

Selected financial information for the property insurance product line follows.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015

Earned PremiUImS ..........c.oouiiiiiiiiitieieeeeeceeeeeee ettt ettt $ 726 $ 742 $ 754
Net [nvestment INCOME .........ocuiiiiiiiiieei e 2.0 1.5 1.5
TOtAl REVEIIUES ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et et e et e et eese e eseeseeeneeeeeas 74.6 75.7 76.9

Incurred Losses and LAE related to:

Current Year:

Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........cccoooiiiiiiiiiie e 17.8 19.6 20.4
Catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........ccoooiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee e 5.9 5.5 3.8
Prior Years:

Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........cccooiiiiiiiiiie e 0.4 — 1.3

Catastrophe Losses and LAE ..........ccooooiiiiiieiiciceeeeeeeeee e 0.5 (0.1) 0.1
Total Incurred Losses and LAE ........coooiiiiiiiie e 24.6 25.0 25.6
INSUTANCE EXPENSES .....ieueiiiietieeiie ittt ettt ettt ettt et e e e eeneeesbeenseenseeseesaeeaeas 32.6 35.0 34.5
OPEratiNg PrOfIt ..cuvoiiiiieieieii ettt ettt s re e nne e 17.4 15.7 16.8
INCOME TaAX EXPEIISE ...ttt e ae e ae e e eeeas (5.9) 5.4 5.7
Total Product Line Net Operating INCOME.........c.cecveruiiierieieiiieieieiecieeie e $ 115 § 103 $ 11.1

Ratios Based On Earned Premiums

Current Year Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio........cccccoeeeveienininienenciieien, 24.5% 26.4% 27.2%
Current Year Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........c.ccooeiieieieciecieieieeee e 8.1 7.4 5.0
Prior Years Non-catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........cccoccoeievievieninieiencnc e, 0.6 — 1.7
Prior Years Catastrophe Losses and LAE Ratio.........ccoooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeee 0.7 0.1 0.1
Total Incurred Loss and LAE Ratio ......cccccveiiiiiieiieiiiiiiecieeseeeeeee e 33.9% 33.7% 34.0%

2017 Compared with 2016

Earned premiums on property insurance decreased by $1.6 million in 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to a lower volume
of insurance. Incurred losses and LAE on property insurance were $24.6 million, or 33.9% of property insurance earned
premiums, in 2017, compared to $25.0 million, or 33.7% of property insurance earned premiums, in 2016. Underlying losses
and LAE on property insurance were $17.8 million, or 24.5% of property insurance earned premiums, in 2017, compared to
$19.6 million, or 26.4% of property insurance earned premiums, in 2016, and decreased due to a lower frequency of claims.
Catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding development), net of reinsurance recoveries from the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe
Fund (the “FHCF”) were $5.9 million in 2017, compared to $5.5 million in 2016. Catastrophe losses and LAE, net of
reinsurance from the FHCF, included catastrophe losses and LAE of $3.2 million from Hurricanes Harvey and Irma. Adverse
loss and LAE reserve development was $0.9 million in 2017, compared to favorable development of $0.1 million in 2016.
Insurance expenses decreased $2.4 million in 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to lower commission expense due in part
to a lower volume of earned premium.
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2016 Compared with 2015

Earned premiums on property insurance decreased by $1.2 million in 2016, compared to 2015, due primarily to a lower volume
of insurance. Incurred losses and LAE on property insurance were $25.0 million, or 33.7% of property insurance earned
premiums, in 2016, compared to $25.6 million, or 34.0% of property insurance earned premiums, in 2015. Underlying losses
and LAE on property insurance were $19.6 million, or 26.4% of property insurance earned premiums, in 2016, compared to
$20.4 million, or 27.1% of property insurance earned premiums, in 2015. Catastrophe losses and LAE (excluding development)
were $5.5 million in 2016, compared to $3.8 million in 2015. Favorable loss and LAE reserve development was $0.1 million in
2016, compared to unfavorable loss and LAE reserve development of $1.4 million in 2015.

INVESTMENT RESULTS
Net Investment Income

Net Investment Income for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Investment Income (Loss):
Interest and Dividends on Fixed Maturiti€s. ..........cecveveveirveriiereeireereeeieiiereeceeeies e $ 2466 $ 2427 $§ 2362
Dividends on Equity Securities Excluding Alternative Investments...........ccccevereenenne. 9.3 11.8 14.8
Alternative Investments:
Equity Method Limited Liability Investments..........cccoccoeoveiininenniincneneincncneee. 24.8 7.5 19.0
Fair Value Option INVEStMENTS.........coiiiiiiiieiieie ettt 1.3 (1.9) 0.2
Limited Liability Investments Included in Equity Securities ............cccceceveririeiennne 28.6 22.0 17.6
Total Alternative INVESIMENTS .......oiiiiiiiieeie ettt eeee e e ae s 54.7 27.6 36.8
Short-term INVESTMENTS. .......eouveiiieieieiieieie ettt s besreeneens 1.6 0.5 0.4
Loans to POLICYROIARLS ........coviiiiiiiiiciiicce e 21.6 21.6 21.1
REAL ESTALE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt a e et e ese et e seese e st ensesseenaensenseeneeneas 10.7 11.8 11.9
ORET ..ottt ettt ettt 0.5 0.3 —
Total INVEeStMENt INCOME .......eiiiiiiiiiiiii ettt e e et e e e eeee e 345.0 316.3 321.2
Investment Expenses:
REAI ESALE ...ttt ettt ettt et e et e et e e nbeeabeenbeenaeenaeebeeseenns 10.5 11.0 11.3
Other INVeStMENt EXPEINSES .....vevveriiiiieiieieieiieiieieste ettt sttt ae e saeeseeseseeeneens 7.3 7.0 7.3
Total INVEeStMENt EXPEINSES .....eviiiieiiiieitieiieieite sttt ettt ettt st eieens 17.8 18.0 18.6
Net INVEStMENt INCOMIE. ......c.oviieeietiiiieeietiet ettt ettt se b ene s $ 3272 § 2983 §$§ 3026
2017 Compared with 2016

Net Investment Income increased by $28.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to
higher investment returns from Alternative Investments and higher levels of investments in fixed income securities, partially
offset by lower yields on fixed income securities and lower levels of investments in equity securities, excluding alternative
investments.

2016 Compared with 2015

Net Investment Income decreased by $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to 2015, due primarily to
lower investment returns from Alternative Investments, lower levels and lower returns on investments in equity securities
excluding alternative investments and lower yields on fixed income securities, partially offset by higher level of investments in
fixed income securities.
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Total Comprehensive Investment Gains (Losses)

The components of Total Comprehensive Investment Gains (Losses) for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 is
presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Recognized in Consolidated Statements of Income:
GAINS 01 SALES ...ttt ettt ettt $ 569 $ 38.0 $ 55.3
LLOSSES ON SALES ..ttt ettt ettt et e et naeenteeseeneenean (1.0) . 2.9)
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings ..........ccoceveveeievieneninieneneieeene. (14.3) (32.7) (27.2)
Net Gains (Losses) on Trading SeCUTTtIES .........ceververierieierierieeieieesieeeee e 0.6 0.2 0.3)
Net Gain Recognized in Consolidated Statements of Income...........ccccoocvecvereniiieiennens 42.2 0.4 24.9
Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (LOSS) ....oovveveriirieieienieniiieieieseeienn, 85.5 (2.5) (178.7)
Total Comprehensive Investment Gains (LOSSES).....c.ccvveveeruerreeeeeerierienreeeesiesiesreeeenenns $ 1277 § (2.1) $ (153.8)

Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments

The components of Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Fixed Maturities:

GAINS ON SALES......oiviieeeeeeeeete ettt ettt ettt et e et e te e et e et e eae et e eteeseeneenseereereeneens $ 84 § 170 $ 16.1

LLOSSES ON SALES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt e st e b e e abe et e enbeerbeebeeseenan 0.9) (4.6) (1.1)
Equity Securities:

GAINS ON SALES......eiiiiiiiiiieieeete ettt et ettt et e eae e teeeaeesaeeetseeaseeaseesseenseeasean 42.0 19.9 39.2

LLOSSES ON SALES ....eieniieiieiieciieeee ettt ettt ettt et et e st e st eesbesaseenteenbeeseenbeeseennn — 0.3) (1.6)
Real Estate:

GAINS ON SALES.....eieiieiiieiieieecie ettt et e et e e e bt ebeestaesteesseesteessseessessseesseenseensean 6.4 1.1 —

LLOSSES ON SAIES ....veuvivieeieieieeieeitest ettt ettt ettt te e e st e steese et esseeseesaesessesseensesesseeseens — — (0.2)
Other Investments:

GAINS ON SALCS....eoiiiiiiiiie e e e e et e et e et e e e et e e eetaeeereeeeaaeaas 0.1 — —

LLOSSES ON SAICS ....ocuvieiiieiiicieete ettt ettt ettt ettt e ae s 0.1) 0.2) —

Trading Securities Net Gains (LOSSES) ..c..evveririerieriirieieriesieeeeiesteeie et 0.6 0.2 0.3)
Net Realized Gains on Sales of INVEStMENTS ..........c.ooviiviiieeeieiieeeieeeeee et $ 565 § 331 $ 521
GTOSS GAINS ON SALES .....oovvieiieeieetcei ettt s e aees $ 569 $ 380 $ 553
GTOSS LOSSES ON SAIES ....veniiniiiieiieiieieei ettt ettt ettt (1.0) 5.1) 2.9)
Net Gains (Losses) on Trading SECUTTIES ......ccveeierveriirieierienieeeeieieere et sie e e eeeenees 0.6 0.2 0.3)
Net Realized Gains on Sales of INVESTMENTS ..........c.ccveiiviiveierieiiieeeecreeeee e $ 565 $ 331 $ 521
Equity Securities

Net Realized Gains on Sales of Equity Securities for the year ended December 31, 2017 includes $35.2 million recognized on
the sale of exchange traded fund shares due to tax planning initiatives and portfolio allocation adjustments.

Net Realized Gains on Sales of Equity Securities for the year ended December 31, 2016 includes a net realized gain of $8.1
million from a transaction in which the Company’s investment in the common stock of a company was acquired by another
company for cash and shares of such acquiring company.

In 2015, the Company sold $149.9 million of equity securities due to portfolio allocation adjustments and tax planning
initiatives. The Company recognized Gains on Sales of Equity Securities of $31.4 million and Losses on Sales of Equity
Securities of $0.7 million resulting from such sales.
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Other sales activity in 2017, 2016 and 2015 was due to normal portfolio management.
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings

The Company regularly reviews its investment portfolio for factors that may indicate that a decline in the fair value of an
investment is other-than-temporary. Losses arising from other-than-temporary declines in fair value are reported in the
Consolidated Statements of Income in the period that the declines are determined to be other-than-temporary.

Information pertaining to Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income
for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 is presented below.

2017 2016 2015
Number of Number of Number of
Issuers/ Issuers/ Issuers/

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Amount Properties Amount Properties Amount Properties
FiXed MALUITHES ..o rvveooeeeee oo eeeeeee e seeeseeee $ (12.1) 10 $ (26.6) 12 $ (11.5) 9
Equity Securities .........c.ccveveviereeeeieieseeeeieeeie e 2.2) 5 (5.6) 14 (15.7) 25
Real EState.......c.oooviiiuiiiiieeiiiciecece e — — (0.5) 1 — —
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings .............. $ (14.3) $ (32.7) $ (27.2)

Fixed Maturities

Net Impairment Losses Recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2017 related to
Investments in Fixed Maturities include losses of $10.4 million due to the Company’s intent to sell or requirement to sell bonds
of eight issuers and credit losses of $1.7 million from other-than-temporary declines in the fair values of investments in fixed
maturities of two issuers.

Net Impairment Losses Recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2016 related to
Investments in Fixed Maturities include losses of $23.9 million due to the Company’s intent to sell or requirement to sell bonds
of 11 issuers and credit losses of $2.7 million from other-than-temporary declines in the fair values of investments in fixed
maturities of one issuer.

Net Impairment Losses Recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2015 related to
Investments in Fixed Maturities include losses of $4.3 million due to the Company’s intent to sell or requirement to sell bonds
of four issuers and credit losses of $7.2 million from other-than-temporary declines in the fair values of investments in fixed
maturities of six issuers.

Real Estate

The Company did not recognize any impairment losses related to Investments in Real Estate in the Consolidated Statements of
Income for the years ended December 31, 2017 or December 31, 2015.

Net Impairment Losses Recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2016 related to
Investments in Real Estate includes a loss of $0.5 million due to the Company’s intent to sell one property.

INVESTMENT QUALITY AND CONCENTRATIONS

The Company’s fixed maturity investment portfolio is comprised primarily of high-grade municipal, corporate and agency
bonds. At December 31, 2017, 89% of the Company’s fixed maturity investment portfolio was rated investment-grade, which
the Company defines as a security issued by a high quality obligor with at least a relatively stable credit profile and where it is
highly likely that all contractual payments of principal and interest will timely occur and carry a rating from the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) of 1 or 2. Securities with a rating of 1 or 2 from the NAIC typically are
rated by one or more Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organizations and either have a rating of AAA, AA, A or BBB
from Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”); a rating of Aaa, Aa, A or Baa from Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”); or a rating of
AAA, AA, A or BBB from Fitch Ratings.
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The following table summarizes the credit quality of the fixed maturity investment portfolio at December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Dec 31, 2017 Dec 31,2016
NAIC Fair Value Percentage Fair Value Percentage
Rating Rating in Millions of Total in Millions of Total
1 AAAAA A s $ 3,481.8 64.6% § 3,280.4 64.0%
2 BBB e 1,335.2 24.8 1,338.2 26.1
3-4 BB, B o e 357.2 6.7 321.6 6.3
56 CCC OF LOWET .cuiiiiiiiciiiciccteee et 208.5 3.9 184.7 3.6
Total Investments in Fixed Maturiti€s .......c.cooovvvuviiieiiiviiieeeeeiee e $ 5,382.7 100.0% $ 5,124.9 100.0%

Gross unrealized losses on the Company’s investments in below-investment-grade fixed maturities were $6.9 million and $12.7
million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the Company’s investments in governmental fixed maturities at December 31,
2017 and 2016:

Dec 31,2017 Dec 31, 2016
Percentage Percentage
of Total of Total

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Fair Value Investments Fair Value Investments
U.S. Government and Government Agencies and Authorities .................. $ 556.1 82% § 3363 5.1%
States and Political Subdivisions:

SEALES ..ttt ettt e e ettt e e neeeaes 594.0 8.7 655.3 9.9

Political SUDAIVISIONS ......oouiiiiiiiiiiiiiieii e 171.1 2.5 174.7 2.6

Revenue BONdS........ccoccveiiiiiiiiieiiccieeeee e 936.7 13.8 884.9 13.4
Foreign Governments 3.2 — 34 0.1
Total Investments in Governmental Fixed Maturities ...............ccccevveeeennn. $ 2,261.1 33.2% $ 2,054.6 31.1%

The following table summarizes the fair value of the Company’s investments in non-governmental fixed maturities by industry
at December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Dec 31,2017 Dec 31, 2016
Percentage Percentage
of Total of Total

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Fair Value Investments Fair Value Investments
MANUFACTUTINE ..ottt ettt ettt be et be e s e $ 1,168.8 17.2% §$§ 1,227.8 18.6%
Finance, Insurance and Real EState ............ccccoovviiiiiiiiiiiicie e 780.2 11.5 742.6 11.2
SEIVICES 1vviutieieeiiete ettt ettt ettt e et e et et e s e e se et e sseeneesaensesseeseenaas 453.3 6.7 391.6 5.9
Transportation, Communication and Utilities............ccoooceeiieeienienieeenne. 353.7 5.2 364.1 5.5
IMIINUIIE ettt ettt et e b e e se e e eeaeeteensebesbeensannas 163.5 24 157.2 2.4
Retail TIade......coveieiieiieieieceeee ettt s 102.6 1.5 101.9 1.5
Wholesale Trade........c.oooieiiiiieieieeeee e 81.3 1.2 69.2 1.0
Agriculture, Forestry and FiShing..........ccccoovevieviivinieieeeeceeec e 14.5 0.2 14.4 0.2
OIET .ttt ettt ettt 3.7 0.1 1.5 —
Total Investments in Non-governmental Fixed Maturities ....................... $ 3,121.6 46.0% $ 3,070.3 46.3%
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The following table summarizes the fair value of the Company’s investments in non-governmental fixed maturities by range of
amount invested at December 31, 2017.

Number of Aggregate

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Issuers Fair Value

BlOW 85 ettt ettt st R bRt ettt ettt se e e ne s enens 459 § 9109
B B L0 ettt et ae b e s e eae s e s e s eaeeae s ene s e eee s enseneeee s ensenneeeeaens 146 966.7
B 10 = 820 ettt e et h ettt a e e b et h s e s eh et bt e s b ae et s e s s eee s eaene s 66 890.0
820 = 830 ettt ettt h ettt h et s et n et ettt et ae s 12 287.4
Greater Than $30.......c.ociiiiii ettt ettt ettt ettt ee et 2 66.6
8 L] Y SRS 685 § 3,121.6

The Company’s short-term investments primarily consist of money market funds, U.S. Treasury securities with maturities of
less than one year at the date of purchase, commercial paper and overnight interest bearing accounts. At December 31, 2017,
the Company had $116.1 million invested in money market funds which primarily invest in U.S. Treasury securities, $81.2
million invested in U.S. Treasury securities with maturities of less than one year at the date of purchase, $23.0 million invested
in commercial paper and $15.2 million invested in overnight interest bearing bank accounts with one of the Company’s
custodial banks.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the Company’s ten largest exposures, excluding investments in U.S.
Government and Government Agencies and Authorities and Short-term Investments, at December 31, 2017.

Percentage
Fair of Total
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Value Investments
Fixed Maturities:
States including their Political Subdivisions:
TOXAS vttt eute et ettt et et et e bt e bt e st e ekt e et e e ese e ekt e eateeaeeeateeabeeabeen bt ens e e be e st e st e eneeesteenteenteenteenseenseenseennn $ 1014 1.5%
IMICRIZAIN .ttt ettt sttt e b s bt e st e e s seeseen s e s e eaeeneensenseeseeneenbenneenean 87.9 1.3
GROTEIA ...ttt ettt a bttt et h ettt sttt ettt ee 86.6 1.3
ONH0 ettt ettt ettt b e ettt et e e b e tt st e b e e te e st e b e eseesaen b e b e eneen e e st e eneereentebenreenee 70.0 1.0
LLOUISTAINA ...ttt ettt et e et e et e e e et e e s e e aeeassese e seeesseeaeeenseenseensaenseensaenseenseennas 68.2 1.0
(070 10 ¢ Ta [0 ST 66.3 1.0
4311 OO ORI 64.8 1.0
FLOTIAA .ttt ettt ettt et et e et e bt ess et e eteesbebeesaesaesseseeseessesseeseeseensesesaeens 62.1 0.9
WVESCOMSIN 1.ttt ettt ettt ettt et et et e b e e st est e st e et e estenae b e eseessenseesaesaensenseeseeneensensesseensensenseanee 56.4 0.8
Equity Securities—Other Equity Interests:
iShares® Core International StOCK ETF .......ccvoiiiiiiiiiiiiiicieiet ettt 60.5 0.9
TTOTAL ..ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt eat et e et e eae st et e teetseat et e eteeasea b e teeaeess et e eaeenseas et e easensenseteeteensn $ 7242 10.7%
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INVESTMENTS IN LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANIES AND LIMITED PARTNERSHIPS

The Company owns investments in various limited liability investment companies and limited partnerships that primarily invest
in mezzanine debt, hedge funds and distressed debt. The Company’s investments in these limited liability investment
companies and limited partnerships are reported either as Equity Method Limited Liability Investments, Other Equity Interests
and included in Equity Securities, or Fair Value Option Investments depending on the accounting method used to report the
investment. See Note 2, “Summary of Accounting Policies and Accounting Changes,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Additional information pertaining to these investments at December 31, 2017 and 2016 is presented below.

Unfunded
Commitment Reported Value in Millions
Dec 31, Dec 31, Dec 31,
Asset Class 2017 2017 2016
Reported as Equity Method Limited Liability Investments at Cost Plus
Cumulative Undistributed Earnings:

DISIESSEA DIEDL ...vvviiiiiiieieteteie ettt $ — S 475 3 65.4

Mezzanine DEDt........couiiiiiiiiiiiiee e e 60.4 73.0 63.2

Secondary TranSaCtiONS ........cveeerierierieieieste et eeete e e et sre e eaessesreeseeneens 18.9 20.6 27.3

SENIOT DEDE ..c.cvciiiiiiiciieirtce ettt 21.6 4.8 6.6

GIOWEh EQUILY ©oevieiiieiieieet et es — 5.7 4.6

Leveraged BUYOUL........cccerieriirieieieiecit ettt 0.1 33 —

ORET ettt ettt — 6.1 8.8
Total Equity Method Limited Liability Investments..........ccccceeeevevvereneeeenenne. 101.0 161.0 175.9
Reported as Other Equity Interests at Fair Value:

MeEZZanine DEDt........coeuiiiiiieieiiiiee e 87.1 102.2 97.6

SENIOT DD ..c.cviiiiiiiciieiertee ettt 28.8 35.5 36.4

DiStressed DDt ......c..oiiiiiiiiieieee e 4.7 16.6 18.8

Secondary TranSaCtions ........c.eeverierierieieieresieeeeteste et esee e ereeaeaesbeseeeneens 10.4 8.9 11.9

Leveraged BUYOUL. ....c..ooiiiiiiiiieieie e 33 6.3 6.5

L@ 1 1 TS TSRS 7.0 334 38.4
Total Reported as Other Equity Interests at Fair Value ... 141.3 202.9 209.6
Reported as Fair Value Option Investments:

Hedge FUNA....ouiiieiieeeee ettt — 71.5 111.4
Total Investments in Limited Liability Companies and Limited Partnerships.... $ 2423 § 4414 $ 496.9

The Company expects that it will be required to fund its commitments over the next several years. The Company expects that
the proceeds from distributions from these investments will be the primary source of funding of such commitments.

The Company engages in limited hedging activities to optimize exposure to foreign currencies and changes in interest rates. In
2017 the Company entered into a cross-currency interest rate swap to hedge the foreign denominated cash flows of one fixed
maturity investment. In 2016, in anticipation of a debt offering in 2017, the Company entered into a cash flow hedge to
optimize exposure to changes in interest rates. The Company does not directly participate, as either a lender or borrower of
securities, in any securities lending program, nor does the Company participate directly in credit default swaps. The Company
has limited exposure to such programs and activities by virtue of its investments in the limited liability investment companies
and limited partnerships noted above. See Note 7 “Debt,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of
the cash flow hedge entered into by the Company in 2016 in anticipation of a debt offering in 2017.
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EXPENSES

Expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
COMIMISSIONS <.ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et e b e sttt besesenens $ 4256 $ 3992 § 3576
GENETAL EXPEIISES ..eovviiiivieiieieiteetieieste ettt et e ste st et et e sbeestessesbesseesaessesseeseessessessesssensesesseesaens 194.1 209.0 241.1
Taxes, Licenses and FEeS......ooiiiiiiiiiiii e 52.8 48.8 442
Total CoStS INCUITEA ...c..oveeieiiiieiietee ettt ettt st 672.5 657.0 642.9
Policy Acquisition Costs:
DICTRITEA ..ttt b et a et s e s s et s e s e et s e eae e eneenea (351.6) (314.9) (270.6)
AMOTHIZE .ottt ettt ne 318.3 299.3 257.4
Net Policy Acquisition Costs Deferred...........oovvieiiriiiiieierieieeeeeee e (33.3) (15.6) (13.2)
Amortization of InSurance in FOICe......c..cocuiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccee e 5.1 59 15.4
INSUTANCE EXPEINSES ...euviivieiieiiitieiieiete ettt sttt ettt sttt et et ettt e e sae e st entensenbeeseensenbesreennens 644.3 647.3 645.1
Write-0ff Of LONG-LIVEd ASSEL ..eveiuiiiiiieiieieectee ettt — — 11.1
Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt..........ccccoiiiiiiininiiieeeeceeee e — — 9.1
Interest and Other Expenses:
INEETESEt EXPEIISE....ccuvieuiieniieiieite ettt ettt ettt ettt et e st e saeesneeenaesneeenseenneennean 349 44.4 46.5
Other Expenses:
Curtailment Gains, NET ........ccieiieiierieeie ettt e s ae e enaeenseeaseas — (2.6) —
Loss on Cash FIOW HedE ......ccuevviriiiiiiiiiieest e 1.1 — —
OFRCT ettt ettt n ettt s et n et et neenen 44.6 48.5 61.1
OthEr EXPENSES ...vviuviiieiieiiitieiieieste ettt ettt et st teesaesbesteese et esseeseessensesseeseessesesseaseens 45.7 45.9 61.1
Interest and Other EXPENSES ......eeuieieriiriieiieieitieiteiieie sttt ettt ettt et sbe et et b ennens 80.6 90.3 107.6
TOTAL EXPEIISES ...vevierietietiettetesteeteestesteeteest et e steeteessesesbeessessesesseessensensaessessensessesssensesesseessans $ 7249 § 7376 $ 7729

Insurance Expenses

Insurance Expenses decreased by $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to a

lower premium deficiency in the Alliance United nonstandard personal automobile book of business, which allows for a higher
percentage of acquisition costs to be deferred, an increase in the percentage of software development costs eligible for
capitalization as projects moved from the preliminary project stage to the application development stage, and cost reduction
initiatives, partially offset by growth in business. Insurance Expenses increased by $2.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2016, compared to 2015, due primarily to growth in business, partially offset by lower amortization of insurance

in force.

Write-off of Long-lived Assets

In June 2015, the Company decided to cease funding for and abandon a computer software development project for the

Company’s Property & Casualty Insurance segment. Accordingly, the Company recorded a charge of $11.1 million before taxes

to write off such software in 2015.

Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt

Prior to their scheduled maturity, Kemper redeemed in full the $250.0 million outstanding principal amount of its 6.00% senior
notes due November 30, 2015. Kemper recognized a loss of $9.1 million before income taxes in 2015 from the early

redemption of these senior notes.

Interest and Other Expenses

Interest expense decreased by $9.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to lower

levels of debt outstanding and a lower average effective interest rate thereon. See MD&A, “Liquidity and Capital Resources,”
and Note 7, “Debt” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of debt activity. Other Expenses
decreased by $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 2016, due primarily to lower pension expense in
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2017 resulting from the full-year effect of freezing benefit accruals under the Company’s defined benefit pension plans and a
longer amortization period to amortize actuarial losses, as discussed in Note 16 “Pension Benefits” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, partially offset by net curtailment gains recognized in 2016, higher employee compensation and a charge
to earnings in 2017 to record the ineffective portion of a hedging relationship related to an anticipated debt issuance. Other
Expenses decreased by $15.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to 2015, due primarily to lower pension
expense from the effect of freezing benefit accruals under the Company’s defined benefit pension plans.

In 2016, the Company changed its method for estimating the interest and service cost components of expense recognized for its
pension and other postretirement employee benefit plans. As a result, the Company elected to use a full yield curve approach to
estimate these components of benefit cost by applying the specific spot rates along the yield curve used in the determination of
the benefit obligation to the relevant projected cash flows. The Company has accounted for this change as a change in
accounting estimate that is inseparable from a change in accounting principle and, accordingly, recognized the effect
prospectively in 2016. The change in method for estimating the interest and service cost components decreased pension expense
by $2.7 million in 2016, compared to 2015, but had no impact on the measurement of benefit obligations. See Note 2,
“Summary of Accounting Policies and Accounting Changes” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

INCOME TAXES

On December 22, 2017, Public Law 115-97, more commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”), was
enacted. The Tax Act includes numerous changes to existing federal income tax law, including a permanent reduction in the
federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, effective January 1, 2018.

Pursuant to Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”), the Company recorded certain provisional amounts for the
estimated income tax effects of the Tax Act on deferred income taxes. The Company estimates that the reduction in the
corporate income tax rate decreased its net deferred income tax liability as of December 22, 2017 by $10.5 million. The effect
of the rate change was recorded as a decrease to income tax expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income for
the year ended December 31, 2017. Final determination of the effects of the Tax Act on deferred income taxes requires
additional information, including data from third parties, actuarial computations and other items. The Company expects to
complete its determination of the effect of the Tax Act on its deferred income tax assets and liabilities pursuant to its annual
income tax return filing process which is expected to be completed during the fourth quarter of 2018.

The Company had not previously provide for Federal income taxes on $14.7 million of Mutual Savings Life’s income earned
prior to 1984, which was not subject to income taxes under certain conditions prior to the Tax Act. Under the Tax Act, such
income is now subject to taxation. Accordingly, the Company recognized current income tax expense of $3.1 million in the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The Company’s effective income tax rate from continuing operations differs from the Federal statutory income tax rate due
primarily to the effects of tax-exempt investment income and dividends received deductions, the Tax Act, interest related to
unrecognized tax benefits, estimated indemnification recoveries recognized in earnings pursuant to the Alliance United
purchase agreement, a permanent difference between the amount of long-term equity-based compensation expense recognized
under GAAP and the amount deductible in the computation of Federal taxable income, and the net effects of state income taxes.

Tax-exempt investment income and dividends received deductions were $28.0 million, $28.0 million and $27.9 million in 2017,
2016 and 2015, respectively. The tax benefit recorded pursuant to the Tax Act was $7.4 million for the year ended December
31,2017. Estimated indemnification recoveries recognized in earnings result in an adjustment in the tax purchase price and are
excluded from the determination of taxable income and income tax expense. Such recoveries were $0.7 million and $10.4
million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively. Tax expense for the year ended December
31, 2015 includes an interest benefit on unrecognized tax benefits of $2.3 million from the settlement of certain tax years. The
amount of expense recognized for long-term equity-based compensation expense under GAAP was $1.1 million lower than the
amount that would be deductible under the Internal Revenue Code for the year ended December 31, 2017. State income tax
expense, net of federal benefit, from continuing operations was $0.1 million, $0.6 million and $0.6 million in 2017, 2016 and
2015, respectively. See Note 15, “Income Taxes,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of income
taxes.

58



Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—(Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Debt

Kemper has a $225.0 million, unsecured, revolving credit agreement expiring June 2, 2020. The credit agreement provides for
fixed and floating rate advances for periods up to six months at various interest rates. The credit agreement contains various
financial covenants, including limits on total debt to total capitalization, consolidated net worth and minimum risk-based capital
ratios for Kemper’s largest insurance subsidiaries, United Insurance and Trinity Universal Insurance Company (“Trinity”).
Proceeds from advances under the credit agreement may be used for general corporate purposes, including repayment of
existing indebtedness. The Company’s borrowings under the credit agreement were insignificant in 2017. The Company did not
borrow under the credit agreement during 2016 or 2015. There were no outstanding borrowings under the credit agreement at
December 31, 2017, and accordingly, $225.0 million was available for future borrowings.

The outstanding principal balance, net of unamortized issuance costs, of Kemper’s debt was $592.3 million at December 31,
2017, of which $450.0 million is scheduled to mature on February 15, 2025 (the “2025 Senior Notes”) and $150.0 million is
scheduled to mature on February 27, 2054 (the “2054 Debt”). The 2054 Debt was issued in 2014 and is subordinated to the
2025 Senior Notes. Kemper cannot redeem the 2054 Debt prior to February 27, 2019 unless certain tax or rating agency events
have occurred. See Note 7, “Debt,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding Kemper’s
debt.

The Company has $450.0 million of 4.35% senior notes due February 15, 2025 (the “2025 Senior Notes”) outstanding as of
December 31, 2017. The Company initially issued $250 million of the 2025 Senior Notes in February of 2015, with proceeds
from the issuance of $247.3 million, net of discount and transaction costs, for an effective yield of 4.49%. Kemper used the net
proceeds from the sale, together with available cash, to redeem in full the $250.0 million outstanding principal amount of its
6.00% senior notes due November 30, 2015. Kemper recognized a loss of $9.1 million before income taxes in 2015 from the
early redemption of these senior notes.

In June of 2017, Kemper issued an additional $200 million of the 2025 Senior Notes. The proceeds of the additional issuance
were $200.2 million, net of discount and transaction costs, for an effective yield of 4.16%. The additional notes are fungible
with the initial notes issued in 2015, and together are treated as part of a single series for all purposes under the indenture
governing the 2025 Senior Notes. Kemper used the net proceeds from the additional issuance for general corporate purposes.
The 2025 Senior Notes are unsecured and may be redeemed in whole at any time or in part from time to time at Kemper’s
option at specified redemption prices.

Trinity and United Insurance are members of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) of Dallas and the FHLB of Chicago,
respectively. As members, Trinity and United Insurance may obtain advances from the FHLB of Dallas and Chicago,
respectively. Advances from the FHLB of Dallas and Chicago are subject to collateral requirements as specified in the
respective agreements with Trinity and United Insurance. From time to time, Trinity and United Insurance obtain advances from
the FHLB of Dallas and Chicago, respectively, for short-term liquidity needs. Trinity’s outstanding advances from the FHLB of
Dallas did not exceed $60 million during 2017. United Insurance’s outstanding advances from the FHLB of Chicago did not
exceed $80 million during 2017. During 2016, Trinity borrowed and repaid one advance of $10 million under its agreement
with the FHLB of Dallas. United Insurance did not borrow under its agreement with the FHLB of Chicago in 2016. There were
no advances from the FHLB of Dallas or Chicago outstanding at either December 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016.

Subsidiary Dividends

Under various state insurance laws, Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries may pay dividends without obtaining prior regulatory
approval based upon levels of statutory capital and surplus and/or net income, as defined by the applicable state law. Kemper’s
direct insurance subsidiaries paid dividends of $108.1 million, $104.5 million and $285.0 million to Kemper in 2017, 2016 and
2015, respectively. In 2018, Kemper estimates that its direct insurance subsidiaries would be able to pay $201 million in
dividends to Kemper without prior regulatory approval.

Agreement to Acquire Infinity

On February 13, 2018, Kemper and Infinity announced that they have entered into the Infinity Merger Agreement under which
Kemper will acquire Infinity in a cash and stock transaction. The Infinity Merger is expected to close in the third quarter of
2018, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of applicable closing conditions, including the approval of shareholders of both
companies and receipt of required regulatory clearances and approvals. If approved and consummated, Kemper expects to fund
the cash portion of the consideration with a combination of cash on hand and other internal resources. While no additional
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financing resources are needed to consummate the Infinity Merger, Kemper may explore issuing an institutional term loan prior
to the closing of the Infinity Merger in order to optimize its liquidity position. See Item 1A., “Risk Factors” and Note 26,
“Subsequent Events,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements and our current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on the
date hereof and subsequent filings with the SEC for additional information.

Acquisition of Alliance United Group

On April 30, 2015, Kemper completed its acquisition of Alliance United in a cash transaction for a total purchase price of $71.0
million, subject to certain post-closing indemnifications. After completing the transaction, Kemper contributed $75.0 million to
support the book of business acquired. Kemper contributed $30 million of additional capital in the fourth quarter of 2015 due
primarily to support Alliance United’s growing book of business and reductions in statutory capital resulting from the impacts
of development of pre-acquisition losses and LAE and non-admission of indemnification receivables. In 2016, Kemper
contributed $55 million of additional capital to Alliance United. Kemper made no capital contributions to Alliance United in
2017.

Common Stock Repurchases and Dividends to Shareholders

On August 6, 2014, the Board of Directors approved the 2014 Repurchase Program under which Kemper is authorized to
repurchase up to $300 million of its common stock and terminated Kemper’s remaining authorization under the 2011
Repurchase Program.

During 2017, Kemper did not repurchase any shares of its common stock. During 2016, Kemper repurchased approximately 0.1
million shares of its common stock at an aggregate cost of $3.8 million in open market transactions under the 2014 Repurchase
Program. During 2015, Kemper repurchased approximately 1.2 million shares of its common stock at an aggregate cost of
$43.5 million in open market transactions under the 2014 Repurchase Program. The Company had $243.7 million of remaining
capacity under the 2014 Repurchase Program at December 31, 2017.

Kemper paid a quarterly dividend to shareholders of $0.24 per common share in each quarter of 2017. Dividends paid were
$49.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.

Sources and Uses of Funds

Kemper directly held cash and investments totaling $197.3 million at December 31, 2017, compared to $298.7 million at
December 31, 2016. Sources available for the repayment of indebtedness, repurchases of common stock, future shareholder
dividend payments, additional capitalization of its direct insurance subsidiaries, and the payment of interest on Kemper’s senior
notes and subordinated debentures include cash and investments directly held by Kemper, receipt of dividends from Kemper’s
subsidiaries and borrowings under the credit agreement.

The primary sources of funds for Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries are premiums, investment income and proceeds from the
sales and maturity of investments, advances from the FHLBs of Dallas and Chicago, and capital contributions from Kemper.
The primary uses of funds are the payment of policyholder benefits under life insurance contracts, claims and claims-related
expenses under property and casualty insurance contracts and accident and health insurance contracts, the payment of
commissions and general expenses, the purchase of investments, repayments of advances from the FHLBs of Dallas and
Chicago and payment of dividends to Kemper. Generally, there is a time lag between when premiums are collected and when
policyholder benefits and insurance claims are paid.

In the third quarter of 2016, the Company’s Life & Health segment voluntarily began implementing a comprehensive process
under which it cross-references its life insurance policies against the DMF and other death verification databases to identify
potential instances where the beneficiaries may not have filed a claim following the death of an insured and initiate an outreach
process to identify and contact beneficiaries and settle claims. The Company expects to pay approximately $80 million in
claims over the next several years to complete the initial outreach process.

During periods of growth, insurance companies typically experience positive operating cash flows and are able to invest a
portion of their operating cash flows to fund future policyholder benefits and claims. During periods in which premium
revenues decline, insurance companies may experience negative cash flows from operations and may need to sell investments
to fund payments to policyholders and claimants. In addition, if the Company’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries
experience several significant catastrophic events over a relatively short period of time, investments may have to be sold in
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advance of their maturity dates to fund payments, which could result in either investment gains or losses. Management believes
that its property and casualty insurance subsidiaries maintain adequate levels of liquidity in the event that they were to
experience several future catastrophic events over a relatively short period of time.

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities increased by $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 2016.
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities increased by $25.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to
2015.

Net Cash Used by Financing Activities was $205.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $48.4 million
for the same period in 2016. Kemper used $360.0 million of cash to repay long-term debt for the year ended December 31,
2017. Net proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt provided $200.2 million of cash for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Kemper did not use any cash during 2017 to repurchase shares of its common stock, compared to $3.8 million in 2016. Kemper
used $49.5 million of cash to pay dividends for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $49.2 million of cash used to
pay dividends in the same period of 2016. The quarterly dividend rate was $0.24 per common share for each quarter of 2017
and 2016.

Net Cash Used by Financing Activities was $48.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $100.8 million
for the same period in 2015. Net proceeds from advances from FHLB provided $10.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2016. Kemper used $10.0 million of cash to repay the FHLB advances for the year ended December 31, 2016. Kemper used
$258.8 million of cash to redeem the 2015 Senior Notes for the year ended December 31, 2015. Net proceeds from the issuance
of the 2025 Senior Notes provided $247.3 million of cash for the year ended December 31, 2015. Kemper used $3.8 million of
cash during 2016 to repurchase shares of its common stock, compared to $45.0 million of cash to repurchase shares of its
common stock in 2015, including $1.5 million of cash to settle repurchases made at the end of 2014. Kemper used $49.2
million of cash to pay dividends for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $49.7 million in 2015. The quarterly
dividend rate was $0.24 per common share for each quarter of 2016 and 2015.

Cash available for investment activities in total is dependent on cash flow from Operating Activities and Financing Activities
and the level of cash the Company elects to maintain. Net Cash Used by Investing Activities was $105.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017, compared to $238.1 million in 2016. Net cash provided by dispositions of short-term investments
was $39.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to net cash used by acquisitions of short term investments
of $18.0 million in 2016. Fixed Maturities investing activities used net cash of $181.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2017, compared to $318.0 million in 2016. Equity Securities investing activities used net cash of $0.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017, compared to providing net cash of $68.8 million in 2016. Equity Method Limited Liability
Investments investing activities provided net cash of $20.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to $6.4
million in 2016. Net cash provided by Fair Value Option Investments investing activities was $35.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017, compared to $51.2 million in 2016. The Company did not use cash to purchase Corporate-owned Life
Insurance during the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to purchases of $7.5 million in the year ended December 31,
2016.

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities was $238.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $28.6 million in
2015. Net cash used by acquisitions of short-term investments was $18.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016,
compared to net cash provided by dispositions of short-term investments of $104.9 million in 2015. Fixed Maturities investing
activities used net cash of $318.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $53.5 million in 2015. Equity
Securities investing activities provided net cash of $68.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to $104.4
million in 2015. Equity Method Limited Liability Investments investing activities provided net cash of $6.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016, compared to $0.5 million in 2015. Net cash provided by Fair Value Option Investments investing
activities was $51.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, compared to net cash used of $111.0 million in 2015. Net
cash used to acquire Alliance United was $57.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. Purchases of Corporate-owned
Life Insurance were $7.5 million for both the year ended December 31, 2016 and the year ended December 31, 2017.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Company has no material obligations under guarantee contracts. The Company has no material retained or contingent
interests in assets transferred to an unconsolidated entity. The Company has no material obligations, including contingent
obligations, under contracts that would be accounted for as derivative instruments. The Company has no obligations, including
contingent obligations, arising out of a variable interest in an unconsolidated entity held by, and material to, the Company,
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where such entity provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk support to, or engages in leasing, hedging or research
and development services with the Company. Accordingly, the Company has no material off-balance sheet arrangements.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Estimated cash disbursements pertaining to the Company’s contractual obligations at December 31, 2017 are presented below.

Jan 1,2018 Jan 1, 2019 Jan 1, 2021

to to to After

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Dec 31, 2018 Dec 31, 2020 Dec 31, 2022 Dec 31, 2022 Total
Long Term Debt Obligations...........cccceevevevieveeenenenn. $ — $ — S — $ 600.0 $ 600.0
Capital Lease Obligations ...........cccoceeueeveerinueieennne. 0.1 — — — 0.1
Operating Lease Obligations...........ccceeervereeienrennenne 15.3 234 15.8 9.0 63.5
Purchase Obligations...........ccecevvererienienieneeieniesienes 22.2 11.6 0.1 — 339
Life and Health Insurance Policy Benefits................. 321.6 605.1 566.3 7,455.7 8,948.7
Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves ................ 610.9 306.9 53.0 46.0 1,016.8
Other Contractual Obligations Reflected in Long

Term Liabilities on the Consolidated Balance

Sheet under GAAP.......coooiiiieeeee 334 66.8 66.0 434.8 601.0
Total Contractual Obligations ...........cccceeerverienreruenne $ 10035 §$ 1,013.8 $ 701.2 $ 855455 $§ 11,264.0

Amounts included in Life and Health Insurance Policy Benefits within the contractual obligations table above represent the
estimated cash payments to be made to policyholders and beneficiaries. Such cash outflows are based on the Company’s current
assumptions for mortality, morbidity and policy lapse, but are undiscounted with respect to interest. Policies must remain in
force for the policyholder or beneficiary to receive the benefit under the policy. Depending on the terms of a particular policy,
future premiums from the policyholder may be required for the policy to remain in force. The Company estimates that future
cash inflows would total $5.2 billion using the same assumptions used to estimate the cash outflows. The Company’s Life
Insurance Reserves in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets are generally based on the historical assumptions for
mortality and policy lapse rates and are on a discounted basis. Accordingly, the sum of the amounts presented above for Life
and Health Insurance Policy Benefits significantly exceeds the amount of Life and Health Insurance Reserves reported on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2017.

In addition to the purchase obligations included above, the Company had certain investment commitments totaling $255.1
million at December 31, 2017. The funding of such investment commitments is dependent on a number of factors, the timing of
which is indeterminate. The contractual obligations reported above also exclude the Company’s liability of $8.1 million for
unrecognized tax benefits. The Company cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the amount and period of related future
payments, if any, for such liability. Other Contractual Obligations Reflected in Long Term Liabilities on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet under GAAP primarily consist of interest obligations related to Long Term Debt Obligations.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Kemper’s subsidiaries conduct their businesses in two industries: property and casualty insurance and life and health insurance.
Accordingly, the Company is subject to several industry-specific accounting principles under GAAP. The preparation of
financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The process of estimation is inherently uncertain. Accordingly,
actual results could ultimately differ materially from the estimated amounts reported in a company’s financial statements.
Different assumptions are likely to result in different estimates of reported amounts. The Company’s critical accounting policies
most sensitive to estimates include the valuation of investments, the valuation of property and casualty insurance reserves for
losses and LAE, the assessment of recoverability of goodwill and the valuation of pension benefit obligations.

Valuation of Investments

The reported value of the Company’s investments was $6,804.9 million at December 31, 2017, of which $5,992.9 million, or

88%, was reported at fair value, $161.0 million, or 2%, was reported under the equity method of accounting, $298.6 million, or
4%, was reported at unpaid principal balance and $352.4 million, or 5%, was reported at cost or depreciated cost. Investments,
in general, are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate risk, credit risk and overall market volatility risk. Accordingly, it is
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reasonably possible that changes in the fair values of the Company’s investments reported at fair value will occur in the near
term and such changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. Also, it is reasonably possible
that changes in the carrying values of the Company’s Equity Method Limited Liability Investments will occur in the near term
and such changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the financial statements because these issuers follow
specialized industry accounting rules which require that they report all of their investments at fair value (See Item 1A., “Risk
Factors” under the title “The Company’s investment portfolio is exposed to a variety of risks that may negatively impact net
investment income and cause realized and unrealized losses™).

As more fully described under the heading, “Fair Value Measurements,” in Note 2, “Summary of Accounting Policies and
Accounting Changes,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company uses a hierarchical framework which prioritizes
and ranks the market observability used in fair value measurements.

The fair value of the Company’s investments measured and reported at fair value was $5,992.9 million at December 31, 2017,
of which $5,190.3 million, or 87%, were investments that were based on quoted market prices or significant value drivers that
are observable, $556.6 million, or 9%, were investments where at least one significant value driver was unobservable and
$246.0 million or 4% were investments for which fair value is measured using the net asset value per share practical expedient.
Fair value measurements based on readily available, active, quoted market prices or for which fair value can be measured from
actively quoted prices generally are deemed to have a higher degree of market price observability and a lesser degree of
judgment, compared to fair value measurements based on significant unobservable inputs used in measuring fair value. The
prices that the Company might realize from actual sales of investments are likely to vary from their respective estimated fair
values at December 31, 2017 due to changing market conditions and limitations inherent in the estimation process.

The classification of a company’s investment in a financial instrument may affect its reported results. For investments classified
as trading or for financial instruments for which a company has elected the fair value option method of accounting, a company
is required to recognize changes in the fair values into income for the period reported. Accordingly, both the reported and fair
values of the Company’s investments classified as trading were $6.7 million at December 31, 2017. Both the reported and fair
values of the Company’s investments accounted for under the fair value option method of accounting were $77.5 million at
December 31, 2017. For investments in fixed maturities classified as held to maturity, a company is required to carry the
investment at amortized cost, with only amortization occurring during the period recognized into income. None of the
Company’s investments in fixed maturities were classified as held to maturity at December 31, 2017. Changes in the fair value
of investments in fixed maturities classified as available for sale, investments in equity securities classified as available for sale
and an insurance entity’s investments in equity securities without readily determinable fair values are not recognized in income
during the period, but rather are recognized as a separate component of AOCI until realized. All of the Company’s investments
in fixed maturities were classified as available for sale at December 31, 2017. Except for investments accounted for under the
equity method of accounting or classified as trading, all of the Company’s investments in equity securities at December 31,
2017 are reported at fair value with changes in fair value reported in AOCI until realized. The Company’s investments
accounted for under the equity method of accounting consist of the Company’s investments in Equity Method Limited Liability
Investments and are valued at cost plus cumulative undistributed comprehensive earnings or losses, and not at fair value.

Under GAAP, a company may elect to use the fair value option for some or all of its investments in financial instruments.
Under the fair value option, a company is required to recognize changes in the fair values into income for the period reported.
Had the Company elected the fair value option for all of its investments in financial instruments, the Company’s reported net
income for the year ended December 31, 2017, would have increased by $59.0 million.

The Company regularly reviews its investments for factors that may indicate that a decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost or amortized cost is other than temporary. Such reviews are inherently uncertain in that the value of the
investment may not fully recover or may decline further in future periods. Some factors considered for fixed maturity and
equity securities in evaluating whether or not a decline in fair value is other than temporary include, but are not limited to, the
following:

Fixed Maturity Securities

*  The financial condition, credit rating and prospects of the issuer;

«  The length of time and magnitude of the unrealized loss;

*  The ability of the issuer to make scheduled principal and interest payments;
«  The volatility of the investment;
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Equity Securities

*  Opinions of the Company’s external investment managers;

+  The Company’s intentions to sell or not to sell the investment; and

«  The Company’s determination of whether it will be required to sell the investment before a full recovery in value.
+  The financial condition and prospects of the issuer;

*  The length of time and magnitude of the unrealized loss;

«  The volatility of the investment;

*  Analyst recommendations and near term price targets;

«  Opinions of the Company’s external investment managers;

*  Market liquidity;

«  Debt-like characteristics of perpetual preferred stocks and issuer ratings; and

«  The Company’s intentions to sell or ability to hold the investments until recovery.

Changes in these factors from their December 31, 2017 evaluation date could result in the Company determining that a
temporary decline in the fair value of an investment held and evaluated at December 31, 2017 is no longer temporary at a
subsequent evaluation date. Such determination would result in an impairment loss recognized in earnings in the period such
determination is made.

Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The Company’s Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves are reported using the Company’s estimate of its ultimate liability
for losses and LAE for claims that occurred prior to the end of any given accounting period but have not yet been paid. The
Company had $1,016.8 million and $931.4 million of gross loss and LAE reserves at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves for the Company’s business segments at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016
Business Segments:

Property & Casualty INSUTANCE ........cc.eiiiiiiiiieeie ettt et e ettt eeseeste e saesneeenee e $ 9763 § 884.1

Life & Health INSUTAINCE........ceiuiriiiiiiiiiicietiet ettt sttt 4.1 4.5
Total BUSINESS SEEIMETILS. ......eeuiitiiiriieiieti ettt sttt ettt b e bttt b et e b st at e e b sbe et etesbeebe e 980.4 888.6
Discontinued Operations 33.1 38.6
UNAIIOCATEA RESEIVES ...ttt ettt ettt s b et b et e et eest et ebe e bt eae et ebesbeeneens 3.3 4.2
Total Property and Casualty INSUrance RESEIVES .......ccuevuiruieieriiriisiieieiesie ettt $1,0168 $ 9314

In estimating the Company’s Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves, the Company’s actuaries exercise professional
judgment and must consider, and are influenced by, many variables that are difficult to quantify. Accordingly, the process of
estimating and establishing the Company’s Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves is inherently uncertain, and the actual
ultimate net cost of known and unknown claims may vary materially from the estimated amounts reserved. The reserving
process is particularly imprecise for claims involving asbestos, environmental matters, construction defect and other emerging
and/or long-tailed exposures which may not be discovered or reported until years after the insurance policy period has ended.
Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves related to the Company’s discontinued operations are predominantly long-tailed
exposures, $16.3 million of which was related to asbestos, environmental matters and construction defect exposures at
December 31, 2017.
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The Company’s actuaries generally estimate reserves at least quarterly for most product lines and/or coverage levels using
accident quarters spanning 10 or more years, depending on the size of the product line and/or coverage level or emerging issues
relating to them. The Company’s actuaries use a variety of generally accepted actuarial loss reserving estimation
methodologies, including, but not limited to, the following:

« Incurred Loss Development Methodologys;

*  Paid Loss Development Methodology;

*  Bornhuetter-Ferguson Incurred Loss Methodology;
*  Bornhuetter-Ferguson Paid Loss Methodology; and
*  Frequency and Severity Methodology.

The Company’s actuaries generally review the results of at least four of the estimation methodologies, two based on paid data
and two based on incurred data, to initially estimate the ultimate losses and LAE for the current accident quarter and re-estimate
the ultimate losses and LAE for previous accident quarters to determine if changes in the previous estimates of the ultimate
losses and LAE are indicated by the most recent data. In some cases, the methodologies produce a cluster of estimates with a
tight band of indicated possible outcomes. In other cases, however, the methodologies produce conflicting results and wider
bands of indicated possible outcomes, and the Company’s actuaries perform additional analyses before making their final
selections. However, such bands do not necessarily constitute a range of outcomes, nor does the Company’s management or the
Company’s actuaries calculate a range of outcomes.

The key assumption in these estimation methodologies is that patterns observed in prior periods are indicative of how losses
and LAE are expected to develop in the future and that such historical data can be used to predict and estimate ultimate losses
and LAE. However, changes in the Company’s business processes, by their very nature, are likely to affect the development
patterns, which generally results in the historical development factors becoming less reliable over time in predicting how losses
and LAE will ultimately develop. The ultimate impact of a single change in a business process is difficult to quantify and
detect, and even more difficult if several changes to business processes occur over several years. Initially after a change is
implemented, there are fewer data points, as compared to the historical data, for the Company’s actuaries to analyze. With fewer

data points to analyze, the Company’s actuaries cannot be certain that observed differences from the historical data trends are a

result of the change in business process or merely a random fluctuation in the data. As the Company’s actuaries observe more
data points following the change in business process, the Company’s actuaries can gain more confidence in whether the change
in business process is affecting the development pattern. The challenge for the Company’s actuaries is how much weight to
place on the development patterns based on the older historical data and how much weight to place on the development patterns
based on more recent data.

At a minimum, the Company’s actuaries analyze 45 product and/or coverage levels for over 40 separate current and prior
accident quarters for both losses and LAE using many of the loss reserving estimation methodologies identified above as well
as other generally accepted actuarial estimation methodologies. In all, there are more than 10,000 combinations of accident
quarters, coverage levels, and generally accepted actuarial estimation methodologies used to estimate the Company’s unpaid
losses and LAE. In some cases, the Company’s actuaries make adjustments to the loss reserving estimation methodologies
identified above or use additional generally accepted actuarial estimation methodologies to estimate ultimate losses and LAE.

For each accident quarter, the point estimate selected by the Company’s actuaries is not necessarily one of the points produced
by any particular one of the methodologies utilized, but often is another point selected by the Company’s actuaries, using their
professional judgment, that takes into consideration each of the points produced by the several loss reserving estimation
methodologies used. In some cases, for a particular product, the current accident quarter may not have enough paid claims data
to rely upon, leading the Company’s actuaries to conclude that the incurred loss development methodology provides a better
estimate than the paid loss development methodology. Therefore, the Company’s actuaries may give more weight to the
incurred loss development methodology for that particular accident quarter. As an accident quarter ages for that same product,
the actuary may gain more confidence in the paid loss development methodology and begin to give more weight to the paid loss
development methodology. The Company’s actuaries’ quarterly selections are summed by product and/or coverage levels to
create the actuarial indication of the ultimate losses. More often than not, the actuarial indication for a particular product line
and accident quarter is most heavily weighted toward the incurred loss development methodology, particularly for short-tail
lines such as personal automobile insurance. Historically, the incurred loss development methodology has been more reliable in
predicting ultimate losses for short-tail lines, especially in the more recent accident quarters, compared with the paid loss
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development methodology. However, in some circumstances changes can occur which impact numerous variables, including,
but not limited to, those variables identified below that are difficult to quantify and/or impact the predictive value of prior
development patterns relied upon in the incurred loss development methodology and paid loss development methodology. In
those circumstances, the Company’s actuaries must make adjustments to these loss reserving estimation methodologies or use
additional generally accepted actuarial estimation methodologies. In those circumstances, the Company’s actuaries, using their
professional judgment, may place more weight on the adjusted loss reserving estimation methodologies or other generally
accepted actuarial estimation methodologies until the newer development patterns fully emerge and the Company’s actuaries
can fully rely on the unadjusted loss reserving estimation methodologies. In the event of a wide variation among results
generated by the different projection methodologies, the Company’s actuaries further analyze the data using additional
techniques.

In estimating reserves, the Company’s actuaries exercise professional judgment and must consider, and are influenced by, many
variables that are difficult to quantify, such as:

«  Changes in the level of minimum case reserves, and the automatic aging of those minimum case reserves;

«  Changes to claims practices, including, but not limited to, changes in the reporting and impact of large losses, timing
of reported claims, changes in claims closing and re-opening patterns, adequacy of case reserves, implementation of
new systems for handling claims, turnover of claims department staffs, timing and depth of the audit review of claims
handling procedures;

«  Changes in underwriting practices;

*  Changes in the mix of business by state, class and policy limit within product line;

«  Growth in new lines of business;

«  Changes in the attachment points of the Company’s reinsurance programs;

*  Medical costs, including, but not limited to, the ability to assess the extent of injuries and the impact of inflation;

*  Repair costs, including, but not limited to, the impact of inflation and the availability of labor and materials;

«  Changes in the judicial environment, including, but not limited to, the interpretation of policy provisions, the impact of
jury awards and changes in case law; and

«  Changes in state regulatory requirements.

A change in any one or more of the foregoing factors is likely to result in a projected ultimate net loss and LAE that is different
from the previously estimated reserve and/or previous frequency and severity trends. Such changes in estimates may be
material.

For example, the Company’s actuaries review frequency (number of claims per policy or exposure), severity (dollars of loss per
claim) and average premium (dollars of premium per exposure). Actual frequency and severity experienced will vary depending
on changes in mix by class of insured risk. Similarly, the actual frequency and rate of recovery from reinsurance will vary
depending on changes in the attachment point for reinsurance. In particular, in periods of high growth or expansion into new
markets, there may be additional uncertainty in estimating the ultimate losses and LAE. The contributing factors of this
potential risk are changes in the Company’s mix by policy limit and mix of business by state or jurisdiction.

Actuaries use historical experience and trends as predictors of how losses and LAE will emerge over time. However, historical
experience may not necessarily be indicative of how actual losses and LAE will emerge. Changes in case reserve adequacy,
changes in minimum case reserves and changes in internal claims handling procedures could impact the timing and recognition
of incurred claims and produce an estimate that is either too high or too low if not adjusted for by the actuary. For example, if,
due to changes in claims handling procedures, actual claims are settled more rapidly than they were settled historically, the
estimate produced by the paid loss development methodology would tend to be overstated if the actuary did not identify and
adjust for the impact of the changes in claims handling procedures. Similarly, if, due to changes in claims handling procedures,
actual claim reserves are set at levels higher than past experience, the estimate produced by the incurred loss development
methodology would tend to be overstated if the actuary did not identify and adjust for the impact of the changes in claims
handling procedures.

The final step in the quarterly loss and LAE reserving process involves a comprehensive review of the actuarial indications by
the Company’s corporate actuary and corporate management who apply their collective judgment and determine the appropriate
estimated level of reserves to record. Numerous factors are considered in this determination process, including, but not limited
to, the assessed reliability of key loss trends and assumptions that may be significantly influencing the current actuarial
indications, changes in claim handling practices or other changes that affect the timing of payment or development patterns,
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changes in the mix of business, the maturity of the accident year, pertinent trends observed over the recent past, the level of
volatility within a particular line of business, the improvement or deterioration of actuarial indications in the current period as
compared to prior periods, and the amount of reserves related to third party pools for which the Company does not have access
to the underlying data and, accordingly, relies on calculations provided by such pools.

Estimated Variability of Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves

The Company’s goal is to ensure that its total reserves for property and casualty insurance losses and LAE are adequate to cover
all costs, while sustaining minimal variation from the time reserves for losses and LAE are initially estimated until losses and
LAE are fully developed. Changes in the Company’s estimates of these losses and LAE over time, also referred to as
“development,” will occur and may be material. Favorable development is recognized and reported in the Consolidated
Financial Statements when the Company decreases its previous estimate of ultimate losses and LAE and results in an increase
in net income in the period recognized, whereas adverse development is recognized and reported in the Consolidated Financial
Statements when the Company increases its previous estimate of ultimate losses and LAE and results in a decrease in net
income.

Development for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, was:

Favorable (Adverse) Development

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015

Continuing Operations:
Property & Casualty Insurance:

Personal Automobile INSUTANCE .........c.oovoviuiiveuieiieeiieteeceeeieeeeece et $ (222) 8 (113) § 1.8

HoOmeoWNers INSUTANCE .......c...ooiiiiiiii ettt (1.0) 20.0 10.8

Commercial Automobile INSUTANCE .......ccvevvieieiiriiiiieieieee ettt enaens 0.9) (2.4) (1.8)

Other Personal LINeS ........co.coueiiiriiiiiiiciecieee ettt et 4.6 8.0 2.1

Life & Health Insurance:

PLOPETLY ..ttt ettt e b et b e ettt ettt ettt ne et et eneeneen 0.9) 0.1 (1.4)
Total Favorable (Adverse) Development from Continuing Operations, Net................c........ (20.4) 14.4 11.5
DiSCONTNUEA OPETALIONS.......evivierieieriietietieteeteeteetetesteestetessesteeseesesseeseessensessesseessessesseeseens 1.5 6.3 8.6

Total Favorable (Adverse) Development, Net $ (@189 $ 207 $ 20.1
See MD&A, “Loss and LAE Reserve Development,” “Property & Casualty Insurance,” and “Life & Health Insurance,” for
further information on development reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Although development will emerge in all of the Company’s product lines, development in the Company’s personal automobile
insurance product line could have the most significant impact due to the relative size of its loss and LAE reserves. To further
illustrate the sensitivity of the Company’s reserves for personal automobile insurance losses and LAE to changes in the
cumulative development factors, for each quarterly evaluation point the Company’s actuaries calculated the variability of
cumulative development factors observed in the incurred loss development methodology using one standard deviation. The
Company believes that one standard deviation of variability is a reasonably likely scenario to measure variability for its loss and
LAE reserves under the incurred development method for personal automobile insurance. Assuming that the Company’s
personal automobile insurance loss and LAE reserves were based solely on the incurred loss development methodology and the
variability in the cumulative development factors occurred within one standard deviation, the Company estimates that the
Company’s personal automobile insurance loss and LAE reserves could have varied by $79.5 million in either direction at
December 31, 2017 for all accident years combined under this scenario. In addition to the factors described above, other factors
may also impact loss reserve development in future periods. These factors include governmental actions, including court
decisions interpreting existing laws, regulations or policy provisions, developments related to insurance policy claims and
coverage issues, adverse or favorable outcomes in pending claims litigation, the number and severity of insurance claims, the
impact of inflation on insurance claims and the impact of required participation in windpools and joint underwriting
associations and residual market assessments. Although the Company’s actuaries do not make specific numerical assumptions
about these factors, changes in these factors from past patterns will impact historical loss development factors and, in turn,
future loss reserve development. Significant favorable changes in one or more factors will lead to favorable future loss reserve
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development, which could result in the actual loss developing closer to, or even below, the lower end of the Company’s
estimated reserve variability. Significant unfavorable changes in one or more factors will lead to unfavorable loss reserve
development, which could result in the actual loss developing closer to, or even above, the higher end of the Company’s
estimated reserve variability. Accordingly, due to these factors and the other factors enumerated throughout the MD&A and the
inherent limitations of the loss reserving estimation methodologies, the estimated and illustrated reserve variability may not
necessarily be indicative of the Company’s future reserve variability, which could ultimately be greater than the estimated and
illustrated variability. In addition, as previously noted, development will emerge in all of the Company’s product lines over
time. Accordingly, the Company’s future reserve variability could ultimately be greater than the illustrated variability.
Additional information pertaining to the estimation of, and development of, the Company’s Property and Casualty Insurance
Reserves is contained in Item 1 of Part I of this 2017 Annual Report under the heading “Property and Casualty Loss and Loss
Adjustment Expense Reserves.”

Goodwill Recoverability

The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually on January 1, or whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying
amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level. As of January 1,
2017, the Company performed a quantitative goodwill impairment assessment for all reporting units with goodwill. The
quantitative assessment compares the estimated fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying value to determine if there is an
impairment of goodwill. Estimating the fair value of a reporting unit is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant
estimates and assumptions by the Company. The estimates and assumptions included, but were not limited to, projections of
future cash flows, operating results, discount rates, investment yields and market conditions. Such projections are inherently
uncertain and, accordingly, actual future results may differ materially from the Company’s projections. For each reporting unit
tested, the estimated fair value exceeded the carrying value of the reporting unit, and the Company concluded that the
associated goodwill was recoverable.

Pension Benefit Obligations

The process of estimating the Company’s pension benefit obligations and pension benefit costs is inherently uncertain and the
actual cost of benefits may vary materially from the estimates recorded. These liabilities are particularly volatile due to their
long-term nature and are based on several assumptions. The main assumptions used in the valuation of the Company’s pension
benefit obligations and pension costs are:

«  Estimated mortality of the participants and beneficiaries eligible for benefits;
«  Estimated expected long-term rates of returns on investments; and
«  Estimated rate used to discount the expected benefit payment to a present value.

A change in any one or more of these assumptions is likely to result in a projected benefit obligation or pension cost that differs
from the actuarial estimates at December 31, 2017. Such changes in estimates may be material. For example, a one—percentage
point decrease in the Company’s estimated discount rate would increase the pension benefit obligation at December 31, 2017 by
$95.3 million, while a one—percentage point increase in the rate would decrease the pension benefit obligation at December 31,
2017 by $76.3 million. A one—percentage point decrease in the Company’s estimated long-term rate of return on plan assets
would increase the pension expense for the year ended December 31, 2017 by $5.3 million, while a one—percentage point
increase in the rate would decrease pension expense by $5.3 million for the same period.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Except for rules and interpretive releases of the SEC under authority of federal securities laws and a limited number of
grandfathered standards, the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) is the sole source of authoritative GAAP
recognized by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) that is applicable to the Company. The FASB issues
Accounting Standards Updates (“ASUs”) to amend the authoritative literature in ASC.

The Company has adopted all recently issued accounting pronouncements with effective dates prior to January 1, 2018. See
Note 2, “Summary of Accounting Policies and Accounting Changes” for discussion on adoption of these ASUs and impacts to
the Company’s financial statements, which were not material. For all recently issued accounting pronouncements with effective
dates after December 31, 2017, the Company does not expect adoption to have a material impact on its financial statements,
with the possible exceptions of ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) and ASU 2016-13, Financial
Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Quantitative Information About Market Risk

The Company’s consolidated balance sheets include four types of financial instruments subject to the material market risk
disclosures required by the SEC:

1. Investments in Fixed Maturities;

2. Investments in Equity Securities;

3. Fair Value Option Investments; and
4. Debt.

Investments in Fixed Maturities and Debt are subject to material interest rate risk. The Company’s Investments in Equity
Securities include common and preferred stocks and, accordingly, are subject to material equity price risk and interest rate risk,
respectively. The Company’s Fair Value Option Investments include hedge funds that are subject to material equity price risk.

For purposes of this disclosure, market risk sensitive financial instruments are divided into two categories: financial instruments
acquired for trading purposes and financial instruments acquired for purposes other than trading. The Company’s market risk
sensitive financial instruments are generally classified as held for purposes other than trading. The Company has no significant
holdings of financial instruments acquired for trading purposes. The Company has no significant holdings of derivatives.

The Company measures its sensitivity to market risk by evaluating the change in its financial assets and liabilities relative to
fluctuations in interest rates and equity prices. The evaluation is made using instantaneous changes in interest rates and equity
prices on a static balance sheet to determine the effect such changes would have on the Company’s market value at risk and the
resulting pre-tax effect on Shareholders’ Equity. The changes chosen represent the Company’s view of adverse changes which
are reasonably possible over a one-year period. The selection of the changes chosen should not be construed as the Company’s
prediction of future market events, but rather an illustration of the impact of such possible events.

For the interest rate sensitivity analysis presented below, the Company assumed an adverse and instantaneous increase of 100
basis points in the yield curve at both December 31, 2017 and 2016 for Investments in Fixed Maturities. Such 100 basis point
increase in the yield curve may not necessarily result in a corresponding 100 basis point increase in the interest rate for all
investments in fixed maturities. For example, a 100 basis point increase in the yield curve for risk-free, taxable investments in
fixed maturities may not result in a 100 basis point increase for tax-exempt investments in fixed maturities. For Investments in
Fixed Maturities, the Company also anticipated changes in cash flows due to changes in the likelihood that investments would
be called or prepaid prior to their contractual maturity. All other variables were held constant. For preferred stock equity
securities, the Company assumed an adverse and instantaneous increase of 100 basis points in market interest rates from their
levels at both December 31, 2017 and 2016. All other variables were held constant. For Debt, the Company assumed an adverse
and instantaneous decrease of 100 basis points in market interest rates from their levels at December 31, 2017 and 2016. All
other variables were held constant. The Company measured equity price sensitivity assuming an adverse and instantaneous 30%
decrease in the Standard and Poor’s Stock Index (the “S&P 500”) from its level at December 31, 2017 and 2016, with all other
variables held constant. The Company’s investments in common stock equity securities were correlated with the S&P 500 using
the portfolio’s weighted-average beta of 1.00 and 1.00 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Beta measures a stock’s
relative volatility in relation to the rest of the stock market, with the S&P 500 having a beta coefficient of 1.00. The common
stock portfolio’s weighted-average beta was calculated using each security’s beta for the five-year periods ended December 31,
2017 and 2016, and weighted on the fair value of such securities at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. For equity
securities without observable market inputs, the Company assumed a beta of 1.00 at December 31, 2017 and 2016. The
Company’s Fair Value Option Investments were correlated with the S&P 500 using such portfolio’s weighted-average beta of
0.06 and 0.08 at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which was calculated for each hedge fund in the portfolio and
weighted on the respective fair value of each of the hedge funds.
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Quantitative Information About Market Risk (Continued)

The estimated adverse effects on the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2017 using these
assumptions were:

Pro Forma Increase (Decrease)

Interest Equity Total
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Fair Value Rate Risk Price Risk Market Risk
ASSETS
Investments in Fixed Maturities...........cccoeeveeiieieeieeie e $ 53827 $§ (3224) $ — $ (3224
Investments in EqUity SECUTTLIES..........eeveriiriiriiieiirieeieeeseeee e 526.0 (6.3) (134.9) (141.2)
Fair Value Option INVEStMENtS...........coeovervirieierieieeieieieie e 77.5 — 1.4) 1.4)
LIABILITIES
DDttt ettt eae e b sre e $ 6146 S 30.1 S — 3 30.1

The estimated adverse effects on the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2016 using these
assumptions were:

Pro Forma Increase (Decrease)

Interest Equity Total
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Fair Value Rate Risk Price Risk Market Risk
ASSETS
Investments in Fixed Maturiti€s..........c.coueruereeierienieeeeieieeie e $ 51249 $ (3134) $ — $ (3134
Investments in Equity Securities.... 481.7 5.4) (120.7) (126.1)
Fair Value Option INVEStMENTS.......c..eoeeierieriinieienieeieeeesie e 111.4 — 2.5) 2.5)
LIABILITIES
DD ettt $ 7709 % 245 § — 3 24.5

The market risk sensitivity analysis assumes that the composition of the Company’s interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities,
including, but not limited to, credit quality, and the equity price sensitive assets existing at the beginning of the period remains
constant over the period being measured. It also assumes that a particular change in interest rates is uniform across the yield
curve regardless of the time to maturity. Interest rates on certain types of assets and liabilities may fluctuate in advance of
changes in market interest rates, while interest rates on other types may lag behind changes in market interest rates. Also, any
future correlation, either in the near term or the long term, between the Company’s common stock equity securities and fair
value option portfolios and the S&P 500 may differ from the historical correlation as represented by the weighted-average
historical beta of the common stock equity securities and fair value option portfolios. Accordingly, the market risk sensitivity
analysis may not be indicative of, is not intended to provide, and does not provide, a precise forecast of the effect of changes of
market rates on the Company’s income or shareholders’ equity. Further, the computations do not contemplate any actions the
Company may undertake in response to changes in interest rates or equity prices.

To the extent that any adverse 100 basis point change occurs in increments over a period of time instead of instantaneously, the
adverse impact on fair values would be partially mitigated because some of the underlying financial instruments would have
matured. For example, proceeds from any maturing assets could be reinvested and any new liabilities would be incurred at the
then current interest rates.

Qualitative Information About Market Risk

Market risk is a broad term related to economic losses due to adverse changes in the fair value of a financial instrument and is
inherent to all financial instruments. SEC disclosure rules focus on only one element of market risk—price risk. Price risk
relates to changes in the level of prices due to changes in interest rates, equity prices, foreign exchange rates or other factors
that relate to market volatility of the rate, index, or price underlying the financial instrument. The Company’s primary market
risk exposures are to changes in interest rates and equity prices.

The Company manages its interest rate exposures with respect to Investments in Fixed Maturities by investing primarily in
investment-grade securities of moderate effective duration.
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS
Assets:

Investments:
Fixed Maturities at Fair Value (Amortized Cost: 2017 - $5,021.6; 2016 - $4,846.3)................
Equity Securities at Fair Value (Cost: 2017 - $476.2; 2016 - $434.4).....ccoecviivrevereieeee.

Equity Method Limited Liability Investments at Cost Plus Cumulative Undistributed
BTTNES ..ottt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e st et et seeneentebeeneeneens

Fair Value Option INVEStMENTS. .......c..ccviiiieiieeieieeieetieieie ettt ete e eaeeaeese e eseeseessessessesseeseens
Short-term Investments at Cost which Approximates Fair Value............cccocoevveveriecienenennnnn.

OFheT INVESTIMENTS ... ettt e e et e e e et e e e e et e e e e eaaeaeeans

Receivables from Policyholders ............oooiiiiiiii e
Other RECEIVADIES .....cueiiiiiiiciieiecie ettt ettt st b e beeseess e s e eseeteessensesaeensenes
Deferred Policy ACQUISTHON COSES......cueriirtieieieieeteetteieie st ettete e sreestesesseeseeseesesseeseeseensessesseenes
GOOAWIIL ...ttt ettt et ettt e st et et e teeteeabeebeeseess e b e eseessessesseessessensenseeseessenns
CUrrent INCOME TaAX ASSEES ..eevieiuieitieeiieeie ettt ettt et et e steeetteeseeeaeeenseenseese e seenseesseesseesneesneeeneean
Deferred INCOME TaX ASSELS .....ooiuiiiiieieeie ettt et eete e e e teeeseeeaeeeseeeneeeneeeneean
ONET ASSEES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e e te e bt et et e e seese e st eseebeessessesbeeseessenbaseessessenseeseeseessenseereereenes
TOTAl ASSEES ...veeutetietietieiete ettt ettt et et et e s bt e st et et e et e et e e st esse et e eseesbebeebeesae s eeseeseeneenseeseene e st enseeteeneenes
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity:
Insurance Reserves:

Life and HEalth ........ccoooiiiiiiiiieiceceee ettt ettt be b eneens

Property and CaSUAILY ........ceeiiiiiiiieiieieeieeeee ettt ettt ettt e te e s e eaeeaeessesreebeeneens
Total INSUTANCE RESEIVES ...c.veeuieiiiiiiiiieiieieeitetiei ettt ettt st sesteeseese e s e sseeseesaensesseeseenes
UNEArned PreMIUINS. ......ooiiiiieii ettt ettt et et e et e et e e teeeseeeseaeseeenseenseenseeneeaneean
Deferred INCOme Tax LAabilities ... .ccucvuieuieieiiieiieiieiecic ettt ens
Liabilities for Unrecognized Tax Benefits........ccccevieieieriiiiiieiesie et

Long-term Debt, Current and Non-current, at Amortized Cost (Fair Value: 2017 - $614.6; 2016
2 8770.9) ettt ettt ettt et ere e enaans

Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities..........ccoooiieiiiiiiiiiiii e
TOtAl LAADIIIEIES ...ttt ettt s et e st ee e s et e e e s e e e e neneene e
Shareholders’ Equity:

Common Stock, $0.10 Par Value Per Share, 100 Million Shares Authorized; 51,462,405
Shares Issued and Outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 51,270,940 Shares Issued and
Outstanding at December 31, 2016 .......ccooiuiiiiieieieieeieeeeeie ettt esaeas

Paid-in CaPILAL ..c.eeviieieieiicteiee ettt ettt ettt e e te et ebeete et ebenreenaens
Retained EAIMiNgs ........ooiiiiiiiieii ettt e ete et e et e e eebeeseeeseeebeeeneeeneaaneanns
Accumulated Other Comprehensive INCOME...........cccueviiiiiieiiiicieieiesie e
Total Shareholders” EQUILTY......ccciiiiieieriiiiieieieteeieet ettt sttt ettt e e sbe e enes
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ EQUILY........c.ocieieieiieiiieiieieiccic ettt

December 31,

2017 2016
5,382.7 § 5,124.9
526.0 481.7
161.0 175.9
77.5 111.4
235.5 273.7
422.2 439.9
6,804.9 6,607.5
45.7 115.7
366.0 336.5
194.3 198.6
365.3 332.0
323.0 323.0
6.1 15.5
— 25.8
270.9 255.9
8,376.2 § 8,210.5
3,521.0 § 3,475.3
1,016.8 931.4
4,537.8 4,406.7
653.9 618.7
14.8 —
8.1 5.1
592.3 751.6
453.7 453.2
6,260.6 6,235.3
5.1 5.1
673.1 660.3
1,243.0 1,172.8
194.4 137.0
2,115.6 1,975.2
8,376.2 § 8,210.5

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

For The Years Ended December 31,

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS 2017 2016 2015
Revenues:
BarnNed PIEIMIUITIS ... ..ottt e e e eee s $2,350.0 $2220.0 $2,009.6
Net Investment INCOME ..........oooiiiiiiiiiii e 327.2 298.3 302.6
OLher TNCOMIE ...ttt ettt 4.0 32 3.7
Net Realized Gains on Sales of INVESTMENTS ........ooeiirieiiiiiieeieeeee e 56.5 33.1 52.1
Other-than-temporary Impairment Losses:
Total Other-than-temporary Impairment LOSSES ........ccoooieeiiieiiiiiieiieiieciieeieeeee e (14.4) (33.0) (27.4)
Portion of Losses Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income...........cccccoeveieeiinenee. 0.1 0.3 0.2
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings.........ccoccovvevvevierieeeienieneeeeieiese e (14.3) (32.7) (27.2)
TOtA] REVEIMUES ...ttt e et e e e et e e e eaee e et e e eaneeaaeeanes 2,723.4 2,521.9 2,340.8
Expenses:
Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses................. 1,837.4 1,780.8 1,467.6
INSUTANCE EXPEINISES. ....eiiiiiiiieiieetieeii ettt ettt ettt ettt e e bt e st e saeeeeeeesaeeneaenseenseennean 644.3 647.3 645.1
Write-0ff Of LONG-IIVEA ASSELS ....eeviriiieieieiiiiieieie ettt enees — — 11.1
Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt...........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiieieeee e — — 9.1
Interest and Other EXPEeNSES .......ccocieieiieriiiiieieieiie sttt ae e 80.6 90.3 107.6
TOLA] EXPEINSES....evieuiiiiitieiieie sttt ettt et ettt ettt et e ebesseese et e sseeseestensensesseensesesreennens 2,562.3 2,518.4 2,240.5
Income from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes ..........ccooceeeiieiiieiieiiecieiee 161.1 3.5 100.3
Income Tax Benefit (EXPENSE) ......cceviiieieiiiiiiciieieiesie ettt ennens 41.2) 9.2 (20.1)
Income from ContinUINg OPEIatiONS.........eevueruerrieierieriieiertesteeteeeestesseeseeeeeesseeseeneessesseeneens 119.9 12.7 80.2
Discontinued Operations:
Income from Discontinued OPErations ...........cccceecverieriieierierieeeeeesieseeeeeeseesreereesessesreesaens 1.0 4.1 5.5
INEE TICOMNE ..ttt ettt e e et et e e e se e et eneesees e s eneeseese s eneesaesaaseneeneas $ 1209 $ 168 $ 857
Income from Continuing Operations Per Unrestricted Share:
BSIC ettt ettt a s $ 232 $ 025 $§ 155
DHIUEEA <.ttt ettt ettt s et se s e s e ne e e s e s neene s e e eneenea $ 231 § 025 $§ 155
Net Income Per Unrestricted Share: -
BSIC ettt $ 234 $ 033 § 1.65
DHIUEEA <.ttt a ettt a et a e ne b e a e ne s et e e eneenea $ 233 § 033 $§ 1.65
Dividends Paid to Shareholders Per Share ............cocoooieiiieiiiiiiececcec e $ 09 $ 096 $ 096

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

For The Years Ended December 31,

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
INEETICOMIE 1.ttt sttt nene s $ 1209 $ 168 §$§ 857
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes:
Unrealized Holding Gains (LOSSES)....ccveveriiririeieniieiieiesieeeeeiteiesieeseetete e sneensessesneeneas 83.8 (2.2) (177.3)
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments..........c..ceevevieeieerieiesieeeeieieie e 1.7 (0.3) (1.4)
Decrease in Net Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit COsts .........cocceevveverercienieneinnnnn. 33 20.5 26.1
Gain (Loss) on Cash FIOW Hedge.........coouiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee et 6.7) 1.6 —
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes........c.cccoeeeievieviieieiecienieiiennns 82.1 19.6 (152.6)
Other Comprehensive Income Tax Benefit (EXPense).......ccocveveverierieeeerienieneeieienieseeeens (24.7) (6.9) 54.2
Other Comprehensive INCOME (0SS ).....ceureieruiriiiieiiiiieii ettt 57.4 12.7 (98.4)
Total Comprehensive INCOME (LOSS)........cveurveveeiereeieeeeeieeeteeeeee ettt $ 1783 $§ 295 §$§ (12.7)

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For The Years Ended December 31,

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Operating Activities:
INEE INCOMC -ttt ettt ettt b et b e b eneene s $ 1209 § 168 § 857
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Increase in Deferred Policy Acquisition COStS........cocueevieiieniienieiesieeie e (33.3) (15.6) (13.1)
Amortization of Intangible ASSets ACQUITEd ..........eevierieriirieiieieeieieesie e 5.1 5.9 15.4
Equity in Earnings of Equity Method Limited Liability Investments..............c.cceevenn... (24.8) (7.5) (19.0)
Distribution of Accumulated Earnings of Equity Method Limited Liability
INVESTMENLS .....iiiiiiiiiiiceii et 19.6 15.7 8.6
Decrease (Increase) in Value of Fair Value Option Investments reported in Investment
TNCOME ..ottt (1.3) 1.9 0.3)
Amortization of Investment Securities and Depreciation of Investment Real Estate ..... 16.7 16.2 16.1
Net Realized Gains on Sales of INVEStMENtS ..........cccveviviiierieriieeeieeieeeeee e (56.5) (33.1) (52.1)
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings..........cococeeveieneninienienenceieneneeeenen 14.3 32.7 27.2
Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt...........cccoeciiviiiiieiiniicieeeeccee e — — 9.1
Depreciation of Property and EQUIPMENt ..........cccooveieriiiiieiieeneeieeieseceee e 13.1 13.6 13.5
Write-0ffs 0f LONG-IIVEd ASSELS ...eevveiiiieiieiieieiie ettt — — 11.1
Decrease (Increase) in Other Receivables.........ccoiiiieriiriiiieieenineeeieeceee e (29.2) (11.0) 49.6
Increase (Decrease) in INSUrance RESEIVES ........cccvvvevieriiiieieniisieeceeieeee e 131.1 201.8 39.6
Increase (Decrease) in Unearned Premiums. .......c..eeverieriiieienienenieieiesieeiceeeie e 35.2 5.6 9.4)
Change 1N INCOME TAXES......cuerviriieieieiieeiieieeieste ettt sttt aeste et e e sseseeeneenes 28.9 (6.5) (21.8)
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities.........ccccooceveereninennnene. 2.9 33 22.6
OBNET, N ..ttt ettt ettt et e e ete e e te e e e e eaae et e easeeseennean (2.1) 0.7 32.2
Net Cash Provided by Operating ACtIVItIes ........ccccevuerieiriniiieiiciciciecee e 240.6 240.5 215.0
Investing Activities:
Sales, Paydowns and Maturities of Fixed Maturities............occoueeveinenciiininiecieencnenenns 528.2 5323 627.8
Purchases Of FIXed MatUrTties .......covervieieieriiiieeieieie ettt ettt eeaennes (710.1) (850.3) (681.3)
Sales of EQUItY SECUITHIES.......c..ceiuiieiiiiiiiiciieit ettt 342.0 158.9 238.4
Purchases Of EQUILY SECUTTIES ......eovirviiieieiiiiieieieste ettt st eieennes (342.7) (90.1) (134.0)
Acquisition and Improvements of Investment Real Estate ............ccccoeoevenininiincniicnnn, (1.5) 2.2) (1.8)
Sales of Investment Real EState .........cccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiiicccec e 26.7 7.5 7.7
Sales of and Return of Investment of Equity Method Limited Liability Investments.......... 48.1 41.0 32.9
Acquisitions of Equity Method Limited Liability Investments ...........ccccceveeeecierieneneennenn. (27.9) (34.6) (32.4)
Sales of Fair Value Option INVESTMENTS ........c.ccecueiiirieieiiinieieieiceeieeeeeeeseee e 42.2 72.2 —
Purchases of Fair Value Option INVEStMENtS.........cccevieieriireeieienieeeeieiese et (7.0) (21.0) (111.0)
Decrease (Increase) in Short-term INVEStMENTS .......cc.eeverieriiiieienieiieieieeseseeee e 394 (18.0) 104.9
Acquisition of Businesses, Net of Cash Acquired...........cccooveierieneiieienieneeeeeeeee e — — (57.6)
Increase in Other INVESTMENTS .......cciiiiiiiieiieie ettt beeseesbeeeseees 4.5) (5.7) 3.2)
Purchase of Corporate-owned Life INSUrance...........coocvevveriireeienienieeieieieseeeeiesie e — (7.5) (7.5)
ACqUISTHON OF SOTEWATE ....oviiiiiiiiiiicee e e 35.5) (17.6) (8.9)
OFRET, INEE ..ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt enes (2.8) (3.0) (2.6)
Net Cash Used by INVEStING ACHVILIES ...euveviriiriieieieriiiiieierie sttt (105.4) (238.1) (28.6)
Financing Activities:
Net Proceeds from Issuances 0f Debt ..........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeceeeeee e 200.2 — 247.3
RePayMENts OF DEDE.....ociiiiiieiieieiece ettt et ennes (360.0) — (258.8)
Common StoCK REPUICHASES.......cc.eeieiiiiieiieiiiit ittt — (3.8) (45.0)
Dividends and Dividend Equivalents Paid............ccccvvvieviinirieieieieeieeec e (49.5) (49.2) (49.7)
Cash Exercise 0f StoCK OPHIONS .......c.ceuirieiiiiiiniiiiiiietcieteeeee et e 4.0 3.5 3.9
(O 13013 v L] SRRSO 0.1 1.1 1.5
Net Cash Used by FINancing ACHVILIES ......cc.evuerieieriiniirieierie ittt (205.2) (48.4) (100.8)
Increase (Decrease) 1N Cash......ciiieieriiricieieie ettt sttt seeenees (70.0) (46.0) 85.6
Cash, Beginning of YEar ..........cccooiiiiiiiiiii it 115.7 161.7 76.1
CaSh, BN OF YT ... ettt et $ 457 § 1157 $ 161.7

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

For The Years Ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015

Accumulated
Number Other Total

DOLLARS AND SHARES IN MILLIONS, of Common Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Shareholders’
EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS Shares Stock Capital  Earnings Income Equity
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31,2014 ........................ 524 $ 52§ 660.1 $ 1,202.7 $ 2227 $ 2,090.7
Net INCOME ... — — — 85.7 — 85.7
Other Comprehensive Income (Note 12) ................... — — — — (98.4) (98.4)
Cash Dividends and Dividend Equivalents to
Shareholders ($0.96 per share) — — — (49.7) — (49.7)
Repurchases of Common Stock .......c.ccccovveereinneacne (1.2) 0.1) (15.5) (27.9) — (43.5)
Equity-based Compensation Cost (Note 10).............. — — 6.5 — — 6.5
Equity-based Awards, Net of Shares Exchanged

(NOtE 10)..eiiiiiiiiciieceeeceeeee e 0.1 — 2.9 (1.8) — 1.1
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2015 ........................ 513§ 51 $ 6540 $ 1,209.0 $ 1243 3 1,992.4
Net INCOME ... — — — 16.8 — 16.8
Other Comprehensive Loss (Note 12).......ccccevveieniee — — — — 12.7 12.7
Cash Dividends and Dividend Equivalents to

Shareholders ($0.96 per share)..........c..cc.cccooevne. — — — (49.2) — (49.2)
Repurchases of Common Stock .........cccooevevencniennns (0.1) — (1.8) (2.0) — (3.8)
Equity-based Compensation Cost (Note 10).............. — — 4.7 — — 4.7
Equity-based Awards, Net of Shares Exchanged

(NOLE 10)..viciiieiiieieee e 0.1 — 3.4 (1.8) — 1.6
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2016 As Reported .. 513§ 51§ 6603 $ 1,172.8 $ 1370 $ 1,975.2
Cumulative Effect of Adoption of New Accounting

StANAArd.....ooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e — — — 0.5 — 0.5
BALANCE, JANUARY 1, 2017 As Adjusted......... 513 § 51 $ 6603 $ 1,173.3 § 137.0 $ 1,975.7
Net INCOME ..o — — — 120.9 — 120.9
Other Comprehensive Income (Note 12) — — — — 57.4 57.4
Cash Dividends and Dividend Equivalents to

Shareholders ($0.96 per share)..........cccccvevevnenee. — — — (49.5) — (49.5)
Equity-based Compensation Cost (Note 10).............. — — 9.4 — — 9.4
Equity-based Awards, Net of Shares Exchanged

(NOE 10).enverereieeieeeeeieeie st 0.2 — 3.4 .7 — 1.7
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2017 ...........ccc....... 515 § 51 $ 673.1 $ 1,243.0 § 1944 § 2,115.6

The Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ESTIMATES

The Consolidated Financial Statements included herein have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) and include the accounts of Kemper Corporation (“Kemper™) and its subsidiaries
(individually and collectively referred to herein as the “Company”). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from
those estimates and assumptions.

The fair values of the Company’s Investments in Fixed Maturities, Investments in Equity Securities, Fair Value Option
Investments, Trading Securities, Debt, and derivative instruments included in either Other Assets or Other Liabilities are
estimated using a hierarchical framework which prioritizes and ranks market price observability. The carrying amounts reported
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets approximate fair value for Cash, Short-term Investments and certain other assets and other
liabilities because of their short-term nature. The actual value at which financial instruments could be sold or settled with a
willing buyer or seller may differ from estimated fair values depending on a number of factors, including, but not limited to,
current and future economic conditions, the quantity sold or settled, the presence of an active market and the availability of a
willing buyer or seller.

The process of estimating and establishing reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses ("LAE") for property and casualty
insurance is inherently uncertain, and the actual ultimate net cost of known and unknown claims may vary materially from the
estimated amounts reserved. The reserving process is particularly imprecise for claims involving long-tailed exposures, which
may not be discovered or reported until years after the insurance policy period has ended. Management considers a variety of
factors, including, but not limited to, past claims experience, current claim trends and relevant legal, economic and social
conditions, in estimating reserves. A change in any one or more factors is likely to result in the ultimate net claim costs differing
from the estimated reserve. Changes in such estimates may be material and would be recognized in the Consolidated Financial
Statements when such estimates change.

The process of determining whether an asset is impaired or recoverable relies on projections of future cash flows, operating
results and market conditions. Projections are inherently uncertain, and, accordingly, actual future cash flows may differ
materially from projected cash flows. As a result, the Company’s assessment of the impairment of long-lived assets is
susceptible to the risk inherent in making such projections.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING CHANGES
Investments

Investments in Fixed Maturities include bonds, notes and redeemable preferred stocks. Investments in Fixed Maturities are
classified as available for sale and reported at fair value. Net Investment Income, including amortization of purchased
premiums and accretion of market discounts, on Investments in Fixed Maturities is recognized as interest over the period that it
is earned using the effective yield method.

Investments in Equity Securities include common and non-redeemable preferred stocks and other equity interests and are
reported at fair value. Investments in common and non-redeemable preferred stocks with readily determinable fair values are
classified as available for sale. Dividend income on investments in common and non-redeemable preferred stocks is recognized
on the ex-dividend date. Other equity interests primarily consist of exchange traded funds and interests in limited liability
companies and limited partnerships in which the Company’s interests are deemed minor. The Company’s share of distributed
earnings from other equity interests is recognized as dividend income when received.

Unrealized appreciation or depreciation, net of applicable deferred income taxes, on fixed maturities and equity securities
classified as available for sale is reported in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”) included in Shareholders’
Equity.

Equity Method Limited Liability Investments include investments in limited liability investment companies and limited
partnerships in which the Company’s interests are not deemed minor and are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING CHANGES (Continued)

Fair Value Option Investments include investments in certain hedge funds, which the Company has elected the fair value option
(“FVO”) to account for such investments. Under the FVO method of accounting, the Company reports changes in the fair value
of such investments in Net Investment Income in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The hedge funds are designed to
preserve liquidity, while providing higher returns than Kemper would otherwise expect to earn had it invested in other short-
term investments.

Short-term Investments include certificates of deposits and other fixed maturities that mature within one year from the date of
purchase, U.S. Treasury bills, money market mutual funds and overnight interest bearing accounts. Short-term Investments are
reported at cost, which approximates fair value.

Other Investments primarily include loans to policyholders and real estate. Loans to policyholders are carried at unpaid
principal balance. Real estate is carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Real estate is depreciated over the estimated
useful life of the asset using the straight-line method of depreciation. Real estate is evaluated for impairment when events or
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. An impairment loss on real estate is recognized when the
carrying value exceeds the sum of undiscounted projected future cash flows as well as the fair value, or, in the case of a
property classified as held for sale, when the carrying value exceeds the fair value, net of costs to sell.

Gains and losses on sales of investments are computed on the specific identification method and are reported in the
Consolidated Statements of Income in the period in which the sales occur. The Company regularly reviews its investment
portfolio for factors that may indicate that a decline in fair value of an investment is other than temporary. Losses are computed
on the specific identification method and reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the period that the decline is
determined to be other than temporary. The portion of an impairment of an investment in a fixed maturity attributed to a credit
loss is reported in Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings in the Consolidated Statements of Income, with the portion
of the impairment that is not attributed to a credit loss reported in AOCI.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company uses a hierarchical framework which prioritizes and ranks the market observability of inputs used in fair value
measurements. Market price observability is affected by a number of factors, including the type of asset or liability and the
characteristics specific to the asset or liability being measured. Assets and liabilities with readily available, active, quoted
market prices or for which fair value can be measured from actively quoted prices generally are deemed to have a higher degree
of market price observability and a lesser degree of judgment used in measuring fair value. The Company classifies the inputs
used to measure fair value into one of three levels as follows:

* Level 1 — Quoted prices in an active market for identical assets or liabilities;

* Level 2 — Observable inputs other than Level 1, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted
prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, and model-derived prices whose
inputs are observable or whose significant value drivers are observable; and

+  Level 3 — Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability being measured.

Observable inputs are based on market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs are based on the
Company’s market assumptions. Unobservable inputs require significant management judgment or estimation. In some cases,
the inputs used to measure an asset or liability may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In those cases, the fair
value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level of input that is
significant to the entire measurement. Such determination requires significant management judgment.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Costs directly associated with the successful acquisition of business, principally commissions and certain premium taxes and
policy issuance costs, are deferred. Costs deferred on property and casualty insurance contracts and short duration health
insurance contracts are amortized over the period in which premiums are earned. Costs deferred on traditional life insurance
products and other long-duration insurance contracts are primarily amortized over the anticipated premium-paying period of the
related policies in proportion to the ratio of the annual premiums to the total premiums anticipated, which is estimated using the
same assumptions used in calculating policy reserves.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING CHANGES (Continued)
Goodwill

The cost of an acquired entity over the fair value of net assets acquired is reported as Goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized, but
rather is tested for recoverability annually or when certain triggering events require testing.

Insurance Reserves

Reserves for losses and LAE on property and casualty insurance coverage and health insurance coverage represent the
estimated claim cost and loss adjustment expense necessary to cover the ultimate net cost of investigating and settling all losses
incurred and unpaid at the end of any given accounting period. Such estimates are based on individual case estimates for
reported claims and estimates for incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) losses, including expected development on reported
claims. These estimates are adjusted in the aggregate for ultimate loss expectations based on historical experience patterns and
current economic trends, with any change in the estimated ultimate liabilities being reported in the Consolidated Statements of
Income in the period of change. Changes in such estimates may be material.

For traditional life insurance products, the reserves for future policy benefits are estimated on the net level premium method
using assumptions as of the issue date for mortality, interest, policy lapses and expenses, including provisions for adverse
mortality. These assumptions vary by such characteristics as plan, age at issue and policy duration. Mortality assumptions are
based on the Company’s historical experience and industry standards. Interest rate assumptions principally range from 3% to
7%. Lapse rate assumptions are based on actual and industry experience. Insurance Reserves for life insurance products are
comprised of reserves for future policy benefits plus an estimate of the Company’s liability for unpaid life insurance claims and
claims adjustment expenses, which includes an estimate for IBNR life insurance claims. Prior to the third quarter of 2016,
except when required by applicable law, the Company did not utilize the database of reported deaths maintained by the Social
Security Administration or any other comparable database (a “Death Master File” or “DMF”) in its operations, including to
determine its IBNR liability for life insurance products. Instead of using such a database, the Company calculated its IBNR
liability for life insurance products using Company-specific historical information, which included analyzing average paid
claims and the average lag between date of death and the date reported to the Company for claims for which proof of death had
been provided. In the third quarter of 2016, the Company initiated a voluntary enhancement of its claims handling procedures
for its life insurance policies. The Company is now utilizing a DMF to identify potential situations where the Company has yet
to be notified of an insured’s death and, as appropriate, initiating an outreach process to identify and contact beneficiaries and
settle claims. Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses for the year ended December 31,
2016 include a charge of $77.8 million to recognize the initial impact of using a DMF in the Company’s operations, including
to determine its IBNR liability for unpaid claims and claims adjustment expenses for life insurance products. No such charge
was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2017 or December 31, 2015.

Other Receivables

Other Receivables primarily include reinsurance recoverables and accrued investment income. Reinsurance Recoverables were
$111.6 million and $106.4 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Accrued Investment Income was $72.8 million
and $70.8 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Other Assets

Other Assets primarily include property and equipment, internal use software, insurance licenses acquired in business
combinations, the value of other intangible assets acquired, corporate-owned life insurance and prepaid expenses.

Property and equipment is depreciated over the useful lives of the assets, generally using the straight-line or double declining
balance methods of depreciation depending on the asset involved.

Internal use software is amortized over the useful life of the asset using the straight-line method of amortization and is
evaluated for recoverability upon identification of impairment indicators. Write-offs of Long-lived Assets for the year ended
December 31, 2015 were $11.1 million to write off the costs of a computer software development project that was abandoned
by the Company’s Property & Casualty Insurance segment.

Insurance licenses acquired in business combinations and other indefinite life intangibles are not amortized, but rather tested
periodically for recoverability.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING CHANGES (Continued)

Corporate-owned life insurance is reported at cash surrender value with changes due to cost of insurance and investment
experience reported in Other Income in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

The Company accounts for the present value of the future profits embedded in life insurance in force acquired (“Life VIF”)
based on actuarial estimates of the present value of estimated net cash flows. Life VIF was $25.5 million and $28.9 million at
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Life VIF is amortized using the effective interest method using interest rates
consistent with the rates in the underlying insurance contracts. The Company estimates that it will record Life VIF amortization,
net of interest, of $3.0 million in 2018, $2.8 million in 2019, $2.3 million in 2020, $2.0 million in 2021 and $1.9 million in
2022. The Company evaluates the Life VIF for recoverability annually.

The Company accounts for the present value of the future profits embedded in Property and Casualty Insurance Customer
Relationships Acquired (“P&C Customer Relationships’) based on the present value of estimated future cash flows from the
customer relationships acquired. P&C Customer Relationships was $7.3 million and $9.0 million at December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively. P&C Customer Relationships is amortized using the effective interest method. P&C Customer Relationships
is tested for recoverability using undiscounted projections of future cash flows and written down to estimated fair value if the
carrying value exceeds the sum of such projections of undiscounted cash flows.

The Company accounts for the present value of the future profits embedded in Property and Casualty Insurance Broker
Relationships Acquired (“P&C Broker Relationships™) based on the present value of estimated future cash flows from the
broker relationships acquired. P&C Broker Relationships was $15.6 million and $16.8 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. P&C Broker Relationships is amortized on a straight-line basis over 15 years. P&C Broker Relationships is tested
for recoverability using undiscounted projections of future cash flows and written down to estimated fair value if the carrying
value exceeds the sum of such projections of undiscounted cash flows.

Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities primarily include accrued salaries and commissions, pension benefits, postretirement
medical benefits and accrued taxes, licenses and fees.

Recognition of Earned Premiums and Related Expenses

Property and casualty insurance and short duration health insurance premiums are deferred when written and recognized and
earned ratably over the periods to which the premiums relate. Unearned Premiums represent the portion of the premiums
written related to the unexpired portion of policies in force which has been deferred and is reported as a liability. The Company
performs a premium deficiency analysis typically at a product line level, namely automobile insurance, homeowners insurance
and other insurance, which is consistent with the manner in which the Company acquires and services policies and measures
profitability. Anticipated investment income is excluded from such analysis. A premium deficiency is recognized when the sum
of expected claim costs, claim adjustment expenses, unamortized deferred policy acquisition costs and maintenance costs
exceeds the related unearned premiums by first reducing related deferred policy acquisition costs to an amount, but not below
zero, at which the premium deficiency would not exist. If a premium deficiency remains after first reducing deferred policy
acquisition costs, a premium deficiency reserve is established and reported as a liability in the Company’s financial statements.
The Company’s deferred policy acquisition costs in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016
include reductions of $1.2 million and $9.7 million, respectively, due to premium deficiencies with respect to Alliance United’s
personal automobile book of business.

Traditional life insurance premiums are recognized as revenue when due. Policyholders’ benefits are associated with related
premiums to result in recognition of profits over the periods for which the benefits are provided using the net level premium
method.

Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses include provisions for future policy benefits under
life and certain accident and health insurance contracts and provisions for reported claims, estimates for IBNR claims and loss
adjustment expenses. Benefit payments in excess of policy account balances are expensed.

Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries reinsure certain risks above certain retention levels with
other insurance enterprises. These reinsurance agreements do not relieve Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries of their legal
obligations to the policyholder. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are included in Other Receivables.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING CHANGES (Continued)

Gains related to long-duration reinsurance contracts are deferred and amortized over the life of the underlying reinsured
policies. Losses related to long-duration reinsurance contracts are recognized immediately. Any gain or loss associated with
reinsurance agreements for which Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries have been legally relieved of their obligations to the
policyholder is recognized in the period of relief.

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance, if any, is maintained for the portion of deferred income tax
assets that the Company does not expect to recover. Increases, if any, in the valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets
are recognized as income tax expense. Decreases, if any, in the valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets are
recognized as income tax benefit. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax law including a
change in tax rates is recognized in income from continuing operations in the period in which the change is enacted.

The Company reports a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken, or expected to be
taken, in an income tax return. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in
income tax expense.

Change in Accounting and Adoption of New Accounting Standards

Adopted Accounting Guidance

Effective January 1, 2016, the Company changed its method for estimating the interest and service cost components of expense
recognized for its pension and other postretirement employee benefit plans. As a result, the Company elected to use a full yield
curve approach to estimate these components of benefit cost by applying the specific spot rates along the yield curve used in the
determination of the benefit obligation to the relevant projected cash flows. Prior to 2016, the interest and service cost
components were estimated using a single weighted-average discount rate derived from the yield curve used to measure the
projected benefit obligation or accumulated postretirement benefit obligation, as relevant, at the beginning of the period. The
change provides a more precise measurement of interest and service costs by improving the correlation between projected
benefit cash flows to the corresponding spot yield curve rates. The Company has accounted for this change as a change in
accounting estimate that is inseparable from a change in accounting principle and, accordingly, recognized the effect
prospectively in 2016. The change in method for estimating the interest and service cost components decreased pension expense
for the year ended December 31, 2016 by approximately $2.7 million, but had no impact on the measurement of benefit
obligations.

In February 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2015-02,
Consolidation (Topic 810): Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis. The amendments in ASU 2015-02 affect reporting
entities that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate certain legal entities. All legal entities are subject to
reevaluation under the revised consolidation model. Specifically, the amendments modify the evaluation of whether limited
partnerships and similar legal entities are variable interest entities (“VIEs”) or voting interest entities while also eliminating the
presumption that a general partner should consolidate a limited partnership. ASU 2015-02 may also affect the consolidation
analysis of reporting entities that are involved with VIEs, particularly those that have fee arrangements and related party
relationships. The Company's adoption and initial application as of January 1, 2016 resulted in no changes to the legal entities
that the Company consolidates.

In May 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-07 Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820), Disclosures for Investments in Certain
Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent). ASU 2015-07 removes the requirement to categorize
within the fair value hierarchy all investments for which fair value is measured using the net asset value per share practical
expedient. The amendments also remove the requirement to make certain disclosures for all investments that are eligible to be
measured at fair value using the net asset value per share practical expedient. Rather, those disclosures are limited to
investments for which the entity has elected to measure the fair value using that practical expedient. The Company adopted
ASU 2015-07 in the first quarter of 2016 and applied its provisions on a retrospective basis. Except for the change in disclosure
requirements, adoption of ASU 2015-07 did not impact the Company’s financial statements.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING CHANGES (Continued)

In May 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-09, Financial Services—Insurance (Topic 944): Disclosures about Short-Duration
Contracts. ASU 2015-09 requires insurers to provide additional disclosures about short-duration insurance contracts, focusing
particularly on the liability for unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses. Insurers are required to disclose tables showing
incurred and paid claims development information by accident year for the number of years that claims typically remain
outstanding, although not to exceed ten years, as well as a reconciliation of this information to the balance sheet. Additional
disclosures are also required on the total of IBNR liabilities, including expected development on reported claims, reserving
methodologies, quantitative information about claim frequency, qualitative description of the methodologies used for
determining claim frequency and average annual percentage payout of incurred claims by age. The Company adopted ASU
2015-09 in its 2016 year-end financial statements. Except for the additional disclosure requirements, adoption of ASU 2015-09
did not impact the Company’s financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee
Share-Based Payment Accounting, which the Company adopted in the first quarter of 2017. ASU 2016-09 simplifies several
aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures and
statutory tax withholding requirements, as well as classification in the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-09 impacts the
timing of when excess tax benefits are recognized by eliminating the delay in the recognition of a tax benefit until the tax
benefit is realized through a reduction to income taxes payable. The Company applied the modified retrospective transition
method and recognized an increase to retained earnings of $0.5 million as of January 1, 2017 to recognize excess tax benefits
that had been previously delayed. On a prospective basis, all excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies are recognized as income
tax expense or benefit in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income. Further, the Company will continue to estimate
the number of awards that are expect to vest.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-08, Receivables - Nonrefundable Fees and Other Costs (Subtopic 310-20):
Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities, which the Company early adopted in the first quarter of 2017.
ASU 2017-08 shortens the amortization period for certain purchased callable debt securities held at a premium to the earliest
call date. No change is required for securities held at a discount, which will continue to be amortized to maturity. The Company
holds a large number of debt securities for which prepayments are probable and the timing and amount of prepayments can be
reasonably estimated. As allowed under GAAP in effect prior to the issuance of ASU 2017-08, the Company already considered
such estimates of future principal prepayments in the calculation of the constant effective yield necessary in applying the
interest method. Accordingly, adoption of ASU 2017-08 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Guidance Not Yet Adopted

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which revises the criteria
for recognizing revenue. ASU 2014-09 requires an entity to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those services.
The guidance is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and is to be applied using either the full
retrospective or modified retrospective transition method. The guidance specifically excludes insurance contracts, lease
contracts and investments from its scope. Accordingly, the Company does not expect adoption to have a material impact on net
income or its financial position.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments—QOverall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. ASU 2016-01 addresses certain aspects of recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. Most significantly, ASU 2016-01 requires companies to
measure equity investments (except those accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that result in
consolidation of the investee) at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. However, an entity may choose
to measure equity investments that do not have readily-determinable fair values at cost minus impairment, if any, plus or minus
changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the same
issuer. ASU 2016-01 also simplifies the impairment assessment of equity investments without readily-determinable fair values
by requiring a qualitative assessment to identify impairment. When a qualitative assessment indicates that an impairment exists,
an entity is required to measure the investment at fair value.

ASU 2016-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal
years. Adopting ASU 2016-01 will have no impact on the Company’s total Shareholders’ Equity as of January 1, 2018, but will
result in an increase to Retained Earnings of $17.7 million, with a corresponding reduction to AOCI. Subsequent to adoption,
ASU 2016-01 is expected to cause increased volatility in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ACCOUNTING CHANGES (Continued)

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), by amending the Accounting Standards

Codification (“ASC”) and creating a new topic on accounting for leases. ASU 2016-02 introduces a lessee model that requires
most leases to be reported on the balance sheet of a lessee. ASU 2016-02 also aligns many of the underlying principles of the
new lessor model with those in ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, the FASB’s new revenue recognition
standard (e.g., those related to evaluating when profit can be recognized). Furthermore, ASU 2016-02 addresses other concerns
related to the current leases model. For example, ASU 2016-02 eliminates the requirement in current GAAP for an entity to use
bright-line tests in determining lease classification. ASU 2016-02 also requires lessors to increase the transparency of their
exposure to changes in value of their residual assets and how they manage that exposure. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods within those years with early adoption permitted. The Company
is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments. ASU 2016-13 replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology in current GAAP with a
methodology that utilizes expected credit losses to provide for an allowance for credit losses for financial instruments and
requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. The
amendments in this ASU require a financial asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be
presented at the net amount expected to be collected. The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted
from the amortized cost basis of the financial asset(s) to present the net carrying value at the amount expected to be collected on
the financial asset. The income statement includes the measurement of credit losses for newly recognized financial assets, as
well as the expected increases or decreases of expected credit losses that have taken place during the period. Credit losses on
available-for-sale debt securities are measured in a manner similar to current GAAP, although the ASU requires that they be
presented as an allowance rather than as a write-down. In situations where the estimate of credit loss on an available-for-sale
debt security declines, entities will be able to record the reversal to income in the current period, which GAAP currently
prohibits. ASU 2016-13 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those
annual periods with early adoption permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2018 and interim periods within
such year. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its financial statements.

The Company has adopted all recently issued accounting pronouncements with effective dates prior to January 1, 2018. There
were no adoptions of such accounting pronouncements in 2017 that had a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements. With the possible exceptions of ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10):
Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) and ASU
2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, the
Company does not expect the adoption of all other recently issued accounting pronouncements with effective dates after
December 31, 2017 to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

NOTE 3. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS

On April 30, 2015, Kemper acquired 100% of the outstanding common stock of Alliance United Group and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Alliance United Insurance Company and Alliance United Insurance Services (individually and collectively referred
to herein as “Alliance United”). The results of Alliance United are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the
date of acquisition and are reported in the Company’s Property & Casualty Insurance segment. Alliance United is a provider of
nonstandard personal automobile insurance in California. As a result of the acquisition, the Company increased its presence in
the California nonstandard automobile insurance market by gaining access to additional brokers and gained expertise in serving
the Hispanic market.
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE 3. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (Continued)

The Company completed the allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in 2015. The final
allocation of the purchase price to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS

IIVESEINICIIES 1.ttt ettt ettt ettt sttt et e e beeseessesseeseessess e seeseessesseebeessess e beeseessenseesaessensenseessessenseseessensensesseessens $ 187.0
CASH L.t b bt et e e h ekt h bbbttt ettt ettt n st ne e 13.4
Receivables from POICYNOIACTS ........c.oouiiiiiiiiiciieei ettt ettt ettt e te et a e b e eaeess e b e eseessessesesseeseensas 44 .4
OthEr RECEIVADIES.......cuiitieiieiiitieiieeeteee ettt ettt e et e et e e se e st e st e besseessessesbeesaessesseeseessessenseeseeseensesesseenean 52.8
Value of Intangible Assets Acquired (Reported in Other ASSELS).......ccuiiiiirririiieierie ettt 32.6
GOOAWIIL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e b e be e bt ess e b e eseessessesseeseessessesbeessesseaseeaeessessesseessessessenseeseensensesbeessensas 11.2
CUITent INCOME TAXES......eeutiutiiiiieiet ettt ettt sb ettt b e e bt et a e eb e bt e e ae s bt ebe et et sbeeneen 1.4
T ASSEES ..ttt ettt et ettt ettt ettt ett e et e e et e eaaeeaseeaseese e s e e eseeeaseenseeaseen s e easeeas e e st enteseeesseenseenseenseenseenseenseenseennn 5.9
Property and Casualty INSUrance RESEIVES..........ccueiiiiiiiiiiiticiieieiesieete ettt ettt ste e esses e seeaeessesseeaeesaens (155.8)
UNEAINEA PIEIMIUINIS ....ouviiieiiiiii ettt ettt ettt ettt e et e et e et e et eeaeeteeeteeeaseeaseesseesseeaseesseeaseenseenseenseenseenseenns (85.6)
Liabilities fOT INCOME TAXES ...ivieuieuieiietieiieiieete et et et e vt ete et et e eteese et eseeseessesseeseessesseseeseessessesaessessenseseessessensesseessensas (1.5)
Accrued Expenses and Other LIaDIlItIEs ...........ccvecveriiiiiieieiesieeeieieee ettt a s eae e eaessesaeeseensessesseeneas (34.8)
TOAl PUICRASE PTICE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e et s et e et e st e st e s e eaeess et e eseessest et eessessesseseeseessenean $ 71.0

Under the purchase agreement, the Company was indemnified up to $12.5 million on an after-tax basis for, among other things,
breaches of customary representations and warranties, loss and LAE reserve development and pre-closing income taxes. In
addition, the Company was indemnified up to $5.0 million on an after-tax basis, for certain employment related matters. Other
Receivables in the preceding table include an indemnification receivable of $5.4 million. Other Receivables in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets at December 31, 2016 include an indemnification receivable of $16.0 million. There are no indemnification
receivables included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2017.

NOTE 4. INVESTMENTS

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of the Company’s Investments in Fixed Maturities at December 31, 2017 were:

Gross Unrealized

Amortized

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Government and Government Agencies and Authorities ...........c.cccoenee. $ 5427 § 196 § (6.2) $§ 556.1
States and Political SubAiVISIONS .........ccuieviieiieriieiieiieee e 1,595.5 108.6 2.3) 1,701.8
FOreign GOVEIMMENTS. ....c.ecviirieieieitieiieiesteeieeseesseeseeseesesseeseessesessesseensessesseesees 3.0 0.2 — 3.2
Corporate Securities:

Bonds and NOTES .......eueeuiiiieiieie ettt 2,745.8 245.8 (11.0)  2,980.6

Redeemable Preferred StOCKS ......ccoviviiieriiiiiieieiecceeee e 0.1 — — 0.1

Collateralized Loan Obligations ...........ceceveririerienieneeieienesieeeeiesie e 134.1 5.7 — 139.8

Other Mortgage- and Asset-backed.........ccooovivieviininieieieeceeeec s 0.4 0.7 — 1.1
Investments in Fixed Maturities. ...........ccooeeoiroieeieeee e $50216 $ 3806 $ (19.5) $5,382.7

Included in the fair value of Other Mortgage- and Asset-backed investments at December 31, 2017 are $1.1 million of non-
governmental residential mortgage-backed securities.
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
NOTE 4. INVESTMENTS (Continued)

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of the Company’s Investments in Fixed Maturities at December 31, 2016 were:

Gross Unrealized

Amortized

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Government and Government Agencies and Authorities ............c..ccccc...... $ 3212 § 223 % (7.2) $ 3363
States and Political SUDAIVISIONS ........c.ccueviirieiiiiieiieiei e 1,640.6 88.4 (14.1)  1,714.9
FOreign GOVEIMMENTS. .......ccuiviieieieitieeieiesieeieeteste ettt saeeseeseaeste e eneessesneenees 3.5 — 0.1) 34
Corporate Securities:

Bonds and NOTES ........oouviieieieee e 2,758.9 209.9 (24.0)  2,944.8

Redeemable Preferred Stocks ........coeiriiiiiiininiiiiiiceeccceee 0.5 0.1 — 0.6

Collateralized Loan Obligations ............cc.eviieeieieiieeeeieieeie e eeeee e 121.2 2.7 (1.1) 122.8

Other Mortgage- and Asset-backed.........c.oocoovivieviininieicieeceeee s 0.9 1.2 — 2.1
Investments in Fixed Maturiti€s..........c.ccovuieuieieeieeeieieieeie e $48468 $ 3246 $ (46.5) $5,1249

Included in the fair value of Other Mortgage- and Asset-backed investments at December 31, 2016 are $0.9 million of
collateralized debt obligations and $1.2 million of non-governmental residential mortgage-backed securities.

Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities included unsettled purchases of Investments in Fixed Maturities of $5.4 million and
$0.1 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. There were no unsettled sales of Investments in Fixed Maturities at
December 31, 2017, compared to $2.7 million of unsettled sales of Investments in Fixed Maturities included in Other
Receivables at December 31, 2016.

The amortized cost and estimated fair values of the Company’s Investments in Fixed Maturities at December 31, 2017 by
contractual maturity were:

Amortized
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Cost Fair Value
DUE 10 ONE YEAT OF LLESS...conieieiieeeeee e ettt ettt e e e et e e e e et a e e e eaaeeaaaas $ 1521 §$ 1534
Due after One Year to Five Years 855.8 879.0

Due after Five Years to Ten Years 1,603.3 1,678.0
Due after Ten Years 1,911.4 2,164.0

Mortgage- and Asset-backed Securities Not Due at a Single Maturity Date ..........cccevveveviecieneniiienens 499.0 508.3

Investments in FIXEA IMATUITTIES ........oeiiiiieiee ettt ettt e e e e et e e e e et e e e s eeaaeaeseeaaeeaeaas $5,021.6 $ 5,382.7

The expected maturities of the Company’s Investments in Fixed Maturities may differ from the contractual maturities because
issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. Investments in Mortgage-
and Asset-backed Securities Not Due at a Single Maturity Date at December 31, 2017 consisted of securities issued by the
Government National Mortgage Association with a fair value of $352.9 million, securities issued by the Federal National
Mortgage Association with a fair value of $10.7 million, securities issued by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
with a fair value of $3.9 million and securities of other non-governmental issuers with a fair value of $140.8 million.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE 4. INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Gross unrealized gains and gross unrealized losses on the Company’s Investments in Equity Securities at December 31, 2017
were:

Gross Unrealized

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Preferred Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real EState..........c..c.ooovviviiiiiiiiiiieieecceeeeeeeeeeeeae $ 511 $ 46 $ — 8§ 557
Other INAUSIIIES ...vvevvieeeiieiie et eie ettt ettt ettt e staeesaeseaeesseenseessean 17.1 6.0 — 23.1
Common Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate............coccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 5.5 1.7 (0.1) 7.1
Other INAUSTIIES ...eievieceeiie ettt et eaae e 10.0 8.1 0.4) 17.7
Other Equity Interests:
Exchange Traded Funds .........ccccooeieniiiiiiniieiecceeeceeee e 207.6 11.9 — 219.5
Limited Liability Companies and Limited Partnerships...........c.ccoccevveiennens 184.9 239 5.9 202.9
Investments in EQUIty SECUTTLIES..........cevveriririeiirieeieieieceeee e $ 4762 $ 562 § (6.4) $ 526.0

Gross unrealized gains and gross unrealized losses on the Company’s Investments in Equity Securities at December 31, 2016
were:

Gross Unrealized

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Preferred Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real EState..........c.cccooveieviiiiieieieieeeere e $ 581 % 23§ (0.8) $ 59.6
Other INAUSIIIES ....vevveivieiieiecie ettt sreenaens 18.5 4.9 (0.5) 22.9
Common Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real EState..........cc.ooovviiiiiiiiiiceiieee e 31.2 2.3 — 33.5
Other INAUSIIIES ....eevvveeeiieeie ettt ettt ettt eaae s e easeenaean 7.2 4.6 0.1) 11.7
Other Equity Interests:
Exchange Traded FUNdS.........cccooeviiriiiiiiniiieee e 136.1 9.6 (1.3) 144.4
Limited Liability Companies and Limited Partnerships..........c..ccccccoceeenne. 183.3 29.2 2.9 209.6
Investments in EQUItY SECUTTHIES......cvcvevirreierierieieiee ettt § 4344 § 529 § (5.6) § 481.7

There were no unsettled sales of Investments in Equity Securities at December 31, 2017. Other Receivables included unsettled
sales of Investments in Equity Securities of $0.2 million at December 31, 2016. There were no unsettled purchases of
Investments in Equity Securities at either December 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE 4. INVESTMENTS (Continued)

An aging of unrealized losses on the Company’s Investments in Fixed Maturities and Equity Securities at December 31, 2017 is
presented below.

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Fixed Maturities:
U.S. Government and Government Agencies and
AUthOTTHES ..o $ 140.0 $ (1.1) $ 1034 § 51) $ 2434 § (6.2)
States and Political Subdivisions.................c......... 57.0 0.3) 124.2 2.0) 181.2 2.3)
Corporate Securities:
Bonds and NOES ........coeveeuieieciecieeiieieieeie e 283.1 4.2) 208.9 (6.8) 492.0 (11.0)
Collateralized Loan Obligations ....................... 2.8 — 24 — 5.2 —
Total Fixed Maturities.........c..cceevveeeeereeiieieereereenne 482.9 (5.6) 438.9 (13.9) 921.8 (19.5)
Equity Securities:
Preferred Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate................... 0.3 — 0.2 — 0.5 —
Other IndusStries.......c.cceveeeeievieceeieieieee e 0.2 — 0.2 — 0.4 —
Common Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate................. 1.6 (0.1) — — 1.6 (0.1)
Other IndUStries..........cooveeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeee e 0.4 0.3) 0.5 0.1) 0.9 0.4)
Other Equity Interests:
Limited Liability Companies and Limited
Partnerships........ccooeveveeieieneniceeec e 48.4 2.1) 7.7 3.8) 56.1 5.9)
Total Equity Securities.........ccooeveeiereerieerieieieereenne 50.9 2.5) 8.6 3.9 59.5 (6.4)
TOLAL .ot $ 5338 § @81) $ 4475 $§ (17.8) $ 9813 § (25.9)

The Company regularly reviews its investment portfolio for factors that may indicate that a decline in fair value of an investment
is other than temporary. The portions of the declines in the fair values of investments that are determined to be other than temporary
are reported as losses in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the periods when such determinations are made.

Unrealized losses on fixed maturities, which the Company has determined to be temporary at December 31, 2017, were $19.5
million, of which $13.9 million was related to fixed maturities that were in an unrealized loss position for 12 months or longer.
There were no unrealized losses at December 31, 2017 related to securities for which the Company has recognized credit losses
in earnings in the preceding table under the heading “Less Than 12 Months.” There were no unrealized losses at December 31,
2017 related to securities for which the Company has recognized credit losses in earnings in the preceding table under the
heading “12 Months or Longer.” Investment-grade fixed maturity investments comprised $12.6 million and below-investment-
grade fixed maturity investments comprised $6.9 million of the unrealized losses on investments in fixed maturities at
December 31, 2017. For below-investment-grade fixed maturity investments in an unrealized loss position, the unrealized loss
amount, on average, was less than 4% of the amortized cost basis of the investment. At December 31, 2017, the Company did
not have the intent to sell these investments and it was not more likely than not that the Company would be required to sell
these investments before recovery of its amortized cost basis, which may be at maturity. Based on the Company’s evaluation at
December 31, 2017 of the prospects of the issuers, including, but not limited to, the credit ratings of the issuers of the
investments in the fixed maturities, and the Company’s intention to not sell and its determination that it would not be required
to sell before recovery of the amortized cost of such investments, the Company concluded that the declines in the fair values of
the Company’s investments in fixed maturities presented in the preceding table were temporary at the evaluation date.
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NOTE 4. INVESTMENTS (Continued)

For equity securities, the Company considers various factors when determining whether a decline in the fair value is other than
temporary, including, but not limited to:

e The financial condition and prospects of the issuer;

e The length of time and magnitude of the unrealized loss;

e The volatility of the investment;

e Analyst recommendations and near term price targets;

« Opinions of the Company’s external investment managers;

e Market liquidity;

« Debt-like characteristics of perpetual preferred stocks and issuer ratings; and

e The Company’s intentions to sell or ability to hold the investments until recovery.

With respect to Investments in Equity Securities, the Company concluded that the unrealized losses on its investments in
preferred and common stocks at December 31, 2017 were temporary based on various factors, including the relative short
length and magnitude of the losses and overall market volatility. The Company’s investments in other equity interests include
investments in limited liability companies and limited partnerships that primarily invest in mezzanine debt and senior debt. By
the nature of their underlying investments, the Company believes that some of its investments in the limited liability companies
and limited partnerships exhibit debt-like characteristics which, among other factors, the Company also considers when
evaluating these investments for impairment. Based on evaluations of the factors in the preceding paragraph, the Company
concluded that the declines in the fair values of the Company’s investments in equity securities presented in the preceding table
were temporary at December 31, 2017.
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NOTE 4. INVESTMENTS (Continued)

An aging of unrealized losses on the Company’s Investments in Fixed Maturities and Equity Securities at December 31, 2016 is
presented below.

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Fixed Maturities:
U.S. Government and Government Agencies and
AUthOTIEICS . $§ 1177 $ (72) $ 1.1 $ — §$ 1188 $ (7.2)
States and Political Subdivisions..............ccccceueee.. 432.7 (14.1) 0.3 — 433.0 (14.1)
Foreign GOVEIrnments...........coceevevveneeeeienienneennns 2.1 0.1) — — 2.1 0.1)
Corporate Securities:
Bonds and NOtes.........ccoeveeeierieceeieieeeieeee 663.3 (16.6) 107.3 (7.4) 770.6 (24.0)
Collateralized Loan Obligations........................ 19.9 0.7) 21.4 (0.4) 41.3 (1.1)
Total Fixed Maturities.........ccoeerveeeineeeeeeceeeene 1,235.7 (38.7) 130.1 (7.8)  1,365.8 (46.5)
Equity Securities:
Preferred Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate................... 15.6 (0.5) 7.3 (0.3) 22.9 (0.8)
Other INAUSEIIES .....oooveevieeeieeiecieeee e 53 0.5) — — 53 0.5)
Common Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate.................... 2.8 — — — 2.8 —
Other INdUSHIIeS .....oooveevieeeiiciiecieee e 0.6 0.1) 0.5 — 1.1 0.1)
Other Equity Interests:
Exchange Traded Funds ..........cccccoevvevieiinnnnnne. — — 18.6 (1.3) 18.6 (1.3)
Limited Liability Companies and Limited
Partnerships.......ccooveveeeeieceneeccieeee e 13.9 0.7) 33.8 (2.2) 47.7 2.9
Total Equity SeCUTITtes ......coveviieeiiieiieeieieiee e 38.2 (1.8) 60.2 (3.8) 98.4 (5.6)
TOtAL. e $1,2739 $ (40.5) $ 1903 $ (11.6) $ 14642 § (52.1)

Unrealized losses on fixed maturities, which the Company determined to be temporary at December 31, 2016, were $46.5
million, of which $7.8 million was related to fixed maturities that were in an unrealized loss position for 12 months or longer.
There were unrealized losses of $0.1 million at December 31, 2016 related to securities for which the Company has recognized
credit losses in earnings in the preceding table under the heading “Less Than 12 Months.” There were no unrealized losses at
December 31, 2016 related to securities for which the Company has recognized credit losses in earnings in the preceding table
under the heading “12 Months or Longer.” Investment-grade fixed maturities comprised $33.8 million and below-investment-
grade fixed maturities comprised $12.7 million of the unrealized losses on investments in fixed maturities at December 31,
2016. For below-investment-grade fixed maturities in an unrealized loss position, the unrealized loss amount, on average, was
approximately 5% of the amortized cost basis of the investment. At December 31, 2016, the Company did not have the intent to
sell these investments and it was not more likely than not that the Company would be required to sell these investments before
recovery of its amortized cost basis, which may be at maturity. Based on the Company’s evaluation at December 31, 2016 of
the prospects of the issuers, including, but not limited to, the credit ratings of the issuers of the investments in the fixed
maturities, and the Company’s intention to not sell and its determination that it would not be required to sell before recovery of
the amortized cost of such investments, the Company concluded that the declines in the fair values of the Company’s
investments in fixed maturities presented in the preceding table were temporary at the evaluation date.
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NOTE 4. INVESTMENTS (Continued)

With respect to Investments in Equity Securities, the Company concluded that the unrealized losses on its investments in
preferred and common stocks at December 31, 2016 were temporary based on various factors, including the relative short
length and magnitude of the losses and overall market volatility. The Company’s investments in other equity interests include
investments in limited liability companies and limited partnerships that primarily invest in mezzanine debt, distressed debt, and
secondary transactions. By the nature of their underlying investments, the Company believes that some of its investments in the
limited liability companies and limited partnerships exhibit debt-like characteristics which, among other factors, the Company
also considers when evaluating these investments for impairment. Based on evaluations of the factors in the preceding
paragraph, the Company concluded that the declines in the fair values of the Company’s investments in equity securities
presented in the preceding table were temporary at December 31, 2016.

The following table sets forth the pre-tax amount of Other Than Temporary Impairments (“OTTI”) credit losses, recognized in
Retained Earnings for Investments in Fixed Maturities held by the Company as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, for
which a portion of the OTTI loss related to factors other than credit has been recognized in AOCI, and the corresponding
changes in such amounts.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Cumulative Balance of Pre-tax Credit Losses Recognized in Retained Earnings at

Be@iNning Of YEAT..........c.oioiiiieieetieeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt $ 14 $ 51 % 5.3
Pre-tax Credit Losses on Fixed Maturities without Pre-tax Credit Losses Included in

Cumulative Balance at Beginning of Year ..........cccccvvveierieriieieieieceeeeeeeee e 1.2 2.7 0.2
Reductions for Change in Impairment Status:

From Status of Credit Loss to Status of Intent-to-sell or Required-to-sell ....................... 0.7) (6.3) 0.4)

Reductions for Investments Sold DUIING Year..........ccooveieriiiiiieieriieeeieienie e 0.3) 0.1) —

Balance at ENA O YT ........cooiiiei e e eae e $ 1.6 $ 14§ 5.1

Equity Method Limited Liability Investments include investments in limited liability investment companies and limited
partnerships in which the Company’s interests are not deemed minor and are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. The Company’s investments in Equity Method Limited Liability Investments are generally of a passive nature in
that the Company does not take an active role in the management of the investment entity. In 2017, 2016 and 2015, aggregate
investment income (losses) from Equity Method Limited Liability Investments exceeded 10% of the Company’s pretax
consolidated net income. Accordingly, the Company is disclosing aggregated summarized financial data for its Equity Method
Limited Liability Investments. Such aggregated summarized financial data does not represent the Company’s proportionate
share of the Equity Method Limited Liability Investment assets or earnings. Aggregate total assets of the Equity Method
Limited Liability Investments in which the Company invested totaled $2,393.7 million, $2,618.1 million and $3,801.7 million,
as of December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Aggregate total liabilities of the Equity Method Limited Liability
Investments in which the Company invested totaled $899.7 million, $828.0 million and $879.1 million, as of December 31,
2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Aggregate net income of the Equity Method Limited Liability Investments in which the
Company invested totaled $209.3 million, $85.0 million and $159.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015, respectively. The aggregate summarized financial data is based on the most recent and sufficiently-timely financial
information available to the Company as of the respective reporting dates and periods. The Company’s maximum exposure to
loss at December 31, 2017 is limited to the total carrying value of $161.0 million. In addition, the Company had outstanding
commitments totaling approximately $101.0 million to fund Equity Method Limited Liability Investments at December 31,
2017.

The carrying values of the Company’s Other Investments at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016

Loans to Policyholders at Unpaid PrinCipal..........c.cceceiieieieiiiniiiieieie e $ 2986 $§ 2942
Real Estate at Depreciated COST ... ..ouiiiiiiiieierii sttt sttt sttt et sttt be e ereeneesbesaeeneenee 116.8 140.2
Trading Securities at Fair VAIUE .........ccouiiiiiiiei ettt e e e ne e 6.7 53
ORCT ..ttt bttt b ekttt h bttt ettt b et 0.1 0.2
TTORAL .ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e a e Rt e e e a e e Rt ket e a e Rt R et e a s eRt e R et et ene e s e s et eneeneesenneneenas $ 4222 $§ 4399
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NOTE 5. GOODWILL

Goodwill balances by business segment at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016
Property & Casualty INSUTANCE. ........c.eeiiriiiiieieieieeteettetete ettt ettt et sa e sseeseesaesesaeeseessessesseessenes $ 1036 $ 103.6
Life & Health INSUTANCE ....c..c.iiuiiiiiiiiiieieei ettt ettt st 219.4 219.4

TORAL ...ttt ettt h et b ettt e e e s $ 3230 $§ 323.0

The Company tests goodwill for recoverability at the reporting unit level on an annual basis as of the beginning of the first
quarter and, if circumstances or events indicate that the fair value of a reporting unit may have declined below its carrying
value, such tests are performed at intervening interim periods. The Company performed a quantitative goodwill impairment
assessment for all reporting units as of January 1, 2017 and 2016, principally using projections of discounted future cash flows
to estimate the fair values of the reporting units. For each reporting unit tested, the estimated fair value exceeded the carrying
value of the reporting unit, and the Company concluded that the associated goodwill was recoverable at the aforementioned
dates tested.

NOTE 6. PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE RESERVES

The Company’s Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves are reported using the Company’s estimate of its ultimate liability
for losses and LAE for claims that occurred prior to the end of any given accounting period but have not yet been paid. Such
estimates are based on individual case estimates for reported claims and estimates for IBNR losses, including expected
development on reported claims.

The determination of individual case reserves differs by line of business. For preferred personal automobile insurance,
homeowners insurance and other personal insurance, case reserves are set by adjusters and are based on the adjusters’ estimates
of the amount for which the claims will ultimately be paid. For non-standard personal automobile insurance and commercial
automobile insurance, case reserves are set primarily using statistical reserves that are based on studies of historical average
paid amounts by state, coverage and product. However, when such reserves exceed certain thresholds they are set manually by
adjusters.

The Company’s actuaries generally estimate ultimate losses and LAE and, therefore, reserves at least quarterly for most product
lines and/or coverage levels using accident quarters spanning 10 or more years, depending on the size of the product line and/or
coverage level or emerging issues relating to them. The Company’s actuaries use a variety of generally accepted actuarial loss
reserving estimation methodologies to estimate the ultimate losses and LAE for the current accident quarter and re-estimate the
ultimate losses and LAE for previous accident quarters to determine if changes in the previous estimates of the ultimate losses
and LAE are indicated by the most recent data.

The key assumption in these estimation methodologies is that patterns observed in prior periods are indicative of how losses
and LAE are expected to develop in the future and that such historical data can be used to predict and estimate ultimate losses
and LAE. However, changes in the Company’s business processes, by their very nature, are likely to affect the development
patterns, which generally results in the historical development factors becoming less reliable over time in predicting how losses
and LAE will ultimately develop. The Company’s actuaries use professional judgment in determining how much weight to
place on the development patterns based on the older historical data and how much weight to place on the development patterns
based on more recent data. In some cases, the Company’s actuaries make adjustments to the loss reserving estimation
methodologies to estimate ultimate losses and LAE.

The Company’s actuaries’ quarterly selections are summed by product and/or coverage levels to create the actuarial indication
of the ultimate losses and LAE. Paid amounts are then subtracted from the ultimates to compute the reserves for property and
casualty insurance losses and LAE. These results are reviewed by the Company’s corporate actuary and corporate management
who apply their collective judgment and determine the appropriate estimated level of reserves to record. Numerous factors are
considered in this determination process, including, but not limited to, the assessed reliability of key loss trends and
assumptions that may be significantly influencing the current actuarial indications, changes in claim handling practices or other
changes that affect the timing of payment or development patterns, changes in the mix of business, the maturity of the accident
year, pertinent trends observed over the recent past, the level of volatility within a particular line of business, the improvement
or deterioration of actuarial indications in the current period as compared to prior periods, and the amount of reserves related to
third party pools for which the Company has limited access to the underlying data and, accordingly, relies on calculations
provided by such pools.
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The Company’s goal is to ensure that its total reserves for property and casualty insurance losses and LAE are adequate to cover
all costs, while sustaining minimal variation from the time reserves for losses and LAE are initially estimated until losses and
LAE are fully developed. Changes in the Company’s estimates of these losses and LAE over time, also referred to as
“development,” will occur and may be material.

The following tables contain information about incurred and paid claims development as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2017, net of reinsurance and indemnification, as well as cumulative claim frequency and the total of IBNR
liabilities, including expected development on reported claims included within the net incurred losses and allocated LAE
amounts. The tables are grouped by major product line and, if relevant, coverage. The information about incurred and paid
claims development for the years ended December 31, 2013 through 2015 is presented as supplementary information and is
unaudited.

Preferred Personal Automobile Insurance—Liability

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT CUMULATIVE INCURRED CLAIMS As of December 31, 2017
Total of IBNR
Incurred Losses and Allocated LAE, Net of Reinsurance Liabilities Plus
For the Years Ended December 31, Expected Cumulative
Development Number of
2013 2014 2015 2016 on Reported Incurred
Accident Year (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 2017 Claims Claims
2013 e $ 2654 $ 2511 § 250.1 $ 2516 $ 251.8 $ — 51,112
2014 o 202.1 198.3 200.2 202.8 0.1 39,903
2015 e 168.3 171.8 176.5 1.3 32,752
2016ttt 162.1 174.5 9.0 30,472
2017 ettt ettt 164.4 39.2 28,086
TOTAL ...ttt 970.0

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated LAE, Net of Reinsurance
For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2014 2015 2016
Accident Year (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 2017
2013 ... $ 107.2 $ 1822  $ 2163 $ 234.1 $ 241.9
2014 o 85.8 143.3 168.8 188.3
2005 e 73.1 122.4 147.5
2006 61.2 114.6
2007 ettt ettt e et e e teeete e et e eaneeareans 59.2
TOtAL .. ans 751.5
Outstanding Loss and Allocated LAE Reserves on Accident Years before
2013, Net Of REINSUIANCE ....vvveiiieiiieee e 11.4
Loss and Allocated LAE Reserves, Net of Reinsurance.........cc.ccoooevuveeeeeennnenn. $ 229.9
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Preferred Personal Automobile Insurance—Physical Damage

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT CUMULATIVE INCURRED CLAIMS

As of December 31, 2017

Total of IBNR
Incurred Losses and Allocated LAE, Net of Reinsurance P
! For the Years Ended December 31, e Lla}‘l:);ll;telstseglus Cumulative
Development Number of
2013 2014 2015 2016 on Reported Incurred
Accident Year (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 2017 Claims Claims
2013 ............. $ 139.7 % 1385 $ 1385 $ 1384 $ 1384 § (0.1) 78,778
2014 122.0 121.6 121.4 1214 (0.1) 67,219
2005 e 101.2 100.7 100.6 (0.1) 53,464
D0T6 oo 106.6 106.6 (0.5) 49,870
1 O USSP SUUSUSPRNt 109.2 1.2) 47,440
TOTAL .ottt ettt sttt eneeneas 576.2

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated LAE, Net of Reinsurance
For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2014 2015 2016
Accident Year (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 2017
2013 . $ 137.0 S 1389 $ 1386 $ 1385 $ 138.5
2014 oo 121.0 121.8 121.5 121.5
2005 e 100.1 101.0 100.7
2006 105.2 106.9
2007 e et ettt et et e et e eaeeeaeeaaean 104.4
TOtAL .. 572.0
Outstanding Loss and Allocated LAE Reserves on Accident Years before

2013, Net Of REINSUTANCE ....vvveiiieeeiieceeeieeee et (0.1)

Loss and Allocated LAE Reserves, Net of Reinsurance............c...cooceeeevvieneennns $ 4.1
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NOTE 6. PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE RESERVES (Continued)

Non-standard Personal Automobile Insurance—Liability’

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT CUMULATIVE INCURRED CLAIMS

As of December 31, 2017

Total of IBNR
Incurred Losses and Allocated LAE, Net of Reinsurance and Indemnification PR
For the Years Ended December 31, Llaé);l[l,telstseglus Cumulative
Development Number of
2013 2014 2015 2016 on Reported Incurred
Accident Year (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 2017 Claims Claims
2013 ............. $ 250.5 $ 247.1 $ 2483 $ 2495 § 248.8 $ 0.2 66,918
2014 e 255.0 262.9 267.1 266.1 34 76,771
2005 e 379.4 379.8 381.1 0.2 91,674
2006t 435.7 437.1 16.6 105,405
20 L7 ettt e et e aa et e ae e beeneeeneaeteeanaeeneaaneens 444.6 102.8 103,965
TOAL .ottt ea et et b et eneeneas 1,777.7
Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated LAE, Net of Reinsurance and Indemnification
For the Years Ended December 31,
2013 2014 2015 2016
Accident Year (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 2017

2013 . $ 117.8 S 2082 $ 2338 $ 2442  $§ 247.4
2014 o, 117.4 210.8 245.5 258.4
2005 e 167.7 304.7 359.2
2006 ettt b e eaaeaaan 168.9 346.2
B O PSS PRUSPPUR 175.4
TORAL. oo oo e oo e ee oo 1,386.6
Outstanding Loss and Allocated LAE Reserves on Accident Years before

2013, Net Of REINSULANCE ......eccuveeiiiieiiieeetieeetee ettt e e 1.2
Loss and Allocated LAE Reserves, Net of Reinsurance............cccoocevveeveeevneenns $ 392.3

! Table retrospectively includes Alliance United’s historical incurred and paid accident year claim information for all periods

presented.
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NOTE 6. PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE RESERVES (Continued)

Non-standard Personal Automobile Insurance—Physical Damage'

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT CUMULATIVE INCURRED CLAIMS

As of December 31, 2017

Total of IBNR
Incurred Losses and Allocated LAE, Net of Reinsurance and Indemnification il
For the Years Ended December 31, Llal?l:);l[;?cetseglus Cumulative
Development Number of
2013 2014 2015 2016 on Reported Incurred
Accident Year (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 2017 Claims Claims
2013 ............. $ 100.1 $ 100.3  $ 100.0 $ 99.8 $ 99.7 § (0.1) 36,174
2014 oo, 105.8 104.7 104.3 104.3 0.5) 38,048
2005 e 143.2 143.3 143.5 0.4) 42,897
2016 177.9 181.6 2.3) 50,533
207 ettt et et e e e eta e e ereeaaas 203.6 6.3 55,303
TOAL oottt a e ebe ettt eneeneas 732.7

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated LAE, Net of Reinsurance and Indemnification
For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2014 2015 2016
Accident Year (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 2017
2013 ..o $ 934 % 1002 $ 999 $ 99.7 $ 99.8
2014 oo 97.1 105.9 105.1 105.1
2005 e 130.0 143.8 143.2
2006 167.4 183.3
20 L7 ettt ettt e e e anaeans 185.2
TOMAL e et 716.6
Outstanding Loss and Allocated LAE Reserves on Accident Years before
2013, Net Of REINSUTANCE .....vvviiiiiiiiieeeeeieee et (0.1)
Loss and Allocated LAE Reserves, Net of Reinsurance............cccoocevveeeeeevnnennns $ 16.0

! Table retrospectively includes Alliance United’s historical incurred and paid accident year claim information for all periods

presented.
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Homeowners Insurance

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT CUMULATIVE INCURRED CLAIMS As of December 31, 2017
Total of IBNR
Incurred Losses and Allocated LAE, Net of Reinsurance PR
For the Years Ended December 31, Llaé);lll’telcetseglus Cumulative
Development Number of
2013 2014 2015 2016 on Reported Incurred
Accident Year (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 2017 Claims Claims
2013 ............. $ 180.8 3 172.8 $ 1694 $ 167.5 $ 167.8 $ (0.1) 21,974
2014 oo 211.1 208.5 205.0 204.8 — 22,442
2005 e 178.9 164.9 163.2 1.2) 17,444
2076t 200.3 201.7 (0.7) 17,896
207 et et e e e ta e e eaa e 261.2 17.3 17,011

B o] 72 TSROSO 998.7

Cumulative Paid Losses and Allocated LAE, Net of Reinsurance
For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2014 2015 2016
Accident Year (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited) 2017
2013 ............. $ 1224 S 156.5 $ 1625 $ 164.7 $ 165.6
2014 oo 149.2 194.4 200.1 202.8
2005 e 116.9 154.4 158.0
2006 e e e 141.2 190.1
20 L7 ettt ettt e e ans 165.8
TOMAL ettt 882.3
Outstanding Loss and Allocated LAE Reserves on Accident Years before
2013, Net Of REINSUIANCE ......covveiiiieeciieeeeiee et 3.7
Loss and Allocated LAE Reserves, Net of Reinsurance................coovevvvvveeneenns $ 120.1

The claim counts in the preceding tables are cumulative incurred claim counts as of December 31, 2017 and are equal to both
(i) reported claims minus claims closed without payment as well as (ii) open claims plus claims closed with payment. As such,
the difference between these claim counts and final claim counts once all claims have been identified and settled will tend to be
higher in recent accident years, particularly the most recent accident year, due to claims closed without payment. Certain
product lines, particularly the Company’s non-standard personal automobile insurance, tend to have a higher percentage of
claims closed without payment.

The Company's claims are counted at the feature level. As such, each claimant and each coverage is counted separately. For
example, if for one occurrence, the Company's policyholder is at fault for damage to his/her own vehicle, another party's
vehicle and three injured parties, there may be five features—three for bodily injury liability, one for property damage liability
and one for first-party collision coverage. There may also be another feature for first-party medical payments.
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The following table reconciles the net incurred and paid claims development tables presented above to the Company's liability
for Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2017.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017

Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves, Net of Reinsurance:
Preferred Personal Automobile InSurance—Liability .........c..coieouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicee e $ 2299
Preferred Personal Automobile Insurance—Physical Damage............cccevevuiiiieieieiieeieieiieee et 4.1
Non-standard Personal Automobile Insurance—Liability ..........ccocceeievieriiiiiieieiiieeieee e 392.3
Non-standard Personal Automobile Insurance—Physical Damage...........cccooieiiiiiiiieiiiiciceecceee e 16.0
HOMEOWNETS INSUTATICE ...ttt ettt ettt h et b e e bt a et e b e bt et et e bt e bt et e beebeeetentenbeebeennan 120.1
L0 1 1T OO OO TSSOSO PRSP 120.9

TOTALL ettt h e a bbbt h e a b et e bt eh £ ea e e bt bt ea £ et e bt b e e a b e b e bt ea e et e bt eheeat et e ebeeheent e be bt eaeenee 883.3

Reinsurance Recoverables on Unpaid Losses and Allocated LAE:

Preferred Personal Automobile InSurance—Liability .........ccccoeierieiiiiiiieiiiii e 32.5
Preferred Personal Automobile Insurance—Physical Damage............cccevveriiriiiienieniieieieieeeceeiese e 0.1
Non-standard Personal Automobile Insurance—Liability ..........ccoeieieiiiiiiiiiieieeie e 0.4
Non-standard Personal Automobile Insurance—Physical Damage............ccccceevveviiieienienicieieeeeeeee e —
HOMEOWNET'S TNSUTATICE ...ttt ettt a ettt bt et et bt e st e ab e b e e s e emeeas e s e eaeeaeenseeeeeneenseabesaeennans 11.3
L@ 1 1 TS TSSOSO 8.8
TOTAL ..ttt ettt h bt h b h e et h e h e s h e h e skt h et st h ettt n ekt e e st bt e e st bttt eneenea 53.1
Insurance Lines other than Short-AUIration............c.ccueriiiieieiiiiieceeee ettt sreere s e sbesreeseenes —
UNAIIOCATEA LLAE ...ttt ettt a e a et et e bt eae et e e bt ee e e b e bt es e eat e b e eb e esteasenbeebeeneenseabeebeennans 80.4
Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves, Gross of Reinsurance and Indemnification ..............cccoeeeeeievieniiieenennn. $ 1,016.8

The following is supplementary information about average historical claims duration as of December 31, 2017.

Average Annual Percentage Payout of Incurred Claims by Age, Net of Reinsurance and Indemnification (Unaudited)

Years 1 2 3 4 5

Preferred Personal Automobile Insurance—Liability.........ccccoccovecirininnenns 39.5% 69.5% 84.2% 92.9%  96.1%
Preferred Personal Automobile Insurance—Physical Damage.................... 98.5% 100.3% 100.1% 100.1% 100.1%
Non-standard Personal Automobile Insurance—Liability..............cccceeneeee. 42.7%  80.5% 93.5% 97.6%  99.4%
Non-standard Personal Automobile Insurance—Physical Damage............. 92.1% 100.8% 100.3% 100.4% 100.1%
Homeowners INSUTANCE. .......coveiririeieieiirieieieeteseeeee e 70.2%  943% 97.1% 98.6%  98.7%
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Property and Casualty Insurance Reserve activity for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Beginning Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves:

Gross of Reinsurance and Indemnification at Beginning of Year.................ccco $ 9314 $ 8628 $ 7339

Less Reinsurance Recoverables and Indemnification at Beginning of Year..................... 50.2 52.0 54.9
Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves, Net of Reinsurance and Indemnification at

Beginning Of YEaT......cc.uiiiiiiiiiieeeee et 881.2 810.8 679.0
Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves Acquired, Net of Reinsurance and

INAEMNITICALION. ..c..etiiiiiieite ettt sttt — — 125.4

Incurred Losses and LAE related to:
Current Year:

CONtINUING OPCTATIONS ....eeueieiieeiieeiieeiteete e ete et eteeteesteesseesteesseesseesseesssesnseenseenseansean 1,454.1 1,358.6 1,123.3
Prior Years:
ContiNUING OPETALIONS ...euveviriieiiertiitieiienie ittt ettt ettt b et sb et esee st sbeenees 20.4 (14.4) (11.5)
DiscoONtiNUEd OPETAtIONS .....eevveuievieiieiieieiteeieiesteeeestestesseeseeseesseeseeseesessesseessessessessnens (1.5) (6.3) (8.6)
Total Incurred Losses and LAE related to Prior Years.........cccooieiiieiiiiieiiee e 18.9 (20.7) (20.1)
Total Incurred Losses and LAE ...........oooiiiiiiiiiie et eaan e 1,473.0 1,337.9 1,103.2

Paid Losses and LAE related to:
Current Year:

COoNtiNUING OPETALIONS ...euvivievienieiteeiieiierie st eeeteeteeeetesteeseestesesseeseentensesseeseensessesseenees 868.1 831.0 723.2
Prior Years:
CONtINUING OPETALIONS ...evvivieeienierieetieeiesie st esteteeteeeesesseeseeseesesseeseessessessesssessessesseenses 518.5 431.9 366.2
Discontinued OPETatiOnS .........cecueruiruieierieitieietesteeteet ettt eteee et etebesbeseeeneesbesseenees 3.9 4.6 7.4
Total Paid Losses and LAE related to Prior YEars .........ccocvevevieriesieeeeieieseeieiesie e 522.4 436.5 373.6
Total Paid Losses and LAE ..........oooi e 1,390.5 1,267.5 1,096.8
Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves, Net of Reinsurance and Indemnification at
ENA OF YAT ...ttt et eeeee e ns 963.7 881.2 810.8
Plus Reinsurance and Indemnification Recoverables at End of Year..........cccccoeoieiiiiienn. 53.1 50.2 52.0

Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves, Gross of Reinsurance and Indemnification at
ENd O YEAL ..ttt $1,0168 $§ 9314 § 862.8

Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves are estimated based on historical experience patterns and current economic trends.
Actual loss experience and loss trends are likely to differ from these historical experience patterns and economic conditions.
Loss experience and loss trends emerge over several years from the dates of loss inception. The Company monitors such
emerging loss trends on a quarterly basis. Changes in such estimates are included in the Consolidated Statements of Income in
the period of change.

In 2017, the Company increased its property and casualty insurance reserves by $18.9 million to recognize adverse
development of loss and LAE reserves from prior accident years. Personal lines insurance loss and LAE reserves developed
adversely by $19.5 million, and commercial lines insurance loss and LAE reserves developed favorably by $0.6 million.
Personal automobile insurance loss and LAE reserves developed adversely by $22.2 million due primarily to the emergence of
loss patterns that were worse than expected for both physical damage and liability insurance for the 2016 accident year and, to a
lesser extent, for liability insurance for the 2015 and 2014 accident years, partially offset by the emergence of more favorable
loss patterns than expected for the 2013 and prior accident years. Homeowners insurance loss and LAE reserves developed
adversely by $1.0 million due primarily to the emergence of non-catastrophe loss patterns that were worse than expected for the
2016 accident year, and to a lesser extent, the 2013 and prior accident years, partially offset by $3.7 million of favorable
development on catastrophes primarily for the 2016 accident year and, to a lesser extent, the 2015 accident year. Other personal
lines loss and LAE reserves developed favorably by $3.7 million due primarily to the emergence of more favorable loss patterns
than expected for the 2015, 2014, 2013 and prior accident years, partially offset by the emergence of loss patterns that were
worse than expected for the 2016 accident year. Commercial lines insurance loss and LAE reserves included adverse
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development of $0.9 million from continuing operations and favorable development of $1.5 million from discontinued
operations.

In 2016, the Company reduced its property and casualty insurance reserves by $20.7 million to recognize favorable
development of losses and LAE from prior accident years. Personal lines insurance loss and LAE reserves developed favorably
by $16.8 million, and commercial lines insurance loss and LAE reserves developed favorably by $3.9 million. Personal
automobile insurance loss and LAE reserves developed adversely by $11.3 million due primarily to the emergence of loss
patterns that were worse than expected for liability insurance for the 2015 and 2014 accident years and, to a lesser extent, the
2013 and 2012 accident years. Homeowners insurance loss and LAE reserves developed favorably by $20.0 million due
primarily to $16.8 million of favorable development on catastrophes primarily for the 2015 accident year and, to a lesser extent,
the 2014 accident year. Other personal lines loss and LAE reserves developed favorably by $8.1 million due primarily to the
emergence of more favorable loss patterns than expected for the 2015, 2014, 2013 and 2012 accident years. Commercial lines
insurance loss and LAE reserves included adverse development of $2.4 million from continuing operations and favorable
development of $6.3 million from discontinued operations.

In 2015, the Company reduced its property and casualty insurance reserves by $20.1 million to recognize favorable
development of losses and LAE from prior accident years, including the impact of adverse development of $7.7 million, net of
estimated indemnification recoveries, related to Alliance United for periods prior to the date of its acquisition. Personal lines
insurance loss and LAE reserves developed favorably by $13.3 million and commercial lines insurance loss and LAE reserves
developed favorably by $6.8 million. Personal automobile insurance loss and LAE reserves developed favorably by $1.8
million, net of the adverse development related to Alliance United, homeowners insurance loss and LAE reserves developed
favorably by $10.8 million, and other personal lines loss and LAE reserves developed favorably by $0.7 million. Excluding the
adverse development related to Alliance United for periods prior to the date of its acquisition, personal lines insurance losses
and LAE reserves developed favorably by $21.0 million due primarily to the emergence of more favorable loss patterns than
expected for the 2013, 2012 and 2011 accident years. Commercial lines insurance loss and LAE reserves included adverse
development of $1.8 million from continuing operations and favorable development of $8.6 million from discontinued
operations.

The Company cannot predict whether loss and LAE reserves will develop favorably or unfavorably from the amounts reported
in the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company believes that any such development will not have a material effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial position, but could have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial results
for a given period.

Reinsurance and indemnification recoverables on property and casualty insurance reserves were $53.1 million and $50.2
million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. These recoverables are concentrated with several reinsurers, the vast
majority of which are highly rated by one or more of the principal investor and/or insurance company rating agencies. While
most of these recoverables were unsecured at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the agreements with the reinsurers generally
provide for some form of collateralization upon the occurrence of certain events.

NOTE 7. DEBT

The Company designates debt obligations as either short-term or long-term based on maturity date at issuance. Total amortized
cost of Long-term Debt, Current and Non-current, outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016 was:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016
Senior Notes:
6.00% Senior Notes due May 15, 2017 ....cooiiiieieieieeeeieieee ettt S — $ 3598
4.35% Senior Notes due February 15, 2025 ... 448.1 247.7
7.375% Subordinated Debentures due February 27, 2054 .........cooiiiiiieiieeeeeeeeee e 144.2 144.1
Total Long-term Debt, Current and Non-current, OutStanding ...........c.cceveeeeierieneeeerieneneeieiese e $ 5923 §$ 751.6

There were no outstanding borrowings at either December 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016 under Kemper’s $225.0 million,
unsecured, revolving credit agreement which expires June 2, 2020.
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Kemper’s subsidiaries, Trinity Universal Insurance Company (“Trinity”) and United Insurance Company of America (“United
Insurance”), are members of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) of Dallas and Chicago, respectively. There were no
advances from the FHLB of Dallas or Chicago outstanding at either December 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016.

The Company has $450.0 million of 4.35% senior notes due February 15, 2025 (the “2025 Senior Notes”) outstanding as of
December 31, 2017. The Company initially issued $250 million of the 2025 Senior Notes in February of 2015, with proceeds
from the issuance of $247.3 million, net of discount and transaction costs, for an effective yield of 4.49%. Kemper used the net
proceeds from the sale, together with available cash, to redeem in full the $250.0 million outstanding principal amount of its
6.00% senior notes due November 30, 2015. Kemper recognized a loss of $9.1 million before income taxes in 2015 from the
early redemption of these senior notes.

In June of 2017, Kemper issued an additional $200 million of the 2025 Senior Notes. The proceeds of the additional issuance
were $200.2 million, net of discount and transaction costs, for an effective yield of 4.16%. The additional notes are fungible
with the initial notes issued in 2015, and together are treated as part of a single series for all purposes under the indenture
governing the 2025 Senior Notes. Kemper used the net proceeds from the additional issuance for general corporate purposes.
The 2025 Senior Notes are unsecured and may be redeemed in whole at any time or in part from time to time at Kemper’s
option at specified redemption prices.

During the fourth quarter of 2016, in anticipation of a debt issuance in 2017 and for risk management purposes, the Company
entered into a derivative transaction to hedge the risk of changes in the debt cash flows attributable to changes in the benchmark
U.S. Treasury interest rate during the period leading up to the probable debt issuance (“Treasury Lock™). The Treasury Lock
was formally designated as a cash flow hedge at inception and qualified for hedge accounting treatment. In the second quarter
0f 2017, the Company de-designated a portion of the cash flow hedge because the anticipated principal issuance was less than
the notional amount of the Treasury Lock and recorded a pre-tax charge of $1.1 million in Other Expenses. The effective
portion of the loss on the derivative instrument upon discontinuance was $4.5 million before taxes, and is reported as a
component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. Beginning with the additional issuance of the 2025 Senior Notes
described in the preceding paragraph, such loss is being amortized into earnings and reported in Interest Expense in the same
periods that the hedged items affect earnings. Amortization, reported in Interest Expense, was $0.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017. The Company expects to reclassify $0.4 million of net losses on derivative instruments from AOCI to
earnings for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 as interest expense on the debt is recognized. The Treasury Lock was
in a gain position of $1.6 million at December 31, 2016 and, accordingly, such gain was included in Other Assets in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet at such date.

Interest Expense, including facility fees, accretion of discount and amortization of issuance costs, was $34.9 million, $44.4
million and $46.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Interest paid, including facility
fees, was $34.7 million, $44.2 million and $44.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

NOTE 8. LEASES

The Company leases certain office space under non-cancelable operating leases, with initial terms typically ranging from one to
ten years, along with options that permit renewals for additional periods. The Company also leases certain equipment under
non-cancelable operating leases, with initial terms typically ranging from one to five years. Minimum rent is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Net rental expense for operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Minimum Rental EXPENSE .......cvcviriiiiiiriiiiietiiiecieeiete ettt ettt ese e $ 205 $ 212 $§ 207
Less Sublease Rental INCOME ..........ccuiiiiiiiiiiieiieciiececee et (1.6) (1.6) (1.7)
Net ReNtal EXPENSE ....ocviivieeiiiieiieiieiesie ettt ettt ettt ettt aeste et esesseessessesesseessessessesseeneas $ 189 § 196 $ 19.0
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NOTE 8. LEASES (Continued)
Future minimum lease payments under capital and operating leases at December 31, 2017 were:

Capital Operating

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Leases Leases

2 L ettt ettt ettt e et e e eateeateeabeeateeateeateeabe e bt esteeae e st eesaeeateesteenseeaseenteeaseenseenseenseenseeseennen $ 0.1 $§ 153
B 0 PSRRI — 12.8
0200 ettt ettt e eteeeteeeateeateeaaeeateeateeaseease e beeasseaseeeseeenseeaseesseenseeaseenseeaseenseenseenssenseeneennen — 10.6
1 0 TSRS — 8.7
202 ettt e eaeeeateeateeateeaseeateeaseeseeteeasseesseesseenteeaseesteenseenseenseeseenseeseesneseeeneens — 7.1
2023 ANA TRETEATLET .....vieiietieei ettt ettt e et esae et eeaeesaeeeseeeaeeeaeeenseeaseenseenseenseesseeseennes — 9.0
TOtal FULUIE PAYIMENTS.....ectieiiiiiiieiieieiese ettt ettt ettt ettt sttt et e s se e st e st esesseeseensenseseeeneenns $ 01 $ 635

Less IMPULEA INEETEST .....c.eeuriiiiiieiieiieicieteie ettt sttt sttt ettt —
Present Value of Minimum Capital Lease PAYMENTS ........coeverieriiiieieieriieiieienieeieeeeesie e $ 0.1

The total of minimum rentals to be received in the future under non-cancelable subleases was $0.4 million at December 31,
2017.

NOTE 9. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Kemper is authorized to issue 20 million shares of $0.10 par value preferred stock and 100 million shares of $0.10 par value
common stock. No preferred shares were issued or outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016. There were 51,462,405 shares
and 51,270,940 shares of common stock outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. There were no shares of
outstanding common stock at December 31, 2017, that had been issued subject to vesting or other requirements, in connection
with the Company’s long-term equity compensation plans, compared to 16,000 shares at December 31, 2016. See Note 10,
“Long-Term Equity-based Compensation,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the restrictions and
vesting provisions.

Kemper did not repurchase any of its common stock in open market transactions in 2017. Kemper repurchased and retired 0.1
million shares of its common stock in open market transactions at an aggregate cost of $3.8 million in 2016. Kemper
repurchased and retired 1.2 million shares of its common stock in open market transactions at an aggregate cost of $43.5
million in 2015.

Various state insurance laws restrict the amount that an insurance subsidiary may pay in the form of dividends, loans or
advances without the prior approval of regulatory authorities. Also, that portion of an insurance subsidiary’s net equity which
results from differences between statutory insurance accounting practices and GAAP would not be available for cash dividends,
loans or advances. Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries paid dividends of $108.1 million to Kemper in 2017. In 2018, Kemper’s
insurance subsidiaries would be able to pay $201 million in dividends to Kemper without prior regulatory approval. Kemper’s
insurance subsidiaries had net assets of $2.4 billion, determined in accordance with GAAP, that were restricted from payment to
Kemper without prior regulatory approval at December 31, 2017.

Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries are required to file financial statements prepared on the basis of statutory insurance accounting
practices, a comprehensive basis of accounting other than GAAP. Statutory capital and surplus for the Company’s life and
health insurance subsidiaries was $414.3 million and $403.7 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Statutory net
income for the Company’s life and health insurance subsidiaries was $84.1 million, $29.7 million and $62.8 million for the
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Statutory capital and surplus for the Company’s property and
casualty insurance subsidiaries was $855.3 million and $928.9 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Statutory
net income for the Company’s property and casualty insurance subsidiaries was $56.9 million, $1.4 million and $58.9 million
for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Statutory capital and surplus and statutory net income
exclude parent company operations.

Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries are also required to hold minimum levels of statutory capital and surplus to satisfy regulatory
requirements. The minimum statutory capital and surplus, or company action level RBC, necessary to satisfy regulatory
requirements for the Company’s life and health insurance subsidiaries collectively was $120.9 million at December 31, 2017.
The minimum statutory capital and surplus necessary to satisfy regulatory requirements for the Company’s property and
casualty insurance subsidiaries collectively was $340.5 million at December 31, 2017. Company action level RBC is the level
at which a company is required to file a corrective action plan with its regulators and is equal to 200% of the authorized control
level RBC.
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NOTE 9. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Continued)

In 2017, Kemper paid dividends of $49.5 million to its shareholders. Except for certain financial covenants under Kemper’s
credit agreement or during any period in which Kemper elects to defer interest payments, there are no restrictions on Kemper’s
ability to pay dividends to its shareholders. Certain financial covenants, namely minimum net worth and a maximum debt to
total capitalization ratio, under Kemper’s credit agreement could limit the amount of dividends that Kemper may pay to
shareholders at December 31, 2017. Kemper had the ability to pay without restrictions $326 million in dividends to its
shareholders and still be in compliance with all financial covenants under its credit agreement at December 31, 2017.

NOTE 10. LONG-TERM EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION

On May 4, 2011, Kemper’s shareholders approved the 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan (“Omnibus Plan’’). The Omnibus Plan
replaced the Company’s previous employee stock option plans, director stock option plan and restricted stock plan (collectively,
the “Prior Plans”). Awards previously granted under the Prior Plans remain outstanding in accordance with their original terms.
Beginning May 4, 2011, equity-based compensation awards may only be granted under the Omnibus Plan. A maximum number
of 10,000,000 shares of Kemper common stock may be issued under the Omnibus Plan (the “Share Authorization™). As of
December 31, 2017, there were 6,338,224 common shares available for future grants under the Omnibus Plan, of which
677,949 shares were reserved for future grants based on the performance results under the terms of outstanding performance-
based stock unit awards.

The design of the Omnibus Plan provides for fungible use of shares to determine the number of shares available for future
grants, with a fungible conversion factor of three to one, such that the Share Authorization will be reduced at two different rates,
depending on the type of award granted. Each share of Kemper common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options or
stock appreciation rights will reduce the number of shares available for future grant under the Share Authorization by one share,
while each share of Kemper common stock issued pursuant to “full value awards” will reduce the number of shares available
for future grant under the Share Authorization by three shares. “Full value awards” are awards, other than stock options or stock
appreciation rights, that are settled by the issuance of shares of Kemper common stock and include time-based restricted stock
awards and time-based restricted stock units (collectively “RSUs”), performance-based restricted stock units (“PSUs”’) and
deferred stock units (“DSUSs”).

Outstanding equity-based compensation awards at December 31, 2017 consisted of tandem stock option and stock appreciation
rights (“Tandem Awards”), RSUs, PSUs and DSUs. RSUs, PSUs and DSUs give the recipient the right to receive one share of
Kemper common stock for each RSU, PSU or DSU issued. Recipients of RSUs, PSUs and DSUs receive full dividend
equivalents on the same basis as all other outstanding shares of Kemper common stock, but do not receive voting rights until
such shares are issued. Except as described below for equity-based compensation awards granted to each member of the Board
of Directors who is not employed by the Company (“Non-employee Directors™), all outstanding awards are subject to forfeiture
until certain restrictions have lapsed.

For awards subject to a performance condition, the Company recognizes compensation expense based upon the probable
outcome of the performance condition, which on the grant date reflects an estimate of attaining 100% of the performance units
granted. The estimate is revised if the actual number of PSUs expected to vest is likely to differ from the previous estimate.
Compensation expense for awards is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. For equity-based
compensation awards with a graded vesting schedule, the Company recognizes compensation expense on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period for each separately-vesting portion of the awards as if each award were, in substance, multiple
awards. Compensation expense is recognized only for those awards expected to vest, with forfeitures estimated at the date of
grant based on the Company’s historical experience and future expectations. Equity-based compensation expense was $9.4
million, $4.7 million and $6.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Total unamortized
compensation expense related to nonvested awards at December 31, 2017 was $9.4 million, which is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 1.4 years.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, or the Board’s authorized designee, has sole discretion to determine
the persons to whom awards under the Omnibus Plan are granted, and the material terms of the awards. For Tandem Awards,
material terms include the number of shares covered by such awards and the exercise price, vesting and expiration dates of such
awards. Tandem Awards are non-transferable. The exercise price of Tandem Awards is the fair value of Kemper’s common
stock on the date of grant. Tandem Awards and RSU awards granted to employees generally vest in four equal annual
installments over a period of 3.5 years, with the Tandem Awards expiring ten years from the date of grant. Employee PSU
awards generally vest over a period of three years, subject to performance results and other restrictions.
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Under the Non-employee Director compensation programs in effect for 2017 and 2016, each non-employee director received an
annual DSU award covering shares of Kemper common stock with an aggregate grant date fair value of $110,000 and $75,000,
respectively, at the conclusion of each annual shareholder meeting. Under the Non-employee Director compensation programs
in effect for 2015, annual awards to each Non-employee Director included 500 DSUs and stock options, as described below.
The DSUs granted to Non-employee Directors are fully vested on the date of grant. Conversion of the DSUs into shares of
Kemper’s common stock is deferred until the date a director’s board service terminates.

In addition to the annual DSU awards under the Non-employee Director compensation programs in effect for 2015, each Non-
employee Director received an initial option award to purchase 4,000 shares of Kemper common stock immediately upon
becoming a director, and in addition, received an annual option award to purchase 4,000 shares of common stock on the date of
each annual meeting of Kemper’s shareholders. Grants of such option awards were fully vested and exercisable on the date of
grant at an exercise price equal to the fair value of Kemper’s common stock on the date of grant and expire ten years from the
date of grant.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of each Tandem Award on the date of
grant. The expected terms of Tandem Awards are developed by considering the Company’s historical Tandem Award exercise
experience, demographic profiles, historical share retention practices of employees and assumptions about their propensity for
early exercise in the future. Expected volatility is estimated using weekly historical volatility. The Company believes that
historical volatility is currently the best estimate of expected volatility. The dividend yield in 2017, 2016 and 2015 was
calculated by taking the natural logarithm of the annualized yield divided by the Kemper common stock price on the date of
grant. The risk-free interest rate was the yield on the grant date of U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues with a maturity comparable
to the expected term of the option.

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes pricing model for Tandem Awards granted during the years ended December 31,
2017, 2016 and 2015 are presented below.

2017 2016 2015

RANGE OF VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS

Expected Volatility .........coceveeiieneniniiiiniiccec e 26.17% - 30.39%  25.85% - 42.19% 21.31% - 41.65%
Risk-free Interest Rate........ccocevvevieierienenieienecenen 1.59 - 2.25 0.77 - 2.01 1.08 - 1.96
Expected Dividend Yield...........ccocooooiiiiniiinn 139 - 243 222 - 341 237 - 2.62
WEIGHTED-AVERAGE EXPECTED LIFE IN YEARS

Employee Grants..........ccoeceeveeveenienenieneneseeene s 4 - 65 1 - 65 4 -7
Director Grants...........cceceeveerienieeie e N/A N/A 5.5
Tandem Award activity for the year ended December 31, 2017 is presented below.

Weighted-
Weighted- average Aggregate
Shares average Remaining Intrinsic
Subject to Exercise Price Contractual Value
Awards Per Share ($) Life (in Years) ($ In Millions)

Outstanding at Beginning of the Year.........ccocovvvevienenvnienenne. 1,306,123 $ 36.35

(€21 11T FO R RTOPRRRRRRP 444,339 43.72

Exercised (377,811) 35.60

Forfeited or EXpired........cccccovirieienieniieieieieceeceee e (360,372) 43.14

Outstanding at December 31, 2017....c.cccvevienienieiicieeiee 1,012,279 37.45 785 § 31.8
Vested and Expected to Vest at December 31, 2017.................. 959,899 $ 37.40 7.81 $ 30.2
Exercisable at December 31, 2017.....c..cooviiiiiiiiiiiiiieeciieeeeee 470,946 $ 35.49 692 § 15.7

The weighted-average grant-date fair values of Tandem Awards granted during 2017, 2016 and 2015 were $8.89, $5.17 and
$7.85, respectively. Total intrinsic value of Tandem Awards exercised was $4.9 million, $2.0 million and $4.6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Cash received from exercises of Tandem Awards was $4.0
million, $3.5 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Total tax benefit
realized for tax deductions from exercises of Tandem Awards was $1.7 million, $0.7 million and $1.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Information pertaining to Tandem Awards outstanding at December 31, 2017 is presented below.

Outstanding Exercisable
‘Weighted-
Weighted- average Weighted-
Shares average Remaining Shares average

Subject to Exercise Price Contractual Subject to Exercise Price

Range of Exercise Prices ($) Awards Per Share ($) Life (in Years) Awards Per Share ($)
$ 15.00 - $ 20.00 4,000 $ 16.48 1.35 4,000 $ 16.48
20.01 - 25.00 2,000 22.33 1.94 2,000 22.33
25.01 - 30.00 205,469 27.82 7.36 108,813 27.92
30.01 - 35.00 124,127 31.84 6.90 83,141 32.03
35.01 - 40.00 198,515 37.40 7.03 124,428 37.20
40.01 - 45.00 463,637 42.58 8.70 148,564 42.24
45.01 - 50.00 — — 0.00 — —
50.01 - 55.00 734 54.50 9.76 — —
55.01 - 60.00 — — 0.00 — —
60.01 - 65.00 6,221 64.30 9.84 — —
65.01 70.00 7,576 68.65 9.92 — —
15.00 - 70.00 1,012,279 37.45 7.85 470,946 35.49

The grant-date fair values of RSUs, both time-based restricted stock awards and time-based restricted stock units, are
determined using the closing price of Kemper common stock on the date of grant. Activity related to nonvested RSUs for the

year ended December 31, 2017 is presented below.

Time-based Restricted Stock

Time-based Restricted Stock

Awards Unit Awards
Weighted- Weighted-
average average
Grant-date Number of Grant-date
Number of Fair Value Restricted Fair Value
Shares Per Share Stock Units Per Unit
Nonvested Balance at Beginning of the Year ...........cccccoeveveeieieniiineenene. 16,000 $ 34.69 158,361 $ 33.56
GIANTEA ..ot e eae e et e e e eeae e — — 84,331 44.70
VSO, .. (14,000) 34.13 (57,016) 33.65
FOTFCIEEA. e oo ee e (2,000) 38.59 (55,429) 34.46
Nonvested Balance at December 31, 2017 ....ooooviiiiiiiiiiieiee e — 3 — 130,247 $ 40.34

The initial number of PSUs awarded to each participant represents the number of Kemper common shares that would vest and
be issued if the performance level attained were to be at the “target” performance level. For performance above the target level,
each participant would receive a grant of additional shares of stock up to a maximum of 100% of the initial number of PSUs
awarded to the participant. The final payout of these awards, and any forfeitures of PSUs for performance below the “target”
performance level, will be determined based on the Company’s performance. If, at the end of the applicable performance

period, the Company’s performance:

«  exceeds the “target” performance level, all of the PSUs will vest and additional shares of stock will be issued to the

award recipient;

« is below the “target” performance level, but at or above a “minimum” performance level, only a portion of the PSUs

originally issued to the award recipient will vest; or

« is below a “minimum” performance level, none of the PSUs originally issued to the award recipient will vest.
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Activity related to nonvested PSU awards for the year ended December 31, 2017 is presented below.

PSU Awards
Weighted-
average
Grant-date
Number of Fair Value
PSUs Per PSU
Nonvested Balance at Beginning 0f the Year.........c.cccioieiiiiiiiieieiceeeeeeeeee e 227,584 $ 34.55
GTANEE ...ttt ettt e et e et e et e et e et e et e e et e et e e eae et e et e et et e et e et e enteeneenns 100,620 44.32
FOITRILEA ... (102,221) 38.96
Nonvested Balance at December 31, 2017 .....ooviiiuiiiieie ettt e e eee e e eaae e 225,983 $ 36.90

The number of additional shares that would be granted if the Company were to meet or exceed the maximum performance
levels related to the outstanding PSU awards for the 2017, 2016 and 2015 three-year performance periods was 84,383 common
shares, 107,638 common shares and 33,962 common shares, respectively, (as “full value awards,” the equivalent of 253,149
shares, 322,914 shares, and 101,886 shares, respectively, under the Share Authorization) at December 31, 2017. For the 2014
and 2013 three-year performance periods, the Company’s performance level was below the minimum performance level, and
all of the related 43,207 shares and 51,400 shares, respectively, of PSUs were forfeited on February 4, 2017 and February 4,
2016, the three-year anniversary of their grant date.

The grant date fair values of the PSU awards with a market performance condition are determined using the Monte Carlo
simulation method. The Monte Carlo simulation model produces a risk-neutral simulation of the daily returns on the common
stock of Kemper and each of the other companies included in the peer group. Returns generated by the simulation depend on
the risk-free interest rate used and the volatilities of, and the correlation between, these stocks. The model simulates stock prices
and dividend payouts to the end of the three-year performance period. Total shareholder returns are generated for each of these
stocks based on the simulated prices and dividend payouts. The total shareholder returns are then ranked, and Kemper’s
simulated ranking is converted to a payout percentage based on the terms of the PSU awards. The payout percentage is applied
to the simulated stock price at the end of the performance period, reinvested dividends are added back, and the total is
discounted to the valuation date at the risk-free rate. This process is repeated approximately ten thousand times, and the grant
date fair value is equal to the average of the results from these trials.

Fifty percent of the PSU awards granted to employees and officers in 2017 and 2016 are measured using a market performance
condition. All of the PSU awards granted to employees and officers in 2015 are measured using a market performance
condition. Fair value for these awards was estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation method described above. Final payout
for these awards, and any forfeitures of units for performance below the “target” performance level, will be based on Kemper’s
total shareholder return, relative to a peer group comprised of all the companies in the S&P Supercomposite Insurance Index,
over a three-year performance period. The three-year performance periods for the 2017, 2016 and 2015 awards end on January
31, 2020, February 28, 2019, and December 31, 2017, respectively. Compensation cost for these awards is recognized ratably
over the requisite service period. In the event that the market performance condition is not satisfied, previously recognized
compensation cost would not reverse, but it would reverse if the requisite service period is not met.

Fifty percent of the PSU awards granted to employees and officers in 2017 and 2016 are measured solely using a Company-
specific metric. Final payout for these awards, and any forfeitures of shares for performance below the “target” performance
level, will be determined based on Kemper’s adjusted return on equity over a three-year performance period. The three-year
performance periods for the 2017 and 2016 awards end on December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Fair value
for these awards was determined using the closing price of Kemper common stock on the date of grant. Accruals of
compensation cost for these awards are estimated based on the probable outcome of the performance condition.

The total fair value of RSUs and PSUs that vested during the year ended December 31, 2017 was $3.2 million. The tax benefits
for tax deductions realized from such awards was $1.1 million. The total fair value of RSUs and PSUs that vested during the
year ended December 31, 2016 was $1.3 million. The tax benefits for tax deductions realized from such awards was $0.5
million. The total fair value of RSUs and PSUs that vested during the year ended December 31, 2015 was $1.4 million. The tax
benefits for tax deductions realized from such awards was $0.5 million.
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The grant-date fair values of DSU awards granted to Non-employee Directors are determined using the closing price of Kemper
common stock on the date of grant. The total fair value of DSUs that vested during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016
and 2015 was $0.9 million, $0.5 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Activity related to DSU awards for the year ended December 31, 2017 is presented below.

Weighted-
average
Grant-date
Number of Fair Value
DSUs Per DSU
Vested Balance at Beginning 0f the Year.........c.ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiicieiecie e 21,520 $ 32.68
Granted and VESIEA .........ooviiiiieeeeiee ettt e e eat e st e e eae e e et e e et e e eene e enes 23,040 38.20
Vested Balance at December 31, 2017 .......oi e 44,560 $ 35.54

NOTE 11. INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS PER UNRESTRICTED SHARE

The Company’s awards of restricted stock contain rights to receive non-forfeitable dividends and participate in the
undistributed earnings with common shareholders. The Company’s awards of RSUs, PSUs and DSUs contain rights to receive
non-forfeitable dividend equivalents and participate in the undistributed earnings with common shareholders. Accordingly, the
Company is required to apply the two-class method of computing basic and diluted earnings per share. A reconciliation of the
numerator and denominator used in the calculation of Basic Income from Continuing Operations Per Unrestricted Share and
Diluted Income from Continuing Operations Per Unrestricted Share for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 is
presented below.

2017 2016 2015

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS
Income from Continuing OPEIAtiONS ........c.ceveevieiesieerierieieeteeteeteeteeteeseeseeseeseeseesseseereeseaseens $ 1199 § 127 $§ 802
Less Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations Attributed to Participating Awards.......... 0.8 (0.2) 0.4
Income from Continuing Operations Attributed to Unrestricted Shares ...........c.ccceceveenenn 119.1 12.9 79.8
Dilutive Effect on Income of Equity-based Compensation Equivalent Shares..................... — — —
Diluted Income from Continuing Operations Attributed to Unrestricted Shares................... $ 119910 § 129 $§ 798
SHARES IN THOUSANDS
Weighted-average Unrestricted Shares Outstanding............cooceeveveeriereeienieneneeieese e 51,345.6 51,156.1 51,606.9
Equity-based Compensation Equivalent Shares ...........cccooiiieieriieieeeeieieceeeeiee e 232.3 58.6 76.6
Weighted-average Unrestricted Shares and Equivalent Shares Outstanding Assuming

DIIUEION. ¢ttt ae et e et eae e e e e ese e e e s e e eneese s e e eseeneeseneeseanas 51,577.9 51,2147 51,683.5
PER UNRESTRICTED SHARE IN WHOLE DOLLARS
Basic Income from Continuing Operations Per Unrestricted Share............ccoceevveviniirennn. $ 232 § 025 $§ 155
Diluted Income from Continuing Operations Per Unrestricted Share...........ccccceeeveniieenen. $ 231 $§ 025 § 155

The number of shares of Kemper common stock that were excluded from the calculations of Equity-based Compensation
Equivalent Shares and Weighted-average Unrestricted Shares and Equivalent Shares Outstanding Assuming Dilution for the
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 because the exercise prices for the options exceeded the average market price
is presented below.

SHARES IN THOUSANDS 2017 2016 2015
Equity-based Compensation Equivalent Shares ............cceoiiiiieriiinieieeeccceeese e 346.6 959.9 959.7
Weighted-average Unrestricted Shares and Equivalent Shares Outstanding Assuming

DIIUEION . ¢+ttt ae et e e ae et e e e e e aeea e s easeaeeee s e s eneese s anseneeneesannennenas 346.6 959.9 959.7
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NOTE 12. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

The components of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016
and 2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes:

Unrealized Holding Gains (Losses) Arising During the Year Before Reclassification

AQJUSTIMENT ...ttt e et e e e $ 1191 $ (24 $ (1519
Reclassification Adjustment for Amounts Included in Net Income ............ccooceevierirnnnnnee. (35.3) 0.2 (254)
Unrealized Holding Gaing (LOSSES)......ureureeuieiieiieeiieeiieeiie et 83.8 2.2) (177.3)
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments Arising During the Year Before

Reclassification AQJUSTMENL.......cc..iiiiiiieiieii ettt eeie et eeie e b eeeee s 1.7 0.3) (1.4)
Reclassification Adjustment for Amounts Included in Net Income ..........ccccoooiiinninene — — —
Foreign Currency Translation AdjuStments ..........c.eeveverierieerierierienieeieienie e eeeee e eieennes 1.7 (0.3) (1.4)
Net Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit Costs Arising During the Year....................... 3.9 14.2 3.0
Reclassification Adjustments for Amounts Included in Net Income:

Curtailment Cost RECOZNIZE ........ocuiiuiiiiiiiiiiciee e — 1.0 —

Amortization of Net Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit Costs..........c.cccccevviiurnnnn. (0.6) 53 23.1
Total Reclassification Adjustments for Amounts Included in Net Income....................... (0.6) 6.3 23.1
Net Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit COStS .........oooiiiiiieiiieiiiiieieieieieee e 33 20.5 26.1
Gains (Losses) on Cash Flow Hedges During the Year Before Reclassification

AQJUSTIMEIE ...ttt et et e e et e e et e eae e beeeneeeaeaeneans (8.0) 1.6 —
Reclassification Adjustment for Amounts Included in Net Income .........cccccovoiiinecnnne. 1.3 — —
Gain (Loss) on Cash FIOW Hedges ........ccevuiiiiieiiiiiieieseceeeeeeeee e 6.7) 1.6 —

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Before Income TaXes........c.ccoeeeievieiiievieiecieiiiiieenins $ 821 § 196 $ (152.6)
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INCOME (Continued)

The components of Other Comprehensive Income Tax Benefit (Expense) for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and

2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS
Income Tax Benefit (Expense):

Unrealized Holding Gains and Losses Arising During the Year Before Reclassification
AGJUSEIMEIE .ottt ettt ettt et e sbeese e b e sseeseessesseeseeseessensesseeseennas

Reclassification Adjustment for Amounts Included in Net Income............cocccevenincnncn.
Unrealized Holding Gains and LOSSES ........cc.eeeiiiiiiiieiieiieeie et

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments Arising During the Year Before
Reclassification AdJUSTMENT ........cuieiiiiiieii ettt ee e ee e eee e

Reclassification Adjustment for Amounts Included in Net Income..........cccooeininiinnnnn.
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment...........oceeieierierieeierienieneeieiesie e eeeenees
Net Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit Costs Arising During the Year.......................
Reclassification Adjustments for Amounts Included in Net Income:

Curtailment Cost RECOZNIZEM. ........couiiiiiiiiiiieii s

Amortization of Net Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit Costs .........ccceveereeennnne.
Total Reclassification Adjustments for Amounts Included in Net Income.......................
Net Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit COStS .......c.oooiiiiiieiiiiiiiiiiieeiececee e

Gains and Losses on Cash Flow Hedges During the Year Before Reclassification
AQJUSTIMENE Lottt et et e et e e et e eseeeaeeeaeeeneeeaea e ns

Reclassification Adjustment for Amounts Included in Net Income..........ccccoceinenecnnnnn.
Gains and Losses on Cash FIOW HEdZeS ........ccccovviiiiieiiniiieieieeecceeeee e

Other Comprehensive Income Tax Benefit (EXPEnse) .......ccocveveievieeieieiesieeieeieieeve e

The components of AOCI at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS

Net Unrealized Gains on Investments, Net of Income Taxes:

Available for Sale Fixed Maturities with Portion of OTTI Recognized in Earnings............
Other Net Unrealized Gains on INVEStMENTS..........ccoeieieiiiriieiieieieeeeeieeee e
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments, Net of Income Taxes..........cccoceveveiienincinennne.
Net Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit Costs, Net of Income Taxes..........cccceeveerieeeiennnne.
Gain (Loss) on Cash Flow Hedges, Net of Income Taxes ........c.ccevvereeienienieeeeieieneeeeienne e

Accumulated Other Comprehensive INCOME ..........ooociiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e
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2017 2016 2015
(382)$ 10 $ 539
123 (0.1) 8.9
(25.9) 0.9 62.8
(0.6) 0.1 0.5
(0.6) 0.1 0.5
(0.8) (5.0 (1.1)

— (0.4) —

0.2 (1.9) (8.0)

0.2 (2.3) (8.0)
(0.6) (7.3) (9.1)

2.8 (0.6) —
(0.4) . .

2.4 (0.6) —
(247) S (69) $ 542

2017 2016

............... $ 02 % 01
............... 269.5 211.7
............... 0.2 (0.9)
............... (72.2) (74.9)
............... (3.3) 1.0
............... $ 1944 $ 137.0




Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE 12. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) AND ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (Continued)

Components of AOCI were reclassified to the following lines of the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015

Reclassification of AOCI from Net Unrealized Gains and Losses on Available For Sale
Securities to:

Net Realized Gains on Sales of INVESIMENTS...........ccoovevieeveeieeeeiceeecee e $ 496 $ 320 $ 3526
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings ...........ccccceveveeveienienieeeieneneeeennen (14.3) (32.2) (27.2)
Total Before INCOME TAXES.......ccviiuiirieiiiiiiiieiieeie ettt ettt ettt et ebeeae s 353 0.2) 25.4
Income Tax Benefit (EXPEnSe) ......ccccveviiriiieieniiiiieieiesie ettt (12.3) 0.1 (8.9)
Reclassification from AOCI, Net of Income Taxes........c..cocveeveeiiiieeieeiecieeieeeeeee 23.0 0.1) 16.5
Reclassification of AOCI Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit Costs to:
Interest and Other EXPENSES......c.ccivieriiiiiieieieciieeee ettt saeeneennes 0.6 (6.3) (23.1)
Income Tax Benefit (EXPENSE) .....ccuiiiieiiiiiiii et 0.2) 2.3 8.0
Reclassification from AOCI, Net of Income TaXes........ccceevevveveeeeierieneeieieee e 0.4 (4.0) (15.1)
Reclassification of AOCI from Loss on Cash Flow Hedges to: .........cccocvevveviniiienieneirennns
Interest and Other EXPEnSES ......c..oeiiiiiiiiiiieii et (1.3) — —
Income Tax Benefit........cccoeieieiiiiiiieiicic et 0.4 — —
Reclassification from AOCI, Net of INCOmMeE TaXES.....covvvviiiieuiieeeeiiieeeeeieeeeeeeee e 0.9) — —
Total Reclassification from AOCI to Net INCOME........coecveviiiieieiiiieieeieiece e $ 225 § “4.1) $ 1.4

NOTE 13. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

Net Investment Income for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Investment Income (Loss):
Interest and Dividends on Fixed Maturiti€s ........cccueeiieiiiieiieiieiee e $ 2466 $ 2427 $ 2362
Dividends on Equity Securities Excluding Alternative Investments ............ccccocevveenee. 9.3 11.8 14.8
Alternative Investments:
Equity Method Limited Liability Investments ............cccccccooiveiniiiiiinnciiee 24.8 7.5 19.0
Fair Value Option INVESTMENTS ...........ccooiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiciceeeecee e 1.3 (1.9) 0.2
Limited Liability Investments Included in Equity Securities............ccccecvererireennnnn. 28.6 22.0 17.6
Total Alternative INVESIMENTS. .....cc.ovuiiiiiiiiiiiieieie e 54.7 27.6 36.8
Short-term INVESTMENLS .......oouiiiiiiiiiiiiicrte e e 1.6 0.5 0.4
Loans to POIICYNOIARTS ....c.oviuiiiiiiiiiciiictcce et 21.6 21.6 21.1
REAL ESTALE ..ottt ettt ettt 10.7 11.8 11.9
OROT ettt ettt 0.5 0.3 —
Total INVEeStMENt INCOME .....c.eitiiiiiieieiieee ettt ettt 345.0 316.3 321.2
Investment Expenses:
RAI ESTALC....c.veviitiieiei ettt et 10.5 11.0 11.3
Other Investment EXPenses.........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiecccceccsce e 7.3 7.0 7.3
Total INVEStMENt EXPEISES .....euevemieiiiiiiiieiieieeteei ettt 17.8 18.0 18.6
Net Investment INCOME. ........oooiiiiii e et $ 3272 $ 2983 § 3026

109



Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE 13. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Other Receivables includes accrued investment income of $72.8 million and $70.8 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

The components of Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Fixed Maturities:

GAINS ON SALES......vivieieeietieteeeteet ettt et ettt ettt ettt ettt et e et et et et eseese et et eseeseesensenens $ 84 $§ 170 $ 16.1

LLOSSES ON SAIES ....eeuvivieeieieieetieite ettt ettt ettt et e et e steeseessesseeseesaesesseeseessesenseeseans 0.9) (4.6) (1.1)
Equity Securities:

GAINS ON SALCS....eoiiiiiiiiie ettt e ea e et e et e e e etaeeerteeeeteeeeareeeeaeaeas 42.0 19.9 39.2

LLOSSES ON SAICS ....oovviieiieiiiciiete ettt ettt ettt ettt e an — (0.3) (1.6)
Real Estate:

GAINS ON SALES.......oouiieeiieie ettt ettt et et e et e e et e e s e eaeeteeaeeaean 6.4 1.1 —

LLOSSES ON SALES .....iiuiiiiieiiecii ettt ettt et ettt et et e et e e b e eabeesbeenbeebeebeeseennae — — 0.2)
Other Investments:

GaINS ON OhET SALES ....c.viiviiiiiiieciieeeee ettt ettt ettt eab e eeseeaeeanean 0.1 — —

LLOSSES ON SALES ....eeeuiiiiieiieciieete ettt et ettt ettt et et e st e et eeaae b e enbeebeenteenseennn 0.1) 0.2) —

Net Gains (Losses) on Trading SECUILIES ........ccververieieriereeieieieeie et eeeenees 0.6 0.2 (0.3)
Net Realized Gains on Sales of INVESTMENLS ..........c.ccoevievivveieriieiieeeeeciceeeeeeeeee e $ 565 $ 331 $ 521
GrOSS GAINS ON SALES .....o.vvieiieeieetceceeece ettt es e $ 569 $ 380 $ 553
GTOSS LOSSES ON SALES ....oviiiiiieiieiiieiie ettt ettt ettt et e b e e beesseesaeesseesbeeabeeseeseenas (1.0) (5.1) 2.9)
Net Gains (Losses) on Trading SECUTTHIES ......ccvevververiiiieieiesieeeieieeteeeeeesie e eeese e eeeeneas 0.6 0.2 0.3)
Net Realized Gains on Sales of INVESTMENTS ...........c.ccoeiiviiveiiieeieieeeeereeeee e $ 565 $ 331 $ 521

The components of Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015

FIXEA MATUTTHES. .....cvcveveeieietceeee ettt ettt ettt ss e sttt s s e eaees $ (121 $ (26.6) $ (115
EQUILY SECUTTEIES. ....evvitiitieiieiesteet ettt ettt ettt ettt st entebesbeeneans (2.2) (5.6) (15.7)
REAL ESTALE ...eeuvivieiieiiicti ettt sttt ettt et sttt esbeeseesa e s e sseeseessensessesssensebesreesaens — (0.5) —
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings.............cocooveveeveinieieinieiiereeieeseeieeenens $ (143) $ (32.7) $ (27.2)
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NOTE 14. INSURANCE EXPENSES

Insurance Expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
COMUIMISSIONS ...vvivieeeeeteetetete ettt ettt et et et ete e s e e e st ete st et essessese s esseteetessesseteese s enseseesessenseseans $ 4256 $ 3992 $§ 3576
GENETAL EXPEIISES ...vviuviiiieiieieitieiieiet ettt ettt ettt et ettt be e st et et e beeseentebesbeennens 194.1 209.0 241.1
Taxes, LICENSES ANd FEES.....coouuiiiiiieiiie ettt e e e e eeaaeeas 52.8 48.8 44.2
Total COoStS INCUITEM .....evievieiiiiieiieiee ettt ettt sre e besreenaens 672.5 657.0 642.9
Policy Acquisition Costs:

DIETRITEA ...ttt ettt sttt et e te e st e s e sseese e st esesbeeseensebesreeneens (351.6) (314.9) (270.6)

AMOTEIZEM ...ttt ettt ettt et e e et et eeneeaeeteeneenn 318.3 299.3 257.4
Net Policy Acquisition Costs Deferred...........coiierieiiiiieeiieie et (33.3) (15.6) (13.2)
Amortization of INSUrance N FOTCE.........ccuvviiiiiiiiriiicieiee e 5.1 5.9 15.4
INSULANCE EXPOISES ...vvviienieiiitiieieiieteetest ettt sttt sttt te et ete st eseeseeseseneeseesenseneenenes $ 6443 $ 6473 § 06451

Commissions for servicing policies are expensed as incurred, rather than deferred and amortized.
NOTE 15. INCOME TAXES

On December 22, 2017, Public Law 115-97, more commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”), was
enacted. The Tax Act includes numerous changes to existing federal income tax law, including a permanent reduction in the
federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, effective January 1, 2018.

Pursuant to SAB 118, the Company recorded certain provisional amounts for the estimated income tax effects of the Tax Act on
deferred income taxes. The Company estimates that the reduction in the corporate income tax rate decreased its net deferred
income tax liability as of December 22, 2017 by $10.5 million. The effect of the rate change was recorded as a decrease to
income tax expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended December 31, 2017. Final
determination of the effects of the Tax Act on deferred income taxes requires additional information, including data from third
parties, actuarial computations and other items. The Company expects to complete its determination of the effect of the Tax Act
on its deferred income tax assets and liabilities pursuant to its annual income tax return filing process which is expected to be
completed during the fourth quarter of 2018.

The Company had not previously provided for Federal income taxes on $14.7 million of Mutual Savings Life’s income earned
prior to 1984, which was not subject to income taxes under certain conditions prior to the Tax Act. Under the Tax Act, such
income is now subject to taxation. Accordingly, the Company recognized current income tax expense of $3.1 million in the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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NOTE 15. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company’s Net Deferred Income Tax Assets
and Deferred Income Tax Liabilities at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016
Deferred Income Tax Assets:
INSUTANCE RESEIVES ... ittt ettt e et ettt e e st e et e e s e et e enseasseesseeeseesseeeseeenseenseenseenseansean $ 557 § 834
Unearned Premium Reserves 26.7 42.1
Tax Capitalization of Policy AcquiSition COStS...........ccueiiiriiiiiieieieieeretetteee et 41.9 70.7
Payroll and Employee Benefit ACCIUALS. .......c.oouiiiiieiiieiicieieie et 37.2 60.5
Net Operating Loss CarryTOrWards .........c.eeieieriirieieienie ettt sttt eneen 31.8 52.2
L 11 1T SRRSO 3.7 13.2
Total Deferred INCOME TAX ASSELS ....ooiuiiiiiiiieie ettt ettt et et et e et e et eenteeseeseeseesaeeseeeneenis 197.0 322.1
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities:
IIVESTIMEIIES ... ettt ettt ettt ettt et e eh e e et e e aeeee e e enbeenbeenbe e bt e st e eaeeeneeenneenneennean 90.6 113.0
Deferred Policy ACQUISTHON COSES .....eviitirrieieieeiieiieieete sttt ettt sttt ettt et et saeenee st sbeennens 76.8 116.2
Life VIF and P&C Customer RelationShiPS.......cceveriiriieieieiiiieieiesie et 6.9 13.5
Goodwill and Other Intangible ASSets ACQUITEA.........ccveruieieriiriieieienie ettt 22.3 37.1
Depreciable Assets 12.1 12.5
Other.....ccooevviieiee 3.1 4.0
Total Deferred Income Tax Liabilities 211.8 296.3
Net Deferred Income Tax Assets (Liabilities) $ (148 § 258

The expiration of federal net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards and their related deferred income tax assets at
December 31, 2017 is presented below by year of expiration.

Cljl?rl;/- Deferred
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS forwards Tax Asset
Expiring in:
2020 <t b bt h e h e et h e bt h e bt bt bttt b e bt et e bt b e e et et e n bt bt eneen $ 78 $ 1.6
2021 through 2025 ..ottt et 30.5 6.5
2026 throUZN 2030 ...ttt ettt ettt ettt a et aeee e e s et ne et e s et ene et e s eneenas 29.8 6.2
2031 throth 2037 ....eeeeeee ettt ettt 83.3 17.5
TOLAL AL YEALS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e st et e eeeasene e s e esenseme e s e s e s enees e s eseneeneesa s eneeneesanseneenas $ 1514 § 318

Except for the NOL carryforwards scheduled to expire in 2031 through 2037, all of the NOL carryforwards were acquired in
connection with business acquisitions made in prior years and are subject to annual usage limitations under the Internal
Revenue Code. The Company expects to fully utilize these federal NOL carryforwards.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of Unrecognized Tax Benefits for the years ended December 31, 2017,
2016 and 2015 is presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Liabilities for Unrecognized Tax Benefits at Beginning of Year ..............ccoccoccoiincin $ 51 $ 3.8 % 7.2
Additions for Tax Positions of CUIrent Year .........cccccoverieieiienenieineeeeeseeceie e 3.1 1.5 0.2
Additions for Tax Positions 0f Prior YEars..........cccceriiiiieriiiiiieieieeeteee e — — —
Reduction for Expiration of Federal Statute of Limitations...........cccceevvevieiienienienieeee, 0.1) 0.2) (3.6)
Liabilities for Unrecognized Tax Benefits at End of Year.................o $ 81 §$ 51 $ 3.8

During March of 2017, the Internal Revenue Service commenced an examination of Kemper and its eligible subsidiaries’
consolidated Federal income tax return for the years ended December 31, 2014, and 2015.
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NOTE 15. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Unrecognized Tax Benefits at December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 include $7.6 million, $4.6 million and $3.3 million,
respectively, for tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain but for which there is uncertainty about the
timing of such deductibility. Because of the impact of deferred income tax accounting, other than for interest and penalties, the
disallowance of the shorter deductibility period would not affect the effective income tax rate but would accelerate the payment
of cash to the taxing authority to an earlier period.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. The liability
for Unrecognized Tax Benefits included accrued interest of $0.5 million, $0.5 million and $0.5 million at December 31, 2017,
2016 and 2015, respectively. Net interest related to unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016
was insignificant. Tax expense includes interest benefit of $3.3 million related to unrecognized tax benefits for the year ended
December 31, 2015.

The statute of limitations related to Kemper and its eligible subsidiaries’ consolidated Federal income tax returns is closed for
all tax years up to and including 2013. The statute of limitations related to Kemper and its eligible subsidiaries’ consolidated
Federal income tax return for the tax year ended December 31, 2014 has been extended to March 15, 2019. The expiration of
the statute of limitations related to the various state income tax returns that Kemper and its subsidiaries file varies by state.

The components of Income Tax Expense from Continuing Operations for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015
were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Current Income Tax Benefit (EXPENSE)........ooveviviriiviiiieriiereeiieieeeietiieseeee et $ @31 $ 82 § (25.7)
Deferred Income Tax Benefit (EXPense).......cocevieieriiriiiieiinisiieieiesieeieeeeesee et (15.1) 2.3 2.2
(Increase) Decrease Unrecognized Tax Benefits.........cocvevverivieienienieieieieciecceieie e 3.0) (1.3) 34
Income Tax Benefit (EXPENSE) .....c.oirieviiiieiiieiiiieieiit ettt ettt es e $ 412 § 92 $ (20.1)

Income taxes paid, net of income tax refunds received, were $13.0 million in 2017. Income tax refunds received, net of income
taxes paid, were $0.5 million in 2016. Income taxes paid, net of income tax refunds received, were $44.4 million 2015.

A reconciliation of the Statutory Federal Income Tax Expense and Rate to the Company’s Effective Income Tax Expense and
Rate from Continuing Operations for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 is presented below.

2017 2016 2015

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Amount Rate Amount Rate Amount Rate
Statutory Federal Income Tax Expense..........c..c........ $ (56.49) 35.0% $ (1.2) 350% $ (35.1) 35.0%
Tax-exempt Income and Dividends Received

DedUCHON ..ot 9.8 (6.0) 9.8 (279.5) 9.8 9.7)
Unrecognized Tax Benefit (Expense)........cccccoevennnee. — — — — 2.1 2.1
Indemnification Recoveries..........ooceevraiiienireiieencnne. — — 0.2 (6.5) 3.7 3.6)
State INCOmME TaXeS .....veeeeeeeeiieiieiieeiie e 0.1 0.1) (0.6) 16.9 0.6) 0.5
Long-term Equity Based Compensation..................... 0.4 0.2) — — — —
Tax Reform ........cocooevviiiiiiice e 7.4 4.6) — — — —
Other, Net. ..o 2.5) 1.5 1.0 (28.9) — —
Effective Income Tax Benefit (Expense) from

Continuing Operations ..........occeevvevvereereereeruenneneeenss $ “41.2) 25.6% $ 92 (263.0)0% $ (20.1) 20.1%
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NOTE 15. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Comprehensive Income Tax Benefit (Expense) included in the Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Income Tax Benefit (Expense):

CONINUING OPETATIONS ....evvivietieriesteeteetietesteeteetetesteeseesessesseeseessesseessessessesseessessessesseeseens $ “412) $ 92 $ (20.1)

Discontinued Operations .... . 0.5) 2.2) 3.1
Unrealized Depreciation (Appreciation) 0n SECUTTEIES........ceeeruerieerierieieireniereieeeeseeeneens (25.9) 0.9 62.8
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments on INVEStMENts ..........cccoeeeievierieneeienieneeeennns 0.6) 0.1 0.5
Tax Effects from Postretirement Benefit Plans .............ccocoiiiiiiiiiiiii e (0.6) (7.3) 9.1)
Tax Effects from Cash FIOW HEAZE .....ceoveviiriieiieiiieiieieieteeeeeeese et 2.4 0.6) —
Tax Effects from Long-term Equity-based Compensation included in Paid-in Capital........ — (1.1) (1.0)
Comprehensive Income Tax Benefit (EXPense) .......ccovvevevieiiieieieiiisiieieieieere e $ (664) $ (1.0) $ 30.0

NOTE 16. PENSION BENEFITS

The Company sponsors a qualified defined benefit pension plan (the “Pension Plan”). The Pension Plan covers approximately
9,000 participants and beneficiaries, of which 1,600 are active employees. The Pension Plan is closed to new employees hired
after January 1, 2006. The Pension Plan is generally non-contributory, but participation requires or required some employees to
contribute 3% of pay, as defined, per year. Benefits for participants who are or were required to contribute to the Pension Plan
are based on compensation during plan participation and the number of years of participation. Benefits for the vast majority of
participants who are not required to contribute to the Pension Plan are based on years of service and final average pay, as
defined. The Company funds the Pension Plan in accordance with the requirements of ERISA.

On May 12, 2016, the Company amended the Pension Plan to freeze benefit accruals, effective June 30, 2016, for substantially
all of the participants under the plan. Accordingly, plan assets and liabilities were re-measured, resulting in balances in
accumulated unrecognized pension loss and unamortized prior service credit prior to the freeze of $191.2 million and $0.3
million, respectively. In recognizing the curtailment, the Company recorded income of $0.3 million before income taxes in the
second quarter of 2016 to immediately recognize the remaining unamortized prior service credit in the Pension Plan. The
curtailment reduced the accumulated unrecognized pension loss by $23.3 million. The remaining accumulated unrecognized
pension loss of $167.9 million as of the re-measurement date is being amortized over approximately 25 years, the remaining
average estimated life expectancy of participants. Prior to the amendment, the accumulated unrecognized pension loss was
being amortized over approximately 5 years, the remaining average service life of active participants.
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NOTE 16. PENSION BENEFITS (Continued)

Changes in Fair Value of Plan Assets and Changes in Projected Benefit Obligation for the Pension Plan for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016 is presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016
Fair Value of Plan Assets at Beginning of Year ... $ 5209 $ 5075
Actual REtUIN ON PIAN ASSEES.....iiiuiiieieeiieeiie ettt ettt ettt et e etteeteeeateeaeeesbeenseessaanseaseenseesseenseesseaaneens 86.4 29.9
EMPIOYEr CONIIDULIONS .....eviivieiieieste ettt ettt ettt ettt et e ste et et e eseeseenseseeseeseensensesseensensesseeneenes — 9.0
BENEfIts PAId .....oeeiiiiei ettt ettt ettt e ae et e et e naeeate et e ebeesaebeeneennn (27.5) (25.5)
Fair Value of Plan Assets at ENd Of YEAT........c.coiiieieiiiiieieeieieie e s 579.8 520.9
Projected Benefit Obligation at Beginning of Year.............cooiiiiiiiiiii e 593.6 597.8
SEIVICE COSE 1nutieuiieiiietiett et et et ettt e ettt et et e bt e seesteeeseeesseeaseasseanseenseenseanseesseessseesaesaseanseenseensaanseenseensen — 4.8
TIEETESE COSE ittt ettt ettt ettt et e bt e b e bt e eh e e bt e eaeesaeeenteeabeenbeenteenbe e bt enteenaes 20.6 20.1
BENEfIts PAId .....oeeiieiieii ettt ettt ettt ettt e et et eeaeeenbe et e enteenteennaeseeneennn (27.5) (25.5)
CUTTAIIMENE ..ottt ettt et e et e et et et e et e e st e s e sbeebeeseenseebeeseessenseeseeseensenseeseeseensensesseeneenns — (23.3)
ACKUATIAL LLOSSES ..ttt ettt a et e b bt e et et bt bttt e bt e n e et et e bt eae et e be bt eanen 50.5 19.7
Projected Benefit Obligation at End of Year...........coieiiiiiiiiiieee e 637.2 593.6
Funded Status—Plan Assets in Deficit of Projected Benefit Obligation.............cceceevvevierievieienieneniennn, $ 574 $ (72.7)
Unamortized Amount Reported in AOCI at End of Year:

Accumulated ACtUATIAl LLOSS .....cviiouiiiiieeiieeie ettt e et $ (137.2) $ (144.7)

PriOr SETVICE CTEAIT .. .euvitiieieiiiiti ittt ettt et et et ebe et e e st sbeentenbesbeennens — —
Unamortized Amount Reported in AOCI at End of Year........cccooivieieiiiiiiieieececeeeeee e $ (137.2) § (144.7)
Accumulated Benefit Obligation at ENd of Year..........ccooivirieiiiiiiieieiecceeeee e $ 6370 $ 5935

The measurement dates of the assets and liabilities at end of year presented in the preceding table under the headings, “2017”
and “2016” were December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.

The weighted-average discount rate and rate of increase in future compensation levels used to estimate the components of the
Projected Benefit Obligation for the Pension Plan at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were:

2017 2016
DISCOUNTE RALE ...ttt ettt b et b e bt st et b e bt et e st sb e eb et ebe b b enee 3.63% 4.18%
Rate of Increase in Future Compensation LeVelS .........coeeieieriiiiiieiieiiiiceeeieeeeeee e 3.40 2.56

Weighted-average asset allocations for the Pension Plan at December 31, 2017 and 2016 by asset category were:

ASSET CATEGORY 2017 2016
Cash and Short-term INVESLMENES ........c.eeiiiiieiieiieie ettt et e b e ae b e eseenseeseeseennas 2% 2%
Corporate Bonds and NOTES .......c.eeieieiiiiiiieierie sttt sttt sttt e b e sae e e et essesaeeseeneeseseeeneenes 31 31
Common and Preferred STOCKS ......oiiiiiiiiiiiieie ettt st e e enbeebeenseebeeseeneas 50 48
Exchange Traded FUNAS .......c.oouiviiiiiieieit ettt ettt e eeaeese s s eneeseenns 1 1
OINET ASSELS ..ottt ettt ettt s h et e et e e bt e et e at et e eb e eaeen b e bt eb e ent et e bt e h e en b et e bt ehe e st et bt eneenee 16 18
TOTAL .ottt ettt ettt et et ettt e st et e st e e saeaa e b et e es e e st e b e ehe e Rt en b e beeteena e b e eseeseens et e eseereensesenreeseenns 100% 100%

The investment objective of the Pension Plan is to produce current income and long-term capital growth through a combination
of equity and fixed income investments which, together with appropriate employer contributions and any required employee
contributions, is adequate to provide for the payment of the benefit obligations of the Pension Plan. The assets of the Pension
Plan may be invested in fixed income and equity investments or any other investment vehicle or financial instrument deemed
appropriate. Fixed income investments may include cash and short-term instruments, U.S. Government securities, corporate
bonds, mortgages and other fixed income investments. Equity investments may include various types of stock, such as large-
cap, mid-cap and small-cap stocks, and may also include investments in investment companies, collective investment funds and
Kemper common stock (subject to Section 407 and other requirements of ERISA). The Pension Plan has not invested in
Kemper common stock.
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The trust investment committee for the Pension Plan, along with its third party fiduciary advisor, periodically reviews the
performance of the Pension Plan’s investments and asset allocation. Several external investment managers, one of which is
Fayez Sarofim & Co. (see Note 24, “Related Parties,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements), manage the equity
investments of the trust for the Pension Plan. Each manager is allowed to exercise investment discretion, subject to limitations,
if any, established by the trust investment committee for the Pension Plan. All other investment decisions are made by the
Company, subject to general guidelines as set by the trust investment committee for the Pension Plan.

The Company determines its Expected Long Term Rate of Return on Plan Assets based primarily on the Company’s
expectations of future returns, with consideration to historical returns, for the Pension Plan’s investments, based on target
allocations of the Pension Plan’s investments.

Fair value measurements for the Pension Plan’s assets at December 31, 2017 are summarized below.

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Measured at
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Net Asset Value Fair Value
Fixed Maturities:
U.S. Government and Government
Agencies and Authorities ................... $ 56.7 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 56.7
States and Political Subdivisions ........... — 2.2 — — 2.2
Corporate Bonds and Notes.................... — 122.0 — — 122.0
Equity Securities:
Preferred Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate... — 4.9 — — 4.9
Common Stocks:
Manufacturing.........ccoceeevevvenireenennn. 86.8 153 — — 102.1
Other Industries........cccceeeveeerrereennen. 99.6 4.7 — — 104.3
Other Equity Interests:
Collective Investment Funds............. — — — 79.2 79.2
Exchange Traded Funds.................... 5.1 — — — 5.1
Limited Liability Companies and
Limited Partnerships...........cc........ — — — 95.9 95.9
Short-term Investments............cccceeverrenens 9.0 — — — 9.0
Receivables and Other............ccccceveeennennn. 1.9) — 0.3 — (1.6)
TOtAl cueeveiecieceee e $ 2553 $ 149.1 § 03 $ 1751 $ 579.8
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Fair value measurements for the Pension Plan’s assets at December 31, 2016 are summarized below.

Quoted Prices Significant

in Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Measured at
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Net Asset Value Fair Value
Fixed Maturities:
U.S. Government and Government
Agencies and Authorities................... $ 212§ 8.6 $ — — 3 29.8
States and Political Subdivisions.......... — 3.1 — 3.1
Corporate Bonds and Notes.................. — 126.4 — — 126.4
Equity Securities:
Preferred Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate . — 6.2 — — 6.2
Common Stocks:
Manufacturing..........ceeeevvevereerennnns 77.5 16.0 — 93.5
Other Industries..........cocoecevenennnnn. 88.1 — — — 88.1
Other Equity Interests:
Collective Investment Funds............ — — — 60.7 60.7
Exchange Traded Funds................... 6.0 — — 6.0
Limited Liability Companies and
Limited Partnerships .................... — — — 93.5 93.5
Short-term Investments ...........cccccoeverveeneee 11.8 — — 11.8
Receivables and Other...........cccceevevrennenen. 1.4 — 0.4 — 1.8
TOtal .o $ 2060 $ 1603 $ 04 $ 1542 $ 520.9

Additional information pertaining to the changes in the fair value of the Pension Plan’s assets classified as Level 3 in the two
preceding tables for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016

Balance at Beginning Of YEar..........ccooiiiiiiiiii e $ 04 $ 0.4
Return on Plan ASSets Held........oouiiiiiiiei ettt — —
Purchases, Sales and Settlements, Nt ..........ccoviiiiiiiiiiie ittt eve et eeaee s (0.1) —
Transfers OUL OF LEVEL 3 .. ..ottt ettt ettt e s e e eneeenaeenaeeneean — —
Balance at ENA Of Y AT .......c.cioviviiiieeiiet ettt ettt $ 03 $ 0.4

The components of Comprehensive Pension Expense (Income) for the Pension Plan for the years ended December 31, 2017,
2016 and 2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Service Cost Earned DUring the Year...........ccocvevvioviuiioiiieieiiieieeeeeveeceieeee et $ — 3 48 $§ 105
Interest Cost on Projected Benefit Obligation............ccccveieiiericiiiinciiiiiisceceeeceeee 20.6 20.1 25.7
Expected Return on PIan ASSELS........cecieierieriiiieieie ittt sae e ennens (30.9) (32.7) (35.0)
Amortization Of ACtUAITIAl LOSS .....ceiiiiiiiiiiiiiite ittt 2.6 6.6 24.4
CUrtaIlMENT GAIN ..ottt ettt et e et esaaeseeeeneeeneeenseenseenseenseeseennes — 0.3) —
Pension Expense (Income) Recognized in Consolidated Statements of Income................... .7 (1.5) 25.6
Unrecognized Pension Gain Arising During the Year..........ccoccvvevievineniniienenciicenc e 4.9) 0.7) (1.9)
Amortization of Accumulated Unrecognized Pension LoSS.........ccoceveeieieneninienienieiienens (2.6) (6.3) (24.4)
Comprehensive Pension EXpense (INCOME) ........oovoviiiieeiiereiieieiiieieieieieeeieiee e $ (152 $ (@85 $ (0.7

117



Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE 16. PENSION BENEFITS (Continued)

The actuarial loss included in AOCI at December 31, 2017 is being amortized over approximately 24 years, the remaining
average estimated life expectancy of participants. The Company estimates that Pension Expense for the Pension Plan for the
year ended December 31, 2018 will include expense of $4.2 million resulting from the amortization of the related accumulated
actuarial loss included in AOCI at December 31, 2017.

Effective January 1, 2016, the Company changed its method for estimating the interest and service cost components of expense
recognized for its pension and other postretirement employee benefit plans. As a result, the Company elected to use a full yield
curve approach to estimate these components of benefit cost by applying the specific spot rates along the yield curve used in the
determination of the benefit obligation to the relevant projected cash flows. See Note 2, “Summary of Accounting Policies and
Accounting Changes,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the change. The weighted-average
discount rate, service cost discount rate, interest cost discount rate, rate of increase in future compensation levels and expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets used to develop the components of Pension Expense for the Pension Plan for the periods
presented below were:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 5/13/16 to 1/1/16 to December
31,2017 12/31/16 5/12/16 31,2015
Weighted-average Discount Rate..........cccooveieiienienieieieieccieec e 4.19% 3.94% 4.47% 4.10%
Service Cost Discount Rate........c..ccouevveieininiiieiininccieeneececcee 4.15 4.22 4.78 —
Interest Cost Discount Rate..........cccuevieeiiiiieiieiceecceeeee e 3.52 3.18 3.69 —
Rate of Increase in Future Compensation Levels.........cccocevivieneneiinnnene. 2.56 3.15 3.15 3.31
Expected Long Term Rate of Return on Plan Assets ..........ccocvevveniiennnnne. 5.80 6.25 6.25 6.75

The Company did not contribute to the Pension Plan in 2017. On August 12, 2016, the Company made a voluntary cash
contribution of $9.0 million to the Pension Plan. The Company did not contribute to the Pension Plan in 2015. The Company
does not expect that it will be required to contribute to the Pension Plan in 2018, but could make a voluntary contribution
pursuant to the maximum funding limits under ERISA.

The following benefit payments (net of participant contributions), which consider expected future service of certain participants
that remain eligible for a benefit accrual, as appropriate, are expected to be paid from the Pension Plan:

Years Ending December 31,
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023-2027
Estimated Pension Benefit Payments ......................... § 285 $ 298 $ 309 § 320 $ 330 $§ 1740

The Company also sponsors a non-qualified supplemental defined benefit pension plan (the “Supplemental Plan”). As a result
of the amendment to the Pension Plan, benefit accruals for all participants in the Supplemental Plan were also frozen effective
June 30, 2016. Accordingly, plan liabilities for the Supplemental Plan were also re-measured in the second quarter of 2016,
resulting in balances in accumulated unrecognized pension loss and unamortized prior service costs prior to the freeze of $1.6
million and $1.3 million, respectively. The Company recorded expense of $1.3 million in the second quarter of 2016 to
immediately recognize the remaining net unamortized prior service costs in the Supplemental Plan. The curtailment reduced the
Projected Benefit Obligation by $5.2 million at the re-measurement date. Accordingly, a curtailment gain of $3.6 million before
tax was recorded to recognize the reduction in the Projected Benefit Obligation that exceeded the accumulated unrecognized
pension loss prior to the freeze.

The unfunded liability related to the Supplemental Plan was $26.3 million and $25.4 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. Pension expense for the Supplemental Plan was $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to
pension income of $1.0 million and pension expense $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, and 2015,
respectively. An actuarial loss of $1.6 million before taxes, an actuarial gain of $4.8 million before taxes and an actuarial gain
of $1.5 million before taxes are included in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016
and 2015, respectively.

The Company also sponsors several defined contribution benefit plans covering most of its employees. The Company made
contributions to those plans of $10.6 million, $8.4 million and $7.8 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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The Company sponsors an other than pension postretirement employee benefit plan (“OPEB”) that provides medical, dental
and/or life insurance benefits to approximately 475 retired and 200 active employees (the “OPEB Plan”). The Company has
historically self-insured the benefits under the OPEB Plan. The medical plan generally provides for a limited number of years
of medical insurance benefits at retirement based on the participant’s attained age at retirement and number of years of service
until specified dates and generally has required participant contributions, with most contributions adjusted annually. On
December 30, 2016, the Company amended the OPEB Plan and, effective December 31, 2016, will no longer offer coverage to
post-65 Medicare-eligible retirees and Medicare-eligible spouses under the self-insured portion of its coverage. Rather,
beginning on January 1, 2017, the OPEB Plan offers access to a private, third-party Medicare exchange and provides varying
levels of a Company-determined subsidy via health reimbursement accounts to certain Medicare-eligible retirees and spouses in
order to help fund a portion of the participants’ cost. Further, the amendment eliminates the requirement for such participants to
contribute to the OPEB Plan. In conjunction with the amendment, the Company recorded a pre-tax reduction to its Accumulated
Postretirement Benefit Obligation of $11.0 million through Other Comprehensive Income. This prior service credit is being
amortized into income over the remaining average life of the OPEB Plan’s participants.

Changes in Fair Value of Plan Assets and Changes in Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016
Fair Value of Plan Assets at Beginning of Year ..o $ — 3 —
EMPIOYET CONIITDULIONS ..c.tvieiiiiiiieiieieste ettt ettt et et sbeeb et sbe s e 0.9 34
Plan Participants’ CONITDULIONS. ........eiieieiertietieieieste ettt ettt ete ettt e stesseeseeaesseeseeseensesseeseensensesseenes 0.5 1.0
BENEfIts PAId .....oeeiiiiiei ettt ettt ettt ettt e te e e et e ente b e enteenbeenseebeeneennn (1.4 4.4)
Fair Value of Plan Assets at End of Year........cooooiiiiiiiiiieeee e — —
Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation at Beginning of Year.............cccccociiiiiiiiiiiiine. 15.1 29.6
SEIVICE COST ..ottt ettt b e a et b e bt sttt e bt eb b et e bt e bt e st e b e bt eb e et et e eb e e bt e b e nbeebe e 0.1 0.1
IIEETEST COSE ..ttt ettt ettt h ettt b et ettt b ettt b ettt et a et eeeenes 0.4 0.8
Plan Participants’ CONITDULIONS. ........cevertiitiriieiertirieeiet ettt sttt sttt ettt sb e sb et nbe b s enee 0.5 1.0
BENETIES PAIA ....veovieiiiiiciecee ettt sttt ettt a ettt et e e reenae st eneenes a.4) 4.4)
Medicare Part D Subsidy RECEIVE .......cc.iiieiiiiiiiiiieieiee e s 0.2 0.3
PLan AMENAMENLS ....eeviiiiitieiieieeieeeet ettt ettt e eteese et e sbesteeseessesbeeseesaensesseesaessensesseeseessensesseessenns — (11.0)
ACTUATIAL GAIN L.ttt ettt ettt e ste e e st e eateesseesseeaseesseeabeesseesbeeseessessseesseesseessens 0.5) (1.3)
Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation at End of Year.........ccccooveviiiiiiniiiiiiiinccees 14.4 15.1
Funded Status—Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation in Excess of Plan Assets ................... $ (144 $ (15.1)
Unamortized Actuarial Gain Reported in AOCI at End of Year ..., $ 250 $ 276

The measurement dates of the assets and liabilities at end of year in the preceding table under the headings “2017” and “2016”
were December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively.

The weighted-average discount rate and rate of increase in future compensation levels used to develop the components of the
Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were:

2017 2016
DISCOUNTE RALE ....vitieiieiiistieteeiteteete ettt ettt ettt e et e e st et esbeste e st ensesbeeseeseensesseeseensensesseeseensensesseeneenns 3.36% 3.60%
Rate of Increase in Future Compensation LeVels .........cccoeiiieriiiiiiiienieiiiieeeeeeee e 2.20 2.60

The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation at December 31,
2017 was 7.50% for 2018, gradually declining to 4.8% in the year 2025 and remaining at that level thereafter for medical
benefits and 10.00% for 2018, gradually declining to 4.8% in the year 2026 and remaining at that level thereafter for
prescription drug benefits. The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the Accumulated Postretirement Benefit
Obligation at December 31, 2016 was 6.8% for 2017, gradually declining to 5.0% in the year 2024 and remaining at that level
thereafter for medical benefits and 10.3% for 2017, gradually declining to 5.0% in the year 2024 and remaining at that level
thereafter for prescription drug benefits.
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A one-percentage point increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate for each year would have increased the Accumulated
Postretirement Benefit Obligation at December 31, 2017 by $0.6 million and 2017 OPEB expense by an insignificant amount. A
one-percentage point increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate for each year would have increased the Accumulated
Postretirement Benefit Obligation at December 31, 2016 by $0.6 million and 2016 OPEB expense by an insignificant amount.

The components of Comprehensive OPEB Expense (Income) for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Service Cost Earned During the Year.........c.cooiiecuiuiiinirisisieciecc e $ 01 $ 0.1 8§ 0.2
Interest Cost on Accumulated Postretirement Benefit Obligation ...........ccoeevevevieviiieiennn. 0.4 0.8 1.0
Amortization of Actuarial GaiN............cccoeoviiiiiiiieiicie ettt (1.8) (1.4) (1.4)
OPEB Income Recognized in Consolidated Statements of Income...........ccccevevvevininennnne (1.3) 0.5) 0.2)
Unrecognized OPEB Loss (Gain) Arising During the Year.........ccccooeevevievienenieienienirene 0.5) (1.3) 0.4
Prior Service Credit Arising During the Year............c.ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccccceee (1.3) (11.0) —
Amortization of Accumulated Unrecognized OPEB Gain..........cccoceveeieiienienieieienie s 1.8 1.4 1.4
Comprehensive OPEB Expense (INCOME)..........cooveiiiieriiieririieieieieieieieieei e $ @3)$ (114) $ 1.6

The Company estimates that OPEB Expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 will include income of $3.0 million
resulting from the amortization of the related accumulated actuarial gain and prior service credit included in AOCI at
December 31, 2017.

Effective January 1, 2016, the Company changed its method for estimating the interest and service cost components of expense
recognized for its pension and other postretirement employee benefit plans. As a result, the Company elected to use a full yield
curve approach to estimate these components of benefit cost by applying the specific spot rates along the yield curve used in the
determination of the benefit obligation to the relevant projected cash flows. See Note 2, “Summary of Accounting Policies and
Accounting Changes,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the change. The weighted-average
discount rate and rate of increase in future compensation levels used to develop OPEB Expense for the years ended

December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015 were:

2017 2016 2015
Weighted-average DiSCOUNt RALE ........ceeiiriiriieiiieieciceeeeie e 3.61% 3.70% 3.40%
Service Cost DISCOUNT RALE ........ocvieiiiiiiiieeiiicie ettt 3.79 4.21 —
Interest Cost DISCOUNT RALE ......ueeuiiiiiiieiieiieieiie ettt sbe e enaens 2.92 2.90 —
Rate of Increase in Future Compensation LeVels...........oceviririeieniininieieiececeiee e 2.60 2.64 2.68

The Company expects to contribute $1.6 million, net of the expected Medicare Part D subsidy, to its OPEB Plan to fund benefit
payments in 2018.

The following benefit payments (net of participant contributions), which consider expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid:

Years Ending December 31,

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023-2027
Estimated Benefit Payments:
Excluding Medicare Part D Subsidy...................... $ 1.6 $ 1.6 $ 15 $ 15 $ 14 $ 5.7
Expected Medicare Part D Subsidy ............cc.c....... — — — — — —
Net Estimated Benefit Payments .............cccccoeveveneann. $ 1.6 $ 1.6 $ 15§ 15§ 14 3 5.7
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The Company is engaged, through its subsidiaries, in the property and casualty insurance and life and health insurance businesses.
The Company conducts its operations through two operating segments: Property & Casualty Insurance and Life & Health Insurance.

The Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s principal products are personal automobile insurance, both preferred and
nonstandard, homeowners insurance, other personal insurance and commercial automobile insurance. These products are
distributed primarily through independent agents and brokers. The Life & Health Insurance segment’s principal products are
individual life, accident, health and property insurance. These products are distributed by career agents employed by the
Company and independent agents and brokers.

The Company’s earned premiums are derived in the United States. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as
those described in Note 2, “Summary of Accounting Policies and Accounting Changes,” to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Capital expenditures for long-lived assets by operating segment are immaterial.

It is the Company’s management practice to allocate certain corporate expenses, primarily compensation costs for corporate
employees and related facility costs, included in Interest and Other Expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income to its
insurance operations. The amount of such allocated corporate expenses was $50.8 million, $52.9 million and $43.4 million for
the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Company does not allocate Net Realized Gains on Sales
of Investments, Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings, interest expense on debt or postretirement benefit plans, and
actuarial gains and losses on its postretirement benefit plans to its operating segments. Additionally, in 2017 the Company did
not allocate the impact of the Tax Act to its operating segments.

Segment Assets at December 31, 2017 and 2016 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016

Property & Casualty INSUTANCE ..........cciiiiiiiieii ettt st tee e e sieeenaeeaseenseenseenseenseenseennes $2,894.9 § 2.815.1
Life & Health INSUTANCE ..........oooviiiieieeeie ettt ea e et e e enseeeeteeeenreeenaeeean 5,079.3 4,888.7
Corporate and OLhEr, INET ... ...cc.oiuiiiiieie ettt sttt ettt sbesb et e e b e enee 402.0 506.7
TTOEAL ASSEES ...ttt et ettt ettt et ettt $8,376.2 $ 8,210.5

Earned Premiums by product line for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015

Personal AULOIMODILE .........oiiuiiiiiie ettt e e e e e e e e eaneeeaaeeenes $1,377.1 $1,2446 $ 1,027.7
HOMEOWIIETS ...ttt ettt ettt e b et e et e st esteente et e enbeenseennes 264.8 271.9 286.3
Other Personal Property and Casualty INSUTANCe ..........c..ccoecevevieiiinenieininencieescneeennn 115.3 119.2 122.1
Commercial AUtOMODIIE ......c.ocuieiiiiiiieieieiese ettt sbe e enaens 51.4 53.3 54.5
LT ettt ettt ettt e a st et e eae st et e te st eat et e eteess et e eteereennens 379.7 381.6 374.1
Accident and Health ..........cooiiiiioi et 161.7 149.4 144.9
Total BEarned PIemIUIMS .........c..ooviiiiiiiiiiee et e eaeeeae e ens $2,350.0 $2220.0 $2,009.6
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Segment Revenues, including a reconciliation to Total Revenues, for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 were:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Segment Revenues:
Property & Casualty Insurance:

Earned PreIMIUITIS ......voeiiiie ittt ettt e et e e et e e eaaeeeaeeeeaneeeaneas $1,736.0 $ 16148 $ 14152
Net INvestment INCOME......cc.uiiiiiiiiiieie ettt 94.3 72.4 73.3
Other INCOME ...ttt ettt e b et e et e essaestaessseessessseesseenseensean 1.1 0.5 0.6
Total Property & Casualty INSUIANCE .........ccveiirvieieriiiiieieiestieeei et eeeens 1,831.4 1,687.7 1,489.1
Life & Health Insurance:
Earned PremilmS ... .o .ie ettt ettt ettt e s e e e eneeenaeenaean 614.0 605.2 594.4
Net INVeStMENt INCOME........ccoeriiiiiiieieiiieeeeee ettt enees 221.5 213.2 214.2
Other INCOME ...ttt ettt ettt e et estaesteeesaeessessseesseenseensean 2.6 2.8 2.4
Total Life & Health INSUIANCE.......cc.couieieieiiriieiieiesic ettt 838.1 821.2 811.0
Total SegMENnt REVENUES ........ccuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieiteeieeie ettt ettt sttt eseens 2,669.5 2,508.9 2,300.1
Net Realized Gains on the Sales of INVEStMENTS ......ocvevvieieieriiiieieieeieceeeee e 56.5 33.1 52.1
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings...........cocevevirienieniinieienienenceieese e (14.3) (32.7) (27.2)
ORI .ttt ettt ettt ettt e ettt e te st e st et e ebe e st e s e be e st ent e b e eteeteenbebeeteeraens 11.7 12.6 15.8
TOLAL REVEIUES ...ttt ettt ee e $2,7234 $2,521.9 $2,340.8

Segment Operating Profit, including a reconciliation to Income from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes, for the years
ended December 31,2017, 2016 and 2015 was:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Segment Operating Profit (Loss):

Property & Casualty INSUIANCE ........cceeuieieiiiiiieiieieite ettt ettt ese e sre e eesebesaeeeeene $ 14) $ (172) $ 237

Life & Health INSUIANCE........ceiieiiieieieieieecee et 138.5 45.7 109.7
Total Segment Operating Profit..........cccoiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicieeceeee e 137.1 28.5 133.4
Corporate and Other Operating LOSS.......ccvevueririerierieiiieieieste ettt ee et eee s sreseenaens (18.2) (25.4) (48.9)
Total Operating Profit..........coiiieieiiieeieieese ettt sttt eieens 118.9 3.1 84.5
Net Realized Gains on Sales of INVESTMENLS ........ccveviiiieeiiiie e 56.5 33.1 52.1
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings............ocevevirieiienienieieienenceieene e (14.3) (32.7) (27.2)
Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt.........c.cceceviiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeesceee e — — 9.1)
Income from Continuing Operations before Income TaXes ........cccevveveeievierienenieieneieennns $ 161.1 $ 35 $ 1003
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Segment Net Operating Income, including a reconciliation to Income from Continuing Operations, for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 was:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015
Segment Net Operating Income (Loss):

Property & Casualty INSUIANCE ........cceeuieieiiiiiieieiecie ettt sse st es b sre e ene $ 78 $§ 29) $ 267

Life & Health INSUTANCE.......c.coiiiiiiiiiiiiciecnce ettt 90.8 30.3 71.7
Total Segment Net Operating INCOME ........ccueruiriirieririiiieiere ettt 98.6 27.4 98.4
Corporate and Other Net Operating Income (L0oSS) FTom: ........cccoevvvieieieniniiieieneceene

Effects of TaX Law CRanges ........c.cceveririeriiniiieiesit ettt st 7.4 — —

L@ 11 1 TS SRRSO (13.5) (15.0) (28.5)
Corporate and Other Net Operating LoSS ......cc.oiieieiiiiiieieii et 6.1) (15.0) (28.5)
Consolidated Net Operating INCOME ......cc.eevueriiriiiieniiiiiieieecee e 92.5 12.4 69.9
Net Income (Loss) From:

Net Realized Gains on Sales of INVESTMENES ........ccveviiriieieriiniiiieienieeieeceeeie e 36.7 21.5 33.9

Net Impairment Losses Recognized in EArnings ..........cecevveeieiecienieieieieseeeeiesve e 9.3) (21.2) (17.7)

Loss from Early Extinguishment 0f Debt ..........ccccoviiiiiiniinieieieicceeee e — — (5.9)
Income from Continuing OPEratioNS...........ccuerveerierierreriieiertesteereeeessesseeseesessesreeseessessesreesaens $ 1199 § 127 $ 802

Amortization of Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs by Operating Segment for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015 was:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015

Property & Casualty INSUTANCE............oevivviieriiiiieeietect ettt ettt $ 2048 $ 2521 $§ 213.1
Life & Health INSUTANCE ......ooviitieiieiieiieiieieiee ettt sttt st eenens 53.5 47.2 443
TOtAl ATNOTTIZALION .....e.vivieeieieete et etie ettt ettt et e steeteesb e beeseesaesseeseeseessessenseessensesesseessans $ 3183 § 2993 § 2574

NOTE 19. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
The Company accounts for its former Unitrin Business Insurance operations as discontinued operations.

Summary financial information included in Income from Discontinued Operations for the years ended December 31, 2017,
2016 and 2015 is presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS 2017 2016 2015
Income from Discontinued Operations before Income Taxes:

Change in Estimate of Retained Liabilities Arising from Discontinued Operations....... $ 15 § 63 $ 8.6
INCOME TAX EXPOIISE .. .eiiiiiiiiiiieiie ittt ettt ettt ettt e aee et e enae e enaeenseennas 0.5) 2.2) 3.1
Income from Discontinued OPerations..........ccecveierierrerieierieeieeeiesiesseeeeaesseereesaessesreennens $ 1.0 $ 41 $ 5.5

Income from Discontinued Operations Per Unrestricted Share:

BASIC ..ttt $ 002 $ 008 § 0.10
DIIULEA ...t s $ 002 $ 008 § 0.10
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In 2008, the Company sold its Unitrin Business Insurance operations. The Company retained Property and Casualty Insurance
Reserves for unpaid insured losses that occurred prior to the date of the sale. Property and Casualty Insurance Reserves reported
in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets include $32.8 million and $38.3 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively, for the retained liabilities. In accordance with GAAP, changes in the Company’s estimate of such retained
liabilities after the sale are reported as a separate component of the results of discontinued operations. See Note 6, “Property
and Casualty Insurance Reserves,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information pertaining cash used by operating
activities to pay losses and LAE related to discontinued operations.

NOTE 20. CATASTROPHE REINSURANCE

Catastrophes and natural disasters are inherent risks of the property and casualty insurance business. These catastrophic events
and natural disasters include, without limitation, hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, hailstorms, wildfires, high winds and
winter storms. Such events result in insured losses that are, and will continue to be, a material factor in the results of operations
and financial position of the Company’s property and casualty insurance companies. Further, because the level of these insured
losses occurring in any one year cannot be accurately predicted, these losses may contribute to material year-to-year
fluctuations in the results of operations and financial position of these companies. Specific types of catastrophic events are more
likely to occur at certain times within the year than others. This factor adds an element of seasonality to property and casualty
insurance claims. The Company has adopted the industry-wide catastrophe classifications of storms and other events
promulgated by ISO to track and report losses related to catastrophes. ISO classifies a disaster as a catastrophe when the event
causes $25.0 million or more in direct insured losses to property and affects a significant number of policyholders and insurers.
ISO-classified catastrophes are assigned a unique serial number recognized throughout the insurance industry. The discussions
that follow utilize ISO’s definition of catastrophes.

The Company manages its exposure to catastrophes and other natural disasters through a combination of geographical
diversification, restrictions on the amount and location of new business production in certain regions, and reinsurance. To limit
its exposures to catastrophic events, the Company maintains various catastrophe reinsurance programs for its property and
casualty insurance businesses.

Coverage for the Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s catastrophe reinsurance program effective January 1, 2017 to
December 31, 2017 is provided in various layers as presented below.

Catastrophe Losses and

LAE P
ercentage

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS In Excess of Up to of Coverage
Property & Casualty Insurance Segment:

RELAINEA ...ttt ettt ae s ae e nenea $ — S 50.0 —%

18t Layer Of COVETAZE....c.vietieiieiieiieciie ettt et ettt e e et et e ssaesaeesseeenaesnneenneens 50.0 150.0 95.0

20d Layer OFf COVETAZE ...cuvevivieiieiieieiiteiieie ettt ettt ettt et et ste et enaenbesbeeneensens 150.0 250.0 31.7

21nd Layer OF COVETAZE ....c.veviruiriieieieiieeiieie sttt ettt sttt sb s 150.0 350.0 63.3

Coverage for the Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s catastrophe reinsurance program effective January 1, 2016 to
December 31, 2016 is provided in various layers as presented below.

Catastrophe Losses and

Percentage
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS In Excess of Up to of Coverage
Property & Casualty Insurance Segment:
RETAINEM ...ttt $ — 50.0 —%
18t Layer Of COVETAZE ....cuvieiieiietieiieciie et eeee e eeee ettt e st este et e ssaesaeesseesnaesnneenseens 50.0 150.0 95.0
20d Layer OFf COVETAZE ...cuvevevieiieieiieit ettt ettt sttt ste et nsesbesreeneensens 150.0 350.0 95.0
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Coverage for the Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s catastrophe reinsurance program effective January 1, 2015 to
December 31, 2015 is provided in various layers as presented below.

Catastrophe Losses and

Percentage
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS In Excess of Up to of Coverage
Property & Casualty Insurance Segment:
RELAINE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et a bt s a et seete et e s seeseeseseneas $ — 3 50.0 —%
ISt Layer Of COVETAZE. ....c.veeeiieiieiieieiie ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt st 50.0 150.0 95.0
2Nd LAYET OFf COVETAZE ....veevieiieiiieeiie e eiie ettt eie et et e et estaesseesteessaesnaesseeenseenseenseens 150.0 350.0 95.0

In the event that the Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s incurred catastrophe losses and LAE covered by any of its
catastrophe reinsurance programs presented in the three preceding tables exceed the retention for that particular layer, each of
the programs required one reinstatement of such coverage. In such an instance, the Property & Casualty Insurance segment is
required to pay a reinstatement premium to the reinsurers to reinstate the full amount of reinsurance available under such layer.

The Property & Casualty Insurance segment’s catastrophe reinsurance in 2017, 2016 and 2015 also included reinsurance
coverage from the Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund (the “FHCF”) for hurricane losses in Florida at retentions lower than
those described above. The Life & Health Insurance segment also purchases reinsurance from the FHCF for hurricane losses in
Florida. Except for the coverage provided by the FHCEF, the Life & Health Insurance segment does not catry any other
catastrophe reinsurance coverage.

Reinsurance premiums for the Company’s catastrophe reinsurance programs and the FHCF Program reduced earned premiums
for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 by the following:

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015

Property & Casualty INSUTANCE........cooiiiirieieeirieeiett et $ 109 $ 119 § 128
Life & Health INSUTANCE ...c..oviuiiiiiiiciicieiecee et 0.1 0.1 0.1
Total Ceded Catastrophe Reinsurance Premitums...........ceevvevvereeieniinienieieieniceceiesie e $ 110 $§ 120 $ 129

In 2017, the Company paid $0.8 million in reinstatement premium to reinstate the first layer of coverage under the Property &
Casualty Insurance segment’s catastrophe reinsurance program. The Company did not pay any reinstatement premium in 2016
or 2015.

Catastrophe losses and LAE (including reserve development), net of reinsurance recoveries, for the years ended December 31,
2017, 2016 and 2015 by business segment are presented below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS 2017 2016 2015

Property & Casualty INSUTANCE. .......coiiriiiieiieiiiierieieie et $ 1740 $§ 904 $ 56.6
Life & Health INSUTANCE ......oveuiiiiiiiciiiiecc et 6.4 5.4 3.9
Total Catastrophe Losses and LAE .........ccoiiriiieiiiniieieeecets e $ 1804 $ 958 § 605

In 2017, the Property & Casualty Insurance segment had catastrophe reinsurance recoveries of $11.9 million under the
catastrophe reinsurance program. The Property & Casualty Insurance segment did not have any recoveries from the FHCF. The
Life & Health Insurance segment had reinsurance recoveries of $0.2 million under the FHCF in 2017. Neither segment had
catastrophe reinsurance recoveries in 2016 or 2015.

Total catastrophe loss and LAE reserves, net of reinsurance recoverables, developed favorably by $4.5 million, $19.3 million
and $7.8 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Property & Casualty Insurance segment reported favorable
catastrophe reserve development of $5.0 million, $19.2 million and $7.9 million in 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The Life
& Health Insurance segment reported adverse catastrophe reserve development of $0.5 million in 2017, favorable catastrophe
reserve development of $0.1 million in 2016, and adverse catastrophe reserve development of $0.1 million in 2015.

The process of estimating and establishing reserves for catastrophe losses is inherently uncertain and the actual ultimate cost of
a claim, net of actual reinsurance recoveries, may vary materially from the estimated amount reserved. The Company’s
estimates of direct catastrophe losses are generally based on inspections by claims adjusters and historical loss development
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experience for areas that have not been inspected or for claims that have not yet been reported. The Company’s estimates of
direct catastrophe losses are based on the coverages provided by its insurance policies. The Company’s homeowners and
dwelling insurance policies do not provide coverage for losses caused by floods, but generally provide coverage for physical
damage caused by wind or wind-driven rain. Accordingly, the Company’s estimates of direct losses for homeowners and
dwelling insurance do not include losses caused by flood. Depending on the policy, automobile insurance may provide coverage
for losses caused by flood. Estimates of the number and severity of claims ultimately reported are influenced by many
variables, including, but not limited to, repair or reconstruction costs and determination of cause of loss that are difficult to
quantify and will influence the final amount of claim settlements. All these factors, coupled with the impact of the availability
of labor and material on costs, require significant judgment in the reserve setting process. A change in any one or more of these
factors is likely to result in an ultimate net claim cost different from the estimated reserve. The Company’s estimates of indirect
losses from wind pools and joint underwriting associations are based on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, actual
or estimated assessments provided by or received from such entities, insurance industry estimates of losses, and estimates of the
Company’s market share in the assessable states. Actual assessments may differ materially from these estimated amounts.

NOTE 21. OTHER REINSURANCE

In addition to the reinsurance programs described in Note 20, “Catastrophe Reinsurance,” to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, Kemper’s insurance subsidiaries utilize other reinsurance arrangements to limit their maximum loss, provide
greater diversification of risk and to minimize exposures on larger risks. The ceding of insurance does not discharge the primary
liability of the original insurer. Accordingly, insurance reserve liabilities are reported gross of any estimated recovery from
reinsurers in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with
the insurance reserve liability and are included in Other Receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Earned Premiums ceded on long-duration and short-duration policies were $18.2 million, $19.0 million and $20.6 million for
the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, of which $11.0 million, $12.0 million and $12.9 million,
respectively, was related to catastrophe reinsurance. See Note 20, “Catastrophe Reinsurance,” to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information regarding the Company’s catastrophe reinsurance programs. Certain insurance
subsidiaries assume business from other insurance companies and involuntary pools. Earned Premiums assumed on long-
duration and short-duration policies were $72.9 million, $67.3 million and $60.0 million for the years ended December 31,
2017,2016 and 2015, respectively.

Trinity and Capitol County Mutual Fire Insurance Company (“Capitol”) are parties to a quota share reinsurance agreement
whereby Trinity assumes 100% of the business written by Capitol, subject to a cap, for ceded losses for dwelling coverage.
Earned Premiums assumed by Trinity from Capitol were $20.7 million, $21.3 million and $21.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Capitol is a mutual insurance company and, accordingly, is owned by its
policyholders. Trinity and Old Reliable Casualty Company (“ORCC”), a subsidiary of Capitol, are parties to a quota share
reinsurance agreement whereby Trinity assumes 100% of the business written by ORCC, subject to a cap for ceded losses for
dwelling coverage. Earned Premiums assumed by Trinity from ORCC were $5.9 million, $6.2 million and $6.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Five employees of the Company serve as directors of Capitol’s five member board of directors. Nine employees of the
Company also serve as directors of ORCC’s nine member board of directors. Kemper’s subsidiary, United Insurance, provides
claims and administrative services to Capitol and ORCC. In addition, agents appointed by Kemper’s subsidiary, The Reliable
Life Insurance Company, and who are employed by United Insurance, are also appointed by Capitol and ORCC to sell property
insurance products for the Company’s Life & Health Insurance segment. The Company also provides certain investment
services to Capitol and ORCC.
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NOTE 22. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company classifies its Investments in Fixed Maturities and Equity Securities as available for sale and reports these
investments at fair value. The Company has elected the fair value option method of accounting for investments in certain hedge
funds and, accordingly, reports these investments at fair value. The Company classifies certain investments in mutual funds
included in Other Investments as trading securities and reports these investments at fair value. The Company has a derivative
instrument that is classified as a cash flow hedge and reported in Other Liabilities at fair value at December 31, 2017. The
Company had a separate derivative instrument that was classified as a cash flow hedge and reported in Other Assets at fair
value at December 31, 2016. The Company has no material liabilities that are measured and reported at fair value.

The valuation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31,

2017 is summarized below.

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS
Fixed Maturities:

U.S. Government and Government
Agencies and Authorities................

States and Political Subdivisions.......
Foreign Governments..............c.........
Corporate Securities:
Bonds and Notes..........cccccoeeennie.
Redeemable Preferred Stocks.......
Collateralized Loan Obligations...

Other Mortgage- and Asset-
backed .......ccooeiiiiiii

Total Investments in Fixed Maturities....
Equity Securities:
Preferred Stocks:

Finance, Insurance and Real
Estate.....c.ooooviiiiiiiiceee

Other Industries .......ccocvveevvvereennn.
Common Stocks:

Finance, Insurance and Real
Estate.....cooovvveiiiiiiieiiiieeees

Other Industries ..........ccoceevveuennene.
Other Equity Interests:
Exchange Traded Funds................

Limited Liability Companies and
Limited Partnerships.................

Total Investments in Equity Securities...
Fair Value Option Investments:

Limited Liability Companies and
Limited Partnerships Hedge Funds

Other Investments:
Trading Securities.........cccoevvevvervrrnnne.
Other Liabilities:

Derivative Instrument Classified as
Cash Flow Hedge.........cccevvenirnnnne

Fair Value Measurements

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Measured at Net
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Asset Value Fair Value
$ 1158 §$ 4403 $ — — 3 556.1
— 1,701.8 — — 1,701.8
— 3.2 — — 3.2
— 2,579.1 401.5 — 2,980.6
— — 0.1 — 0.1
— 46.6 93.2 — 139.8
— 1.1 — — 1.1
115.8 4,772.1 494.8 — 5,382.7
— 55.7 — — 55.7
— 12.3 10.8 — 23.1
7.0 0.1 — — 7.1
0.7 0.4 16.6 — 17.7
219.5 — — — 219.5
— — 34.4 168.5 202.9
227.2 68.5 61.8 168.5 526.0
— — — 77.5 71.5
6.7 — — — 6.7
— 0.8) — — 0.8)
$ 349.7 $ 4,839.8 $ 556.6 $ 246.0 $ 5,992.1
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At December 31, 2017, the Company had unfunded commitments to invest an additional $141.3 million in certain limited
liability investment companies and limited partnerships that will be included in Other Equity Interests when funded.

The valuation of assets measured at fair value in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2016 is

summarized below.

Fair Value Measurements

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Measured at Net
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Asset Value Fair Value
Fixed Maturities:
U.S. Government and Government
Agencies and Authorities............... $ 119.5 $ 216.8 $ — 3 — 3 336.3
States and Political Subdivisions ...... — 1,711.1 3.8 — 1,714.9
Foreign Governments........................ — 3.4 — — 3.4
Corporate Securities:
Bonds and Notes........ccccceevueenneene. — 2,541.6 403.2 — 2,944 .8
Redeemable Preferred Stocks....... — — 0.6 — 0.6
Collateralized Loan Obligations... — 19.3 103.5 — 122.8
Other Mortgage- and Asset-
backed.......ccooooeiiiiiiiiii — 2.1 — — 2.1
Total Investments in Fixed Maturities ... 119.5 4,494.3 511.1 — 5,124.9
Equity Securities:
Preferred Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real
Estate......ccoooiiiiiiiii — 59.6 — — 59.6
Other Industries ........cccoeeveeeeenneene — 11.4 11.5 — 22.9
Common Stocks:
Finance, Insurance and Real
Estate.....coovvevierieiieiieniceee, 26.4 — 7.1 — 335
Other Industries ..........cocceevevennenne. 0.4 0.2 11.1 — 11.7
Other Equity Interests:
Exchange Traded Funds................ 144.4 i i - 144 .4
Limited Liability Companies and
Limited Partnerships................. — — 40.9 168.7 209.6
Total Investments in Equity Securities .. 171.2 71.2 70.6 168.7 481.7
Fair Value Option Investments:
Limited Liability Companies and
Limited Partnerships Hedge
Funds.......coooeviiiiiiiiiicieie — — — 111.4 111.4
Other Investments:
Trading Securities .........c.coeeveeruennee. 5.3 — — — 53
Other Assets:
Derivative Instrument Classified as
Cash Flow Hedge ........ccccccoeveininnene — 1.6 — — 1.6
TOtAl i $ 296.0 $ 4,567.1 $ 581.7 280.1 § 5,724.9
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The Company’s investments in Fixed Maturities that are classified as Level 1 in the two preceding tables primarily consist of
U.S. Treasury Bonds and Notes. The Company’s investments in Equity Securities that are classified as Level 1 in the two
preceding tables consist either of investments in publicly-traded common stocks or exchange traded funds. The Company’s
investments in Fixed Maturities that are classified as Level 2 in the two preceding tables primarily consist of investments in
corporate bonds, obligations of states and political subdivisions, and bonds and mortgage-backed securities of U.S. government
agencies. The Company’s investments in Equity Securities that are classified as Level 2 in the two preceding tables primarily
consist of investments in preferred stocks. The Company uses a leading, nationally recognized provider of market data and
analytics to price the vast majority of the Company’s Level 2 measurements. The provider utilizes evaluated pricing models that
vary by asset class and incorporate available trade, bid and other market information. Because many fixed maturity securities
do not trade on a daily basis, the provider’s evaluated pricing applications apply available information through processes such
as benchmark curves, benchmarking of like securities, sector groupings, and matrix pricing to prepare evaluations. In addition,
the provider uses model processes to develop prepayment and interest rate scenarios. The pricing provider’s models and
processes also take into account market convention. For each asset class, teams of its evaluators gather information from market
sources and integrate relevant credit information, perceived market movements and sector news into the evaluated pricing
applications and models. The Company generally validates the measurements obtained from its primary pricing provider by
comparing them with measurements obtained from one additional pricing provider that provides either prices from recent
market transactions or quotes in inactive markets or evaluations based on its own proprietary models.

The Company investigates significant differences related to the values provided. On completion of its investigation,
management exercises judgment to determine the price selected and whether adjustments, if any, to the price obtained from the
Company’s primary pricing provider would warrant classification of the price as Level 3. In instances where a measurement
cannot be obtained from either pricing provider, the Company generally will evaluate bid prices from one or more binding
quotes obtained from market makers to value investments in inactive markets and classified by the Company as Level 2. The
Company generally classifies securities when it receives non-binding quotes or indications as Level 3 securities unless the
Company can validate the quote or indication against recent transactions in the market.

The Company’s investments in Fixed Maturities that are classified as Level 3 in the two preceding tables primarily consist of
privately placed securities not rated by a Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization and are priced primarily using a
market yield approach. A market yield approach uses a risk-free rate plus a credit spread depending on the underlying credit
profile of the security. For floating rate securities, the risk-free rate used in the market yield is the contractual floating rate of
the security. For each individual security, the Company or the Company’s third party appraiser gathers information from market
sources, relevant credit information, perceived market movements and sector news and determines an appropriate market yield
for each security. The market yield selected is then used to discount the estimated future cash flows of the security to determine
the fair value. The Company separately evaluates market yields based upon asset class to assess the reasonableness of the
recorded fair value. For non-investment-grade investments in Fixed Maturities that are classified as Level 3, the two primary
asset classes are senior debt and junior debt. Senior debt includes those securities that receive first priority in a liquidation and
junior debt includes any fixed maturity security with other than first priority in a liquidation.

The table below presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs utilized by the Company in
determining fair values for fixed maturity investments in corporate securities classified as Level 3 at December 31, 2017.

Weighted
Unobservable Total Range of Unobservable Average
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Input Fair Value Inputs Yield
INVeStMENt-grade .......c.cceeeeieiieiieieieie e Market Yield $  96.2 3.0% - 6.7% 3.8%
Non-investment-grade:
SeNIOr DEDE ....oveiiiieiieiee e Market Yield 138.1 45 - 157 10.0
JUNIor Debt......ooooiiiiiiie Market Yield 154.1 9.6 - 243 12.9
Collateralized Loan Obligations (investment-grade and non-
investment-grade) Market Yield 93.2 43 - 106 7.8

OhET .t Various 13.2
Total Fixed Maturity Investments in Corporate Securities......... $ 4948
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The table below presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs utilized by the Company in
determining fair values for fixed maturity investments in corporate securities classified as Level 3 at December 31, 2016.

Unobservable Total Range of Unobservable \Xsiegrl;t;ed

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Input Fair Value Inputs Yield
INVEStMENt-rade ......ccoevvievieieieeiieii et Market Yield $ 106.1 2.7% - 5.1% 3.8%
Non-investment-grade:

SeNIOr DEbt ..o Market Yield 142.2 48 - 14.0 9.6

JUNIOT DEDt ... Market Yield 143.3 9.5 - 200 13.0
Collateralized Loan Obligations ..........ccccceeeverierieierienieiieiennn, Market Yield 103.5 3.7 - 9.9 6.3
OBRET . Various 16.0
Total Fixed Maturity Investments in Corporate Securities......... $ 511.1

For an investment in a fixed maturity security, an increase in the yield used to determine the fair value of the security will
decrease the fair value of the security. A decrease in the yield used to determine fair value will increase the fair value of the
security, but the fair value increase is generally limited to par, unless callable at a premium, if the security is currently callable.

The Company’s other investments that are classified as Level 3 primarily consist of Limited Liability Companies and Limited
Partnerships, but also certain Preferred Stocks and Common Stocks. The Company either uses valuations provided by third
party fund managers, third party appraisers, or that are generated internally. These valuations typically employ various
valuation techniques commonly used in the industry, including earnings multiples based on comparable public securities,
industry-specific non-earnings based multiples, market yields based on comparable public securities and discounted cash flow
models.

Information by security type pertaining to the changes in the fair value of the Company’s investments classified as Level 3 for
the year ended December 31, 2017 is presented below.

Fixed Maturities Equity Securities
Corporate  States and Other Preferred
Bonds Political Redeemable Collateralized Mortgage- and Other
and Sub- Preferred Loan and Asset- Common Equity
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Notes divisions Stocks Obligations backed Stocks Interests Total

Balance at Beginning of
Year. ..o $ 4032 § 38 § 06 $ 103.5 § — $ 297 $ 409 § 5817

Total Gains (Losses):

Included in Consolidated

Statements of Income .. 5.7 (1.2) 0.1 1.5 — 14 4.0 0.1

Included in Other

Comprehensive Income... 4.9 0.1 0.1 24 — 34 4.8) 5.9
Purchases..........cccooeveiiieinns 171.0 — — 34.0 — 4.6 3.1 212.7
Settlements...........cccceeveenenne. (110.6) (2.6) 0.5) (33.5) — — — (147.2)
Sales...ocoeveriieieieee (40.8) — — (7.9) — 8.2) (8.8) (65.7)
Transfers into Level 3 .......... 8.1 14 — 5.0 — — — 14.5
Transfers out of Level 3....... (28.6) (1.5) — (11.8) — 3.5) — 45.4)
Balance at End of Year......... $ 4015 § — 8 0.1 $ 93.2 $ — $ 274 $ 344 $ 556.6

The Company’s policy is to recognize transfers between levels as of the end of the reporting period. There were no transfers
between Levels 1 and 2 for the year ended December 31, 2017. Transfers out of Level 3 were $45.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017, of which $3.5 million was transferred into Level 1 due to an issuer’s initial public offering of the security
and $41.9 million was transferred into Level 2 due to changes in the availability of market observable inputs.
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Information by security type pertaining to the changes in the fair value of the Company’s investments classified as Level 3 for
the year ended December 31, 2016 is presented below.

Fixed Maturities Equity Securities
States and Other Preferred
Corporate Political Redeemable Collateralized Mortgage- and Other
Bonds and Sub- Preferred Loan and Asset- Common Equity
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS Notes divisions Stocks Obligations backed Stocks Interests Total

Balance at Beginning of
Year. ..o § 4363 $ — § 38§ 873 § 38§ 300 § 456 $ 606.8

Total Gains (Losses):
Included in Consolidated

Statement of Income ... (23.0) (0.3) — — 0.4 (1.7) (1.6) (26.2)
Included in Other
Comprehensive Income ... 0.9 — — 4.3 (0.3) 34 2.4) 5.9
Purchases........cccccevceveennenne. 203.7 — — 29.1 — 7.9 3.9 244.6
Settlements ..........c.cceceeeenne. (85.4) — (3.2) (5.0) (3.0) (5.2) — (101.8)
Sales .o (114.5) — — (1.9) — “4.7) 4.6) (125.7)
Transfers into Level 3........... — 4.1 — — — — — 4.1
Transfers out of Level 3 ....... (14.8) — — (10.3) (0.9) — — (26.0)
Balance at End of Year.......... § 4032 $ 3.8 % 0.6 $ 103.5 § — $§ 297 $§ 409 § 5817

The Company’s policy is to recognize transfers between levels as of the end of the reporting period. There were no transfers
between Levels 1 and 2 or Levels 1 and 3 for the year ended December 31, 2016. The transfers out of Level 3 for the year
ended December 31, 2016 were due to changes in the availability of market observable inputs.

The fair value of Debt is estimated using quoted prices for similar liabilities in markets that are not active. The inputs used in
the valuation are considered Level 2 measurements. The fair value of Short-term Investments is estimated using inputs that are
considered Level 1 or Level 2 measurements.

NOTE 23. CONTINGENCIES

In the ordinary course of its businesses, the Company is involved in legal proceedings, including lawsuits, regulatory
examinations, audits and inquiries. Except with regard to the matters discussed below, based on currently available information,
the Company does not believe that it is reasonably possible that any of its pending legal proceedings will have a material effect
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Over the last several years there have been an array of initiatives that seek, in various ways, to impose new duties on life
insurance companies to proactively search for information related to the deaths of their insureds. These initiatives, which can
include legislation, unclaimed property audits, market conduct examinations and related litigation, could have the effect of
altering the terms of Kemper’s life insurance subsidiaries’ existing life insurance contracts by imposing requirements that did
not exist and were not contemplated at the time those companies entered into such contracts.

In the third quarter of 2016, the Company voluntarily began implementing a comprehensive process to compare its life
insurance records against one or more death verification databases to determine if any of its insureds may be deceased. See
Note 2, “Summary of Accounting Policies and Accounting Changes,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion
of the estimated financial impact of such voluntary action recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. Any
attempt to estimate the ultimate outcomes of the aforementioned initiatives entails uncertainties including, but not limited to (i)
the scope and interpretation of DMF statutes, including the matching criteria and methodologies to be used in comparing policy
records against a DMF, (ii) the universe of policies affected, (iii) the results of audits, examinations and other actions by
regulators and (iv) related litigation.
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Kemper Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE 23. CONTINGENCIES (Continued)
Gain Contingency

In October 2015, Kemper’s subsidiary, Kemper Corporate Services, Inc. (“KCSI”), filed a demand for arbitration with the
American Arbitration Association (“AAA”), claiming that Computer Services Corporation (“CSC”) had breached the terms of a
master software license and services agreement and related agreements (collectively, the “Agreements”) by failing, among other
things, to timely produce and deliver certain software to KCSI. CSC denied KCSI’s claims and filed a counterclaim. On April 1,
2017, CSC merged with a spin-off of the Enterprise Services business of Hewlett Packard Enterprise Company and is now
known as DXC Technology Company (“DXC”). Currently, DXC’s stock is publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange.

In April 2017, the parties participated in an evidentiary hearing before a AAA-appointed arbitrator. Subsequently, the parties
submitted post-hearing briefs, held closing arguments, and submitted proposed awards to the arbitrator.

In October 2017, the arbitrator issued a Partial Final Award finding that CSC had breached the Agreements and awarding KCSI
direct damages of $84.3 million plus pre-judgment interest at an annual rate of 9% pursuant to applicable law. KCSI
subsequently filed a Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas seeking
confirmation and enforcement of the Partial Final Award and also submitted to the arbitrator a supplemental petition providing
pre-judgment interest calculations and seeking an award for certain costs and expenses. In November 2017, the arbitrator issued
a Final Award awarding KCSI direct damages against CSC of $84.3 million, prejudgment interest at the annual rate of 9% and
costs and expenses in the amount of $7.2 million. KCSI then filed an Amended Motion to Confirm Arbitration Award seeking
confirmation and enforcement of the Final Award.

In December 2017, CSC filed a Petition to Vacate an Arbitration Award in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of
New York and a motion to stay the proceedings in Texas. Following briefing and a hearing, the New York district court denied
CSC’s motion to stay the Texas action and instead stayed the New York action. The Texas district court then set a briefing
schedule with regard to CSC’s motion to transfer venue to the Southern District of New York. Once venue is resolved, the
parties will proceed with the confirmation and vacatur litigation.

The Company cannot make any assurance as to the final amount of the judgment that may be entered in favor of KCSI or when
it will be collected. The Final Award is treated as gain contingency for accounting purposes and accordingly, is not recognized
in these Consolidated Financial Statements.

NOTE 24. RELATED PARTIES

Mr. Christopher B. Sarofim, a director of Kemper, is Vice Chairman and a member of the board of directors of Fayez Sarofim
& Co. (“FS&C”), a registered investment advisory firm. In 2015, FS&C provided investment management services with respect
to certain assets of Kemper’s subsidiary, Trinity, under an agreement between the parties. Trinity began reducing the amount of
assets managed by FS&C in 2014, and completed the disposal of all the assets managed by FS&C in 2015. Investment
Expenses incurred in connection with such agreement were $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015.

The Company’s Pension Plan had $171.8 million, $148.4 million and $137.2 million in assets managed by FS&C at
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, under an agreement with FS&C whereby FS&C provides investment
management services with respect to certain funds of the plan. Investment Expenses incurred in connection with such
agreement were $0.9 million, $0.8 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015,
respectively.

The Company believes that the transactions described above have been provided on terms no less favorable to the Company
than could have been negotiated with non-affiliated third parties.

As described in Note 21, “Other Reinsurance,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company also has certain
relationships with Capitol, a mutual insurance company that is owned by its policyholders, and its subsidiary, ORCC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

NOTE 25. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited)

Year
Three Months Ended (Unaudited) Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31, Dec 31,
DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
Revenues:
Earned Premiums... ..o $ 5634 $ 5825 $ 5982 §$§ 6059 $2,350.0
Net Investment INCOME.........cccoeoveviriiiiiiininiiiiininicccceenen 81.6 771 85.9 82.6 327.2
Other INCOME ......oouiiuiiiiiiiiieee e 0.9 1.0 1.0 1.1 4.0
Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments..............cccceevveneee. 10.5 26.4 8.1 11.5 56.5
Other-than-temporary Impairment Losses:
Total Other-than-temporary Impairment Losses..................... (5.2) (2.6) 2.9) 3.7 (14.4)
Portion of Losses Recognized in Other Comprehensive
INCOME.....viiiiiice e 0.2 — — (0.1) 0.1
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings......................... 5.0) (2.6) 2.9 3.9 (14.3)
TOtal REVEINUES ...ttt 651.4 684.4 690.3 697.3 2,723.4
Expenses:
Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and Loss
Adjustment EXPenses........ccoviiieieriiieeieiesieseeeeiesie e 477.4 447.4 440.1 472.5 1,837.4
Insurance EXPenses .......ccocverierieiieeiieieeieeiceteeesee e 158.0 163.5 163.7 159.1 644.3
Interest and Other EXPEenses ..........cvecvevveeueeieiesieiieeieieere e 19.5 214 18.2 21.5 80.6
TOtal EXPEINSES....uieiuienieiieieieiieieeienieie ettt neenes 654.9 632.3 622.0 653.1 2,562.3
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes.. 3.5 52.1 68.3 44.2 161.1
Income Tax Benefit (EXpense)........cccccvevevieeieiesiesieeieieieeie e 3.1 (15.5) (20.5) 8.3) (41.2)
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations ............ccceeeeervereerveeneene. 0.4) 36.6 47.8 359 119.9
Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations............cc.cccoeeeeeennnen. 0.1 — 0.1) 1.0 1.0
Net INCOmME (LOSS) c.viivieiieiiiieiieieciecie ettt $ (©03)$ 366 $ 477 $ 369 $ 1209
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations Per Unrestricted
Share:
BASIC .t $ (0.01) $ 071 § 092 $§ 069 § 2.32
DIIULEA .. $ o) $ 071 $ 092 $ 069 S$§ 231
Net Income (Loss) Per Unrestricted Share: -
BASIC ..ttt $ oo $ 071 $ 092 $ 071 $ 234
DIIULEA . e $ (01 $ 071 0.92 0.71 2.33
Dividends Paid to Shareholders Per Share..........ccccoeovevveiiniiinnennne. $ 024 § 024 $ 024 $§ 024 $ 096

The sum of quarterly per share amounts may not equal per share amounts for the year due to differences in weighted-average shares and/or equivalent shares
outstanding for each of the periods presented.
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NOTE 25. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited) (Continued)

DOLLARS IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS

Revenues:
Earned Premitums........c.ocoivoieriiiisiieieieeeeeeeeee e
Net Investment INCOmME..........cccooriiriiiiiiiiiiiicec e
Other INCOME .....oouviiiiiiieieeee e
Net Realized Gains on Sales of Investments..............cccceevveneee.
Other-than-temporary Impairment Losses:
Total Other-than-temporary Impairment Losses.....................

Portion of Losses Recognized in Other Comprehensive
INCOME.....oiiiiiiiiiiiee e

Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings.........................
Total REVENUES .....oviiiiiiiieiii et
Expenses:

Policyholders’ Benefits and Incurred Losses and Loss
Adjustment EXPenses........ccoviiieieriiieeieiesieseeeeiesie e

Insurance EXPenses .......ccocverierieiieeiieieeieeiceteeesee e

Interest and Other EXPEenses ..........cvecvevveeueeieiesieiieeieieere e
TOtal EXPENSES...c.eovuieeieeieiiiiiciieieieeie ettt
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes..
Income Tax Benefit (EXpense)........cccecvevvevieeuieiesiecieeieieieeie e
Income from Continuing Operations............cceeceevverreeeeeerierreseeeneenns
Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations.............c.cccoeeeeeennnen.

NEt INCOMEC ...

Income from Continuing Operations Per Unrestricted Share:

Year

Three Months Ended (Unaudited) Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30, Dec 31, Dec 31,
2016 2016 2016 2016 2016

$ 5460 $ 5537 $§ 5589 § 5614 $2,220.0

67.0 73.7 77.7 79.9 298.3
0.8 0.6 0.8 1.0 3.2
6.8 5.6 11.6 9.1 33.1
(9.6) (6.4) (8.3) (87)  (33.0)
0.3 — — — 0.3
(9.3) (6.4) (8.3) 87)  (327)
611.3 627.2 640.7 642.7  2,521.9
436.2 436.1 490.2 4183  1,780.8
159.3 167.8 161.7 158.5 647.3
223 20.7 22.0 25.3 90.3
617.8 624.6 673.9 602.1 25184
(6.5) 2.6 (33.2) 40.6 3.5
43 1.5 14.9 (11.5) 9.2
2.2) 4.1 (18.3) 29.1 12.7
0.1 (0.1) 2.0 2.1 4.1
$ @S 40 $ (163)$ 312 $ 168
$ (0.04) $ 008 $ (036) $ 056 $ 025
$ (004 $ 008 $ (036) $ 056 $ 025
$ (0.04) $ 008 $ (032) $ 060 $ 033
$ (004 $ 008 $ (032) $ 060 $ 033
S 024 $§ 024 $ 024 $§ 024 S 096

The sum of quarterly per share amounts may not equal per share amounts for the year due to differences in weighted-average shares and/or equivalent shares

outstanding for each of the periods presented.
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NOTE 26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On February 13, 2018, Kemper, Kemper Merger Sub and Infinity entered into the Infinity Merger Agreement under which
Kemper will acquire Infinity in a cash and stock transaction valued at approximately $1.4 billion, plus assumption of certain of
Infinity’s debt, or $129.00 per Infinity share; the exchange ratio for stock consideration to be issued in the merger is fixed and
was determined based on Kemper’s 20-trading day volume weighted average price as of February 12, 2018 of $64.40. Based on
Kemper’s February 12, 2018 closing stock price of $57.75, the implied total consideration is approximately $1.3 billion, or
$121.01 per Infinity share. Pursuant to the Infinity Merger Agreement, Kemper Merger Sub will merge with and into Infinity,
with Infinity surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Kemper. Infinity is a national provider of auto insurance focused on
serving the specialty, nonstandard segment. With approximately 2,300 employees, 10,600 independent agents and $1.4 billion
in 2017 direct written premiums, Infinity is one of the largest nonstandard auto insurers in the United States.

Under the terms of the Infinity Merger Agreement, as of the effective time of the Infinity Merger (the “Effective Time”), each
share of Infinity common stock issued and outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than as set forth in
the Infinity Merger Agreement) will be canceled and converted into, at the election of the holder of such share, the right to,
receive(i) $51.60 in cash and 1.2019 Kemper common shares for each share of Infinity common stock, without interest (the
“Mixed Consideration”), (ii) an amount of cash for each share of Infinity common stock, without interest, equal to $129.00 (the
“Cash Consideration™) or (iii) a number of shares of Kemper common stock equal to 2.0031 (the “Stock Consideration™).
Holders of Infinity common stock who do not make an election will receive the Mixed Consideration. The consideration to be
paid to holders of Infinity common stock electing to receive the Cash Consideration or the Stock Consideration in connection
with the Infinity Merger is subject to automatic adjustment, as applicable, to ensure that the total amount of cash paid and the
total number of shares of Kemper common stock issued in the Infinity Merger is the same as what would be paid and issued if
all holders of Infinity common stock were to receive the Mixed Consideration. Following the close of the Infinity Merger,
Infinity shareholders are expected to own approximately 20% of the combined company on a pro-forma basis.

The Infinity Merger has been approved by the Board of Directors of each company and is expected to close in the third quarter
of 2018, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of applicable closing conditions. Such closing conditions to which the completion
of the Infinity Merger is subject include, among others, (i) adoption by Infinity shareholders of the Infinity Merger Agreement,
(ii) approval by Kemper stockholders of the issuance of Kemper common stock in connection with the Infinity Merger, (iii) the
expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period (or extensions thereof) under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act of 1976 and the receipt of certain other regulatory approvals, (iv) the absence of any effective order issued
by any court of competent jurisdiction or other legal restraint prohibiting or preventing the consummation of the Infinity
Merger and (v) other closing conditions.
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Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Kemper Corporation
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kemper Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes and the
schedules listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “financial statements™). We also have audited the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, of the
Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the
accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM (Continued)

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 13,2018

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
Not Applicable

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with participation of Kemper’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™)) as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, Kemper’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in ensuring that
information required to be disclosed by Kemper in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified by the SEC’s rules and forms, and accumulated and
communicated to the Company’s management, including Kemper’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2017 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We, as management of the Company, are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC, internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or
under the supervision of, a company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar
functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

«  Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company;

*  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and

*  Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Management has evaluated the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on
the control criteria established in a report entitled Internal Control—Integrated Framework, issued in 2013 by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on such evaluation, we have concluded that the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting is effective as of December 31, 2017.

The independent registered public accounting firm of Deloitte & Touche LLP, as auditors of the consolidated financial
statements of Kemper and its subsidiaries, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of management’s internal control
over financial reporting based on criteria established in /nternal Control—Integrated Framework, issued in 2013 by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

/S/ JOSEPH P. LACHER, JR. /S/ JAMES J. MCKINNEY

Joseph P. Lacher, Jr. James J. McKinney

President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Kemper Corporation Kemper Corporation

February 13,2018
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The attestation report of the independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting is included in Item 8 under the heading “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None
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PART IIT
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Meetings and Committees
of the Board of Directors,” “Business Experience of Nominees,” “Executive Officers,” “Ownership of Kemper Common Stock™
and “Corporate Governance” in the Proxy Statement for Kemper’s 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. Kemper plans to file
such proxy statement within 120 days after December 31, 2017, the end of Kemper’s fiscal year.

Kemper’s code of ethics applicable to its chief executive officer, chief financial officer and principal accounting officer (“Code
of Ethics for Senior Financial Executives”) is posted in the “Governance” section of Kemper’s website, kemper.com. Kemper
also intends to disclose any future amendments to, and any waivers from (though none are anticipated), the Code of Ethics for
Senior Financial Executives in the “Governance” section of its website.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Executive Officer
Compensation and Benefits,” “Director Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” and
“Compensation Committee Report” in the Proxy Statement for Kemper’s 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. The
Compensation Committee Report to be included in such Proxy Statement shall be deemed to be furnished in this report and
shall not be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act as a result of such

furnishing in this Item 11.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item is set forth in the table below and incorporated herein by reference to the section
captioned “Ownership of Kemper Common Stock” in the Proxy Statement for Kemper’s 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of Securities

Number of Securities
to be Issued Upon

Weighted-Average

Remaining Available
for Future Issuance

Exercise of Exercise Price of Under Equity
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Compensation Plans

Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights or Programs (1)
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by

Security Holders 1,012,279 37.45 6,338,224
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by

Security Holders — — —
Total 1,012,279 § 37.45 6,338,224

(1) Includes 677,949 shares reserved for future grants based on performance results under the terms of outstanding PSU awards.

Kemper’s Omnibus Plan permits various stock-based awards including, but not limited to, stock options, stock appreciation
rights, DSUs, RSUs, and PSUSs.

The design of the Omnibus Plan provides for fungible use of shares to determine the number of shares available for future
grants, with a fungible conversion factor of three to one, such that the Share Authorization will be reduced at two different rates,
depending on the type of award granted. Each share of Kemper common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options or
stock appreciation rights will reduce the number of shares available for future grant under the Share Authorization by one share,
while each share of Kemper common stock issued pursuant to “full value awards” will reduce the number of shares available
for future grant under the Share Authorization by three shares. “Full value awards” are awards, other than stock options or stock

appreciation rights, that are settled by the issuance of shares of Kemper common stock and include RSUs, PSUs and DSUs, if
settled with stock.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections captioned “Related Person
Transactions” and “Director Independence” in the Proxy Statement for Kemper’s 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section captioned “Independent Registered Public
Accountant” in the Proxy Statement for Kemper’s 2018 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Documents filed as part of this Report

1. Financial Statements. The consolidated balance sheets of Kemper and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, and
the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income (loss), cash flows and shareholders’ equity for the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, together with the notes thereto and the report of Deloitte & Touche LLP thereon
appearing in Item 8 are included in this 2017 Annual Report.

2. Financial Statement Schedules. The following four financial statement schedules are included on the pages immediately
following the signature pages hereof. Schedules not listed here have been omitted because they are not applicable or not
material or the required information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Schedule I Investments Other Than Investments in Related Parties
Schedule II Parent Company Financial Statements

Schedule IIT Supplementary Insurance Information

Schedule IV Reinsurance Schedule

The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, with regards to the Financial
Statement Schedules listed above, is incorporated by reference to the Report of Independent Registered Public Accountant
included in Item 8.

3. Exhibits. An Exhibit Index has been filed as part of this report on pages 143 through 147.
(b) Exhibits. Included in Item 15(a)3 above

(¢) Financial Statement Schedules. Included in Item 15(a)2 above

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None
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Exhibit Index

The following exhibits are either filed as a part hereof or are incorporated by reference. Exhibit numbers followed by an
asterisk (*) indicate exhibits that are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

File Number

Exhibit

Filed or
Furnished
Filing Date Herewith

3.1
32

4.1

4.2

43

4.4

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4*

10.5%

10.6*

10.7*

Restated Certificate of Incorporation

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Kemper
Corporation

Indenture, dated as of February 27, 2014, by and
between Kemper Corporation and The Bank of
New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as
Trustee

First Supplemental Indenture dated as of
February 27, 2014, to the Indenture dated as of
February 27, 2014, by and between Kemper and
The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A., as Trustee (including the form of 7.375%
Subordinated Debentures due 2054).

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of
February 24, 2015, to the Indenture, dated as of
February 27, 2014, between Kemper
Corporation and The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (including the
form of 4.350% Senior Notes due 2025)

Form of Certificate Representing Shares of
Kemper Corporation Common Stock

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated
as of June 2, 2015, by and among Kemper, the
lenders party thereto, JP Morgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender
and issuing bank, and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association and Fifth Third Bank, as
co-syndication agents

Advances and Security Agreement and
Addendum to Advances and Security
Agreement, effective as of December 31, 2013,
between Trinity Universal Insurance Company
and the Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas

Advances, Collateral Pledge, and Security
Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2014,
between United Insurance Company of America
and the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago

Kemper Pension Equalization Plan, as amended
and restated effective August 25, 2011, as
amended by Amendment No. 2 effective
September 16, 2013

Kemper Supplemental Retirement Plan, as
amended and restated effective September 22,
2016

Kemper Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation
Plan, as amended and restated effective March
16,2016

Kemper 1995 Non-employee Director Stock
Option Plan, as amended and restated effective
February 3, 2009

8-K
8-K

8-K

8-K

10-K

8-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-Q

10-K

143

001-18298
001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

32
33

4.1

4.2

4.2

4.6

10.1

10.2

10.1

10.3

10.5

10.3

10.2

August 8, 2014
August 8, 2014

February 27,2014

February 27, 2014

February 24, 2015

February 12, 2016

June 8, 2015

February 14, 2014

March 21, 2014

February 14, 2014

February 13,2017

May 5, 2016

February 4, 2009



Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

File Number

Exhibit

Filed or
Furnished
Filing Date Herewith

10.8%*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15%*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18*

10.19%*

10.20*

10.21*

10.22*

10.23*

10.24*

10.25%

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the
Kemper 1995 Non-employee Director Stock
Option Plan, as of February 1, 2006

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the
Kemper 1995 Non-employee Director Stock
Option Plan, as of February 3, 2009

Kemper 1997 Stock Option Plan, as amended
and restated effective February 1, 2006

Form of Stock Option and SAR Agreement
under the Kemper 1997 Stock Option Plan, as of
February 1, 2006

Kemper 2002 Stock Option Plan, as amended
and restated effective February 3, 2009

Form of Stock Option and SAR Agreement
under the Kemper 2002 Stock Option Plan, as of
February 1, 2006

Form of Stock Option Agreement (including
stock appreciation rights) under the Kemper
2002 Stock Option Plan, as of February 1, 2011

Kemper 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as amended
and restated effective October 30, 2013

Kemper 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as amended
and restated effective February 8, 2017

Form of Stock Option and SAR Agreement for
Non-employee Directors under the Kemper
2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of August 25,
2011

Form of Time-Vested Restricted Stock Award
Agreement under the Kemper 2011 Omnibus
Equity Plan, as of February 4, 2013

Form of Stock Option and SAR Agreement for
Non-employee Directors under the Kemper
2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of May 1, 2013

Form of Deferred Stock Unit Agreement for
Non-employee Directors under the Kemper
2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of May 1, 2013

Form of Stock Option and SAR Agreement -
Installment-Vesting form under the Kemper
2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of February 4,
2014

Form of Stock Option and SAR Agreement -
Cliff-Vesting Form under the Kemper 2011
Omnibus Equity Plan, as of February 4, 2014

Form of Time-Vested Restricted Stock Unit
Award Agreement - Installment-Vesting Form
under the Kemper 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan,
as of February 4, 2014

Form of Time-Vested Restricted Stock Unit
Award Agreement - Cliff- Vesting Form under
the Kemper 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of
February 4, 2014

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Unit Award Agreement under the Kemper 2011
Omnibus Equity Plan, as of February 4, 2014

10-Q

10-K

10-Q
10-Q

10-K

10-Q

10-K

10-Q
10-K

10-K

10-K

10-Q

10-Q

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K
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001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

10.6

10.7

10.2

10.8

10.4

10.9

10.9

10.1

10.17

10.13

10.24

10.1

10.2

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

May 4, 2011

February 4, 2009

May 4, 2011

May 4, 2011

February 4, 2009

May 4, 2011

February 3, 2011

October 31, 2013

February 13,2017

February 17, 2012

February 15,2013

May 2, 2013

May 2, 2013

February 14, 2014

February 14, 2014

February 14, 2014

February 14, 2014

February 14, 2014



Exhibit
Number
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Incorporated by Reference

Form

File Number

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

10.26*

10.27*

10.28*

10.29*

10.30*

10.31*

10.32*

10.33*

10.34*

10.35%

10.36*

10.37*

10.38*

10.39*

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Unit Award Agreement under the Kemper 2011
Omnibus Equity Plan, as of February 26, 2016

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock
Unit Award Agreement (Relative TSR) under
the Kemper 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of
February 7, 2017

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock

Unit Award Agreement (Adjusted ROE) under
the Kemper 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of

February 7, 2017

Form of Stock Option and SAR Agreement -
Installment-Vesting form under the Kemper
2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of February 7,
2017

Form of Time-Vested Restricted Stock Unit
Award Agreement - Installment-Vesting Form
under the Kemper 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan,
as of February 7, 2017

Form of Performance Share Unit Award
Agreement (Adjusted ROE) under the Kemper
2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of October 31,
2017

Form of Performance Share Unit Award
Agreement (Relative TSR) under the Kemper
2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of October 31,
2017

Form of Stock Option and SAR Agreement
(Installment-Vesting) under the Kemper 2011
Omnibus Equity Plan, as of October 31, 2017

Form of Performance Share Unit Award
Agreement (Adjusted ROE) under the Kemper
2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of February 6,
2018

Form of Performance Share Unit Award
Agreement (Relative TSR) under the Kemper
2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of February 6,
2018

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award
Agreement (Cliff Vesting) under the Kemper
2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of February 6,
2018

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award
Agreement (Installment Vesting) under the
Kemper 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of
February 6, 2018

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option and SAR
Award Agreement (CIliff Vesting) under the
Kemper 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of
February 6, 2018

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option and SAR
Award Agreement (Installment Vesting) under
the Kemper 2011 Omnibus Equity Plan, as of
February 6, 2018

10-Q

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

145

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

10.1

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.33

May 5, 2016

February 13,2017

February 13,2017

February 13, 2017

February 13,2017



Exhibit
Number

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Description Form

File Number

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed or
Furnished
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10.40*

10.41*

10.42%

10.43*

10.44*

10.45*

10.46*

12

Kemper 2009 Performance Incentive Plan, as 10-K
amended and restated effective February 4,
2014

Form of Multi-Year Incentive Award Agreement  10-K
under the Kemper 2009 Performance Incentive
Plan, as of February 4, 2014

Kemper Executive Performance Plan, effective ~ 10-K
February 4, 2014

Kemper is a party to individual Indemnification 8-K
and Expense Advancement Agreements with

each of its directors, as amended and restated

effective February 1, 2012

Kemper is a party to individual severance 10-K
agreements with the following executive
officers:

Joseph P. Lacher, Jr. (President and Chief
Executive Officer)

John M. Boschelli (Senior Vice President and
Chief Investment Officer)

Charles T. Brooks (Senior Vice President,
Operations & Systems)

C. Thomas Evans, Jr. (Senior Vice President,
Secretary & General Counsel)

Mark A. Green (Senior Vice President and
President, Life & Health Division)

Kan Yuk Andy Lau (Senior Vice President,
Chief Data & Analytics)

James J. McKinney (Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer)

Christine F. Mullins (Senior Vice President,
Chief Human Resources Officer)

Richard Roeske (Vice President and Chief
Accounting Officer)

Duane A. Sanders (Senior Vice President and
President, Property & Casualty Division)

Each of the foregoing agreements is identical
except that the multipliers for benefits related to
bonus, severance, life insurance and health
insurance are 150%, 3 years, 3 years and 36
months, respectively, for Mr. Lacher and 110%,
2 years, 2 years and 24 months, respectively, for
the other officers.

Separation Agreement, dated as of March 2, 10-Q
2016, with Denise I. Lynch, former Vice

President and Property & Casualty Group

Executive of the Company

Letter with Frank J. Sodaro, former Chief 10-Q
Financial Officer, dated October 7, 2016, with
Separation Agreement included as Exhibit B

and subsequently executed by the parties

without material revision as of January 13, 2017

Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges
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001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

001-18298

10.32

10.34

10.35

10.25

10.42

10.2

10.1

February 14, 2014

February 14, 2014

February 14, 2014

February 6, 2012

February 13,2017

May 5, 2016

November 3, 2016
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Filed
Exhibit Fui‘:;isl(::d
Number Exhibit Description Form  File Number  Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
21 Subsidiaries of Kemper Corporation X
23 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP X
24 Power of Attorney (included on the signature X
page hereof)
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer X
Pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14(a)
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant X
to SEC Rule 13a-14(a)
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer X
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 (furnished pursuant to Item 601(b)
(32) of Regulation S-K)
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant X
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (furnished pursuant to Item 601(b)(32) of
Regulation S-K)
101.1 XBRL Instance X
101.2 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X
101.3 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation X
Linkbase Document
1014 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase X
Document
101.5 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation X
Linkbase Document
101.6 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition X

Linkbase Document
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below on the following page hereby appoints each of Joseph P. Lacher, Jr., President and
Chief Executive Officer, James J. McKinney, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and Richard Roeske, Vice
President and Chief Accounting Officer, so long as such individual remains an executive officer of Kemper Corporation, his
true and lawful attorney-in-fact with authority together or individually to execute in the name of each such signatory, and with
authority to file with the SEC, any and all amendments to this 2017 Annual Report of Kemper Corporation, together with any
and all exhibits thereto and other documents therewith, necessary or advisable to enable Kemper Corporation to comply with
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any rules, regulations, and requirements of the SEC in respect thereof,
which amendments may make such other changes in the 2017 Annual Report as the aforesaid attorney-in-fact executing the
same deems appropriate.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Kemper Corporation has duly caused this
2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, on February 13, 2018.

KEMPER CORPORATION
(Registrant)

By: /S/ JOSEPH P. LACHER, JR.
Joseph P. Lacher, Jr.

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of Kemper Corporation in the capacities indicated on February 13, 2018.

Signature
/S/" ROBERT J. JOYCE

Robert J. Joyce

/S/ JOSEPH P. LACHER, JR.

Joseph P. Lacher, Jr.

/S/ JAMES J. MCKINNEY

James J. McKinney

/S/" RICHARD ROESKE

Richard Roeske

/S/" GEORGE N. COCHRAN

George N. Cochran

/S/" KATHLEEN M. CRONIN

Kathleen M. Cronin

/S/" DOUGLAS G. GEOGA

Douglas G. Geoga

/S/" THOMAS M. GOLDSTEIN

Thomas M. Goldstein

/S/" LACY M. JOHNSON

Lacy M. Johnson

/S/ CHRISTOPHER B. SAROFIM

Christopher B. Sarofim

/S/" DAVID P. STORCH

David P. Storch

/S/" SUSAN D. WHITING

Susan D. Whiting

Title
Chairman of the Board and Director

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director (principal
executive officer)

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (principal
financial officer)

Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer (principal

accounting officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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SCHEDULE I

KEMPER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
INVESTMENTS OTHER THAN INVESTMENTS IN RELATED PARTIES
DECEMBER 31, 2017
(Dollars in Millions)

Amount
Amortized Carried in
Cost Fair Value Balance Sheet
Fixed Maturities:
Bonds and Notes:
United States Government and Government Agencies and Authorities.............. $ 5427 § 5561 § 556.1
States and Political SUDAIVISIONS ........ccveiieviiiiiieieieeceeecee et e eeee e 1,595.5 1,701.8 1,701.8
Foreign Governments 3.0 3.2 3.2
Corporate Securities:
Other Bonds and NOTES ......c.uviiiiiiiieee ettt e e 2,745.8 2,980.6 2,980.6
Redeemable Preferred StOCKS .....cvvviiiieeiieiieieeceeee e 0.1 0.1 0.1
Collateralized Loan Obligations ...........cccuevirieierienienieieienieeeeeeee e seeeneenees 134.1 139.8 139.8
Other Mortgage- and Asset-backed...........ccccoeviviniiiiiininiiiiiiciccee, 0.4 1.1 1.1
Total Investments in FiXed MaturitieS........c.ocovviiiouiiieiieciee e 5,021.6 5,382.7 5,382.7
Equity Securities:
Preferred StOCKS ... oo 68.2 78.8 78.8
COMIMON STOCKS ....uvitietieiieieete ettt sttt ettt ettt et e sbe bt neenbesbeeneenses 15.5 24.8 24.8
Other EQUILY INTETESES ....eouviiiiiiiieieiesieeiceerte ettt 392.5 422.4 422.4
Total Investments in EQUILY SECUITLIES .......ccvevviiiiiieiiriiiieierie e 476.2 526.0 526.0
Fair Value Option INVESTMENTS ......c.evuiriiriiieiiiiiiiieiesie sttt 77.5 77.5 71.5
Equity Method Limited Liability Investments at Cost Plus Cumulative
Undistributed Earnings ..........ceovevierieieierieniiiceiesiesie ettt 161.0 XXX.X 161.0
Loans, Real Estate and Other INVESTMENTS ..........ooouviiiiieiieeeceeeciee e 422.2 XXX.X 422.2
Short-term INVESTMENES ......ccueiviieieieieiieiieieie sttt 235.5 XXX.X 235.5
TOtAl TIVESTIMIENES ...ttt e e et e e et e e eaeeeenaeeeenaeeenaeeeenaeean $ 6,394.0 $ 6,804.9

See Accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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KEMPER CORPORATION
PARENT COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in Millions)

ASSETS

Investments N SUDSIAIATIES .......eoveiiiiiriiieiiere ettt
Fixed Maturities at Fair Value (Amortized Cost: 2017 — $0.3; 2016 — $46.3)...ccvevivievieiieiieieieie e
Equity Securities at Fair Value (Cost: 2017 — $6.1; 2016 — $5.2) .cueoveieiiririeieiceieeeeeeee e
Fair Value Option INVESTMENTS ......cc.eiuiiiiieieitieiieierte sttt ettt ettt ettt sbe st este st sbeennens
Short-term INVESIMEINLS ....c..eiiiiiiiieieiietie ettt sttt ettt et ese bt e e ene e

CUITENT TNCOMIE TaAXES. ...ttt ettt et e et e et e e et e e e aeee e aeeeensee e neeaenseaeneeeanseeeaneaaanseaaannaaan
ONET ASSEES ...ttt ettt ettt b e bt e et bt e bt et bt bt e st b e bt e bt e bbbt ea e et e bt bt en b et bt eneen
TOTAL ASSEES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt bbbt h ettt b bbbkt h e bt h e bttt be st neenen
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Senior Notes Payable, 6.00% due 2017 (Fair Value: 2016 — $365.3) ..coooiieeiieeeceeeeeeeeee
Senior Notes Payable, 4.35% due 2025 (Fair Value: 2017 — $458.1; 2016 — $248.5) ...coovvvveveieieinene
Subordinated Debentures due 2054 (Fair Value: 2017 — $156.5; 2016 — $157.1) cveveieviieieieieiecveenee
Current INCOME TaX LAGDIIIEY ....eeveriiriieieieieieeie ettt sttt et et sbe st ensesbesneennens
Deferred Income Tax Liability ......cccooeeiiiiiriniiieieee ettt s
Liabilities for Benefit PLansS........ccciiiiieiiiiicieieieeecteee ettt et sae e enes
Accrued Expenses and Other LIiabilities ........cceiiiieierieririeieiesie ettt
TOAL LAADIIIEIES ... cveeeet ettt ettt ettt et s bt s et et e e es e e b et e e e st es e b et eneeseseeneeneenes
Shareholders’ Equity:
COMIMON STOCK ...ttt ettt b e bt et b e s bt e st ettt ebe et e b bt e bt et e be bt eseenee
Additional Paid-1n Capital.........cceerieriiiieieierieeieieiere ettt sttt ese et esseereenaebestesreennens
Retained Earnings ........cccocoieiiiiiiiiiiiiciecce ettt et e
Accumulated Other Comprehensive INCOME.......c.ueviriiiieieiiiieieierte ettt eseenaens
Total Shareholders” EQUILY ......oeeieririeieieieetteet ettt sttt ettt et be et ensenbesaeennens
Total Liabilities and Shareholders” EQUILY .......cc.oiviiiiiiiieiieiieeiesie e seee e e

See Accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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December 31,

2017 2016
$2,646.0 $2,575.5
0.3 46.3
6.7 53
71.5 111.4
104.4 120.0
8.4 15.7
3.8 3.4
— 2.4
5.8 75
$2852.9 §2,887.5
$ — § 3598
448.1 247.7
144.2 144.1
14.0 -
16.9 34.0
104.9 118.7
9.2 8.0
7373 912.3
5.1 5.1
673.1 660.3
1,243.0  1,172.8
194.4 137.0
2,115.6  1,9752
$2,852.9 §2,8875




KEMPER CORPORATION
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Dollars in Millions)

For The Years Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
Net INVEStMENE INCOMIE......ouiiiiieieteiiieiteeete ettt $ 30 $ 20 $ 1.7
Net Realized Gains (Losses) on Sales of INVEStMENtS ..........ccevieieiienerinieieiceceeee e 0.6 0.1 0.1)
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings...........ocooeoeeireneieenineiseneeeee e — — (1.6)
TOLAl REVEIIUES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e st e eae e e s e eateeaseenseenseenseenseensaeseeneenas 3.6 2.1 —
TNEETESE EXPOIISE. ...tiiiieiieiieeiie ettt ettt et ettt ettt et eeaae s ateenaeenseenseenseensaenseenseennes 36.6 45.2 473
Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt..........ccccoiiiiiiiiiniiieieieceeeeeee s — — 9.1
Other Operating (Benefits) EXPEnSes ........ccoeriririeriiiiieieriesieeiieeesieeie ettt 5.1) (6.1) 17.6
Total OPerating EXPEINSES.....cveiuieieieriieiieieieiteeteetete st eteetessesseesaesesseeseeseessessesseensessesseesaens 31.5 39.1 74.0
Loss before Income Taxes and Equity in Net Income of Subsidiaries...........cccoceeeeninennenne (27.9) (37.0) (74.0)
Income Tax Benefit ......cceoiiiiiiiiii e 21.2 13.4 26.5
Loss before Equity in Net Income of SUbSIdIiaries..........c.ccevirieierieninieieieseceeiee e 6.7) (23.6) (47.5)
Equity in Net Income of SubSIAIaries. ........ccevviririereriiiieiereseeeeieeieee e 127.6 40.4 133.2
INEE TNCOIME ..vieieiiiieteteie ettt ettt b bt e s s s s s $ 1209 $ 168 $ 857

See Accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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KEMPER CORPORATION
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Dollars in Millions)

For The Years Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
INEE TNCOIME vttt bbbttt b et s e e e s s sesenens $ 1209 $ 168 $ 857
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):
Unrealized Holding Gains (Losses) Arising During the Year:
Securities Held by SUbSIAIATIES .......coveviiiiieieriiiieieesieeeee e 119.5 (2.6) (150.4)
Securities Held By Parent.........c.cocveiiiiieiieeiecie e es 0.4) 0.2 (1.5)
Reclassification Adjustment for Amounts Included in Net Income:
Securities Held by SUbSIAIATIES .......covevviriiiieieriiiiieieieeeeeeeee e (35.3) 0.2 (26.9)
Securities Held Dy Parent.........ccocveieieriiiiiieiesiecieeseeeeeeee e — — 1.5
Unrealized Holding Gains (LOSSES)....ccveueruiriirieieiiieiieiesieeieeiieee ettt 83.8 2.2) (177.3)
Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit Costs Arising During the Year..........cccccceeeeneeeee. 3.9 14.2 3.0
Reclassification Adjustments for Amounts Included in Net Income:
Curtailment Cost RECOZNIZE ........ovueruiriiiiiiiiiiiieieie e — 1.0 —
Amortization of Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit COStS ........cccoveevevieneriinennnne (0.6) 53 23.1
Total Reclassification Adjustments for Amounts Included in Net Income....................... (0.6) 6.3 23.1
Net Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit COStS .......oovviriiieiiieiiiiiieieieeeeeee e 33 20.5 26.1
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments on Investments Held by Subsidiaries .......... 1.7 0.3) (1.4)
Gain on Cash FIOW Hed@e ........cviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicceeeeeee e (6.7) 1.6 —
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) before Income Taxes ........c.ocevveeievienieninienienieieennns 82.1 19.6 (152.6)
Income Tax Benefit (Expense):
Unrealized Holding Gains and Losses Arising During the Year:
Securities Held by SubSIAIATIES .......cecuerviiiiierieriiiiieieiesieeteeee et (38.3) 1.1 534
Securities Held by Parent...........oooieiiiiieiieeiece et 0.1 0.1) 0.5
Reclassification Adjustment for Amounts Included in Net Income:
Securities Held by SubSIAIATies ........ccuevuiiirierieniiiiieieiesieee e 12.3 0.1) 9.4
Securities Held Dy Parent.........ccoocooieiiiiiiiieieieceeieseeeee e — — (0.5)
Unrealized Holding Gains and LOSSES.......cceiirieriiriiieierieeiieieiesieeteeie e (25.9) 0.9 62.8
Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit Costs Arising During the Year..........cc.ccocevvveneeee. 0.8) (5.0) (1.1)
Reclassification Adjustments for Amounts Included in Net Income:
Curtailment Cost RECOZNIZE ........ovuiruiriiiiiiiiiiieieeeeee e — 0.4) —
Amortization of Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit COStS ........cccevveveviereriiiennnne 0.2 (1.9) (8.0)
Total Reclassification Adjustments for Amounts Included in Net Income...............c.c...... 0.2 (2.3) (8.0)
Net Unrecognized Postretirement Benefit COStS ......vevviviiieieriiriieieieieieceeeeie e 0.6) (7.3) 9.1
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments on Investments Held by Subsidiaries .......... (0.6) 0.1 0.5
Gain on Cash Flow Hedge 2.4 0.6) —
Income Tax Benefit (EXPENSE) ......couevieieieiiiiieiieiesie ittt ettt (24.7) (6.9) 54.2
Other Comprehensive INCOME (LOSS).....couveueriiriirieiiriiiiieiese ettt 57.4 12.7 (98.4)
Total Comprehensive INCOME (LOSS)........cveviveverieiiiieieieeieeteeeeeeeeee et $ 1783 $ 295 §$§ (12.7)

See Accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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KEMPER CORPORATION
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in Millions)

For The Years Ended December 31,

2017 2016 2015
Operating Activities:
INEE TICOIMIC. -ttt ettt e ettt e e e e st ee e e e eneese s e e eneeseenaneeneenan $ 1209 $§ 168 $ 857
Adjustment Required to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operations:
Equity in Net Income of SubSIAIaries .........ccceeeveeierieriiieierieeeeeeese e (127.6) (40.4) (133.2)
Cash Dividends from SubSIAIaries. .......c.eeoveieririirieniiniiiieieeseeeee e 108.1 71.7 285.0
Cash Received for Benefit Plan from Subsidiary ...........cccoeevieievienenieieieeceeeene — 1.4 —
Cash Contribution to Defined Benefit Plan ..........ccccocovivienininiiiinicieeceene — 9.0) —
Net Realized (Gains) Losses on Sales of Investments.........ccocceeveveevierieneeienienenneennnn 0.6) (0.1) 0.1
Net Impairment Losses Recognized in Earnings ...........ccccevvevevieiienienenieieneneeeenen — — 1.6
Loss from Early Extinguishment of Debt..........ccocveiieiiiiienieeieeeieee e — — 9.1
OhEr, NET..c.eeeeiiee ettt sttt 0.7 (9.3) 41.6
Net Cash Provided by Operating ACHVITIES........cc.ecueiruirieiieiiiinieieceeceeiee et 101.5 37.1 289.9
Investing Activities:
Capital Contributed to SUDSIAIATY .....coueeiiriiiieieieiieieeste et — (52.9) (105.0)
Sales, Paydowns and Maturities of Fixed Maturities ..........ccecvevverieeeerieriesieseieieneesreenenns 45.7 73.5 11.8
Purchases of FiXed Maturities ..........cocieoiiiiiiiieieiie ittt — (77.9) (14.8)
Sales Of EQUILY SECUITHIES ....ecuveureiiiieiieieierieeiteeste sttt — 3.5 9.4
Sales of Fair Value Option INVESTMENTS..........cceevviriiiieieienieeieiesieeeeeeiesie e 42.2 72.2 —
Purchases of Fair Value Option INVESIMENTS..........ccevirierieriieieienieeieieiese e (7.0) (21.0) (111.0)
ACQUISTHION OF BUSINESS ...vvevvieiieiieieiicciieieie sttt et sbeeneenees — — (71.0)
Change in Short-term INVESTMENLS ........cc.cciiirieriiiiiieierie et 15.6 14.8 90.3
Net Cash Provided (Used) by INvesting ACHVILICS.......ccueeireireieeiieieeiieieesieesieesae e eeeens 96.5 12.2 (190.3)
Financing Activities:
Net Proceeds from Issuance of Debt .........cccoeoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeee e 200.2 — 247.3
Repayments 0T DEDE .......ccuiiuiiieieiieiicieeie ettt ettt sbesreeneens (360.0) — (258.8)
Cash Dividends Paid..........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiecic ettt an (49.5) (49.2) (49.7)
Common Stock REPUICRASES .......eevuiiiiiiiieeii e — (3.8) (45.0)
Cash Exercise of StOCK OPIONS ......c.eeieieriiiieieieitieieiesie ettt ettt seeeneens 4.0 3.5 3.9
Excess Tax Benefits on Share Based AWards ...........ccccvevierereiieiicnenieeescsceee e — — 0.7
Net Cash Used by FInancing ACHVITIES......ccuevieierierieiieieieseeteeieniesieeeeseesessesseensesseseeennens (205.3) (49.5) (101.6)
Dectease 1N CaASI ....o.uiiiiiiiiieiectee ettt ettt (7.3) (0.2) (2.0)
Cash, Be@INMiNg O YEAT .......ceiieieieiiieiieieieste ettt ettt ete e ste e eseessessesseessessesreesnens 15.7 15.9 17.9
Cash, ENA OF YEAT ......c.oouiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeee et $ 84 $§ 157 § 159

See Accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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SCHEDULE III

KEMPER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SUPPLEMENTARY INSURANCE INFORMATION
(Dollars in Millions)

Year Ended December 31, At December 31
Insurance
Claims Amortization
and Of Deferred Deferred
Net Policy- Policy Other Policy
Earned Premiums Other Investment holders’ Acquisition Insurance Acquisition Insurance Unearned
Premiums Weritten Income Income Benefits Costs Expenses Costs Reserves Premiums
2017
$1,736.0 $ 1,769.6 $ 11§ 943 $1,450.0 $ 2648 $§ 118.0 $ 96.2 $ 9763 $ 625.6
614.0 N/A 2.6 221.5 387.4 53.5 258.7 269.1 3,525.1 28.3
— N/A 0.3 114 — — (50.8) — 36.4 —
$ 2,350.0 N/A § 40 $ 3272 $18374 § 3183 $§ 3259 $ 3653 $4,5378 $ 6539
2016
Property & Casualty Insurance ...................... §1,6148 §1,6209 § 05 $ 724 $13192 S 2521 § 1336 § 82.1 § 884.1 $ 592.0
Life & Health Insurance (1) .....ccccocevenienennee. 605.2 N/A 2.8 213.2 461.6 47.2 266.7 249.9 3,479.8 26.7
Other — N/A (0.1) 12.7 — — (52.3) — 42.8 —
TOtal .o $2,220.0 N/A $ 32 § 2983 §$1,780.8 § 2993 § 348.0 $ 332.0 $4,40067 $ 6187
2015 -
$1,4152 $1,4062 § 06 $ 733 $1,0862 $ 2131 § 155.0
594.4 N/A 2.4 214.2 381.3 443 275.7
— N/A 0.7 15.1 — — (42.9)
$ 2,009.6 N/A § 37 $ 3026 $ 14675 $ 2574 § 3878

(1) The Company’s Life & Health Insurance employee-agents also market certain property and casualty insurance products under common management. Accordingly,
the Company includes the results of these property and casualty insurance products in its Life & Health Insurance segment.

See Accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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SCHEDULE IV

KEMPER CORPORATION
REINSURANCE SCHEDULE
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017,2016 AND 2015

(Dollars in Millions)

Percentage

Ceded to Assumed of Amount

Gross Other from Other Net Assumed to

Amount Companies Companies Amount Net
Year Ended December 31, 2017
Life Insurance in FOTCE .....uuviiimeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $19,208.7 $§ 4552 $ 184.0 $ 18,937.5 1.0%
Premiums: -
Life INSUrance ..........occooeiiiiieiiiei e $ 3668 $ 14 $ 1.1 $ 3665 0.3%
Accident and Health Insurance............ccccoeveevienieninenen. 171.0 1.5 5.4 174.9 3.1%
Property and Liability Insurance ...........ccoccveevevvenernrnnnnn. 1,757.5 15.3 66.4 1,808.6 3.7%
Total PremMitmS......c.covieuieiiiiirieeieieeie ettt $ 22953 § 182 § 729 $ 2,350.0 3.1%
Year Ended December 31, 2016

Life Insurance in FOIce .........c.oooooiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee $20,889.0 $ 4869 $ 195.0 $20,597.1 0.9%
Premiums: -
Life INSUTANCE ......vvvieiveiieiceeiee et $ 3814 $ 14 3 13§ 3813 0.3%
Accident and Health Insurance............ccccevvevieeienieenen. 144.9 0.5 53 149.7 3.5%
Property and Liability Insurance ...........cceceeevevvenernrennen. 1,645.4 17.1 60.7 1,689.0 3.6%
TOtal PrOMITUMS. .. eeeeeeeee ettt ee e eeeeeeee e $ 2,171.7 §$ 190 $ 673 $ 2,220.0 3.0%
Year Ended December 31, 2015 -
Life Insurance in FOIce .........occoooiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeee $20,209.8 $§ 5142 $ 2057 $19,901.3 1.0%
Premiums: -
Life INSUTANCE .....vovivvevieiievieieieiceeeeeee e $ 3741 $ 14 3 14 $ 3741 0.4%
Accident and Health Insurance............ccccoevvevieeieeneenen. 139.8 0.5 5.6 144.9 3.9%
Property and Liability Insurance ..........ccccoevvevvevieriennenen. 1,456.2 18.7 53.1 1,490.6 3.6%
Total Premitms. .....c.coueevieiiiiiiiieieieeie et $ 1,970.1 § 20.6 $ 60.1 § 2,009.6 3.0%

See Accompanying Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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THE FOLLOWING EXHIBITS ARE AVAILABLE IN THE INVESTOR SECTION OF KEMPER’S WEBSITE,
KEMPER.COM UNDER THE HEADING, SEC FILINGS:

EXHIBIT 10.31 -FORM OF PERFORMANCE SHARE UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT (ADJUSTED ROE)
UNDER THE KEMPER 2011 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN, AS OF OCTOBER 31, 2017

EXHIBIT 10.32 ~FORM OF PERFORMANCE SHARE UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT (RELATIVE TSR)
UNDER THE KEMPER 2011 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN, AS OF OCTOBER 31, 2017

EXHIBIT 10.33 =FORM OF STOCK OPTION AND SAR AGREEMENT (INSTALLMENT-VESTING)
UNDER THE KEMPER 2011 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN, AS OF OCTOBER 31, 2017

EXHIBIT 10.34 —FORM OF PERFORMANCE SHARE UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT (ADJUSTED ROE)
UNDER THE KEMPER 2011 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN, AS OF FEBRUARY 6, 2018

EXHIBIT 10.35 -FORM OF PERFORMANCE SHARE UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT (RELATIVE TSR)
UNDER THE KEMPER 2011 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN, AS OF FEBRUARY 6, 2018

EXHIBIT 10.36 —FORM OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT (CLIFF VESTING) UNDER
THE KEMPER 2011 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN, AS OF FEBRUARY 6, 2018

EXHIBIT 10.37 =FORM OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT (INSTALLMENT
VESTING) UNDER THE KEMPER 2011 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN, AS OF FEBRUARY 6, 2018

EXHIBIT 10.38 ~=FORM OF NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AND SAR AWARD AGREEMENT (CLIFF
VESTING) UNDER THE KEMPER 2011 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN, AS OF FEBRUARY 6, 2018

EXHIBIT 10.39 —FORM OF NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AND SAR AWARD AGREEMENT
(INSTALLMENT VESTING) UNDER THE KEMPER 2011 OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN, AS OF FEBRUARY 6,
2018



Exhibit 12

KEMPER CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
COMPUTATION OF CONSOLIDATED RATIOS OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(Dollars in Millions)
Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Income from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes........... $ 1611 § 35 § 1003 § 1602 § 3144
Less Equity in Earnings of Equity Method Limited Liability

INVESLMEILS ...ttt (24.8) (7.5) (19.0) (9.0) (26.4)
Plus Distribution of Accumulated Earnings in Equity Method

Limited Liability Investments............cccccooeeeviiieiieiccieeeieee, 19.6 15.7 8.6 21.7 15.4
Plus Fixed Charges.........ccceecvevvieieiiieiicieeieeeeesie et 41.2 50.2 52.3 52.9 443
Less Capitalized INterest .........oeevieuieiiiiieiiiiee e 1.4 (0.9) (0.8) (1.0) (0.9)
Total EQrnings.......cceoveieieieieieiie et $ 1957 § 610 $§ 1414 §$ 2248 $§ 3468
INEEIESE ...ttt $ 383 § 478 § 500 $§ 503 § 417
Rental Factor ........ooiiiiiieeee e 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.6 1.7
Capitalized INtErest.........ceevivvieiiciieieceeece e 14 0.9 0.8 1.0 0.9
Total Fixed Charges..........coceivveieveeioreieieeeieeeeeeee e, $ 412 § 502 § 523 § 529 § 443
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges () .........ccccvverenvenienenieieneen 4.8 x 1.2x 2.7x 4.2 x 7.8 x

(a)  Theratios of earnings to fixed charges have been computed on a consolidated basis by dividing (a) Income from Continuing
Operations before Income Taxes less Equity in Earnings of Equity Method Limited Liability Investments, plus Distribution
of Accumulated Earnings of Equity Method Limited Liability Investments, plus fixed charges, and less capitalized interest,
by (b) fixed charges. Fixed charges consist of interest on debt and a factor for interest included in rent expense. Income from
Continuing Operations before Income Taxes has the meaning as set forth in the Consolidated Statements of Income included
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017. Equity in Earnings of Equity Method Limited
Liability Investments and Distribution of Accumulated Earnings of Equity Method Limited Liability Investments have the
meanings as set forth in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2017.



Subsidiaries of KEMPER CORPORATION

Subsidiaries of Kemper Corporation, with their states of incorporation in parentheses, are as follows:

1. Alliance United Group, LLC (California)
2. Alliance United Insurance Company (California)
3. Alliance United Insurance Services, LLC (California)
4. Alpha Property & Casualty Insurance Company (Wisconsin)
5. Capitol County Mutual Fire Insurance Company (Texas)*
6. Charter Indemnity Company (Texas)
7. Direct Response Corporation (Delaware)
8. Family Security Funerals Company (Texas)
9. Financial Indemnity Company (Illinois)
10. KAHG LLC (Illinois)
11. Kemper Corporate Services, Inc. (Illinois)
12. Kemper Direct General Agency, Inc. (Texas)
13. Kemper Financial Indemnity Company (Illinois)
14. Kemper General Agency, Inc. (Texas)
15. Kemper Independence Insurance Company (Illinois)
16. Merastar Industries LLC (Delaware)
17. Merastar Insurance Company (Illinois)
18. Mutual Savings Fire Insurance Company (Alabama)
19. Mutual Savings Life Insurance Company (Alabama)
20. NCM Management Corporation (Delaware)
21. Old Reliable Casualty Company (Missouri)*
22. The Reliable Life Insurance Company (Missouri)
23. Reserve National Insurance Company (Oklahoma)
24. Response Insurance Company (Illinois)
25. Response Worldwide Direct Auto Insurance Company (Illinois)
26. Response Worldwide Insurance Company (Illinois)
27. Security One Agency LLC (Illinois)
28. Trinity Universal Insurance Company (Texas)
29. Union National Fire Insurance Company (Louisiana)
30. Union National Life Insurance Company (Louisiana)
31. United Casualty Insurance Company of America (Illinois)
32. United Insurance Company of America (Illinois)
33. Unitrin Advantage Insurance Company (New York)
34. Unitrin Auto and Home Insurance Company (New York)
35. Unitrin County Mutual Insurance Company (Texas)*
36. Unitrin Direct Insurance Company (Illinois)
37. Unitrin Direct Property & Casualty Company (Illinois)
38. Unitrin Preferred Insurance Company (New York)
39. Unitrin Safeguard Insurance Company (Wisconsin)
40. Valley Property & Casualty Insurance Company (Oregon)
41. Warner Insurance Company (Illinois)

* May be deemed to be an affiliate pursuant to Rule 1-02 of SEC Regulation S-X.

Exhibit 21



Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 33-58300, 333-4530, 333-86935, 333-76076,
333-87898 and 333-173877 on Form S-8 and Nos. 333-127215, 333-142722, 333-194032 and 333-217781 on Form S-3 of our
report, dated February 13, 2018, relating to the consolidated financial statements and the financial statement schedules of
Kemper Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”), and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 13, 2018



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Joseph P. Lacher, Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kemper Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 13,2018

/S/ JOSEPH P. LACHER, JR.
Joseph P. Lacher, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, James J. McKinney, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kemper Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report
financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 13,2018

/S/ JAMES J. MCKINNEY
James J. McKinney

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Kemper Corporation (the “Company”) for the year ended

December 31, 2017 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), Joseph P. Lacher,
Jr., as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/S/ JOSEPH P. LACHER, JR.
Name: Joseph P. Lacher, Jr.
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 13, 2018




Exhibit 32.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Kemper Corporation (the “Company”) for the year ended

December 31, 2017 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), James J.
McKinney, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/S/ JAMES J. MCKINNEY
Name:  James J. McKinney
Title: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 13, 2018
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Kemper Corporation Board of Directors

Robert ). Joyce

Chairman of the Board, Kemper Corporation
Retired Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Westfield Group

George N. Cochran

Retired Chairman

Global Financial Institutions Group
Macquarie Capital

Kathleen M. Cronin

Senior Managing Director, General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary

CME Group Inc.

%

A
Douglas G. Geoga
President and Chief Executive Officer

Salt Creek Hospitality, LLC

Thomas M. Goldstein
Leadership Advisor and Retired
Financial Service Executive

Lacy M. Johnson
Partner
Ice Miller, LLC.

Joseph P. Lacher, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

Kemper Corporation

Christopher B. Sarofim
Vice Chairman
Fayez Sarofim & Co.

David P. Storch
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
AAR Corp.

Susan D. Whiting

Executive Advisor and Retired Executive

with Nielsen Holdings plc



Kemper Corporation Senior Executives

Joseph P. Lacher, Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

John M. Boschelli James ). McKinney
Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Charles T. Brooks Christine F. Mullins
Senior Vice President, Operations & Systems Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer

C.Thomas Evans, Jr. Duane A. Sanders o
Senior Vice President, Secretary & General Counsel President, Property & Casualty Division

Mark A. Green
President, Life & Health Division



Kemper Corporation Information

Stock Listing

Kemper Corporation is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol KMPR

Common Stock Transfer Agent/Registrar
Please direct questions regarding stock registration, change of address, change of name or transfer to:

Computershare
P.O. Box 505000
Louisville, KY 40233

US and Canada: 877.282.1168
International: +1 781.575.4238
computershare.com/investor

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Deloitte & Touche LLP
111 South Wacker Drive
Chicago, IL 60606

Investor Relations

Todd Barton

Kemper Corporation
One East Wacker Drive
Chicago, IL 60601

312.661.4930
investors@kemper.com
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